

Individual Variation in Immune Function in the Purple-crowned Fairy-wren (*Malurus coronatus*)

Michael J. Roast

BSc (Hons.) Biological Sciences MSc Conservation and Biodiversity



A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Monash University in 2019 School of Biological Sciences

Copyright Notice

© The author 2019.

I certify that I have made all reasonable efforts to secure copyright permissions for thirdparty content included in this thesis and have not knowingly added copyright content to my work without the owner's permission.

Cover photograph © Michael J. Roast and Australian Wildlife Conservancy

Table of Contents

Abstract	4
Publications during enrolment	6
Thesis including published works declaration	7
Acknowledgments	9
Chapter 1: General Introduction	11
Background	11
Thesis Outline	16
References	21
Chapter 2: Short-term climate variation drives baseline innate immune	
function and stress in a tropical bird: A reactive scope perspective	25
Introduction	
Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
Reletences	
Chapter 3: Does constitutive immune function exhibit senescence in	
the wild? A longitudinal study	
Introduction	
Methods	
Results	0 /
Discussion	
Supplementary Materials	
Chapter 4: Fitness outcomes in relation to variation in individual	110
constitutive innate immune function	
Introduction	
Results	121
Discussion	131
References	
Supplementary Materials	
Chapter 5: General Discussion	
Overview	
Further Discussion	
Appendix: Notes on the parasitism in purple-crowned fairy-wrens	
References	

Abstract

Animal immune systems are essential for defence against parasitism and disease. Immune functions are costly because they require resources to operate and can cause collateral damage to an organism's own cells. These costs are important when resources are finite because they may result in physiological trade-offs between immune function and other costly processes like reproduction, in order to maximise individual fitness. In theory, there should be some level of optimal immune function, but this could be highly context-dependent, and there is much unexplained variation between individuals. In this thesis I aim to investigate individual variation in constitutive innate immunity (baseline immune defences) and (1) how it can be driven by environmental factors, (2) how it varies with age within and between individuals, and (3) how it can ultimately affect individual fitness outcomes.

My study species, the purple-crowned fairy-wren (*Malurus coronatus*) is a sedentary, resident species of northern Australia. The species lives in social groups occupying stable year-round territories which provides an exceptional opportunity to gather detailed information about the immediate environment, life-histories, and reproductive outcomes for every single studied individual. By quantifying immune function in individuals through repeated captures and sampling, I am able to associate the individual's immune status to the detailed information about of their lives to gather an insightful observational perspective on the possible causes and consequences of individual variation in immune function.

Firstly (chapter 2), I find that social and ecological variables are relatively unimportant compared to short-term climatic variables, which have the strongest relationships with immune function and stress. Immune function remained relatively stable relative to long term seasonal environmental variation. Consequently, immune function may be more susceptible to short-term environmental perturbations, and fairy-wrens may be anticipating predictable seasonal change and moderating their immune investment to maintain baseline function. Secondly (chapter 3), I use multiple repeated measures of immune function from individuals to assess age-related changes over time. I find limited evidence of immunosenescence (a decline in immune function with age), in addition to evidence of immune maintenance of some immune components. These results suggest that self-maintenance roles of immune components beyond parasite defence could become more important with age. In chapter 3, I also demonstrate how longitudinal studies are important for discerning individual and population level trends. Lastly (chapter 4), I find that a higher probability of survival is not related to higher levels of immune function, but I also find some evidence that optimal immunity is context-

4

dependent. I do not find any evidence of trade-offs between immune function and reproductive output, but instead that individual quality might override trade-offs. I also find that chronic stress and body condition do not strongly relate to fitness outcomes in ways that support hypotheses regarding environmental stressors and resource availability. Maintaining baseline levels of immune components does not appear to be costly for fitness in these fairy-wrens. In the final chapter of my thesis, I discuss the possibility of immune component-specific tradeoffs and immunoplasticity emerging from the context-dependency of immune function, in addition to suggested directions for future research.

Publications during enrolment

First author publications

 M. J. Roast, A. E. Aulsebrook, M. Fan, N. Hidalgo Aranzamendi, N. Teunissen, A. Peters (2019) Short-term climate variation drives baseline innate immune function and stress in a tropical bird: a reactive scope perspective. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*. 92 (2), p140-150. https://doi.org/10.1086/702310

Co-author publications

 J. R. Eastwood, L. Peacock, M. L. Hall, M. J. Roast, S. A. Murphy, A. Gonçalves da Silva, A. Peters (2019) Persistent low avian malaria in a tropical species despite high community prevalence. *International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife*. 8, p 88-93.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijppaw.2019.01.001

- L. B. Martin, B. Addison, A. G. D. Bean, K. L. Buchanan, O. L. Crino, J. R. Eastwood, A. S. Flies, R. Hamede, G. E. Hill, M. Klaassen, R. E. Koch, J. M. Martens, C. Napolitano, E. J. Narayan, L. Peacock, A. J. Peel, A. Peters, N. Raven, A. Risely, M. J. Roast, L. A. Rollins, M. Ruiz-Aravena, D. Selechnik, H. S. Stokes, B. Ujvari, L. F. Grogan (2019) Extreme Competence: Keystone Hosts of Infection. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution.* 34 (4), p303-314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2018.12.009</u>
- J. R. Eastwood, M. L. Hall, N. Teunissen, S. A. Kingma, N. Hidalgo Aranzamendi, M. Fan, M. J. Roast, S. Verhulst, A. Peters (2018) Early-life telomere length predicts lifespan and lifetime reproductive success in a wild bird. *Molecular Ecology*. 28 (5), p1127-1137. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15002
- M. Fan, N. Teunissen, M. L. Hall, N. Hidalgo Aranzamendi, S. A. Kingma, M. J. Roast, K. Delhey, A. Peters (2018) From ornament to armament or loss of function? Breeding plumage acquisition in a genetically monogamous bird. *Journal Animal Ecology*. 87 (5), p 1274-1285. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12855

Thesis including published works declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at any university or equivalent institution and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference is made in the text of the thesis.

This thesis includes 1 original paper published in peer reviewed journals and 1 submitted publication. The core theme of the thesis is 'Individual Variation in Immune Function'. The ideas, development and writing up of all the papers in the thesis were the principal responsibility of myself, the student, working within the School of Biological Sciences under the supervision of Anne Peters and Matthew Hall.

The inclusion of co-authors reflects the fact that the work came from active collaboration between researchers and acknowledges input into team-based research. In the case of *Chapters 2, 3 and 4,* my contribution to the work involved the following:

Thesis Chapter	Publication Title	Status	Nature and % of student contribution	Co-author name(s) Nature and % of Co- author's contribution*	Co- author(s), Monash student Y/N*
2	Short-term climate variation drives baseline innate immune function and stress in a tropical bird: a reactive scope perspective	Published	65%. Study concept and design, field work, laboratory analysis, data analysis, writing	Anne Peters, 25% Other co-authors 10%	No Yes
3	Does constitutive immune function exhibit senescence in the wild? A longitudinal study	Not submitted	60%. Study concept and design, field work, laboratory analysis, data analysis, writing	Anne Peters, 20% Simon Verhulst, 10% Other co-authors 10%	No No Yes
4	Fitness outcomes in relation to variation in individual constitutive innate immune function	Not submitted	75%. Study concept and design, field work, laboratory analysis, data analysis, writing	Anne Peters, 10% Matthew Hall, 5% Other co-authors 10%	No No Yes

I have renumbered sections of submitted or published papers in order to generate a consistent presentation within the thesis.

Student name: Michael J. Roast

Date: 23/01/2020

I hereby certify that the above declaration correctly reflects the nature and extent of the student's and co-authors' contributions to this work. In instances where I am not the responsible author, I have consulted with the responsible author to agree on the respective contributions of the authors.

Main Supervisor name: Anne Peters

Date: 23/01/2020

Acknowledgments

I would firstly like to thank my supervisors Anne Peters and Matthew Hall. Anne, you have been a fantastic role model throughout my PhD, especially with respect to your high scientific standards and approach. It has been a pleasure to learn how to become a scientific researcher from you and your research group. It has been a privilege to work with you over the last few years. Matt, you have always been a great source of wisdom and alternative viewpoints whenever I have needed advice, and I have very much enjoyed working with you.

A special thanks to my collaborator Simon Verhulst. Simon, it has been a wonderful opportunity to work with you, and your wealth of experience has been invaluable. I feel like I have gained so much from the short time we have worked together.

Many thanks also to my thesis advisory panel. Beth McGraw, Carly Cook, Craig White, and Robert Bryson-Richardson, your kind words and insightful advice have helped guide the direction of my thesis from beginning to end.

The generous financial contributions from the Holsworth Wildlife Research Endowment, the BirdLife Australia Stuart Leslie Award, the School of Biological Sciences at Monash University, the Australian Research Council and my Monash University Faculty of Science DPRS and DIPRS scholarships have all ensured this work was possible. The Australian Wildlife Conservancy has been a fantastic host providing in-kind logistical support and infrastructure. Thank you to all Australian Wildlife Conservancy staff for hosting me during my PhD.

Marie Fan, Niki Teunissen and Alex McQueen, I am so happy that I was able to share the field and PhD experience, along with your passions for fairy-wrens in Mornington and Lysterfield alike. To everyone that has been part of the research group over the last few years – Nataly Hidalgo Aranzamendi, Anne Aulsebrook, Justin Eastwood, Lee Peacock, Kaspar Delhey, Mehdi Khadraoui, Sergio Nolazco Plasier, Ettore Camerlenghi, Andréaz Dupoué, Síofra Sealy and many others – thank you for your contributions, feedback, comments and advice throughout. Lee, you've been amazing to give up your time and show me the way around a blood smear and a faecal sample too!

During field work, it was a pleasure to share with many dedicated field assistants the hours of traipsing through the bush, carrying heavy equipment, and enduring stifling heat – all in the name of fairy-wrens. Your efforts were essential to the success of each and every field season. Chris Smith, you taught me the craft in mist-netting; Steve Dougill you taught me how

9

'to bird'; and Alessandro Turchi you were just pure comedy! Beyond fairy-wrens, Melissa Bruton you were an incredible herpetology mentor, and I will never forget our many spotlighting adventures.

My PhD journey has been hugely enriched by the wonderful friends I have made at Monash University, who have offered support and companionship through the highs (and sometimes lows) of PhD life. To all my research group, Sonia Sánchez Gomez, Cathy Cavallo, Rowan Mott, Evatt Chirgwin, Annie Naimo, Laurent Lermusiaux, Fran Scheelings, Chris Gatto, Licia Finotto, Nancy Van Nieuwenhove, Stephen Gipson, Toby Hector, Qam Nasrullah, Emily De Stigter, Shane Baylis, Lotte van Boheemen and many more – thank you all for being there along the way.

Lastly, I would like to thank my family. Thank you Clémentine for bringing me to Australia in the first place – it has been a fantastic journey and a beautiful 5 years here throughout your PhD and mine. Thank you for the countless discussions about my work and thesis, with endless encouragement. Most importantly, thank you to all my family at home, for supporting me at a distance, through many messages and conversations at all hours of the day, I have missed you all.

Chapter 1: General Introduction

Background

Ecoimmunology: understanding immune variation

Ecological immunology, or ecoimmunology, is now a maturing field of research that is concerned with bringing together the historically disparate fields of immunology and physiology with ecology and evolution (Schulenburg et al., 2009). From the perspective of Tinbergen's four questions (Tinbergen, 1963), ecoimmunological research aims to link the proximate mechanistic and developmental physiology of immune systems to their ultimate adaptive functionality and evolutionary relevance. The seminal paper by Sheldon & Verhulst (1996), commonly credited with the emergence of the field (Brock et al., 2014; Sadd and Schmid-Hempel, 2008), presents immune systems as costly defences against parasitism that are subject to physiological trade-offs within individuals. These immune defences might be costly purely in terms of energy, or other relevant nutritional or anti-oxidative resources (Hasselquist and Nilsson, 2012). Therefore, where resources are finite, immune function and reproduction (among other processes) are likely to compete for resources and be subject to a trade-off within individuals. Shaped by parasite and pathogen pressure, this trade-off should result in an optimal level of immune function that balances the costs of immunity and reproduction for overall fitness (Sheldon and Verhulst, 1996).

An optimal level of immune function should, in theory, maximise individual fitness (Viney et al., 2005), and it might be expected that natural selection generates individuals in a population with an optimal magnitude and type of immune response (Schoenle et al., 2018). Despite this, there is a huge amount of natural variation in immune function among individuals and at many organisational levels, suggesting that the notion of optimal immune function is far more complicated and context-dependent (Viney et al., 2005). Understanding this context-dependence, and investigating the biotic and abiotic factors that can influence immune variation in free-living organisms is therefore an overarching objective of ecoimmunological research (Martin et al., 2011; Schulenburg et al., 2009). Determining how various contexts shape the proximate physiological trade-offs that are crucial for maximising fitness has become a strong focus in the field of study (French et al., 2009). Continued research in ecoimmunology that bridges the gap between immune physiology and evolutionary ecology will likely have important applications in wildlife research and conservation, livestock management, and even public health (Downs and Stewart, 2014; Schoenle et al., 2018).

Practical ecoimmunology

Key to ecoimmunological research was finding appropriate ways to quantify immune investment to examine trade-offs with other physiological processes and life-history traits. The 'immunocompetence' of an individual – the ability to fight off disease-causing agents – is a conceptually appealing trait that proved difficult to quantify as it oversimplified specific hostparasite interactions and often could not be generalised to all parasite threats (Brock et al., 2014; Martin et al., 2006b). Attempting to encompass immune function by measuring any single immune index is also questionable, as the complexity of the immune system means that trade-offs could occur between immune system components, leading to unexpected correlations between immune indices and other fitness-related traits (Lee, 2006). It is therefore necessary to incorporate a broader range of methodologies and approaches (Boughton et al., 2011; with more methods still being adopted e.g. Zylberberg, 2019), that in combination adequately capture an organism's immune status and facilitate interpretation (Adamo, 2004; Bradley and Jackson, 2008; Buehler et al., 2011). Panels of several indices of immune function are now commonly employed in studies to provide a more nuanced overview of the immune status of individuals, as I aim to do through this thesis (Boughton et al., 2011; Demas et al., 2011; Downs and Stewart, 2014). With the breadth of tools now available, publications in the field of research are proliferating (Brock et al., 2014), and consistently demonstrating that the context in which immune measurements are taken appears crucially important.

Traditional immunological studies in a laboratory context have focused specifically on reducing variation in closed and often sterile systems to pinpoint exact immune mechanisms and pathways (Babayan et al., 2011). Nonetheless, there is an appreciation that the laboratory context does not reflect the complexity of wild ecosystems that immune defences have evolved in (Pedersen and Babayan, 2011). The majority of our immunological knowledge derives from humans and rodent models in the laboratory (Maizels and Nussey, 2013), while more diverse immune strategies are likely to exist in other species in the wild. Even within the same mouse species, *Mus musculus*, there are large differences between the immune states of laboratory-reared and wild-caught mice (Abolins et al., 2011), and substantial immunological variation even among different wild populations in different environmental contexts (Abolins et al., 2018). For ecoimmunologists, this natural immunological variation arising in different contexts is an integral part of the question to understand how and why variation is evolutionarily relevant. On a continuum from laboratory-housed to wild and freeliving (through domestic, captive, urbanised, managed, and feral degrees; fig. 1, Maizels and Nussey, 2013), only in wild contexts where the driving force of natural selection is greatest are we likely to understand how immune variation affects the health, survival, and fitness of

12

organisms (Maizels and Nussey, 2013; Pedersen and Babayan, 2011). Although studying wild organisms presents many challenges (*e.g.* capturing organisms, unknown infection histories), overcoming the practical challenges of wild immunological studies is extremely important for understanding the evolutionary causes and consequences of immune variation, and linking proximate and ultimate perspectives on immune function.

The importance of complex immune defences

Parasitism is by far the most prevalent mode of life (Dobson et al., 2008; Martin et al., 2011; Poulin and Morand, 2000), and within any wild ecosystem there are parasites (including in the broader sense pathogenic organisms and viruses) that drive the evolution of complex immune defences (Cooper and Herrin, 2010). Host-specific parasites are expected to evolve more rapidly, with greater adaptive potential than their hosts, as a consequence of relatively faster generation times and larger population sizes (Hafner et al., 1994; Papkou et al., 2016). As a result, strong selective pressures are constantly exerted on hosts to co-evolve, favouring the development of specific and targeted immune functionality on a 'gene-for-gene' or 'matching genotype' basis (Schulenburg et al., 2009; Woolhouse et al., 2002). Greater parasite species richness in the host population will pressure hosts to evolve a greater diversity of immune responses (Bordes and Morand, 2009; Schulenburg et al., 2009). For example, the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) genes – immune genes responsible for coding numerous cell surface proteins which recognise internal parasites – are hypothesised to maintain allelic diversity through antagonistic coevolution with parasites (Kubinak et al., 2012). Parasite species richness has been directly linked to increased MHC genetic polymorphism and diversity in several species of rodent and teleost fish, brushtail possums, and human populations (Kubinak et al., 2012; Morand, 2015). Possessing effective and diverse immune defences is critical to organismal health and functionality in the presence of parasites, and is likely to be evolutionarily advantageous (e.g. Nussey et al., 2014).

Animal immune systems have evolved into complex and multi-faceted systems comprised of many separately acting components that are simultaneously interconnected (Cooper and Herrin, 2010). Classically, the vertebrate immune system has been divided into two branches, innate and adaptive (acquired) immunity, though these systems are tightly linked and not truly independent of one another (Netea et al., 2011; Ochsenbein and Zinkernagel, 2000; Panda and Ding, 2015). Innate components defend non-specifically against any immune challenge, serving as a first line of internal defence (Riera Romo et al., 2016; Schmid-Hempel and Ebert, 2003), while adaptive components specifically target parasites and subsequently form an immunological memory to counter repeated infection

13

(Litman et al., 2010; Schmid-Hempel and Ebert, 2003). Innate immunity is typically regarded as the common ancestral system shared by both vertebrates and invertebrates, while adaptive immunity is unique to vertebrates; however, invertebrates have continued to evolve rudimentary memory-based immune functions (Kurtz and Armitage, 2006; Milutinović and Kurtz, 2016). Immune system functionality can also be divided into constitutive and induced immune components (Schmid-Hempel and Ebert, 2003). Constitutive components are 'maintained at a certain level irrespective of the disease environment' presenting a state of readiness to detect and combat infection while inducible components are 'activated only in response to a disease challenge' and once deployed by the host, often scale in magnitude (p.566, Martin et al., 2006a). The constitutive-induced and innate-adaptive axes are intersecting and not mutually exclusive, and immune components can be broadly categorised into each combination of these types of defence mechanism (Schmid-Hempel and Ebert, 2003). As a prime example, the inflammatory response is an innate defence and is induced by infection (in addition to trauma/tissue damage; Ashley et al., 2012; Mogensen, 2009). The inflammatory response itself consists of numerous signalling pathways with cellular and humoral effectors that are vital defences, especially for tissue damage and physical breach of integumentary barriers (Galli et al., 1999; Mogensen, 2009). Despite the complexity of immune defences ecoimmunologists have sought indices that characterise individual immune function such as the inflammatory response which are both highly important and costly, therefore allowing the examination of immune trade-offs (Brock et al., 2014; Demas et al., 2011).

Immune function is costly

Central to the concept of fitness trade-offs is that immune defences are costly to operate (Sheldon and Verhulst, 1996). Immune systems are thought to incur physiological costs in ways: development, maintenance, deployment, collateral several damage and immunopathological costs (Ashley et al., 2012; Klasing, 2004; Lee, 2006). The ontogenetic costs of immunity are more substantive in the adaptive compared to the innate branch of the immune system (Palacios et al., 2009) and may come at the expense of growth in early life stages (Brommer, 2004). Although maintenance costs of adaptive immunity are estimated to be relatively low in vertebrates (Fox et al., 2005) while constitutively maintained humoral components may represent the principal ongoing investment (Klasing, 2004), similar to invertebrates (Valtonen et al., 2010). The use and deployment of immune components also incurs physiological costs, both energetically and nutritionally through the proliferation of lymphocytes and innate responses like inflammation and systemic fever, though these demands may be met by internal reallocation of resources (Derting and Compton, 2003; Fox et al., 2005; Klasing, 2004; Martin et al., 2003). Furthermore, at the point of use, collateral damage is often sustained from immune responses, with inflammation being especially damaging (Ashley et al., 2012) – such that constraining regulatory mechanisms have evolved to limit the damage sustained from inflammation (Barton, 2008; Han and Ulevitch, 2005). Lastly, immunopathology from dysfunctional self-antigen recognition (or absence of self-tolerance, i.e. autoimmunity) can also render self-tissues subject to immune attack (Perl, 2012). Although the physiological costs may not always be purely energetic (Hasselquist and Nilsson, 2012; Lochmiller and Deerenberg, 2000), it is important to differentiate proximate costs of immune functionality (also referred to as: physiological, short-term, direct) from the ultimate costs relating to fitness and survival (also referred to as: evolutionary, long-term, indirect; Hasselquist and Nilsson, 2012; Martin et al., 2003; McKean et al., 2008) as the drivers of individual variation in immune function may have different relevance at proximate and ultimate levels.

Natural variation in immune function

Understanding the drivers of immune variation and how this variation relates to physiological and evolutionary trade-offs generates an integrated and holistic view of how organisms respond to parasitism (Martin et al., 2011; Schulenburg et al., 2009). Immune function varies naturally among species (Hasselquist, 2007; Mendes, 2006; Millet et al., 2007), among geographically separated populations or at opposite ends of a species distribution (Abolins et al., 2018; Adelman et al., 2010; Ardia, 2005a; Martin et al., 2006a), among individuals in the population (Ardia, 2005b; De Coster et al., 2010; Matson et al., 2012) and between the sexes (Forbes, 2007). Within-individuals too, there is observable variation attributable to age, seasonality, circadian rhythm and stress (Martin, 2009; Martin et al., 2008; Peters et al., 2019; Zylberberg, 2015), reiterating the context-dependence of immune function. However, the evolutionary importance of variation may change at different levels of organisation, explaining why some patterns of variation explained at the individual level break down at the species level (Matson et al., 2006). Although substantial genetic variation in immune genes could be involved in variation between individuals (Turner et al., 2011), accounting for environmental context could be crucially important when considering individual level immune variation and trade-offs (Brodin et al., 2015; Sandland and Minchella, 2003; Viney et al., 2005). This raises interesting questions about the potential causes or drivers of immune variation and how it is context-dependent for each individual, and how it may vary over an individual lifetime.

For any individual, the precise balance of immune function that maximises fitness will be a reflection of its current physiological state, intrinsic factors like sex and age, life history, and the environmental context. Therefore, in order to more completely understand the causes and consequences of individual immune variation, an extremely detailed knowledge of each individual in the study system is required. Gaining this level of detail is difficult in a wild environmental context which is necessary to provide the relevant natural selective forces that govern the fitness consequence of immune variation. The long-term individual-based system that I have studied for my thesis is exceptionally well positioned to provide such detailed information on a large number of wild individuals. Consequently, I am able to address individual immune variation in a way that is seldom possible in the wild, providing new insights into existing ecoimmunological endeavours. By quantifying immune function in individuals through repeated captures and sampling, I am able to associate the individual's constitutive innate immunity to the detailed information about their lives to gather a unique observational perspective on the possible causes and consequences of individual variation in immune function. Constitutive innate immune defences are vital for resistance to novel parasites, so any variation in these indices should reflect individual differences in strategies to deal with parasitism and maximise fitness. Furthermore, as these innate immune components are highly conserved among animals, such wild studies can broadly inform the vulnerability of animals in the presence of environmental variation and emergent disease, while environmental change is occurring at an unprecedented rate.

Thesis Outline

Thesis aims

The overall aim of my thesis is to investigate the possible causes and consequences of individual variation in immune function, focusing on constitutive innate immunity as a comparable baseline of standing immune function. Specifically, in this thesis I aim to:

- Explore different environmental drivers of individual variation in constitutive innate immunity (chapter 2)
- Investigate how constitutive innate immunity varies with age within and between individuals (chapter 3)
- Determine the relationship between individual variation in constitutive innate immunity and fitness-related outcomes (chapter 4)

Model species: the purple-crowned fairy-wren

The purple-crowned fairy-wren (*Malurus coronatus*; fig. 1a & b) is an insectivorous riparian specialist in the Australian tropical wet-dry savannah with a high dependence on river pandanus (*Pandanus aquaticus*; Skroblin and Legge, 2012; van Doorn and Choy, 2009). They are social, sedentary, resident birds. Social groups (2-11 individuals) occupy clearly distinct

year-round territories along river banks with suitable vegetation (Kingma et al., 2011b). Territories are rigorously defended as a valuable resource (Hall and Peters, 2008). Purplecrowned fairy-wrens are also facultative co-operative breeders where in each group, only a dominant male and female will breed (fig. 1c). The dominant pair form a socially and genetically monogamous pair (Kingma et al., 2009), with high fidelity and low extra-pair paternity (~6%, usually to avoid incest; Kingma et al., 2013). Breeding can occur at any time of year in rapid response to rainfall, which stimulates arthropod abundance, with breeding reaching a peak during the wet season from December to March (Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al., 2019). Other subordinate group members commonly become 'helpers' during breeding and contribute to chick rearing (Kingma et al., 2011). This species also undergoes a seasonal moult into sexually dichromatic breeding plumage (fig. 1a & b).

Many of these characteristics make purple-crowned fairy-wrens a useful model species in which to study potential causes of variation in innate immunity. The riparian habitat they occupy is variable with respect to potential parasite vectors such as mosquitoes, ticks and biting insects (e.g. Reduviidae; personal observations) which can determine disease prevalence (Sol et al., 2000) and therefore selective pressures for a well-functioning immune system. Social living generates physical contact through affiliative and aggressive interactions between individuals providing opportunity for parasite transmission (Teunissen et al., 2018; fig. 1d); differences in group size should result in variable risk of exposure to parasites between groups (Patterson and Ruckstuhl, 2013). In this climate zone extreme temperatures, rainfall, humidity and aridity are experienced each year which could cause physiological stress and mediate immune investment (Martin, 2009). Because purple-crowned fairy-wrens are a strictly year-round territorial and long-lived species, they are not only continually exposed to these stressors, but these characteristics also facilitate the longitudinal study of variation in immunity through repeated measurements of individuals. Lastly, a detailed understanding of the co-operative breeding system and social structure is useful in demonstrating how immune variation may be consequential for fitness and reproductive success.



Figure 1: The purple-crowned fairy-wren. **A.** Adult female in complete breeding plumage. **B.** Adult male in complete breeding plumage. **C.** Social group structures; a submissive bill-gape display from a sub-ordinate first-year male (left) to a dominant male (centre), with a dominant female (right). **D.** Affiliative interactions; close 'proximity' behaviour (Teunissen et al. 2018) between a juvenile (left), an adult male in eclipse plumage (centre) and a moulting adult male (right). Allopreening (e.g. between the two pictured males) is sometimes observed in addition to close proximity behaviour. **E.** Example of unique colour band combinations. Images **A-C.** and **E.** Michael Roast/AWC, image **D.** Niki Teunissen/AWC.

The population of purple-crowned fairy-wrens studied for my thesis belongs to the western subspecies (*M. c. coronatus*) and is located in the Kimberley region of northern Western Australia, at the Australian Wildlife Conservancy's (AWC) Mornington Wildlife Sanctuary (126.17°E, -17.57°N). This population has been followed by Anne Peters' research group since 2005 and during this time, all individuals along ~15km of adjacent sections of Annie Creek and Adcock River have been uniquely colour-banded (fig. 1e). Consequently, through long-term observations, detailed knowledge about individual life histories in the population has been acquired that can be associated to measurements of immune function, greatly enabling the study of the causes and consequences of individual immune variation in a wild study system (Clutton-Brock and Sheldon, 2010; Pedersen and Babayan, 2011). Since

2012, the Peters research group has been biannually sampling individuals to quantify levels of constitutive innate immunity that can be linked to this rich dataset collected through detailed field observations and sampling over many years. During the course of my thesis, from September 2015 until May 2017 I have continued to build upon these datasets through my own fieldwork and in collaboration with other members of the research group. In this thesis, I explore this observational individual-based dataset to investigate the possible causes and consequences of individual variation in immune function.

Thesis Chapters

In chapter 2, I aim to evaluate the roles and relative importance of several social, ecological and climatic extrinsic factors that are hypothesised to affect constitutive innate immune function (possibly mediated by stress responses; Martin, 2009). Using an information theoretic approach in combination with multi-model inference (Bartoń, 2018; Burnham et al., 2011), I model the effects of social group size, habitat quality, maximum ambient temperature, temperature variability, and rainfall. I also test for seasonal differences in immune function between the biannual field sampling periods. At the same time, I am able to use detailed individual information to statistically control for intrinsic factors such as sex, social status and breeding activity. I find that social and ecological variables are relatively unimportant despite plausible links to resource availability and parasite pressure. On the other hand, short-term climatic variables appear to have the strongest relationship with immune function and stress, despite remaining relatively stable between the seasons. These findings can be interpreted from a reactive scope model perspective (Romero et al., 2009), where long-term variation is anticipated and an individual maintains stable immune function through predictive homeostasis, but immune function may be more susceptible to short-term environmental perturbations.

In chapter 3, I use multiple repeated measures of constitutive innate immunity collected from individuals as part of the long-term research project. With this longitudinal dataset, I aim to test hypotheses regarding age-related changes in immune function, including the expected immunosenescence and inflammaging with increasing age (Franceschi et al., 2006; Pawelec, 2018). Using a within-subject centring approach (van de Pol and Verhulst, 2006), I differentiate the within- and between-individual patterns to assess if and how population trends emerge from within-individual changes in immune status and between-individual heterogeneity in mortality risk (i.e. selective disappearance). Furthermore, I compare the differences between longitudinal and more commonly used cross-sectional approaches, and show longitudinal studies are important for discerning individual and population level trends. I find only limited

evidence of immunosenescence, in addition to evidence of immune maintenance and putative improvement with old age in some immune components. This latter finding suggests that alternative self-maintenance roles of immune components beyond parasite defence could become more important with age.

In chapter 4 I combine detailed information about survival, reproductive output and social dominance with immune data to assess the possible fitness consequences of variation in immune function. I also test whether measures of chronic stress and body condition relate to fitness outcomes to assess whether environmental stressors or resource availability might mediate any trade-off. I find that the probability of survival is not higher for birds with higher levels of immune indices, but I also find some evidence that optimal levels are context-dependent. Despite the expected trade-off between immune function and reproductive output, I do not find any evidence to support this prediction, but instead that individual quality might override trade-offs, resulting in positive covariation between immune function and reproductive output. I also find that chronic stress and body condition do not strongly relate to fitness outcomes in ways that supported hypotheses regarding environmental stressors and resource availability. Maintaining baseline levels of immune components that are known to invoke trade-offs, and I discuss how trade-offs may be important for certain immune components but not others.

Thesis Organisation

This thesis has been presented as a 'thesis including published works', comprised of a general introduction, three discrete data chapters, followed by a general thesis discussion. Chapter 2 has been published in the journal Physiological and Biochemical Zoology (https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/10.1086/702310). Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 will be submitted to journals for publication. I have significantly contributed to project design, field work, laboratory work, data analyses and the writing of each chapter, however, throughout my thesis data chapters the first person plural is used to reflect the collaborative nature of this research and the long-term field study, and each chapter incorporates the knowledge and expertise of all co-authors.

References

- Abolins, S., Lazarou, L., Weldon, L., Hughes, L., King, E.C., Drescher, P., Pocock, M.J.O., Hafalla, J.C.R., Riley, E.M., Viney, M., 2018. The ecology of immune state in a wild mammal, Mus musculus domesticus. PLOS Biol. 16, e2003538. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2003538
- Abolins, S.R., Pocock, M.J.O., Hafalla, J.C.R., Riley, E.M., Viney, M.E., 2011. Measures of immune function of wild mice, Mus musculus. Mol. Ecol. 20, 881–892. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2010.04910.x
- Adamo, S.A., 2004. How should behavioural ecologists interpret measurements of immunity? Anim. Behav. 68, 1443–1449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2004.05.005
- Adelman, J.S., Bentley, G.E., Wingfield, J.C., Martin, L.B., Hau, M., 2010. Population differences in fever and sickness behaviors in a wild passerine: a role for cytokines. J. Exp. Biol. 213, 4099– 4109. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.049528
- Ardia, D.R., 2005a. Tree swallows trade off immune function and reproductive effort differently across their range. Ecology 86, 2040–2046. https://doi.org/10.1890/04-1619
- Ardia, D.R., 2005b. Individual quality mediates trade-offs between reproductive effort and immune function in tree swallows. J. Anim. Ecol. 74, 517–524. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2005.00950.x
- Ashley, N.T., Weil, Z.M., Nelson, R.J., 2012. Inflammation: Mechanisms, Costs, and Natural Variation. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 43, 385–406. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-040212-092530
- Babayan, S.A., Allen, J.E., Bradley, J.E., Geuking, M.B., Graham, A.L., Grencis, R.K., Kaufman, J., McCoy, K.D., Paterson, S., Smith, K.G.C., Turnbaugh, P.J., Viney, M.E., Maizels, R.M., Pedersen, A.B., 2011. Wild immunology: converging on the real world. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1236, 17–29. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06251.x
- Barton, G.M., 2008. A calculated response: control of inflammation by the innate immune system. J. Clin. Invest. 118, 413–420. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCl34431
- Bartoń, K., 2018. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference.
- Bordes, F., Morand, S., 2009. Parasite diversity: an overlooked metric of parasite pressures? Oikos 118, 801–806. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2008.17169.x
- Boughton, R.K., Joop, G., Armitage, S.A.O., 2011. Outdoor immunology: methodological considerations for ecologists: Advancing ecological immunology methods. Funct. Ecol. 25, 81–100. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2010.01817.x
- Bradley, J.E., Jackson, J.A., 2008. Measuring immune system variation to help understand hostpathogen community dynamics. Parasitology 135. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182008000322
- Brock, P.M., Murdock, C.C., Martin, L.B., 2014. The History of Ecoimmunology and Its Integration with Disease Ecology. Integr. Comp. Biol. 54, 353–362. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icu046
- Brodin, P., Jojic, V., Gao, T., Bhattacharya, S., Angel, C.J.L., Furman, D., Shen-Orr, S., Dekker, C.L., Swan, G.E., Butte, A.J., Maecker, H.T., Davis, M.M., 2015. Variation in the Human Immune System Is Largely Driven by Non-Heritable Influences. Cell 160, 37–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.12.020
- Brommer, J.E., 2004. Immunocompetence and its costs during development: an experimental study in blue tit nestlings. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 271, S110–S113. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2003.0103
- Buehler, D.M., Versteegh, M.A., Matson, K.D., Tieleman, B.I., 2011. One Problem, Many Solutions: Simple Statistical Approaches Help Unravel the Complexity of the Immune System in an Ecological Context. PLoS ONE 6, e18592. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018592
- Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R., Huyvaert, K.P., 2011. AIC model selection and multimodel inference in behavioral ecology: some background, observations, and comparisons. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 65, 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-010-1029-6
- Clutton-Brock, T., Sheldon, B.C., 2010. Individuals and populations: the role of long-term, individualbased studies of animals in ecology and evolutionary biology. Trends Ecol. Evol. 25, 562– 573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2010.08.002
- Cooper, M.D., Herrin, B.R., 2010. How did our complex immune system evolve? Nat. Rev. Immunol. 10, 2–3. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2686

- De Coster, G., De Neve, L., Martin-Galvez, D., Therry, L., Lens, L., 2010. Variation in innate immunity in relation to ectoparasite load, age and season: a field experiment in great tits (Parus major). J. Exp. Biol. 213, 3012–3018. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.042721
- Demas, G.E., Zysling, D.A., Beechler, B.R., Muehlenbein, M.P., French, S.S., 2011. Beyond phytohaemagglutinin: assessing vertebrate immune function across ecological contexts: Assessing vertebrate immune function across ecological contexts. J. Anim. Ecol. 80, 710– 730. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01813.x
- Derting, T.L., Compton, S., 2003. Immune Response, Not Immune Maintenance, Is Energetically Costly in Wild White-Footed Mice (*Peromyscus leucopus*). Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 76, 744– 752. https://doi.org/10.1086/375662
- Dobson, A., Lafferty, K.D., Kuris, A.M., Hechinger, R.F., Jetz, W., 2008. Homage to Linnaeus: How many parasites? How many hosts? Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 11482–11489. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0803232105
- Downs, C.J., Stewart, K.M., 2014. A primer in ecoimmunology and immunology for wildlife research and management. Calif. Fish Game 100, 371–395.
- Forbes, M.R., 2007. On sex differences in optimal immunity. Trends Ecol. Evol. 22, 111–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.12.004
- Fox, C.J., Hammerman, P.S., Thompson, C.B., 2005. Fuel feeds function: energy metabolism and the T-cell response. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 5, 844–852. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1710
- Franceschi, C., Bonafè, M., Valensin, S., Olivieri, F., De Luca, M., Ottaviani, E., De Benedictis, G., 2006. Inflamm-aging: An Evolutionary Perspective on Immunosenescence. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 908, 244–254. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06651.x
- French, S.S., Moore, M.C., Demas, G.E., 2009. Ecological immunology: The organism in context. Integr. Comp. Biol. 49, 246–253. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icp032
- Galli, S.J., Maurer, M., Lantz, C.S., 1999. Mast cells as sentinels of innate immunity. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 11, 53–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0952-7915(99)80010-7
- Hafner, M., Sudman, P., Villablanca, F., Spradling, T., Demastes, J., Nadler, S., 1994. Disparate rates of molecular evolution in cospeciating hosts and parasites. Science 265, 1087–1090. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.8066445
- Hall, M.L., Peters, A., 2008. Coordination between the sexes for territorial defence in a duetting fairywren. Anim. Behav. 76, 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2008.01.010
- Han, J., Ulevitch, R.J., 2005. Limiting inflammatory responses during activation of innate immunity. Nat. Immunol. 6, 1198–1205. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1274
- Hasselquist, D., 2007. Comparative immunoecology in birds: hypotheses and tests. J. Ornithol. 148, 571–582. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-007-0201-x
- Hasselquist, D., Nilsson, J.-Å., 2012. Physiological mechanisms mediating costs of immune responses: what can we learn from studies of birds? Anim. Behav. 83, 1303–1312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.03.025
- Hidalgo Aranzamendi, N., Hall, M. L., Kingma, S. A., van de Pol, M., Peters, A., 2019. Rapid plastic breeding response to rain matches peak prey abundance in a tropical bird. J. Anim. Ecol. 00, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13068
- Kingma, S.A., Hall, M.L., Peters, A., 2013. Breeding synchronization facilitates extrapair mating for inbreeding avoidance. Behav. Ecol. 24, 1390–1397. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/art078
- Kingma, S.A., Hall, M.L., Peters, A., 2011. Multiple Benefits Drive Helping Behavior in a Cooperatively Breeding Bird: An Integrated Analysis. Am. Nat. 177, 486–495. https://doi.org/10.1086/658989
- Kingma, S.A., Hall, M.L., Segelbacher, G., Peters, A., 2009. Radical loss of an extreme extra-pair mating system. BMC Ecol. 9, 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6785-9-15
- Klasing, K.C., 2004. The cost of immunity. Acta Zool. Sin. 50, 961–969.
- Kubinak, J.L., Nelson, A.C., Ruff, J.S., Potts, W.K., 2012. Trade-offs Limiting MHC Heterozygosity, in: Ecoimmunology. pp. 225–258.
- Kurtz, J., Armitage, S., 2006. Alternative adaptive immunity in invertebrates. Trends Immunol. 27, 493–496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2006.09.001
- Lee, K.A., 2006. Linking immune defenses and life history at the levels of the individual and the species. Integr. Comp. Biol. 46, 1000–1015. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icl049
- Litman, G.W., Rast, J.P., Fugmann, S.D., 2010. The origins of vertebrate adaptive immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 10, 543–553. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2807
- Lochmiller, R.L., Deerenberg, C., 2000. Trade-offs in evolutionary immunology: just what is the cost of immunity? Oikos 88, 87–98. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2000.880110.x

Maizels, R.M., Nussey, D.H., 2013. Into the wild: digging at immunology's evolutionary roots. Nat. Immunol. 14, 879–883. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2643

Martin, L.B., 2009. Stress and immunity in wild vertebrates: Timing is everything. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 163, 70–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.03.008

Martin, L.B., Hasselquist, D., Wikelski, M., 2006a. Investment in immune defense is linked to pace of life in house sparrows. Oecologia 147, 565–575. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-005-0314-y

Martin, L.B., Hawley, D.M., Ardia, D.R., 2011. An introduction to ecological immunology: Editorial. Funct. Ecol. 25, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2010.01820.x

Martin, L.B., Scheuerlein, A., Wikelski, M., 2003. Immune activity elevates energy expenditure of house sparrows: a link between direct and indirect costs? Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 270, 153– 158. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2002.2185

Martin, L.B., Weil, Z.M., Nelson, R.J., 2008. Seasonal changes in vertebrate immune activity: mediation by physiological trade-offs. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 363, 321–339. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2142

Martin, L.B., Weil, Z.M., Nelson, R.J., 2006b. Refining approaches and diversifying directions in ecoimmunology. Integr. Comp. Biol. 46, 1030–1039. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icl039

Matson, K.D., Cohen, A.A., Klasing, K.C., Ricklefs, R.E., Scheuerlein, A., 2006. No simple answers for ecological immunology: relationships among immune indices at the individual level break down at the species level in waterfowl. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 273, 815–822. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2005.3376

Matson, K.D., Horrocks, N.P.C., Versteegh, M.A., Tieleman, B.I., 2012. Baseline haptoglobin concentrations are repeatable and predictive of certain aspects of a subsequent experimentally-induced inflammatory response. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 162, 7–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2012.01.010

McKean, K.A., Yourth, C.P., Lazzaro, B.P., Clark, A.G., 2008. The evolutionary costs of immunological maintenance and deployment. BMC Evol. Biol. 8, 76. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-8-76

Mendes, L., 2006. Variation in the innate and acquired arms of the immune system among five shorebird species. J. Exp. Biol. 209, 284–291. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.02015

Millet, S., Bennett, J., Lee, K.A., Hau, M., Klasing, K.C., 2007. Quantifying and comparing constitutive immunity across avian species. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 31, 188–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2006.05.013

Milutinović, B., Kurtz, J., 2016. Immune memory in invertebrates. Semin. Immunol. 28, 328–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2016.05.004

Mogensen, T.H., 2009. Pathogen Recognition and Inflammatory Signaling in Innate Immune Defenses. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 22, 240–273. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00046-08

Morand, S., 2015. (macro-) Evolutionary ecology of parasite diversity: From determinants of parasite species richness to host diversification. Int. J. Parasitol. Parasites Wildl. 4, 80–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijppaw.2015.01.001

Netea, M.G., Quintin, J., van der Meer, J.W.M., 2011. Trained Immunity: A Memory for Innate Host Defense. Cell Host Microbe 9, 355–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2011.04.006

Nussey, D.H., Watt, K.A., Clark, A., Pilkington, J.G., Pemberton, J.M., Graham, A.L., McNeilly, T.N., 2014. Multivariate immune defences and fitness in the wild: complex but ecologically important associations among plasma antibodies, health and survival. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 281, 20132931–20132931. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.2931

Ochsenbein, A.F., Zinkernagel, R.M., 2000. Natural antibodies and complement link innate and acquired immunity. Immunol. Today 21, 624–630. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-5699(00)01754-0

Palacios, M.G., Cunnick, J.E., Vleck, D., Vleck, C.M., 2009. Ontogeny of innate and adaptive immune defense components in free-living tree swallows, Tachycineta bicolor. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 33, 456–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2008.09.006

Panda, S., Ding, J.L., 2015. Natural Antibodies Bridge Innate and Adaptive Immunity. J. Immunol. 194, 13–20. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1400844

Papkou, A., Gokhale, C.S., Traulsen, A., Schulenburg, H., 2016. Host–parasite coevolution: why changing population size matters. Zoology 119, 330–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.zool.2016.02.001

Patterson, J.E.H., Ruckstuhl, K.E., 2013. Parasite infection and host group size: a meta-analytical review. Parasitology 140, 803–813. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182012002259

Pawelec, G., 2018. Age and immunity: What is "immunosenescence"? Exp. Gerontol. 105, 4-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2017.10.024

Pedersen, A.B., Babayan, S.A., 2011. Wild immunology. Mol. Ecol. 20, 872-880. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2010.04938.x

- Perl, A., 2012. Pathogenesis and Spectrum of Autoimmunity, in: Autoimmunity: Methods and Protocols. Springer Science & Business Media, New York., pp. 1-9.
- Peters, A., Delhey, K., Nakagawa, S., Aulsebrook, A., Verhulst, S., 2019. Immunosenescence in wild animals: meta-analysis and outlook. Ecol. Lett. ele.13343. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13343
- Poulin, R., Morand, S., 2000. The Diversity of Parasites. Q. Rev. Biol. 75, 277-293. https://doi.org/10.1086/393500
- Riera Romo, M., Pérez-Martínez, D., Castillo Ferrer, C., 2016. Innate immunity in vertebrates: an overview. Immunology 148, 125-139. https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.12597
- Romero, L.M., Dickens, M.J., Cyr, N.E., 2009. The reactive scope model A new model integrating homeostasis, allostasis, and stress. Horm. Behav. 55, 375-389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2008.12.009
- Sadd, B.M., Schmid-Hempel, P., 2008. PERSPECTIVE: Principles of ecological immunology. Evol. Appl. 2, 113-121. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-4571.2008.00057.x
- Sandland, G.J., Minchella, D.J., 2003. Costs of immune defense: an enigma wrapped in an environmental cloak? Trends Parasitol. 19, 571-574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2003.10.006
- Schmid-Hempel, P., Ebert, D., 2003. On the evolutionary ecology of specific immune defence. Trends Ecol. Evol. 18, 27-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(02)00013-7
- Schoenle, L.A., Downs, C.J., Martin, L.B., 2018. An Introduction to Ecoimmunology, in: Cooper, E.L. (Ed.), Advances in Comparative Immunology. Springer International Publishing, pp. 901–932. Schulenburg, H., Kurtz, J., Moret, Y., Siva-Jothy, M.T., 2009. Introduction. Ecological immunology.
- Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 364, 3-14. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0249
- Sheldon, B.C., Verhulst, S., 1996. Ecological immunology: costly parasite defences and trade-offs in evolutionary ecology. Trends Ecol. Evol. 11, 317-321. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(96)10039-2
- Skroblin, A., Legge, S., 2012. Influence of fine-scale habitat requirements and riparian degradation on the distribution of the purple-crowned fairy-wren (Malurus coronatus coronatus) in northern Australia. Austral Ecol. 37, 874-884. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2011.02331.x
- Sol, D., Jovani, R., Torres, J., 2000. Geographical variation in blood parasites in feral pigeons: the role of vectors. Ecography 23, 307–314. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2000.tb00286.x
- Teunissen, N., Kingma, S.A., Hall, M.L., Hidalgo Aranzamendi, N., Komdeur, J., Peters, A., 2018. More than kin: subordinates foster strong bonds with relatives and potential mates in a social bird. Behav. Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/ary120
- Tinbergen, N., 1963. On aims and methods of ethology. Z. Für Tierpsychol. 20, 410–433.
- Turner, A.K., Begon, M., Jackson, J.A., Bradley, J.E., Paterson, S., 2011. Genetic Diversity in Cytokines Associated with Immune Variation and Resistance to Multiple Pathogens in a Natural Rodent Population. PLoS Genet. 7, e1002343. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1002343
- Valtonen, T.M., Kleino, A., Rämet, M., Rantala, M.J., 2010. Starvation Reveals Maintenance Cost of Humoral Immunity. Evol. Biol. 37, 49–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11692-009-9078-3
- van de Pol, M., Verhulst, S., 2006. Age-Dependent Traits: A New Statistical Model to Separate Within- and Between-Individual Effects. Am. Nat. 167, 766-773. https://doi.org/10.1086/503331
- van Doorn, A., Choy, J.L., 2009. A description of the primary habitat of the Purple-crowned Fairy-wren Malurus coronatus coronatus in the Victoria River District, N.T. North. Territ. Nat. 21, 24-33.
- Viney, M.E., Riley, E.M., Buchanan, K.L., 2005. Optimal immune responses: immunocompetence revisited. Trends Ecol. Evol. 20, 665-669. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2005.10.003
- Woolhouse, M.E.J., Webster, J.P., Domingo, E., Charlesworth, B., Levin, B.R., 2002. Biological and biomedical implications of the co-evolution of pathogens and their hosts. Nat. Genet. 32, 569-577. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1202-569
- Zylberberg, M., 2019. Next-Generation Ecological Immunology. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 92, 177–188. https://doi.org/10.1086/702440
- Zylberberg, M., 2015. Common measures of immune function vary with time of day and sampling protocol in five passerine species. J. Exp. Biol. 218, 757-766. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.111716

Chapter 2: Short-term climate variation drives baseline innate immune function and stress in a tropical bird: a reactive scope perspective

Michael J. Roast¹, Anne E. Aulsebrook^{1,2}, Marie Fan¹, Nataly Hidalgo Aranzamendi¹, Niki Teunissen¹, Anne Peters¹

¹School of Biological Sciences, Monash University, Victoria 3800, Australia ²School of BioSciences, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria 3010, Australia

Abstract

Investment in immune function can be costly and life-history theory predicts trade-offs between immune function and other physiological demands. Environmental heterogeneity may constrain or change the optimal strategy and - possibly mediated by stress responses thereby alter baseline immune function. We tested several hypotheses relating variation in climatic, ecological, and social environments to chronic stress and levels of baseline innate immunity in a wild, cooperatively breeding bird, the purple-crowned fairy-wren (Malurus coronatus coronatus). From samples collected biannually over 5 years, we quantified three indices of constitutive innate immune function (haptoglobin/PIT54, natural antibodies, complement activity) and one index of chronic stress (heterophil-lymphocyte ratio) (n = 513-647). Using an information theoretic and multi-model inference statistical approach, we found that habitat quality and social group size did not affect any immune index, despite hypothesised links to resource abundance and parasite pressure. Rather, short-term variation in temperature and rainfall was related to immune function, while overall differences between seasons were small or absent, despite substantial seasonal variation in climate. Contrary to our expectation, we found no evidence that physiological stress mediated any effects of shortterm climatic variables on immune indices and alternative mechanism may be involved. Our results may be interpreted from the perspective of reactive scope models, whereby predictive homeostasis maintains standing immune function relative to long-term demands, while shortterm environmental change, being less predictable, has a greater influence on baseline immune function.

Keywords: immunocompetence, ecoimmunology, Maluridae, individual variation, multi-model inference, vertebrate, avian

Introduction

Immunocompetence, the ability to prevent or control infection, is essential for survival (Norris and Evans 2000), but immune defences are nonetheless highly variable within and between individuals. Such variation is thought to arise from the costs of developing, maintaining or deploying a multi-faceted immune system (Lochmiller and Deerenberg 2000; Klasing 2004; Ashley et al. 2012) leading to trade-offs with other physiologically demanding processes (Norris and Evans 2000; Ricklefs and Wikelski 2002; Viney et al. 2005; Lee 2006). As with any life history trade-off, the optimal strategy may depend on environmental conditions (Sandland and Minchella 2003; Ardia 2005; Tschirren and Richner 2006; Tieleman 2018). Identifying which environmental factors account for individual variation in immune function and how, can therefore enhance our understanding of immune trade-offs (Lazzaro and Little 2009).

Environmental factors hypothesised to explain individual variation in immune function include ecological resource availability (food quantity and quality), parasite and pathogen pressure, climate variation, and conspecific interactions (beneficial or detrimental) (reviewed in Maizels and Nussey 2013, fig. 2). These environmental factors could influence immune function through specific nutritional and energetic limitation; diversity and virulence of parasites and pathogens encountered in the environment; and immunosuppressive effects of physiological and social stressors associated with adverse, demanding, or unpredictable conditions (Møller et al. 2001; Bartolomucci 2007; Brzek and Konarzewski 2007; Martin 2009). Chronic stress, in particular, is known to have immunosuppressive effects (Buchanan 2000; Dhabhar 2009; Krams et al. 2012), and may thus link environmental variation and immune function (Mashaly et al. 2004; Bartolomucci 2007; French et al. 2008; Nazar and Marin 2011; Xie et al. 2017). Through some or all of these mechanisms, different environments are likely to shape individual immune function differently.

To assess why and how individual immune defences vary, a real-world context is therefore needed (Maizels and Nussey 2013). Wild organisms are exposed to complex environmental variation, potentially revealing drivers of individual variation obscured in highly controlled environments (Babayan et al. 2011; Pedersen and Babayan 2011). Several studies on wild animals have examined the links between environmental variables and immune function and in each case, environmental context or heterogeneity to some degree explained individual variation in the immune indices measured (Rubenstein et al. 2008; Pigeon et al. 2013; Zylberberg et al. 2013; Vermeulen et al. 2015; Bailly et al. 2016). While these studies often investigated variation in a single environmental variable, components are more likely to act in concert than in isolation (Stahlschmidt et al. 2015). Thus, a need to address the relative

26

effects of multiple environmental variables on immune function is apparent. This requires an integrative approach combining an assessment of multiple environmental factors with detailed information on study subjects to control for individual differences that may affect life history trade-offs and immune variation (including age, sex, and competing physiological demands such as breeding) and, consequently, large sample sizes.

We examined several non-exclusive hypotheses to assess if and how variation in key environmental variables can account for individual variation in immune function in a free-living tropical songbird. First, we tested the hypothesis that greater resource availability enables individuals to invest more in immune function (Houston et al. 2007) by examining whether higher habitat quality is associated with greater immune function. Second, we evaluated support for two alternative hypotheses regarding social environment (cf. Møller et al. 2001). The first hypothesis, that social stress depresses immune function (Hawley et al. 2006), predicts that individuals in larger group sizes should experience higher levels of social stress, leading to suppressed immunity. The second hypothesis, that individuals in larger groups face increased exposure and risk of infection from parasites through social contact transmission (Patterson and Ruckstuhl 2013), predicts that increasing group size is associated with increasing immune function, without affecting stress levels. Third, we hypothesised that extreme climatic variation (in the context of a tropical climate) would be physiologically stressful, and associated with immunosuppression. Specifically, we tested whether several climatic conditions evoke physiological stress and immune suppression: high daily maximum temperature (cf. acute heat stress; Butler et al. 2013; Xie et al. 2017), high weekly mean maximum temperature (cf. a heatwave; Mashaly et al. 2004; Stahlschmidt et al. 2017), large daily temperature variability (Bozinovic et al. 2013; Briga and Verhulst 2015), and a lack of rainfall (Fair and Whitaker 2008). Fourth, because increased water availability following rain may alleviate the physiological (metabolic) demands of cooling at high temperatures (Wilson et al. 2004), or conversely, high humidity may prevent evaporative cooling at extremely high temperatures and exacerbate physiological stress, (Gerson et al. 2014; El-Tarabany 2016), we tested for an interactive effect between rainfall and maximum temperatures. Fifth, we hypothesised that more long-term environmental conditions would be of greater immunosuppressive consequence (Martin 2009). We predicted that short-term climatic variables, followed by social group size, then habitat quality (representing more enduring environmental variables) will be of progressively greater relative importance for explaining immune variation.

To assess support for these hypotheses, we statistically quantified the relative importance and strength of effects of each environmental variable on baseline levels of three indices of constitutive innate immunity. In > 500 samples collected over 5 years we measured natural antibodies (NAbs), lytic complement activity (Ca), and haptoglobin-like heme binding protein (Hp), which recognise, eliminate, and mitigate a broad range of pathogens, respectively (Ochsenbein et al. 1999; Rajan et al. 2005; Jayasekera et al. 2007; Rapaka et al. 2010). Additionally, we quantified heterophil-lymphocyte ratio (HL ratio) as an index of chronic (> ~24h) stress (Davis et al. 2008; Davis and Maney 2018). We focused on these three immune indices because their baseline levels are continuously maintained as a first line of defence against novel challenges. Furthermore, they respond non-specifically to any immune challenge (Schmid-Hempel and Ebert 2003; Martin et al. 2006), avoiding problems with immune memory due to unknown prior exposures (Pedersen and Fenton 2007; Hawley and Altizer 2011). Finally, constitutive innate immunity is known to be modulated according to life-history trade-offs (Tieleman et al. 2005).

<u>Methods</u>

Study population

Our study population of purple-crowned fairy-wrens, Malurus coronatus coronatus (Gould 1857), is located in the tropical wet-dry Kimberley region of Western Australia at Australian Wildlife Conservancy's (AWC) Mornington Wildlife Sanctuary (126.1°E, -17.5°N) along 15km of waterways on Annie Creek and Adcock River. Studied since 2005, all individuals are uniquely colour-banded to monitor social group composition, territory boundaries, and relatedness (from DNA sampling; Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al. 2016). Purple-crowned fairywrens are cooperatively breeding riparian specialists, vocally defending year-round stable, exclusive territories (Hall and Peters 2008). Close proximity and physical contact between individuals within social groups is common (Hall and Peters 2009; Teunissen et al. 2018) but physical interactions between social groups are very rare (pers. obs.). Social groups consist typically of a socially and genetically monogamous dominant breeding pair (Kingma et al. 2009, 2013), with subordinate adults – either previous offspring or unrelated settled dispersers – which may help to rear offspring (Kingma et al. 2010). The majority of breeding occurs in the wet season between December and March, although breeding can occur at any time of the year in response to rainfall (Hidalgo Aranzamendi 2017). This subspecies is dependent on Pandanus aquaticus vegetation (fig. S1; Kingma et al. 2011b; Skroblin and Legge 2012), with ~95% of nests built in *P. aquaticus* crowns, and the majority of time spent in *P. aquaticus* vegetation (Kingma et al. 2011a). P. aquaticus cover also directly and indirectly enhances reproductive success (Kingma et al. 2010, 2011b; Hidalgo Aranzamendi 2017) and influences female settlement decisions (Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al. 2016).

Capture and blood sampling

Adult birds (> 3 months old) were captured passively in mist-nets between May 2012 and May 2017 on a biannual basis in 'May' (between 29th April and 21st June; post-wet) and 'November' (19th October – 28th November; pre-wet). Birds were typically caught with other social group members and extracted from mist-nets, kept in holding bags, and blood sampled sequentially as quickly as possible (median = 23min after capture, s.d. = 19min) to mitigate handling stress (Davis 2005; Zylberberg 2015), then released. Following brachial venepuncture, up to 100µl of blood was collected in heparinised capillary tubes, which were sealed, and immediately vertically stored on ice. Later that day (median = 3.8h after capture, s.d. = 2h), capillaries were centrifuged at 13,000rpm for 5min, and plasma separated and frozen at -20°C. Within 8 weeks of collection, plasma samples were transferred to -80°C. During sampling, a blood smear was created with whole blood using the wedge-pull method (Campbell 2015). Air-dried blood smears were fixed in absolute methanol for no less than 15min. Samples were collected over 11 consecutive field seasons, however due to laboratory misfortune, the total number of field seasons represented differs (Hp, n = 11, 2012-17; NAbs & Ca, n = 7, 2012-13 & 2016-17; HL ratio, n = 9, 2012-14 & 2016-17).

Immunological analyses

We quantified three components of constitutive innate immunity: natural antibodies (NAbs), lytic complement activity (Ca), and haptoglobin-like heme binding protein (Hp). NAbs are antigen-binding with a generally low specificity, opsonizing foreign cell components for phagocytosis, as well as initiating the lysis complement system via the classic pathway (Juul-Madsen et al. 2014). The lysis complement system is a cascade of sequentially activated proteins that continue the breakdown and elimination of foreign cell components. Both NAbs and Ca were quantified from the same haemolysis-hemagglutination assay (Matson et al. 2005) with minor modifications, where exogenous rabbit red blood cells added to plasma samples are agglutinated by NAbs and lysed by Ca. Assays were run on two clear roundbottomed 96-well plates, and 15 µl of defrosted plasma were added to columns 1 and 2 of the first plate. From column 2 onwards, plasma was serially diluted by 50% with Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Then, 15µl of 1.5% rabbit red blood cells in PBS were added to all wells. Plates were covered with Parafilm® and incubated for 90min at 37.5°C. After incubation, plates were tilted at a 45° angle for 20min and then scanned using an Epson Perfection® V370 flat-bed scanner on the 'Positive Film' setting with backlight correction. Plates remained flat at room temperature for a further 70min and scanned a second time. The two scans were then scored blind for agglutination (NAbs) and lysis (Ca) titres respectively. Columns 12 and 24 were left without plasma as negative controls, and on each plate two samples of chicken plasma (Applied Biological Products Management) were included, with high agglutination (mean = 10.1, n = 247) and high lysis (mean = 3.55, n = 265) scores respectively, resulting in CV = 0.13 and CV = 0.11. Where < 30μ l but > 15 μ l of sample plasma was available, the 100% column 1 was omitted. Where no sign of lysis was observed in column 2, a score of 0.5 was assigned to these samples (n = 83). Of the samples with sufficient plasma, 16% had no evidence of lysis, indicating that the error introduced by this is relatively small.

Haptoglobin (Hp) is a major positive acute phase protein which can increase over 100fold during an immune challenge and constitutively maintained baseline levels can predict some aspects of the immune response (Matson et al. 2012). Hp and PIT54, a Hp-like functional analogue in some avian orders (Wicher and Fries 2006, 2010), both function primarily as scavengers of toxic heme released by damaged erythrocytes during infection (Quaye 2008; Georgieva 2010; Andersen et al. 2017), providing a valuable index of immune status. Hp/PIT54 (presently undetermined in purple-crowned fairy-wrens) was quantified in this study using a commercial kit based on heme-binding ability (PhaseTM Range, TP801; Tri-Delta Development Ltd.), adjusted for small sample volume, using a VersamaxPLUS ROM v1.21 microplate reader. All samples were run in duplicate and where plasma volume was limiting, a 50% dilution was prepared with kit 'Diluent' (n = 168). Rabbit plasma (Monash University Animal Research Platform) in triplicate was used to assess inter-plate variation (CV = 0.24, n = 25 plates). Of 732 samples, 82 fell above the 1.25mg/ml optical saturation threshold of the assay and were excluded from further analyses.

Blood smears were immersed in dilutions of 50% May-Grünwald and 10% Giemsa stain for 15min each, then distilled water for 5min, before air-drying. Differential white blood cell counts were conducted at 1000x magnification to identify heterophils, lymphocytes, basophils, eosinophils and monocytes for the first 100 leukocytes encountered on the blood smear, systematically following the feathered edge as described by Campbell (2015). Scoring was undertaken by 4 scorers, and scorer ID was included in statistical models to account for variation between scorers.

Environmental data

Our sampling seasons, May and November, are wet-dry transitional periods: in May, almost no rain falls, but more residual water persists post-wet season – typically flowing; in November, streams are contracted to free-standing waterholes but there are more frequent heavy rainfall events as the temperature and humidity rises pre-wet season. Daily rainfall information was derived from Mornington station (Bureau of Meteorology, weather station #002076). Temperature information was derived from Fitzroy Crossing Aero station (#003093) located ~93km from the field site. Temperature data have been intermittently recorded at our field site, and recordings were highly correlated with those from Fitzroy Crossing (r = 0.87, p < 0.001, n = 577 daily records). Daily rainfall data were highly zero-inflated and converted to a binary variable for the occurrence of rain in the week preceding capture (*Rain*₇) (figs. S2, S3), which better captures the lasting effects of heavy downpours that can occur on a single day (such as waterhole replenishment; range = 0-59.4mm). Temperature was considered as three separate parameters: maximum temperature the day preceding capture (T_{max}), i.e. the maximum immediately before early morning capture; temperature range the day preceding capture (T_{var}), i.e. maximum of the day preceding capture minus the minimum of the morning of capture; mean of daily temperature maxima in the week preceding capture (T_{max7}).

Given the high dependency of purple-crowned fairy-wrens on *P. aquaticus*, habitat quality was determined using an estimate of *P. aquaticus* cover in each territory (n = 82) territories) as a proxy for habitat quality. Surveys were conducted (annually to 2008, November 2013, November 2015, and May 2017) using the method described in detail by Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al. (2016), which in brief, assigns a Pandanus score between 0-20 at 50m intervals along all waterways in the study area. For sampling seasons between Pandanus surveys, data were interpolated at even increments or decrements. Survey data were then spatio-temporally matched with territories that individual birds inhabited at the time of capture using QGIS version 2.18.16. Mean territory quality score at each capture was 11.2, with an even distribution of scores across the scale (fig. S4). This proxy of habitat quality is positively correlated with the presence of year-round water availability (remaining waterholes at the end of the 2015 dry season; Adcock River, $r_s = 0.48$, p < 0.001, Annie Creek $r_s = 0.45$, p < 0.001) and year-round food availability (monthly averages of summed arthropod lengths from sweeps between 2007-2008 (Kingma et al. 2011a), r = 0.33, p = 0.04). Social group sizes were known from observational data (median group size = 5, range = 1-10, fig. S5) and were positively correlated to the proxy for habitat quality (r = 0.29, p < 0.001), but not so strongly that it precluded statistical assessment of independent effects.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were done using R-software version 3.4.0 (R Core Team 2017). Distributions of Hp and NAbs values followed a normal distribution. Ca scores were normalised with a natural log-transformation and heterophil-lymphocyte ratios were normalised with a square-root-transformation (all values were between 0 and 1). Outliers beyond \pm 2.5 standard deviations of the mean were excluded (2.5% of 2266 observations). Exploratory analyses revealed that there were clear seasonal differences in the distributions of environmental

variables, with limited overlap (fig. S6), and different relationships with immune indices in each season (fig. 1a and b); therefore data from the May and November field seasons were analysed separately, resulting in 8 main analyses (4 response variables across 2 seasons). T-tests were conducted to test for overall seasonal differences in means between the two field seasons.

To test for the effects of environmental parameters on immune indices we combined linear mixed effects models (LMM) using the Ime4 package (Bates et al. 2015) with an information-theoretic approach and multi-model inference (Burnham and Anderson 2002; Grueber et al. 2011). All tested models included Individual ID, Territory ID, Year, and Plate ID (for Hp, NAbs, and Ca) or Scorer ID (for HL ratio) as random intercepts to account for nonindependence of observations, repeated sampling structure, and plate or observer effects during measurement. Additionally, we defined a selection of potentially confounding fixed effects known or suspected to have effects on immune parameters, but not of primary interest for this study: time bled - to control for daily fluctuations in immune parameters; time wait the time delay between initial capture in mist-net to blood sampling to control for handling stress; day of season – to control for any changes during the course of the sampling season; sex; status – as a dominant or subordinate adult within the social group (n = 9 floating individuals were treated as subordinates); breeding activity - categorised as yes or no - to control for breeding-related changes in immunity (Ardia et al. 2003; Davis 2005; Forbes 2007; Cīrule et al. 2012; Hegemann et al. 2012; Zylberberg 2015; Snyder-Mackler et al. 2016). Breeding activity was defined as whether an individual was involved in a breeding attempt within the social group at the time of capture; including for females nest-building, egg-laying, incubation phases, and for all adult birds, offspring provisioning up to 9 weeks post-hatch when offspring start becoming self-sufficient (Hidalgo Aranzamendi 2017). Combined with random intercepts, these fixed parameters formed an unchanging 'null model' that was forced into all models during model selection. An additional potential confounding fixed effect we considered was the presence of active wing moult, to control for moult-related changes in immunity (Moreno 2004; Sanz et al. 2004; Moreno-Rueda 2010). Information on wing moult was available only for a subset of samples so we separately assessed the possibility that it may have affected our immune indices. We conducted ANOVAs comparing the null model in each of the 8 analyses both with and without the addition of wing moult for the subsets of data (n = 132-339). Wing moult had no effect in May or November, in any of the indices (table S1), and was therefore not considered further in the analyses.

Environmental parameters T_{max} , T_{max7} , T_{var} , $Rain_7$, group size and territory quality were included in the global models, as well as the two two-way interactions between T_{max} and T_{max7}

with Rain₇ to assess whether rain alters the effect of maximum temperatures. All predictor variables were mean-centred and standardised using the arm package (Gelman 2008; Gelman and Su 2016). Variance inflation factors were also calculated to assess for multicollinearity between all modelled variables in each global model (table S2). Model selection was carried out with the MuMIn package (Bartoń 2018) comparing the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) of models with all permutations of environmental parameters, excluding from consideration any models that contained both T_{max} and T_{max7} due to high correlation (r = 0.89, p < 0.001; each correlated with T_{var} , |r| < 0.25), resulting in 64 models per immune response variable (see table S3 for permutations). All models with $\Delta AIC < 2$ from the best-fitting model formed a model set that was then model-averaged to provide inferences of the estimates and relative variable importance of all environmental parameters. Predicted immune index values were obtained using model-averaged estimates, with means of numerical predictors and weighted means of categorical predictors, which were backtransformed as necessary for Ca and HL ratio. Adjusted repeatabilities were calculated from residuals of the null models within individuals and within territories using the *rptR* package (Stoffel et al. 2017).

<u>Results</u>

Over the course of sample collection, a total of 902 blood samples were taken from 387 individuals (56% male captures, of which 45% were dominant individuals; 44% female captures, of which 58% were dominants); 70% during May field seasons and 30% during November seasons. In total, 36% of captures were of individuals involved in breeding activity, and 97% breeding birds were captured during the later breeding stage with already fledged offspring. Final sample sizes were for Hp, n = 647; for NAbs, n = 513; for Ca, n = 517; and for HL ratio, n = 537. Pairwise correlations between immune and stress indices were weak to absent in May (using residuals controlling for parameters within null models, $|\mathbf{r}| = 0.01-0.24$, n = 247-300, table S4) and November ($|\mathbf{r}| = 0.00-0.29$, n = 111-124, table S4). Adjusted repeatabilities were low to non-detectable within individuals ($R_{adj} = 0-0.392$, table S5) and within territories ($R_{adj} = 0-0.335$, table S5).

Model selection for model-averaging

For each of the 8 model sets, a comparison between 64 model permutations was made using AIC (tables S6-13). Models with Δ AIC < 2 from the best fitting model totalled: Hp, n = 11 and 10; NAbs, n = 4 and 15; Ca, n = 4 and 12; HL ratio, n = 6 and 9 for May and November respectively. Comparing the null model to the best fitting model, Δ AIC values for the null

models for May and November respectively were for Hp, $\Delta AIC = 1.09$ and 0; for Nabs, $\Delta AIC = 7.50$ and 0; for Ca, $\Delta AIC = 36.56$ and 0.47; and for HL ratio, $\Delta AIC = 11.70$ and 6.40. For the four analyses with $\Delta AIC < 2$, this implies that no environmental variables could improve the explanatory power of the model, which agrees with the lack of significant effects of any environmental parameters for those four averaged models (Hp in May; and Hp, NAbs and Ca in November; fig. 1, table S14).



Figure 1: Effects of environmental variables on immune/stress indices for **a**. May and **b**. November. Shown are effect size estimates from models run with standardised (i.e. scaled and centred) immune and stress index response variables, so effects are comparable across models. Model output β -estimates are plotted, with bars spanning 2.5% and 97.5% confidence intervals of β -estimates. Effects with confidence intervals not overlapping zero (dashed vertical line) are statistically significant. Missing values were not among variables in the best fitting model sets, and therefore were not included in averaged models and do not have β -estimates. Sample sizes in May and November respectively were for Hp, n = 453 and 194; NAbs, n = 376 and 137; Ca n = 385 and 132; HL ratio, n = 375 and 162.

Group size and territory quality

Both group size and territory quality had very little statistical influence on any of the immune indices in either May or November (fig. 1). In all analyses, estimated effect sizes were minimal in comparison to other standardised predictors, and 95% confidence intervals (CI) contained zero (fig. 1).

Seasonal differences

There were no overall differences in mean levels of Hp, Ca or HL ratio between May and November (calculated from residuals from the null models; Welch Two-sample T-test for unequal variance: for Hp, $t_{307.81} = 1.52$, p = 0.13; for HL ratio, $t_{425.82} = -0.37$, p = 0.71; Two-sample T-test, for Ca, $t_{515} = -0.68$, p = 0.50; figs. 2c, i and I). The only immune index that exhibited a seasonal difference was NAbs (Welch Two-sample T-test, $t_{360.63} = -3.03$, p < 0.01), with slightly lower mean values in May (14.7 ± 2.04 s.e.) compared to November (15.4 ± 1.37 s.e.) (fig. 2f).

Climate variation

In May, climatic variables during the week prior to capture affected immune function and stress. For NAbs, Ca and HL ratio, the interaction between T_{max7} and $Rain_7$ had a clear and significant effect, with high relative importance (fig. 1a, fig. 2, table S14). However, the direction of this interaction varied. When there was rainfall, as T_{max7} increased, the levels of NAbs and HL ratio increased (figs. 2d and j), whereby the main effect of $Rain_7$ was also significant for HL ratio (i.e. HL ratio was higher if there was rain in May). For Ca the interactive effect was opposite: when there was rainfall, with increasing T_{max7} there was a decrease in Ca (figs. 1 and 2g). T_{max} (maximum temperature of the previous day) was of little influence on NAbs or Ca, however for HL ratio, it had a similar and significant effect as T_{max7} , but with lower relative variable importance and smaller effect size (fig. 1a). There was no detectable effect of any climate variable on Hp in May (fig. 1a).

In November, no environmental variables predicted variation in Hp, NAbs, and Ca (fig. 1b). For these immune indices, day of season was significant with moderate effect sizes, negative for Hp and NAbs, and positive for Ca (table S14, fig. S7), so as the November season progressed, Hp and NAbs decreased and Ca increased. Rainfall was linked to an increase in HL ratio, but no effect of temperature (fig. 2k, table S14), indicating an increase in stress after it had rained in the previous week, but no apparent stressful effects of very high temperatures, and no interaction.






Figure 2: Complex relationships between temperature and rain in the week before sampling (T_{max7} , *Rain*₇) and immune and stress indices. Panel of plots in row **a-c.** haptoglobin, **d-f.** natural antibodies, **g-i.** complement activity, and **j-l.** HL ratio. In first column, May season, and in second column, November season, data are plotted as raw immune index scores against mean maximum temperatures in the week before capture (T_{max7}), with fitted lines of predicted values from model-averaged β -estimates (table S14). Predictions could not be made for plot **h.** as T_{max7} β -estimates were not obtained after model selection and averaging. Black lines and points are with rainfall (*Rain*₇ : Yes), grey lines and points are without rainfall (*Rain*₇ : No). Plots **d.**, **g.**, **j.** and **k.** are annoted with 'significant' main effects and interactions, ascribed in each case where 95% confidence intervals of model-averaged β -estimates do not contain zero (fig. 2, table S14). In third column, boxplots of the residual values from the null models (i.e. corrected raw scores) indicate seasonal median values and interquartile ranges (boxes), and maximally 1.5x interquartile ranges (whiskers). Outliers are individually plotted; in boxplots **f.** and **l.** in May the were 17 and 16 omissions respectively, beyond the plotted y-axis scale. Plot **f.** p-value is from Welch two-sample t-test.

Discussion

No long-term environmental effects

We found no support for the hypothesis that longer-term stable environmental variation is associated with greater differences in immune indices: neither habitat quality nor social environment affected immune or stress indices. We predicted that greater resource availability, reflected by higher habitat quality, should enable birds to invest more in immune function, but this was not supported. Possibly, costs of maintaining constitutive innate immunity may not be large enough to impose on other bodily demands. Alternatively, although our proxy of habitat quality is correlated with aspects of food and water availability and predicts important fitness-related traits (Kingma et al. 2010, 2011a; Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al. 2016; Hidalgo Aranzamendi 2017), it may not reflect the aspects of resource availability that mechanistically relate to immune function. Perhaps fine-scale variation in habitat quality between territories was lower than what is typically important for immune variation (e.g. land use, degradation, urbanization, pollution; Fokidis et al. 2008; Eeva and Klemola 2013; Pigeon et al. 2013; Bailly et al. 2016).

Like habitat quality, group size also did not relate to immune or stress indices, contrary to expectation. We hypothesised that group size could affect immune function in this group living species in two opposing ways – indirectly via social stress and competition or directly as a result of parasite exposure. These hypotheses are not mutually exclusive, and support for both has been found in other birds, including songbirds (Møller et al. 2006, 2001; Spottiswoode

2008; but see Tella et al. 2001; Hawley et al. 2006). Conspecific interactions within groups of purple-crowned fairy-wrens tend to be mostly affiliative (e.g. allopreening) and presumably beneficial (Teunissen et al. 2018). As a consequence, we expected that elevated parasite pressure from close contact with group members would be more important than social stress. Nonetheless, simultaneous but opposing effects of social stress and parasite pressure may have obscured each independent effect. However, as we did not see an increase in HL ratio in larger groups (i.e. higher chronic stress), as was expected under the social stress hypothesis, it seems most probable that neither of these hypothesised costs of social living are related to standing immune variation.

Congruent with the lack of effects of long-term environmental variation, there were limited overall seasonal differences in immune and stress indices – only levels of NAbs were slightly higher in November (fig. 2f) – despite substantial differences in ambient temperature (fig. S6). In November, warmer and to some extent wetter conditions are likely to result in a proliferation of diverse microbial threats (Horrocks et al. 2012, 2015), as well as vectors (Ortego and Espada 2007; Wood et al. 2007; Nkuo-Akenji et al. 2008). Increased levels of natural antibodies enhance a host's ability to detect novel pathogens and an increase in NAbs during this season could be advantageous (Matson et al. 2005; Schulenburg et al. 2009). The observed increase in NAbs in May with increasing temperature when rainfall occurs (fig. 2d) is consistent with the interpretation that NAbs might be upregulated when warm and wet conditions are favourable for proliferation of vectors and parasites. The lack of a similar withinseason effect in November may indicate that parasite pressure plateaus at very high temperatures.

Complex short-term climatic effects

We hypothesised that higher maximum temperatures, larger daily temperature variability, and a lack of rainfall represent more physiologically stressful environmental conditions that therefore would be associated with immunosuppression (cf. Martin 2009). The short-term climatic variables in our study were indeed found to predict some variation in immune and stress indices but these relationships were complex, in differing directions, and not as we predicted. Our hypotheses that climate-associated physiological stress mediates immunosuppression were not supported, as we found no environmental variable related to a decrease in an immune index at the same time as an increase in HL ratio. The short-term environmental variables did, however, account for individual variation in some immune and stress indices (fig. 1). There was no evidence of heat related immunosuppression in November, when temperatures are hottest (mean maximum = 41.5° C). However, we did observe an increase in Ca (complement activity) with decreasing temperatures in May, the cooler season (fig. 2g). This is reminiscent of predictions from the 'winter-immunoenhancement' hypothesis that immune function is upregulated in response to decreasing day length in anticipation of increased risk of sickness during winter (Nelson et al. 1995, 2002; Nelson and Demas 2004; Walton et al. 2011). Ca is an aggressive constitutive innate immune component (Klasing 2004; Trouw and Daha 2011) and is therefore likely to be tightly regulated according to (seasonal) variation in the balance of benefits and costs (Buehler et al. 2008). In agreement with this, Ca also increased as day length shortened in May (fig. S7, table S14), providing some support for winter-immunoenhancement even in this tropical species, where the cold season is much milder and photoperiod less variable than in temperate regions (May mean minimum = 15.3° C, lowest recorded = 5.9° C; Schultz et al. 2017).

The only consistent effect across both seasons was a positive relationship between *Rain*⁷ and HL ratio (figs. 1a and 1b), with recent rainfall associated with increased chronic stress (hours/days). Rainfall is the critical short-term cue for the initiation of breeding in purplecrowned fairy-wrens and even small quantities of rain can stimulate breeding at any time for individuals not with eggs/dependent young (Hidalgo Aranzamendi 2017). Chronic stress, as measured with HL ratio, has been shown in other species to increase during breeding attempts (Ots and Horak 1996; Hanssen et al. 2003; Ilmonen et al. 2003). Although the late stages of breeding were not associated with increased HL ratio (table S14), our data suggest that preparing for breeding initiation, as triggered by rain, may invoke some stress. Furthermore, this may be compounded by elevated temperature; in May, HL ratio increased with temperature (up to \sim 38°C), and in November, when temperatures are always high (above \sim 38°C), HL ratio was consistently a little higher (dark lines, figs. 2j and k). This could suggest that initiating breeding at higher temperatures represents a more stressful event for purple-crowned fairy-wrens.

A reactive scope perspective

Only short-term climatic variables were identified as important predictors of individual immune variation, whereas immune and stress indices did not vary with longer-term (months, seasonal or permanent) environmental variation. Given that the latter are stable or to a large extent predictable, whereas the former are unpredictable, these results are consistent with reactive scope models and reactive homeostasis (Romero et al. 2009; *sensu* allostasis, McEwen and Wingfield 2003). These models propose that predictive homeostasis manages investment into

physiological processes in anticipation of predictable change (Romero et al. 2009). If immune function is crucial to maintain, then investment in seasonally predictable reproduction, moult or other physiological processes may be modified to avoid conflict with immune function. Consequently, immune variation would not relate to longer-term environmental variation (Cyr et al. 2007). However, when shorter-term (days or weeks), unpredictable environmental variation impacts physiological demands, many processes, such as reproduction and moult, cannot easily be modified once initiated (Cyr and Romero 2007). This may be resolved by modifying investment in immune function instead (DuRant et al. 2016; Gormally et al. 2018). Consequently, according to this scenario, the only environmental parameters that might be expected to correlate with immune function would be unpredictable short-term changes in conditions that could push individuals into reactive homeostasis and possibly homeostatic overload - which may account for the results we found.

Acknowledgments

This research was approved by the Australian Bird and Bat Banding Scheme (license 2230); Western Australia Department of Parks and Wildlife; Australian Wildlife Conservancy; and the School of Biological Sciences ethics committee at Monash University. This work was funded by BirdLife Australia and the Holsworth Wildlife Research Endowment (to MR), and the Australian Research Council (FT10100505 & DP150103595 to AP). We would like to thank all volunteers for assistance in the field and laboratory. Special thanks to staff at Australian Wildlife Conservancy's Mornington Wildlife Sanctuary for their continued support and advice.

References

- Andersen C.B.F., K. Stødkilde, K.L. Sæderup, A. Kuhlee, S. Raunser, J.H. Graversen, and S.K. Moestrup. 2017. Haptoglobin. Antioxid Redox Signal 26:814–831.
- Ardia D.R. 2005. Tree swallows trade off immune function and reproductive effort differently across their range. Ecology 86:2040–2046.
- Ardia D.R., K.A. Schat, and D.W. Winkler. 2003. Reproductive effort reduces long-term immune function in breeding tree swallows (*Tachycineta bicolor*). Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 270:1679– 1683.
- Ashley N.T., Z.M. Weil, and R.J. Nelson. 2012. Inflammation: Mechanisms, Costs, and Natural Variation. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 43:385–406.
- Babayan S.A., J.E. Allen, J.E. Bradley, M.B. Geuking, A.L. Graham, R.K. Grencis, J. Kaufman, et al. 2011. Wild immunology: converging on the real world. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1236:17–29.
- Bailly J., R. Scheifler, M. Belvalette, S. Garnier, E. Boissier, V.-A. Clément-Demange, M. Gète, et al. 2016. Negative impact of urban habitat on immunity in the great tit *Parus major*. Oecologia 182:1053–1062.
- Bartolomucci A. 2007. Social stress, immune functions and disease in rodents. Front Neuroendocrinol 28:28–49.
- Bartoń, K., 2018. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version 1.40.4. URL https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=MuMIn
- Bates D., M. Mächler, B. Bolker, and S. Walker. 2015. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using **Ime4**. J Stat Softw 67.
- Bozinovic F., T.P. CataláN, and A.M. Kalergis. 2013. Immunological vulnerability and adjustments to environmental thermal variability. Rev Chil Hist Nat 86:475–483.
- Briga M. and S. Verhulst. 2015. Large diurnal temperature range increases bird sensitivity to climate change. Sci Rep 5.
- Brzek P. and M. Konarzewski. 2007. Relationship between avian growth rate and immune response depends on food availability. J Exp Biol 210:2361–2367.
- Buchanan K.L. 2000. Stress and the evolution of condition-dependent signals. Trends Ecol Evol 15:156–160.
- Buehler D.M., T. Piersma, K. Matson, and B.I. Tieleman. 2008. Seasonal Redistribution of Immune Function in a Migrant Shorebird: Annual-Cycle Effects Override Adjustments to Thermal Regime. Am Nat 172:783–796.
- Bureau of Meteorology. Climate Data Online. Accessed 23/10/2017. URL http://www.bom.gov.au/climate/data/
- Burnham K.P. and D.R. Anderson, eds. 2002. Model Selection and Multimodel Inference: A Practical Information Theoretic Approach (2nd ed.). Springer New York, New York, NY.
- Butler M.W., Z.R. Stahlschmidt, D.R. Ardia, S. Davies, J. Davis, L.J. Guillette, N. Johnson, et al. 2013. Thermal Sensitivity of Immune Function: Evidence against a Generalist-Specialist Trade-Off among Endothermic and Ectothermic Vertebrates. Am Nat 181:761–774.
- Campbell T.W. 2015. Blood Sample Collection and Preparation in Birds. Pp. 165–172 in Exot Anim Hematol Cytol. Wiley Blackwell.
- Cīrule D., T. Krama, J. Vrublevska, M.J. Rantala, and I. Krams. 2012. A rapid effect of handling on counts of white blood cells in a wintering passerine bird: a more practical measure of stress? J Ornithol 153:161–166.
- Cyr N.E., K. Earle, C. Tam, and L.M. Romero. 2007. The effect of chronic psychological stress on corticosterone, plasma metabolites, and immune responsiveness in European starlings. Gen Comp Endocrinol 154:59–66.
- Cyr N.E. and L.M. Romero. 2007. Chronic stress in free-living European starlings reduces corticosterone concentrations and reproductive success. Gen Comp Endocrinol 151:82–89.

- Davis A.K. 2005. Effect of handling time and repeated sampling on avian white blood cell counts. J Field Ornithol 76:334–338.
- Davis A.K. and D.L. Maney. 2018. The use of glucocorticoid hormones or leucocyte profiles to measure stress in vertebrates: What's the difference? (E. Leder, ed.). Methods Ecol Evol 9:1556–1568.
- Davis A.K., D.L. Maney, and J.C. Maerz. 2008. The use of leukocyte profiles to measure stress in vertebrates: a review for ecologists. Funct Ecol 22:760–772.
- Dhabhar F.S. 2009. Enhancing versus Suppressive Effects of Stress on Immune Function: Implications for Immunoprotection and Immunopathology. Neuroimmunomodulation 16:300– 317.
- DuRant S.E., M.L. Arciniega, C.M. Bauer, and L.M. Romero. 2016. A test of reactive scope: Reducing reactive scope causes delayed wound healing. Gen Comp Endocrinol 236:115–120.
- Eeva T. and T. Klemola. 2013. Variation in prevalence and intensity of two avian ectoparasites in a polluted area. Parasitology 140:1384–1393.
- El-Tarabany M.S. 2016. Impact of temperature-humidity index on egg-laying characteristics and related stress and immunity parameters of Japanese quails. Int J Biometeorol 60:957–964.
- Fair J.M. and S.J. Whitaker. 2008. Avian cell-mediated immune response to drought. Wilson J Ornithol 120:813–819.
- Fokidis H.B., E.C. Greiner, and P. Deviche. 2008. Interspecific variation in avian blood parasites and haematology associated with urbanization in a desert habitat. J Avian Biol 39:300–310.
- Forbes M.R. 2007. On sex differences in optimal immunity. Trends Ecol Evol 22:111–113.
- French S.S., H.B. Fokidis, and M.C. Moore. 2008. Variation in stress and innate immunity in the tree lizard (*Urosaurus ornatus*) across an urban–rural gradient. J Comp Physiol B 178:997–1005.
- Gelman A. 2008. Scaling regression inputs by dividing by two standard deviations. Stat Med 27:2865–2873.
- Gelman A. and Y.-S. Su. 2016. arm: Data Analysis Using Regression and Multilevel/Hierarchical Models. R package version 1.9-1. URL https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=arm
- Georgieva T.M. 2010. Similarities and differences between haptoglobin in mammals and PIT54 in poultry a review. Bulg J Vet Med 13:1–12.
- Gerson A.R., E.K. Smith, B. Smit, A.E. McKechnie, and B.O. Wolf. 2014. The Impact of Humidity on Evaporative Cooling in Small Desert Birds Exposed to High Air Temperatures. Physiol Biochem Zool 87:782–795.
- Gormally B.M.G., J. Wright-Lichter, J.M. Reed, and L.M. Romero. 2018. Physiological and behavioral responses of house sparrows to repeated stressors. PeerJ 6:e4961.
- Gould, J., 1857 (for 1858). On several New Species of Birds from various parts of the World. Proc. Zool. Soc. Lond. 25, 220–224. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1096-3642.1857.tb01230.x
- Grueber C.E., S. Nakagawa, R.J. Laws, and I.G. Jamieson. 2011. Multimodel inference in ecology and evolution: challenges and solutions. J Evol Biol 24:699–711.
- Hall M.L. and A. Peters. 2008. Coordination between the sexes for territorial defence in a duetting fairy-wren. Anim Behav 76:65–73.
- Hall M.L. and A. Peters. 2009. Do male paternity guards ensure female fidelity in a duetting fairywren? Behav Ecol 20:222–228.
- Hanssen S.A., I. Folstad, and K.E. Erikstad. 2003. Reduced immunocompetence and cost of reproduction in common eiders. Oecologia 136:457–464.
- Hawley D.M. and S.M. Altizer. 2011. Disease ecology meets ecological immunology: understanding the links between organismal immunity and infection dynamics in natural populations: Disease ecology meets ecological immunology. Funct Ecol 25:48–60.
- Hawley D.M., K. Lindström, and M. Wikelski. 2006. Experimentally increased social competition compromises humoral immune responses in house finches. Horm Behav 49:417–424.

- Hegemann A., K.D. Matson, C. Both, and B.I. Tieleman. 2012. Immune function in a free-living bird varies over the annual cycle, but seasonal patterns differ between years. Oecologia 170:605–618.
- Hidalgo Aranzamendi N. 2017. *Life-history variation in a tropical cooperative bird: Ecological and social effects on productivity*. Monash University, School of Biological Sciences.
- Hidalgo Aranzamendi N., M.L. Hall, S.A. Kingma, P. Sunnucks, and A. Peters. 2016. Incest avoidance, extrapair paternity, and territory quality drive divorce in a year-round territorial bird. Behav Ecol arw101.
- Horrocks N.P.C., A. Hegemann, K.D. Matson, K. Hine, S. Jaquier, M. Shobrak, J.B. Williams, et al. 2012. Immune Indexes of Larks from Desert and Temperate Regions Show Weak Associations with Life History but Stronger Links to Environmental Variation in Microbial Abundance. Physiol Biochem Zool 85:504–515.
- Horrocks N.P.C., A. Hegemann, S. Ostrowski, H. Ndithia, M. Shobrak, J.B. Williams, K.D. Matson, et al. 2015. Environmental proxies of antigen exposure explain variation in immune investment better than indices of pace of life. Oecologia 177:281–290.
- Houston A.I., J.M. McNamara, Z. Barta, and K.C. Klasing. 2007. The effect of energy reserves and food availability on optimal immune defence. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 274:2835–2842.
- Ilmonen P., D. Hasselquist, Å. Langefors, and J. Wiehn. 2003. Stress, immunocompetence and leukocyte profiles of pied flycatchers in relation to brood size manipulation. Oecologia 136:148–154.
- Jayasekera J.P., E.A. Moseman, and M.C. Carroll. 2007. Natural Antibody and Complement Mediate Neutralization of Influenza Virus in the Absence of Prior Immunity. J Virol 81:3487–3494.
- Juul-Madsen H.R., B. Viertlböeck, S. Härtle, A.L. Smith, and T.W. Göbel. 2014. Innate Immune Responses. Pp. 121–147 in Avian Immunol. Elsevier.
- Kingma S.A., M.L. Hall, E. Arriero, and A. Peters. 2010. Multiple benefits of cooperative breeding in purple-crowned fairy-wrens: a consequence of fidelity? J Anim Ecol 79:757–768.
- Kingma S.A., M.L. Hall, and A. Peters. 2011a. No evidence for offspring sex-ratio adjustment to social or environmental conditions in cooperatively breeding purple-crowned fairy-wrens. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 65:1203–1213.
 - _____. 2011b. Multiple Benefits Drive Helping Behavior in a Cooperatively Breeding Bird: An Integrated Analysis. Am Nat 177:486–495.
- _____. 2013. Breeding synchronization facilitates extrapair mating for inbreeding avoidance. Behav Ecol 24:1390–1397.
- Kingma S.A., M.L. Hall, G. Segelbacher, and A. Peters. 2009. Radical loss of an extreme extra-pair mating system. BMC Ecol 9:15.
- Klasing K.C. 2004. The cost of immunity. Acta Zool Sin 50:961–969.
- Krams I., J. Vrublevska, D. Cirule, I. Kivleniece, T. Krama, M.J. Rantala, E. Sild, et al. 2012.
 Heterophil/lymphocyte ratios predict the magnitude of humoral immune response to a novel antigen in great tits (*Parus major*). Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol 161:422–428.
- Lazzaro B.P. and T.J. Little. 2009. Immunity in a variable world. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 364:15–26.
- Lee K.A. 2006. Linking immune defenses and life history at the levels of the individual and the species. Integr Comp Biol 46:1000–1015.
- Lochmiller R.L. and C. Deerenberg. 2000. Trade-offs in evolutionary immunology: just what is the cost of immunity? Oikos 88:87–98.
- Maizels R.M. and D.H. Nussey. 2013. Into the wild: digging at immunology's evolutionary roots. Nat Immunol 14:879–883.
- Martin L.B. 2009. Stress and immunity in wild vertebrates: Timing is everything. Gen Comp Endocrinol 163:70–76.
- Martin L.B., D. Hasselquist, and M. Wikelski. 2006. Investment in immune defense is linked to pace of life in house sparrows. Oecologia 147:565–575.

- Mashaly M.M., G.L. Hendricks, M.A. Kalama, A.E. Gehad, A.O. Abbas, and P.H. Patterson. 2004. Effect of Heat Stress on Production Parameters and Immune Responses of Commercial Laying Hens. Poult Sci 83:889–894.
- Matson K.D., N.P.C. Horrocks, M.A. Versteegh, and B.I. Tieleman. 2012. Baseline haptoglobin concentrations are repeatable and predictive of certain aspects of a subsequent experimentally-induced inflammatory response. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol 162:7–15.
- Matson K.D., R.E. Ricklefs, and K.C. Klasing. 2005. A hemolysis–hemagglutination assay for characterizing constitutive innate humoral immunity in wild and domestic birds. Dev Comp Immunol 29:275–286.
- McEwen B.S. and J.C. Wingfield. 2003. The concept of allostasis in biology and biomedicine. Horm Behav 43:2–15.
- Møller A.P., M. Martín-Vivaldi, S. Merino, and J. J. Soler. 2006. Density-dependent and geographical variation in bird immune response. Oikos 115:463–474.
- Møller A.P., S. Merino, C.R. Brown, and R.J. Robertson. 2001. Immune Defense and Host Sociality: A Comparative Study of Swallows and Martins. Am Nat 158:136–145.
- Moreno J. 2004. Moult-breeding overlap and fecundity limitation in tropical birds: a link with immunity? Ardeola 51:471–476.
- Moreno-Rueda G. 2010. Experimental test of a trade-off between moult and immune response in house sparrows *Passer domesticus*: Trade-off between moult and immune response. J Evol Biol 23:2229–2237.
- Nazar F.N. and R.H. Marin. 2011. Chronic stress and environmental enrichment as opposite factors affecting the immune response in Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*). Stress 14:166–173.
- Nelson R.J. and G.E. Demas. 2004. Seasonal Patterns of Stress, Disease, and Sickness Responses. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 13:198–201.
- Nelson R.J., G.E. Demas, S.L. Klein, and L.J. Kriegsfeld. 1995. Minireview The influence of season, photoperiod, and pineal melatonin on immune function. J Pineal Res 19:149–165.
- Nelson R.J., G.E. Demas, S.L. Klien, and L.J. Kriegsfeld. 2002. Seasonal patterns of stress, immune function and disease. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Nkuo-Akenji T., N. Ntonifor, M. Ndukum, H. Kimbi, E. Abongwa, A. Nkwescheu, D. Anong, et al. 2008. Environmental factors affecting malaria parasite prevalence in rural Bolifamba, South- West Cameroon. Afr J Health Sci 13:40–46.
- Norris K. and M.R. Evans. 2000. Ecological immunology: life history trade-offs and immune defense in birds. Behav Ecol 11:19–26.
- Ochsenbein A.F., T. Fehr, C. Lutz, M. Suter, F. Brombacher, H. Hengartner, and R.M. Zinkernagel. 1999. Control of Early Viral and Bacterial Distribution and Disease by Natural Antibodies. Science 286:2156–2159.
- Ortego J. and F. Espada. 2007. Ecological factors influencing disease risk in Eagle Owls *Bubo bubo*. Ibis 149:386–395.
- Ots I. and P. Horak. 1996. Great Tits *Parus major* Trade Health for Reproduction. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 263:1443–1447.
- Patterson J.E.H. and K.E. Ruckstuhl. 2013. Parasite infection and host group size: a meta-analytical review. Parasitology 140:803–813.
- Pedersen A.B. and S.A. Babayan. 2011. Wild immunology. Mol Ecol 20:872-880.
- Pedersen A.B. and A. Fenton. 2007. Emphasizing the ecology in parasite community ecology. Trends Ecol Evol 22:133–139.
- Pigeon G., M. Bélisle, D. Garant, A.A. Cohen, and F. Pelletier. 2013. Ecological immunology in a fluctuating environment: an integrative analysis of tree swallow nestling immune defense. Ecol Evol 3:1091–1103.
- Quaye I.K. 2008. Haptoglobin, inflammation and disease. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 102:735–742.

R Core Team, 2017. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/

Rajan B., T. Ramalingam, and T.V. Rajan. 2005. Critical Role for IgM in Host Protection in Experimental Filarial Infection. J Immunol 175:1827–1833.

Rapaka R.R., D.M. Ricks, J.F. Alcorn, K. Chen, S.A. Khader, M. Zheng, S. Plevy, et al. 2010. Conserved natural IgM antibodies mediate innate and adaptive immunity against the opportunistic fungus *Pneumocystis murina*. J Exp Med 207:2907–2919.

Ricklefs R.E. and M. Wikelski. 2002. The physiology/life-history nexus. Trends Ecol Evol 17:462–468.

- Romero L.M., M.J. Dickens, and N.E. Cyr. 2009. The reactive scope model A new model integrating homeostasis, allostasis, and stress. Horm Behav 55:375–389.
- Rubenstein D.R., A.F. Parlow, C.R. Hutch, and L.B. Martin. 2008. Environmental and hormonal correlates of immune activity in a cooperatively breeding tropical bird. Gen Comp Endocrinol 159:10–15.
- Sandland G.J. and D.J. Minchella. 2003. Costs of immune defense: an enigma wrapped in an environmental cloak? Trends Parasitol 19:571–574.
- Sanz J.J., J. Moreno, S. Merino, and G. Tomas. 2004. A trade-off between two resource-demanding functions: post-nuptial moult and immunity during reproduction in male pied flycatchers. J Anim Ecol 73:441–447.
- Schmid-Hempel P. and D. Ebert. 2003. On the evolutionary ecology of specific immune defence. Trends Ecol Evol 18:27–32.
- Schulenburg H., J. Kurtz, Y. Moret, and M.T. Siva-Jothy. 2009. Introduction. Ecological immunology. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 364:3–14.
- Schultz E.M., T.P. Hahn, and K.C. Klasing. 2017. Photoperiod but not food restriction modulates innate immunity in an opportunistic breeder, *Loxia curvirostra*. J Exp Biol 220:722–730.
- Skroblin A. and S. Legge. 2012. Influence of fine-scale habitat requirements and riparian degradation on the distribution of the purple-crowned fairy-wren (*Malurus coronatus coronatus*) in northern Australia. Austral Ecol 37:874–884.
- Snyder-Mackler N., J. Sanz, J.N. Kohn, J.F. Brinkworth, S. Morrow, A.O. Shaver, J.-C. Grenier, et al. 2016. Social status alters immune regulation and response to infection in macaques. Science 354:1041–1045.
- Spottiswoode C.N. 2008. Cooperative breeding and immunity: a comparative study of PHA response in African birds. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 62:963–974.
- Stahlschmidt Z.R., S.S. French, A. Ahn, A. Webb, and M.W. Butler. 2017. A Simulated Heat Wave Has Diverse Effects on Immune Function and Oxidative Physiology in the Corn Snake (*Pantherophis guttatus*). Physiol Biochem Zool 90:434–444.
- Stahlschmidt Z.R., A.D. Jodrey, and R.L. Luoma. 2015. Consequences of complex environments: Temperature and energy intake interact to influence growth and metabolic rate. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol 187:1–7.
- Stoffel M.A., S. Nakagawa, and H. Schielzeth. 2017. rptR: repeatability estimation and variance decomposition by generalized linear mixed-effects models. (S. Goslee, ed.) Methods Ecol Evol 8:1639–1644.
- Tella J.L., M.G. Forero, M. Bertellotti, J.A. Donazar, G. Blanco, and O. Ceballos. 2001. Offspring body condition and immunocompetence are negatively affected by high breeding densities in a colonial seabird: a multiscale approach. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 268:1455–1461.
- Teunissen N., S.A. Kingma, M.L. Hall, N. Hidalgo Aranzamendi, J. Komdeur, and A. Peters. 2018. More than kin: subordinates foster strong bonds with relatives and potential mates in a social bird. Behav Ecol.
- Tieleman B.I. 2018. Understanding immune function as a pace of life trait requires environmental context. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 72.

- Tieleman B.I., J.B. Williams, R.E. Ricklefs, and K.C. Klasing. 2005. Constitutive innate immunity is a component of the pace-of-life syndrome in tropical birds. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 272:1715–1720.
- Trouw L.A. and M.R. Daha. 2011. Role of complement in innate immunity and host defense. Immunol Lett 138:35–37.
- Tschirren B. and H. Richner. 2006. Parasites shape the optimal investment in immunity. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 273:1773–1777.
- Vermeulen A., W. Müller, K.D. Matson, B. Irene Tieleman, L. Bervoets, and M. Eens. 2015. Sources of variation in innate immunity in great tit nestlings living along a metal pollution gradient: An individual-based approach. Sci Total Environ 508:297–306.
- Viney M.E., E.M. Riley, and K.L. Buchanan. 2005. Optimal immune responses: immunocompetence revisited. Trends Ecol Evol 20:665–669.
- Walton J.C., Z.M. Weil, and R.J. Nelson. 2011. Influence of photoperiod on hormones, behavior, and immune function. Front Neuroendocrinol 32:303–319.
- Wicher K.B. and E. Fries. 2006. Haptoglobin, a hemoglobin-binding plasma protein, is present in bony fish and mammals but not in frog and chicken. Proc Natl Acad Sci 103:4168–4173.
- Wicher K.B. and E. Fries. 2010. Evolutionary Aspects of Hemoglobin Scavengers. Antioxid Redox Signal 12:249–259.
- Wilson G.R., S.J. Cooper, and J.A. Gessaman. 2004. The effects of temperature and artificial rain on the metabolism of American kestrels (*Falco sparverius*). Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol 139:389–394.
- Wood M.J., C.L. Cosgrove, T.A. Wilkin, S.C.L. Knowles, K.P. Day, and B.C. Sheldon. 2007. Withinpopulation variation in prevalence and lineage distribution of avian malaria in blue tits, *Cyanistes caeruleus*: Within-population variation in blue tit malaria. Mol Ecol 16:3263–3273.
- Xie S., L.M. Romero, Z.W. Htut, and T.J. McWhorter. 2017. Stress Responses to Heat Exposure in Three Species of Australian Desert Birds. Physiol Biochem Zool 90:348–358.
- Zylberberg M. 2015. Common measures of immune function vary with time of day and sampling protocol in five passerine species. J Exp Biol 218:757–766.
- Zylberberg M., K.A. Lee, K.C. Klasing, and M. Wikelski. 2013. Variation with Land Use of Immune Function and Prevalence of Avian Pox in Galapagos Finches: Avian Pox, Immunity, and Land Use. Conserv Biol 27:103–112.

Supplementary Materials



Figure S1: An example of the variation in habitat quality. **A**. Good quality habitat for *M. coronatus* with a high density of *P. aquaticus* along the riverbank. This territory scored highly (18/20) in the territory quality survey. **B**. Low quality habitat for *M. coronatus* within the study area with no *P. aquaticus* (0/20). This area was unoccupied by purple-crowned fairy-wrens. Images: M. Roast/AWC.



Figure S2: Zero-inflation of rainfall data associated with captures. Typically there was 0mm of rain, however when it did rain, up to 59mm fell in a single downpour. Transparent May (blue) and November (red) bars show overlapping bars in purple.





Figure S3: Histogram of recoded rainfall data. Proportionally fewer May captures were preceded by rainfall than November captures, illustrating a distinct difference between May and November data sets.



Figure S4: Histogram of the frequency of territory quality scores assigned to the time of capture. Only one single territory with a territory quality score of 0 was ever recorded, and all captures are repeated measures of the dominant breeding pair from the territory.



Figure S5: Histogram of the frequency of individual captured from groups of different sizes. Group size ranged from 1-10 individuals. 'Groups' with 1 individual typically refer to cases where a new territory with suitable habitat became occupied by a settled bird, but a new social partner had not yet arrived to join the first bird. Occasionally, group size of 1 refers to cases of lost social partners. Groups of up to 11 birds have been recorded in other population of this species.



Figure S6: Histogram of the frequency of maximum temperatures on capture day, T_{max} . Dashed lines indicate the 2.5th and 97.5th percentiles, below and above which can be considered extreme cold and hot days. Transparency of May (blue) and November (red) bars indicates little overlap (purple) in seasonal temperatures.



Figure S7: Temporal changes in immune function: possible preparation for the wet season breeding peak and winter immunoenhancement. Panel of **a.** haptoglobin, **c.** natural antibodies, and **e.** complement activity in May field season (blue); and **b.** haptoglobin, **d.** natural antibodies, and **f.** complement activity in November field season (red). Raw immune index scores plotted against date through the field season. Fitted lines of predicted values from model-averaged β estimates. Annotated with 'significant'effects, ascribed in each case where 95% confidence intervals (CI) of model-averaged β estimates do not contain zero (table 1).

Table S1: Results from analysis of variance testing the difference between null models including and excluding wing moult as an additional fixed effect. This was conducted on a subset of data where wing moult scores were available. No result showed any effect of wing moult.

Index-Season	X ²	df	р	n
Нр-Мау	0.013	1	0.911	339
Hp-November	0.386	1	0.535	194
NAbs-May	2.764	1	0.096	252
NAbs-November	1.583	1	0.208	137
Ca-May	0.162	1	0.688	266
Ca-November	0.018	1	0.892	132
HLR-May	0.618	1	0.432	263
HLR-November	0.213	1	0.644	132

Table S2: Variance inflation factors (VIFs) testing for multicollinearity between modelled variables. VIFs for each variable from each of the 8 global models were calculated, and VIFs were < 5 (considered the threshold for multicollinearity) in all cases, with 2 exceptions (**bold** typeface). In the November Ca and HL ratio models, *Rain*⁷ generated VIFs of 5.22 and 6.74 respectively. This collinearity was with the *Rain*⁷: *T*_{max} interaction term included in the model – which had high VIFs of 4.39 and 4.64, respectively – which is to be expected with main effect and interaction terms, and was disregarded as problematic.

Season	Мау				Novem	ber		
Environmental Variable	Нр	NAbs	Са	HL ratio	Нр	NAbs	Са	HL ratio
Breeding activity	1.26	1.42	1.36	1.33	1.33	1.39	1.38	1.4
Day of season	2.39	2.47	2.47	2.65	1.54	1.37	1.3	1.4
Sex	1.04	1.04	1.03	1.05	1.08	1.05	1.06	1.04
Status	1.23	1.26	1.19	1.29	1.25	1.22	1.18	1.27
Time bled	1.05	1.14	1.11	1.24	1.13	1.38	1.32	1.3
Time wait	1.13	1.14	1.15	1.37	1.27	1.32	1.28	1.66
T _{max}	2.26	3.34	3.58	3.03	2.16	3.56	4.49	3.87
T _{max7}	2.82	3.56	4.16	4.34	1.59	1.82	2.12	2.26
Rain ₇	1.66	2.04	2.08	2.2	2.48	4.97	5.22	6.74
T _{max} :Rain ₇	1.73	2.02	2.27	2.15	2.26	3.91	4.39	4.64
T _{max7} :Rain ₇	1.56	1.46	1.48	1.55	1.74	1.82	2.24	2.13
T _{var}	1.47	1.71	1.88	1.92	1.63	1.83	1.99	2.08
Group Size	1.68	1.79	1.58	1.8	1.7	1.64	1.5	1.51
Territory Quality	1.2	1.17	1.12	1.19	1.41	1.61	1.39	1.54

Table S3: All 64 model permutations of variables used in the main analyses. In each row for a single model, 1 denotes inclusion of the variable into the model, 0 denotes exclusion of the variable. All variables in the null model were forced into every model (all marked with 1), and models which contained $T_{\text{max}7}$ together were not considered.

							Glob	al M	odel						
		Ν	Null N	/lode					F	Perm	uted	Varia	ables	5	
Model	Breeding Activity	Day of Season	Sex	Status	Time bled	Time wait		$T_{\sf max}$	T _{max7}	Rain₁	T _{max} :Rain ₇	T _{max7} :Rain ₇	T _{var}	Group size	Territory quality
1	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	1	0	0	1	1	1
2	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	0	0	0	0	1	1	1
3	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1
4	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	1	0	0	0	1	1
5	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
6	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
7	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1
8	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
9	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
10	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
11	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
12	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
13	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0
14	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0
15	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0
16	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0
17	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
18	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
19	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0
20	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
21	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
22	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
23	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
24	1	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
25	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1
26	1] ∡] ∡] ∡] ∡] ∡		1	0	1	1	U	0	1	1
27	1 •] ∡] ∡] ∡	۲ م	1		1	0	1] ∡	0	1	0] ∡
28	T A	T ∡	T A	T A	T A	T A		1 •	0] ∡	T ∡	0	0	U 4	1
29	ן א	ן א	1	1	ן א	1 4		ן א	0	1	1	0	1	1	0
30	.I	.I	Ĩ	Ĩ	.I	ľ		I	U	Ί	Т	U	U	Т	U

31	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	0
32	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0
33	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	1	1
34	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	1
35	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	1
36	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
37	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	1	0
38	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	0
39	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0
40	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
41	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1
42	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1
43	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	1
44	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
45	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	0
46	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0
47	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0
48	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
49	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1
50	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	1
51	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	1
52	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	1
53	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	0
54	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	0
55	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	0
56	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	0
57	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1
58	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	1
59	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	1
60	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1
61	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0
62	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	0
63	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0
64	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0

		Мау			Novemb	er
Index-index	r	р	n	r	р	n
Hp-NAbs	0.24	<0.001	256	0.29	0.001	118
Нр-Са	-0.01	0.812	259	-0.17	0.070	113
Hp-HLR	-0.05	0.390	247	0.00	0.959	112
NAbs-Ca	-0.08	0.185	298	-0.22	0.012	124
NAbs-HLR	-0.03	0.608	247	-0.08	0.376	114
Ca-HLR	0.03	0.633	248	0.13	0.157	111

Table S4: Pairwise correlations between null model residuals of immune and stress indices. Ca values are normalised by natural log-transformation and HL ratio by square-root-transformation.

Table S5: Intra-grouping adjusted repeatabilities within individuals and within territories, calculated from null models in each analysis. Corrected complement activity scores in November showed within-territory repeatability significantly different from 0 (*); corrected HL ratio in November showed within-individual repeatability significantly different from 0 (*).

	Within-	individua (Individu	l Repeatability ual ID)	Withi	n-territory (Territo	Repeatability ory ID)
Index-Season	R _{adj}	SE	95% CI	R _{adj}	SE	95% CI
Hp-May	0	0.025	0, 0.084	0.034	0.021	0, 0.080
Hp-November	0	0.097	0, 0.320	0.034	0.039	0, 0.135
NAbs-May	0	0.029	0, 0.096	0.026	0.020	0, 0.076
NAbs-November	0	0.110	0, 0.419	0.037	0.062	0, 0.232
Ca-May	0	0.053	0, 0.176	0.182	0.054	0, 0.292
Ca-November	0	0.206	0, 0.717	0.335	0.131	0.056, 0.585*
HLR-May	0.112	0.071	0, 0.273	0.058	0.039	0, 0.146
HLR-November	0.392	0.154	0.122, 0.758*	0	0.042	0, 0.147

Model Rank	Model ID	Intercept	Breeding activity : Yes	Day of season	Sex : M	Status : Subordinate	Time bled	Time wait	T _{max}	$ au_{max7}$	Rain ₇ : Yes	T _{max} x <i>Rain₇</i> :Yes	$T_{\rm max7}$ x Rain ₇ : Yes	T_{var}	Group size	Territory quality	df	logLik	AIC	ΔΑΙΟ	weight
1	1566	0.660	-0.043	0.030	-0.020	0.030	0.002	-0.015	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	12	73.742	-123.48	0.00	0.062
2	1598	0.658	-0.031	0.029	-0.020	0.040	0.002	-0.007	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.035	NA	13	74.599	-123.20	0.29	0.053
3	1664	0.657	-0.028	0.059	-0.017	0.041	0.003	-0.005	0.044	NA	0.052	NA	NA	NA	-0.039	NA	15	76.459	-122.92	0.57	0.046
4	1630	0.659	-0.041	0.039	-0.020	0.029	0.004	-0.016	0.027	NA	NA 0.040	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	74.369	-122.74	0.75	0.043
5 6	1662	0.660	-0.043	0.058	-0.018	0.030	0.003	-0.014	0.040	NΑ	0.048 NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	-0 036	NA NA	14	75.349	-122.70	0.79	0.042
7	1568	0.661	-0.045	0.039	-0.019	0.032	0.001	-0.013	0.025 NA	NA	0.029	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	74.152	-122.30	1.18	0.034
8	1600	0.659	-0.032	0.038	-0.019	0.042	0.001	-0.005	NA	NA	0.031	NA	NA	NA	-0.036	NA	14	75.056	-122.11	1.37	0.031
9	3614	0.659	-0.043	0.029	-0.020	0.033	0.003	-0.015	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.018	13	74.054	-122.11	1.38	0.031
10	1822	0.661	-0.043	0.027	-0.020	0.030	0.002	-0.014	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.013	NA	NA	13	73.846	-121.69	1.79	0.025
11	1694	0.659	-0.042	0.035	-0.020	0.030	0.002	-0.015	NA	0.011	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	73.813	-121.63	1.86	0.024
12	3646	0.657	-0.032	0.028	-0.020	0.041	0.003	-0.008	NA 0.020	NA NA	0.050	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	-0.031 NA	-0.012	14	75 678	-121.44	2.04	0.022
14	1854	0.659	-0.031	0.027	-0.020	0.040	0.002	-0.007	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.010	-0.034	NA	14	74.666	-121.33	2.15	0.021
15	1726	0.658	-0.030	0.033	-0.020	0.040	0.002	-0.007	NA	0.008	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.034	NA	14	74.641	-121.28	2.20	0.021
16	3678	0.657	-0.042	0.038	-0.020	0.032	0.004	-0.016	0.026	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.016	14	74.624	-121.25	2.24	0.020
17	3712	0.657	-0.030	0.059	-0.017	0.043	0.003	-0.005	0.043	NA	0.053	NA	NA	NA	-0.036	-0.011	16	76.569	-121.14	2.35	0.019
18	1696	0.660	-0.042	0.057	-0.020	0.031	0.000	-0.012	NA	0.029	0.044	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	14	74.553	-121.11	2.38	0.019
20	5760	0.658	-0.045	0.039	-0.020	0.035	0.002	-0.013	0.041	NA	0.032	0.015	NA NA		NA -0 038	-0.020 NA	14	76.494	-121.06	2.43	0.018
21	1920	0.657	-0.028	0.059	-0.017	0.041	0.002	-0.004	0.041	NA	0.051	NA	NA	0.002	-0.039	NA	16	76.460	-120.92	2.56	0.010
22	5728	0.660	-0.042	0.055	-0.018	0.030	0.002	-0.013	0.036	NA	0.047	0.023	NA	NA	NA	NA	15	75.432	-120.86	2.62	0.017
23	3710	0.656	-0.029	0.038	-0.019	0.040	0.004	-0.008	0.028	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.034	-0.009	15	75.405	-120.81	2.68	0.016
24	1728	0.658	-0.030	0.055	-0.019	0.041	0.000	-0.004	NA	0.027	0.045	NA	NA	NA	-0.034	NA	15	75.396	-120.79	2.69	0.016
25	1886	0.659	-0.041	0.038	-0.020	0.029	0.004	-0.016	0.026	NA	NA 0.040	NA	NA	0.003	NA	NA	14	74.373	-120.75	2.74	0.016
20	1824	0.663	-0.043	0.057	-0.018	0.030	0.003	-0.013	0.039 NA	NA	0.049	NA NA	NA NA	0.006		NA NA	14	74 351	-120.74	2.75	0.016
28	1918	0.656	-0.028	0.039	-0.019	0.040	0.000	-0.008	0.030	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.001	-0.036	NA	15	75.331	-120.66	2.82	0.015
29	3648	0.658	-0.033	0.038	-0.019	0.043	0.002	-0.006	NA	NA	0.032	NA	NA	NA	-0.032	-0.013	15	75.221	-120.44	3.04	0.013
30	1856	0.661	-0.032	0.036	-0.019	0.041	0.000	-0.004	NA	NA	0.034	NA	NA	0.016	-0.035	NA	15	75.206	-120.41	3.07	0.013
31	3870	0.660	-0.043	0.026	-0.021	0.033	0.002	-0.015	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.015	NA	-0.019	14	74.196	-120.39	3.09	0.013
32	3742	0.658	-0.042	0.033	-0.021	0.033	0.002	-0.015	NA	0.009	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.017	14	74.107	-120.21	3.27	0.012
34	9920	0.661	-0.042	0.047	-0.020	0.033	-0.001	-0.012	NA	0.017	0.030	NA	0.067	NA	-0.034	NA	16	75.933	-120.13	3.62	0.012
35	3744	0.658	-0.043	0.057	-0.020	0.035	0.001	-0.012	NA	0.028	0.046	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.019	15	74.911	-119.82	3.66	0.010
36	1950	0.660	-0.042	0.032	-0.020	0.030	0.001	-0.015	NA	0.010	NA	NA	NA	0.012	NA	NA	14	73.901	-119.80	3.68	0.010
37	3902	0.658	-0.032	0.026	-0.020	0.041	0.002	-0.008	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.012	-0.030	-0.013	15	74.812	-119.62	3.86	0.009
38	3872	0.661	-0.045	0.036	-0.020	0.035	0.001	-0.012	NA	NA	0.036	NA	NA	0.021	NA	-0.022	15	74.797	-119.59	3.89	0.009
39 40	3774	0.657	-0.043	0.054	-0.018	0.034	0.003	-0.013	0.034 NA	0.008	0.049 NA	0.026 NA	NA NA		INA -0.031	-0.019	10	74 756	-119.57	3.91	0.009
41	1952	0.661	-0.042	0.052	-0.020	0.031	-0.001	-0.011	NA	0.029	0.048	NA	NA	0.017	NA	NA	15	74.740	-119.48	4.01	0.008
42	3936	0.659	-0.043	0.055	-0.018	0.033	0.003	-0.013	0.037	NA	0.051	NA	NA	0.009	NA	-0.019	16	75.722	-119.44	4.04	0.008
43	1982	0.659	-0.030	0.030	-0.020	0.040	0.001	-0.007	NA	0.007	NA	NA	NA	0.010	-0.033	NA	15	74.698	-119.40	4.09	0.008
44	3934	0.658	-0.042	0.036	-0.020	0.032	0.004	-0.016	0.024	NA	NA 0.052	NA 0.017	NA	0.005	NA	-0.017	15	74.640	-119.28	4.20	0.008
45	7808	0.657	-0.030	0.056	-0.018	0.042	0.003	-0.005	0.039	NA NA	0.052	0.017	NA NA	NA 0.004	-0.035	-0.011	17	76.517	-119.23	4.25	0.007
40	3776	0.657	-0.030	0.055	-0.018	0.042	0.000	-0.005	0.042 NA	0.026	0.033	NA	NA	0.004 NA	-0.030	-0.011	16	75.553	-119.15	4.33	0.007
48	1984	0.659	-0.030	0.053	-0.019	0.041	-0.001	-0.004	NA	0.026	0.048	NA	NA	0.015	-0.033	NA	16	75.536	-119.07	4.41	0.007
49	6016	0.658	-0.029	0.057	-0.017	0.041	0.003	-0.005	0.041	NA	0.051	0.015	NA	-0.001	-0.039	NA	17	76.494	-118.99	4.50	0.007
50	5984	0.661	-0.043	0.054	-0.018	0.030	0.002	-0.013	0.036	NA	0.047	0.021	NA	0.002	NA	NA	16	75.435	-118.87	4.61	0.006
51	3904	0.660	-0.034	0.036	-0.019	0.043	0.001	-0.005	NA	NA 0.015	0.036	NA	NA 0.077	0.018	-0.030	-0.015	16	75.417	-118.83	4.65	0.006
52	3966	0.656	-0.042	0.042	-0.020	0.032	-0.002	-0.011	0.028	0.015 NA	0.040 NA	NA NA	0.077 NA	0.023	INA -0.034		16	75.408	-118.82	4.07	0.006
54	11936	0.661	-0.042	0.048	-0.020	0.035	0.000	-0.012	0.020 NA	0.018	0.039	NA	0.060	NA	NA	-0.016	16	75.317	-118.63	4.85	0.005
55	3998	0.659	-0.043	0.030	-0.021	0.033	0.002	-0.015	NA	0.008	NA	NA	NA	0.014	NA	-0.019	15	74.232	-118.46	5.02	0.005
56	10176	0.663	-0.030	0.040	-0.019	0.042	-0.002	-0.004	NA	0.013	0.040	NA	0.077	0.021	-0.033	NA	17	76.203	-118.41	5.08	0.005
57	4000	0.660	-0.043	0.053	-0.020	0.035	0.000	-0.012	NA	0.028	0.050	NA	NA	0.020	NA	-0.021	16	75.162	-118.32	5.16	0.005
58	11968	0.660	-0.031	0.046	-0.019	0.044	-0.001	-0.005	NA	0.015	0.038	NA	0.063	NA 0.011	-0.032	-0.009	17	76.010	-118.02	5.46	0.004
59	4030	0.654	-0.032	0.029	-0.020	0.041	0.002	-0.008	NA 0.034	0.006 NA	NA 0.049	NA 0.023	NA NA	0.011	-0.030 NA	-0.012	10	75.799	-117.67	5.81 5.89	0.003 F00.0
61	4032	0.658	-0.032	0.052	-0.019	0.042	0.000	-0.005	NA	0.026	0.050	0.023 NA	NA	0.017	-0.029	-0.015	17	75.738	-117.48	6.01	0.003
62	12192	0.663	-0.042	0.042	-0.020	0.035	-0.002	-0.011	NA	0.015	0.043	NA	0.070	0.025	NA	-0.017	17	75.700	-117.40	6.08	0.003
63	8064	0.657	-0.030	0.056	-0.018	0.042	0.003	-0.005	0.039	NA	0.052	0.017	NA	0.001	-0.035	-0.012	18	76.618	-117.24	6.25	0.003
64	12224	0.662	-0.032	0.041	-0.019	0.043	-0.002	-0.004	NA	0.013	0.042	NA	0.072	0.023	-0.030	-0.011	18	76.312	-116.62	6.86	0.002

Table S6: Model selection and comparison of model permutations for Hp in May.

Model Rank	Model ID	Intercept	Breeding activity : Yes	Day of season	Sex : M	Status : Subordinate	Time bled	Time wait	Tmax	Tmax7	Rain ₇ : Yes	T _{max} x <i>Rain</i> 7 : Yes	T _{max7} x Rain ₇ : Yes	Tvar	Group size	Territory quality	df	logLik	AIC	ΔΑΙΟ	weight
1	1694	0.646	-0.108	-0.114	0.011	-0.077	-0.005	0.022	NA	0.080	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	4.914	16.17	0.00	0.072
2	1726	0.644	-0.092	-0.123	0.014	-0.060	-0.013	0.024	NA	0.079	NA	NA	NA 0.202	NA	-0.051	NA	14	5.767	16.47	0.29	0.062
4	1566	0.645	-0.099	-0.093	0.010	-0.038	-0.003	0.014	NA	0.104 NA	0.009 NA	NA	-0.202 NA	NA	-0.000 NA	NA	12	3.370	17.26	1.09	0.033
5	1598	0.642	-0.076	-0.103	0.020	-0.060	-0.011	0.036	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.053	NA	13	4.256	17.49	1.32	0.037
6	3742	0.645	-0.106	-0.110	0.012	-0.074	-0.011	0.026	NA	0.080	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.036	14	5.241	17.52	1.35	0.037
7	9888 1696	0.637	-0.120	-0.126	0.007	-0.079	0.004	0.011	NA NA	0.101	0.048	NA NA	-0.178	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	15	6.226	17.55	1.38	0.036
9	1950	0.647	-0.104	-0.121	0.011	-0.078	-0.000	0.024	NA	0.084	NA	NA	NA	0.013	NA	NA	14	4.969	18.05	1.89	0.028
10	1728	0.645	-0.084	-0.137	0.013	-0.060	-0.017	0.029	NA	0.085	0.034	NA	NA	NA	-0.055	NA	15	5.960	18.08	1.91	0.028
11	1982	0.645	-0.092	-0.124	0.014	-0.059	-0.015	0.024	NA	0.073	NA	NA	NA	0.015	-0.052	NA	15	5.845	18.31	2.14	0.025
12	3774 10176	0.644	-0.093	-0.121	0.014	-0.060	-0.015	0.026	NA NA	0.079	NA 0.065	NA NA	NA -0.211	NA 0.021	-0.045	-0.016 NA	15	5.825	18.35	2.18	0.024
14	1822	0.647	-0.100	-0.097	0.005	-0.030	-0.003	0.013	NA	NA	0.005 NA	NA	-0.211 NA	0.021	-0.007 NA	NA	13	3.763	18.47	2.20	0.023
15	1854	0.645	-0.077	-0.108	0.018	-0.058	-0.016	0.034	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.034	-0.054	NA	14	4.689	18.62	2.45	0.021
16	3614	0.644	-0.090	-0.089	0.019	-0.074	-0.009	0.038	NA	NA 0.104	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.036	13	3.688	18.62	2.45	0.021
18	11968	0.635	-0.100	-0.143	0.010	-0.058	-0.008	0.015	NA NA	0.104	0.067	NA NA	-0.201	NA NA	-0.061 NA	-0.013	1/	6 646	18.64	2.47	0.021
19	1918	0.648	-0.063	-0.112	0.023	-0.062	-0.018	0.035	-0.057	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.059	-0.061	NA	15	5.590	18.82	2.65	0.019
20	1662	0.643	-0.069	-0.103	0.024	-0.063	-0.010	0.037	-0.027	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.056	NA	14	4.495	19.01	2.84	0.017
21	1630	0.645	-0.087	-0.093	0.020	-0.080	-0.002	0.034	-0.019	NA	NA 0.002	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	3.493	19.01	2.84	0.017
22	10144	0.638	-0.092	-0.125	0.018	-0.078	0.003	0.033	NA	0.093	-0.003	NA	-0.185	0.019	NA	NA	15	6.345	19.20	3.14	0.015
24	1886	0.650	-0.084	-0.100	0.019	-0.082	-0.008	0.033	-0.047	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.053	NA	NA	14	4.340	19.32	3.15	0.015
25	3646	0.642	-0.077	-0.100	0.020	-0.060	-0.013	0.037	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.047	-0.016	14	4.307	19.39	3.22	0.014
26	3998	0.646	-0.106	-0.111	0.012	-0.073	-0.013	0.026	NA	0.074	NA	NA	NA	0.012	NA	-0.036	15	5.295	19.41	3.24	0.014
27	1600	0.640	-0.103	-0.117	0.012	-0.074	-0.012	0.028	NA	0.085 NA	0.010	NA	NA	NA	-0.054	-0.033 NA	14	4.271	19.42	3.29	0.014
29	3870	0.647	-0.091	-0.094	0.016	-0.073	-0.014	0.036	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.032	NA	-0.036	14	4.075	19.85	3.68	0.011
30	1952	0.647	-0.105	-0.120	0.010	-0.077	-0.008	0.024	NA	0.079	0.016	NA	NA	0.010	NA	NA	15	5.009	19.98	3.81	0.011
31	3776	0.645	-0.085	-0.134	0.013	-0.060	-0.019	0.030	NA NA	0.085	0.032	NA NA	NA NA	NA 0.010	-0.050	-0.013 NA	16 16	5.997	20.01	3.84	0.011
33	3678	0.644	-0.085	-0.088	0.013	-0.077	-0.008	0.025	-0.026	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.041	14	3.907	20.01	4.01	0.011
34	4030	0.645	-0.093	-0.121	0.014	-0.059	-0.017	0.026	NA	0.073	NA	NA	NA	0.015	-0.046	-0.016	16	5.900	20.20	4.03	0.010
35	3934	0.649	-0.081	-0.095	0.021	-0.078	-0.015	0.037	-0.052	NA 0.005	NA	NA	NA	0.054	NA	-0.043	15	4.846	20.31	4.14	0.009
30	6016	0.634	-0.102	-0.141	0.009	-0.056	-0.010	0.014	NA -0.040	0.095 NA	0.062	-0.204	-0.210 NA	0.021	-0.062	-0.013 NA	18	6.816	20.34	4.17	0.009
38	12192	0.636	-0.121	-0.119	0.008	-0.074	-0.004	0.014	NA	0.091	0.041	NA	-0.190	0.020	NA	-0.040	17	6.777	20.45	4.27	0.009
39	1824	0.647	-0.094	-0.095	0.016	-0.076	-0.007	0.031	NA	NA	-0.008	NA	NA	0.033	NA	NA	14	3.775	20.45	4.28	0.008
40	3902	0.645	-0.078	-0.105	0.018	-0.058	-0.018	0.036	NA 0.067	NA	NA 0.027	NA	NA	0.033	-0.049	-0.015	15	4.735	20.53	4.36	0.008
41	3616	0.649	-0.068	-0.104	0.025	-0.063	-0.016	0.031	-0.067 NA	NA	-0.027	NA	NA	0.066 NA	-0.058 NA	-0.037	10	3.694	20.58	4.41	0.008
43	1856	0.645	-0.076	-0.109	0.018	-0.058	-0.017	0.035	NA	NA	0.004	NA	NA	0.033	-0.054	NA	15	4.692	20.62	4.44	0.008
44	3966	0.647	-0.063	-0.108	0.023	-0.062	-0.020	0.037	-0.057	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.059	-0.053	-0.019	16	5.684	20.63	4.46	0.008
45 46	3/10	0.643	-0.070	-0.099	0.025	-0.063	-0.013	0.039	-0.029	NA NA	NA -0.038	NA NA	NA NA	NA 0.063	-0.048 NA	-0.021 NA	15 15	4.585	20.83	4.66	0.007
40	1632	0.645	-0.030	-0.089	0.022	-0.083	-0.003	0.027	-0.022	NA	-0.038	NA	NA	0.003 NA	NA	NA	14	3.515	20.87	4.80	0.007
48	5984	0.639	-0.111	-0.096	0.015	-0.082	0.001	0.021	-0.035	NA	0.007	-0.192	NA	0.070	NA	NA	16	5.508	20.98	4.81	0.006
49	1664	0.643	-0.069	-0.103	0.024	-0.063	-0.010	0.037	-0.027	NA	-0.001	NA	NA	NA	-0.056	NA	15	4.495	21.01	4.84	0.006
50 51	5760 4000	0.631	-0.088	-0.111	0.018	-0.061	-0.004	0.032	0.001 NA	NA 0.078	0.045	-0.182 NA	NA NA	NA 0.010	-0.059 NA	NA -0.035	16 16	5.340	21.32	5.15 5.18	0.005
52	3648	0.642	-0.075	-0.103	0.020	-0.060	-0.013	0.038	NA	NA	0.007	NA	NA	NA	-0.048	-0.015	15	4.316	21.37	5.20	0.005
53	5728	0.635	-0.107	-0.096	0.015	-0.080	0.005	0.028	0.005	NA	0.031	-0.171	NA	NA	NA	NA	15	4.236	21.53	5.36	0.005
54	3936	0.649	-0.088	-0.080	0.024	-0.078	-0.013	0.030	-0.069	NA	-0.048	NA	NA	0.066	NA	-0.048	16	5.210	21.58	5.41	0.005
55 56	3872	0.637	-0.094	-0.087	0.017	-0.077	-0.008	0.024	-0.045 NA	NA	-0.002	-0.191 NA	NA	0.073	NA	-0.030	17	4.096	21.82	5.45 5.64	0.003
57	4032	0.646	-0.086	-0.133	0.013	-0.059	-0.020	0.030	NA	0.080	0.029	NA	NA	0.010	-0.050	-0.013	17	6.034	21.93	5.76	0.004
58	8064	0.635	-0.092	-0.105	0.018	-0.062	-0.011	0.026	-0.043	NA	0.015	-0.203	NA	0.074	-0.052	-0.025	18	6.971	22.06	5.89	0.004
59 60	3680	0.644	-0.088	-0.082	0.024	-0.077	-0.007	0.036	-0.031	NA	-0.018	NA NA	NA NA	NA	NA -0.049	-0.044	15 17	3.963	22.07 22.07	5.90	0.004
61	3904	0.645	-0.078	-0.106	0.025	-0.058	-0.018	0.032	-0.009 NA	NA	0.002	NA	NA	0.033	-0.048	-0.023	16	4.735	22.53	6.36	0.003
62	7776	0.634	-0.107	-0.089	0.018	-0.077	0.000	0.032	-0.005	NA	0.024	-0.166	NA	NA	NA	-0.043	16	4.683	22.63	6.46	0.003
63	3712	0.643	-0.071	-0.098	0.025	-0.063	-0.012	0.038	-0.030	NA	-0.005	NA	NA	NA	-0.047	-0.021	16	4.589	22.82	6.65	0.003
64	/808	0.631	-0.090	-0.106	0.019	-0.061	-0.005	0.033	-0.002	NA	0.041	-0.178	NA	NA	-0.052	-0.019	17	5.415	23.17	/.00	0.002

Table S7: Model selection and comparison of model permutations for Hp in November.

Model Rank	Model ID	Intercept	Breeding activity : Yes	Day of season	Sex : M	Status : Subordinate	Time bled	Time wait	T_{max}	T _{mæ7}	<i>Rain</i> ₇ : Yes	T _{max} x Rain ₇ : Yes	T _{max7} x Rain ₇ : Yes	Tvar	Group size	Territory quality	df	logLik	AIC	ΔΑΙC	weight
1	9888	14.681	0.091	0.344	0.038	0.171	0.286	0.175	NA	0.006	0.209	NA	1.457	NA	NA	NA	15	-615.226	1260.45	0.00	0.342
2	9920	14.683	0.055	0.342	0.036	0.146	0.285	0.154	NA	0.006	0.205	NA	1.454	NA	0.082	NA	16	-615.114	1262.23	1.78	0.141
3	11936	14.678	0.092	0.343	0.039	0.178	0.290	0.174	NA	0.007	0.214	NA	1.449	NA	NA	-0.039	16	-615.188	1262.38	1.92	0.131
4	10144	14.680	0.091	0.345	0.038	0.172	0.287	0.175	NA	0.006	0.204	NA	1.450	-0.016	NA 0.008		16	-615.223	1262.45	1.99	0.126
5	10176	14.081	0.048	0.341	0.037	0.151	0.291	0.149	NA	0.008	0.212	NA	1.441	-0.011	0.098	-0.058 NA	17	-615 113	1264.07	3.02	0.050
7	12192	14.678	0.092	0.344	0.039	0.178	0.291	0.174	NA	0.007	0.210	NA	1.445	-0.010	NA	-0.039	17	-615.187	1264.37	3.92	0.048
8	12224	14.680	0.048	0.341	0.037	0.151	0.291	0.149	NA	0.008	0.211	NA	1.441	-0.002	0.098	-0.058	18	-615.036	1266.07	5.62	0.021
9	1566	14.640	0.032	0.336	-0.005	0.157	0.346	0.197	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	12	-621.975	1267.95	7.50	0.008
10	1822	14.633	0.039	0.369	-0.007	0.163	0.360	0.198	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.217	NA	NA	13	-621.300	1268.60	8.15	0.006
11	1568	14.639	0.039	0.395	0.003	0.158	0.351	0.197	NA NA	NA	0.219	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA 0.100	NA NA	13	-621.308	1268.62	8.16 0.17	0.006
13	1630	14.642	0.024	0.311	-0.003	0.125	0.345	0.199	-0.074	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.100 NA	NA	13	-621.834	1269.67	9.22	0.003
14	3614	14.637	0.033	0.332	-0.003	0.168	0.351	0.195	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.059	13	-621.887	1269.77	9.32	0.003
15	1694	14.641	0.023	0.302	-0.004	0.159	0.351	0.194	NA	-0.070	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	-621.888	1269.78	9.32	0.003
16	1824	14.634	0.043	0.404	-0.001	0.162	0.361	0.198	NA	NA	0.164	NA	NA	-0.163	NA	NA	14	-620.971	1269.94	9.49	0.003
17	1600	14.641	-0.002	0.392	0.000	0.128	0.351	0.173	NA	NA	0.215	NA	NA	NA	0.091	NA	14	-621.170	1270.34	9.89	0.002
18	3616	14.636	0.040	0.391	0.005	0.171	0.358	0.196	NA	NA	0.228	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.074	14	-621.1/1	1270.34	9.89	0.002
20	3870	14.630	0.000	0.365	-0.010	0.133	0.364	0.170	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.210	0.087 NA	-0.047	14	-621.246	1270.33	10.04	0.002
21	1696	14.638	0.051	0.444	0.004	0.156	0.348	0.201	NA	0.073	0.269	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	14	-621.247	1270.49	10.04	0.002
22	1950	14.633	0.034	0.351	-0.007	0.164	0.362	0.197	NA	-0.034	NA	NA	NA	-0.210	NA	NA	14	-621.280	1270.56	10.11	0.002
23	1886	14.633	0.038	0.365	-0.007	0.163	0.359	0.198	-0.009	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.212	NA	NA	14	-621.298	1270.60	10.14	0.002
24	1632	14.638	0.042	0.405	0.003	0.157	0.354	0.197	0.019	NA	0.233	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	14	-621.301	1270.60	10.15	0.002
25	3646	14.639	-0.022	0.328	-0.006	0.133	0.352	0.162	-0.075	NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	0.123	-0.082	14	-621.648	1271.30	10.84	0.002
20	1726	14.643	-0.021	0.302	-0.007	0.127	0.350	0.167	-0.075 NA	-0.067	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.098	NA	14	-621.728	1271.46	11.00	0.001
28	3678	14.639	0.025	0.307	-0.002	0.170	0.343	0.197	-0.074	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.058	14	-621.748	1271.50	11.04	0.001
29	3742	14.638	0.023	0.296	-0.003	0.170	0.356	0.192	NA	-0.073	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.061	14	-621.794	1271.59	11.14	0.001
30	1856	14.636	0.005	0.401	-0.004	0.135	0.360	0.177	NA	NA	0.162	NA	NA	-0.157	0.084	NA	15	-620.857	1271.71	11.26	0.001
31	3872	14.631	0.043	0.400	0.001	0.173	0.366	0.197	NA	NA	0.174	NA	NA	-0.153	NA	-0.062	15	-620.880	1271.76	11.31	0.001
32	1952	14.031	0.052	0.439	-0.002	0.161	0.370	0.197	0.064 NA	0.071	0.203	NA NA	NA NA	-0.164	NA NA	NA NA	15	-620.905	1271.81	11.30	0.001
34	3648	14.638	-0.013	0.387	0.002	0.138	0.359	0.164	NA	NA	0.225	NA	NA	0.102 NA	0.119	-0.096	15	-620.951	1271.90	11.45	0.001
35	3902	14.633	-0.008	0.360	-0.009	0.141	0.364	0.169	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.202	0.107	-0.068	15	-621.072	1272.14	11.69	0.001
36	3744	14.634	0.052	0.441	0.006	0.170	0.354	0.199	NA	0.075	0.279	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.075	15	-621.108	1272.22	11.76	0.001
37	1728	14.640	0.010	0.441	0.002	0.127	0.347	0.177	NA	0.073	0.264	NA	NA	NA	0.091	NA	15	-621.110	1272.22	11.77	0.001
38	1982	14.636	-0.004	0.349	-0.010	0.136	0.361	0.174	NA	-0.033	NA	NA	NA	-0.203	0.086	NA	15	-621.159	1272.32	11.87	0.001
40	1664	14.633	0.043	0.404	0.003	0.171	0.353	0.173	0.023	NA	0.240	NA	NA	NA	0.091	-0.073 NA	15	-621.165	1272.32	11.88	0.001
41	1918	14.636	-0.002	0.361	-0.010	0.135	0.357	0.176	-0.012	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.204	0.087	NA	15	-621.174	1272.35	11.90	0.001
42	3998	14.631	0.034	0.345	-0.006	0.172	0.366	0.195	NA	-0.037	NA	NA	NA	-0.204	NA	-0.049	15	-621.222	1272.44	11.99	0.001
43	3934	14.631	0.038	0.360	-0.006	0.171	0.363	0.197	-0.011	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.206	NA	-0.047	15	-621.243	1272.49	12.03	0.001
44	5728	14.643	0.042	0.389	0.003	0.156	0.355	0.196	-0.001	NA	0.228	0.090	NA	NA	NA	NA	15	-621.266	1272.53	12.08	0.001
45	3710	14.641	-0.030	0.303	-0.005	0.135	0.345	0.164	-0.075 NA	-0 071		NA NA			0.124	-0.081	15	-621.507	1273.01	12.50	0.001
47	5984	14.641	0.051	0.407	-0.002	0.155	0.376	0.195	0.023	NA	0.179	0.235	NA	-0.237	0.122 NA	NA	16	-620.701	1273.40	12.95	0.001
48	3904	14.634	-0.005	0.396	-0.002	0.142	0.366	0.169	NA	NA	0.175	NA	NA	-0.142	0.108	-0.083	16	-620.702	1273.40	12.95	0.001
49	1920	14.634	0.015	0.434	-0.004	0.135	0.368	0.176	0.059	NA	0.198	NA	NA	-0.177	0.081	NA	16	-620.800	1273.60	13.15	0.000
50	1984	14.636	0.017	0.449	-0.002	0.134	0.356	0.180	NA	0.070	0.210	NA	NA	-0.156	0.084	NA	16	-620.802	1273.60	13.15	0.000
51	3936	14.628	0.053	0.437	0.000	0.172	0.375	0.195	0.066	NA 0.072	0.215	NA	NA	-0.175	NA	-0.064	16	-620.809	1273.62	13.17	0.000
52	3776	14.630	-0.001	0.449	0.002	0.171	0.363	0.200	NA	0.072	0.224	NA	NA NA	-0.151 NA	0 1 1 9	-0.063	16	-620.822	1273.04	13.19	0.000
54	3712	14.637	-0.010	0.399	0.002	0.137	0.362	0.164	0.022	NA	0.241	NA	NA	NA	0.118	-0.097	16	-620.942	1273.88	13.43	0.000
55	4030	14.634	-0.014	0.340	-0.008	0.142	0.366	0.167	NA	-0.038	NA	NA	NA	-0.194	0.107	-0.069	16	-621.048	1274.10	13.64	0.000
56	3966	14.634	-0.011	0.354	-0.008	0.141	0.362	0.169	-0.015	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.194	0.107	-0.068	16	-621.067	1274.13	13.68	0.000
57	5760	14.646	-0.002	0.381	0.000	0.125	0.354	0.170	-0.009	NA	0.219	0.111	NA	NA	0.097	NA	16	-621.113	1274.23	13.77	0.000
58	/776 6016	14.640	0.044	0.387	0.005	0.171	0.362	0.194	0.003	NA	0.240	0.100	NA NA	NA _0 222	NA 0.001	-U.078	16	-621.117	12/4.23	13.78	0.000
60	8032	14.638	0.014	0.399	0.005	0.132	0.375	0.192	0.015	NA	0.190	0.231	NA	-0.233	NA	-0.065	17	-620.600	1275.20	14.75	0.000
61	3968	14.631	0.005	0.430	-0.002	0.142	0.375	0.168	0.061	NA	0.213	NA	NA	-0.162	0.105	-0.084	17	-620.642	1275.28	14.83	0.000
62	4032	14.633	0.007	0.445	0.000	0.141	0.363	0.172	NA	0.072	0.225	NA	NA	-0.141	0.108	-0.084	17	-620.643	1275.29	14.83	0.000
63	7808	14.644	-0.013	0.376	0.002	0.135	0.363	0.160	-0.007	NA	0.233	0.130	NA	NA	0.126	-0.101	17	-620.871	1275.74	15.29	0.000
64	8064	14.643	0.003	0.393	-0.003	0.139	0.382	0.162	0.015	NA	0.185	0.259	NA	-0.219	0.117	-0.088	18	-620.395	1276.79	16.34	0.000

 Table S8: Model selection and comparison of model permutations for NAbs in May.

Model Rank	Model ID	Int ercept	Breeding activity : Yes	Day of season	Sex : M	Status : Subordinate	Time bled	Time wait	T _{max}	T _{max7}	Rain ₇ : Yes	T _{max} x Rain ₇ :Yes	$T_{\rm max7}$ x Rain ₇ : Yes	$ au_{ m var}$	Group size	Territory quality	df	logLik	AIC	ΔΑΙC	weight
1	1566	15.191	-0.178	-0.436	-0.086	-0.145	0.032	-0.038	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	12	-188.544	401.09	0.00	0.060
2	1694	15.210	-0.245	-0.512	-0.110	-0.149	0.021	-0.067	NA	0.283	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	-187.566	401.13	0.05	0.058
3	1696	15.196	-0.197	-0.591	-0.112	-0.136	-0.008	-0.010	NA	0.319	0.306	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	14	-186.638	401.28	0.19	0.054
4	1886	15.218	-0.230	-0.441	-0.100	-0.141	-0.032	-0.039	-0 248	NA	NA	NA NA	NA	0.212	NA	NA	13	-186.854	401.54	0.45	0.048
6	1568	15.175	-0.129	-0.497	-0.082	-0.135	0.007	0.013	NA	NA	0.254	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	-187.906	401.81	0.72	0.042
7	1950	15.226	-0.273	-0.507	-0.114	-0.148	-0.029	-0.064	NA	0.237	NA	NA	NA	0.164	NA	NA	14	-187.139	402.28	1.19	0.033
8	1630	15.172	-0.125	-0.444	-0.084	-0.151	0.059	-0.033	-0.133	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	-188.243	402.49	1.40	0.030
9	1824	15.200	-0.181	-0.490	-0.093	-0.133	-0.043	0.002	NA	NA	0.203	NA	NA	0.179	NA 0.100	NA	14	-187.374	402.75	1.66	0.026
10	9888	15.199	-0.203	-0.413	-0.092	-0.173	0.052	-0.047	NA NA	0 369	NA 0 368		-0 365	NA NA	0.100 NA	NA NA	15	-188.399	402.80	1./1	0.025
12	3614	15.180	-0.166	-0.426	-0.079	-0.132	0.0021	-0.025	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.099	13	-188.436	402.87	1.78	0.023
13	1726	15.215	-0.264	-0.492	-0.114	-0.173	0.037	-0.075	NA	0.277	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.084	NA	14	-187.463	402.93	1.84	0.024
14	1952	15.208	-0.219	-0.577	-0.115	-0.135	-0.036	-0.015	NA	0.281	0.270	NA	NA	0.104	NA	NA	15	-186.472	402.94	1.86	0.024
15	3742	15.201	-0.234	-0.499	-0.105	-0.137	0.003	-0.056	NA 0.272	0.273	NA	NA	NA	NA 0.247	NA	-0.079	14	-187.499	403.00	1.91	0.023
10	3934 1728	15.170	-0.123	-0.447	-0.090	-0.128	-0.052	-0.009	-0.273 NA	NA 0 313	NA 0 299		NA NA	0.317 NA	NA 0.067	-0.163 NA	15	-186.558	403.12	2.03	0.022
18	3744	15.191	-0.192	-0.584	-0.109	-0.130	-0.019	-0.006	NA	0.315	0.300	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.044	15	-186.616	403.23	2.14	0.021
19	3870	15.206	-0.218	-0.430	-0.093	-0.126	-0.059	-0.026	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.214	NA	-0.105	14	-187.644	403.29	2.20	0.020
20	1854	15.222	-0.246	-0.425	-0.103	-0.162	-0.015	-0.046	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.204	0.076	NA	14	-187.685	403.37	2.28	0.019
21	1600	15.182	-0.153	-0.476	-0.087	-0.160	0.025	0.003	NA 0.22C	NA	0.246	NA	NA	NA 0.280	0.087	NA	14	-187.795	403.59	2.50	0.017
22	1918	15.190	-0.145	-0.471	-0.099	-0.140	-0.017	-0.022	-0.226		0.048 NA		NA NA	0.289	0.031	NA NA	15	-186.840	403.68	2.59	0.016
24	3616	15.167	-0.122	-0.488	-0.077	-0.126	-0.011	0.020	NA	NA	0.245	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.074	14	-187.845	403.69	2.60	0.010
25	1632	15.168	-0.111	-0.493	-0.082	-0.140	0.023	0.008	-0.063	NA	0.219	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	14	-187.849	403.70	2.61	0.016
26	3678	15.154	-0.103	-0.432	-0.075	-0.135	0.030	-0.016	-0.150	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.129	14	-188.062	404.12	3.04	0.013
27	3998	15.217	-0.261	-0.492	-0.110	-0.134	-0.048	-0.052	NA	0.225	NA	NA	NA	0.165	NA 0.070	-0.085	15	-187.063	404.13	3.04	0.013
28	1982	15.230	-0.288	-0.491	-0.117	-0.168	-0.014	-0.071	NA NA	0.233	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	0.158 NA	0.070	NA -0.168	15	-187.067	404.13	3.05	0.013
30	1662	15.180	-0.155	-0.424	-0.090	-0.107	0.021	-0.032	-0.123	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.083	-0.108 NA	14	-188.128	404.20	3.20	0.012
31	10144	15.186	-0.240	-0.567	-0.116	-0.141	-0.005	-0.043	NA	0.333	0.331	NA	-0.356	0.100	NA	NA	16	-186.254	404.51	3.42	0.011
32	3774	15.203	-0.257	-0.460	-0.108	-0.166	0.014	-0.060	NA	0.258	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.131	-0.137	15	-187.284	404.57	3.48	0.010
33	3872	15.191	-0.174	-0.479	-0.088	-0.122	-0.064	0.010	NA	NA	0.192	NA	NA	0.183	NA	-0.085	15	-187.293	404.59	3.50	0.010
34	1856	15.204	-0.197	-0.474	-0.097	-0.152	-0.027	-0.006	NA NA	NA 0 368	0.199	NA NA	-0 400	0.173 NA	0.069 NA	NA -0.073	15	-187.304	404.61	3.52	0.010
36	9920	15.178	-0.230	-0.568	-0.115	-0.156	0.030	-0.043	NA	0.362	0.359	NA	-0.342	NA	0.049	NA	16	-186.372	404.74	3.66	0.010
37	1984	15.211	-0.232	-0.562	-0.118	-0.152	-0.022	-0.021	NA	0.278	0.265	NA	NA	0.099	0.058	NA	16	-186.421	404.84	3.75	0.009
38	3902	15.207	-0.240	-0.396	-0.096	-0.156	-0.044	-0.032	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.201	0.131	-0.162	15	-187.426	404.85	3.76	0.009
39	4000	15.202	-0.213	-0.568	-0.111	-0.128	-0.050	-0.009	NA 0.2CO	0.275	0.261	NA	NA	0.108	NA	-0.055	16	-186.438	404.88	3.79	0.009
40	3900	15.172	-0.144	-0.421	-0.092	-0.149	-0.042	-0.014	-0.260 NA	0 302	0 284	NA NA	NA	0.303 NA	0.096	-0.202	16	-186.442	404.88	3.60	0.009
42	5984	15.274	-0.114	-0.463	-0.109	-0.156	-0.040	-0.004	-0.364	NA	-0.231	0.681	NA	0.311	NA	NA	16	-186.494	404.99	3.90	0.008
43	3936	15.170	-0.124	-0.445	-0.090	-0.128	-0.052	-0.011	-0.277	NA	-0.008	NA	NA	0.320	NA	-0.164	16	-186.558	405.12	4.03	0.008
44	3648	15.171	-0.152	-0.447	-0.081	-0.156	0.002	0.011	NA	NA	0.225	NA	NA	NA	0.133	-0.134	15	-187.624	405.25	4.16	0.007
45	5728	15.230	-0.088	-0.483	-0.089	-0.145	0.010	0.023	-0.158	NA	0.023	0.502	NA	NA	NA	NA 0.005	15	-187.672	405.34	4.26	0.007
46	1664	15.155	-0.095	-0.479	-0.075	-0.129	0.005	0.016	-0.083	NA NA	0.197	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA 0.081	-0.095 NA	15	-187.753	405.51	4.42	0.007
48	3710	15.160	-0.140	-0.390	-0.081	-0.168	0.042	-0.023	-0.140	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.146	-0.190	15	-187.795	405.59	4.50	0.006
49	1920	15.192	-0.154	-0.464	-0.100	-0.155	-0.010	-0.024	-0.219	NA	0.052	NA	NA	0.282	0.034	NA	16	-186.822	405.64	4.56	0.006
50	4030	15.217	-0.278	-0.457	-0.113	-0.158	-0.035	-0.056	NA	0.212	NA	NA	NA	0.155	0.116	-0.138	16	-186.893	405.79	4.70	0.006
51	3904	15.193	-0.196	-0.446	-0.091	-0.148	-0.051	0.003	NA	NA 0.220	0.178	NA	NA 0.200	0.173	0.116	-0.136	16	-187.125	406.25	5.16	0.005
52	8032	15.174	-0.233	-0.552	-0.110	-0.130	-0.023	-0.038	-0 415	0.329 NA	-0.290	0.685	-0.396 NA	0.105	NA NA	-0.083	17	-186.177	406.35	5.27	0.004
54	10176	15.189	-0.248	-0.557	-0.118	-0.153	0.002	-0.046	NA	0.328	0.325	NA	-0.337	0.096	0.041	NA	17	-186.229	406.46	5.37	0.004
55	11968	15.165	-0.228	-0.540	-0.108	-0.152	0.013	-0.038	NA	0.353	0.346	NA	-0.377	NA	0.086	-0.110	17	-186.254	406.51	5.42	0.004
56	4032	15.203	-0.230	-0.538	-0.112	-0.149	-0.040	-0.014	NA	0.265	0.247	NA	NA	0.103	0.092	-0.097	17	-186.331	406.66	5.57	0.004
57	3968	15.172	-0.145	-0.418	-0.092	-0.150	-0.041	-0.016	-0.266	NA	-0.012	NA	NA	0.307	0.096	-0.204	17	-186.441	406.88	5.80	0.003
58	3712	15.274	-0.120 -0.129	-0.459	-0.109	-0.161 -0.158	-0.036 0.017	-0.006 0.008	-0.358 -0.080	NA NA	-U.225 0 170	U.672	NA NA	U.306	0.020	NA -0 157	1/	-187 536	406.98 407.07	5.89 5.90	0.003
60	7776	15.217	-0.075	-0.470	-0.083	-0.134	-0.007	0.030	-0.174	NA	0.005	0.492	NA	NA	0.152 NA	-0.090	16	-187.583	407.17	6.08	0.003
61	5760	15.235	-0.112	-0.466	-0.093	-0.168	0.024	0.014	-0.147	NA	0.026	0.486	NA	NA	0.076	NA	16	-187.585	407.17	6.08	0.003
62	12224	15.176	-0.247	-0.527	-0.111	-0.148	-0.016	-0.041	NA	0.317	0.309	NA	-0.374	0.101	0.080	-0.117	18	-186.096	408.19	7.10	0.002
63	8064	15.252	-0.114	-0.413	-0.101	-0.156	-0.066	0.000	-0.399	NA	-0.279	0.650	NA	0.329	0.080	-0.195	18	-186.121	408.24	7.16	0.002
64	/808	15.217	-0.106	-0.431	-0.086	-0.164	0.005	0.020	-0.167	NA	0.000	0.460	NA	NA	0.125	-0.145	17	-187.383	408.77	7.68	0.001

Table S9: Model selection and comparison of model permutations for NAbs in November.

Model Rank	Model ID	Intercept	Breeding activity : Yes	Day of season	Sex : M	Status : Subordinate	Time bled	Time wait	T _{max}	T _{max7}	Rain ₇ : Yes	T _{max} x Rain ₇ : Yes	$T_{\rm max7}$ x Rain ₇ : Yes	T _{var}	Group size	Territory quality	df	logLik	AIC	ΔΑΙC	weight
1	9888	0.984	-0.069	0.475	0.026	-0.091	0.037	-0.028	NA	-0.229	0.281	NA	-0.361	NA	NA	NA	15	-264.895	559.79	0.00	0.256
2	10144	0.983	-0.068	0.468	0.023	-0.088	0.037	-0.025	NA	-0.244	0.238	NA	-0.371	-0.066	NA	NA	16	-264.504	561.01	1.22	0.139
3	9920	0.987	-0.089	0.476	0.026	-0.101	0.035	-0.036	NA	-0.228	0.281	NA	-0.359	NA	0.047	NA 0.007	16	-264.700	561.40	1.61	0.114
4	10176	0.984	-0.070	0.475	0.026	-0.090	0.037	-0.028	NA	-0.229	0.281	NA NA	-0.362	-0.067	0.049	-0.007 NA	10	-264.889	562 59	2.80	0.095
6	1696	0.993	-0.075	0.445	0.026	-0.077	0.032	-0.046	NA	-0.263	0.265	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	14	-267.326	562.65	2.86	0.061
7	12192	0.983	-0.068	0.468	0.023	-0.088	0.037	-0.025	NA	-0.244	0.238	NA	-0.371	-0.066	NA	0.002	17	-264.504	563.01	3.22	0.051
8	11968	0.986	-0.091	0.475	0.026	-0.101	0.036	-0.037	NA	-0.229	0.280	NA	-0.361	NA	0.052	-0.018	17	-264.668	563.34	3.55	0.043
9 10	1952	0.992	-0.073	0.440	0.025	-0.075	0.033	-0.044	NA	-0.273	0.234	NA	NA	-0.053		NA	15	-267.080	564.16	4.37	0.029
10	12224	0.990	-0.097	0.443	0.027	-0.089	0.029	-0.034	NA	-0.203	0.204	NA	-0.371	-0.066	0.055	-0.008	18	-264.288	564.58	4.30	0.029
12	3744	0.993	-0.075	0.445	0.026	-0.077	0.031	-0.046	NA	-0.263	0.265	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.001	15	-267.326	564.65	4.86	0.022
13	1984	0.995	-0.095	0.441	0.026	-0.087	0.030	-0.053	NA	-0.272	0.234	NA	NA	-0.053	0.053	NA	16	-266.839	565.68	5.89	0.013
14	4000	0.992	-0.073	0.441	0.025	-0.076	0.032	-0.044	NA	-0.272	0.234	NA	NA	-0.055	NA	0.010	16	-267.069	566.14	6.35	0.011
15	3776	0.996	-0.098	0.445	0.027	-0.088	0.029	-0.054	NA NA	-0.264	0.263 NA		NA NA	NA -0.119	0.055 NA	-0.009 NA	10	-267.077	567.02	7 23	0.011
17	1694	0.995	-0.102	0.312	0.020	-0.078	0.029	-0.052	NA	-0.412	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	-270.834	567.67	7.88	0.005
18	4032	0.995	-0.095	0.441	0.026	-0.087	0.030	-0.053	NA	-0.272	0.234	NA	NA	-0.053	0.053	-0.001	17	-266.839	567.68	7.89	0.005
19	1982	0.994	-0.114	0.337	0.021	-0.088	0.033	-0.059	NA	-0.390	NA	NA	NA	-0.118	0.055	NA	15	-269.249	568.50	8.71	0.003
20	3998	0.992	-0.092	0.338	0.020	-0.077	0.035	-0.050	NA	-0.390	NA	NA	NA	-0.122		0.018	15	-269.474	568.95	9.16	0.003
21	1568	0.999	-0.033	0.513	0.022	-0.092	0.020	-0.032	NA	-0.410 NA	0.427	NA	NA	NA	0.039 NA	NA	14	-270.340	569.43	9.65	0.002
23	3742	0.994	-0.102	0.312	0.021	-0.078	0.029	-0.052	NA	-0.412	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.000	14	-270.834	569.67	9.88	0.002
24	4030	0.995	-0.113	0.338	0.021	-0.088	0.032	-0.058	NA	-0.390	NA	NA	NA	-0.120	0.053	0.007	16	-269.244	570.49	10.70	0.001
25	1600	0.994	-0.057	0.619	0.033	-0.101	0.015	-0.042	NA	NA	0.427	NA	NA	NA	0.059	NA	14	-271.415	570.83	11.04	0.001
26	3774	0.998	-0.126	0.312	0.022	-0.092	0.027	-0.062	NA 0.027	-0.411 NA	NA 0.443	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	0.061 NA	-0.012 NA	15	-270.532	571.06	11.27	0.001
28	3616	0.992	-0.032	0.619	0.033	-0.088	0.017	-0.033	NA	NA	0.426	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.017	14	-271.685	571.37	11.58	0.001
29	1824	0.990	-0.033	0.619	0.032	-0.086	0.018	-0.032	NA	NA	0.426	NA	NA	-0.002	NA	NA	14	-271.717	571.43	11.64	0.001
30	5728	0.983	-0.022	0.663	0.033	-0.089	0.010	-0.020	0.063	NA	0.444	-0.181	NA	NA	NA	NA	15	-270.783	571.57	11.78	0.001
31	1664 3648	0.994	-0.052	0.631	0.034	-0.101	0.017	-0.041	0.024 NA	NA NA	0.442	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	0.058	NA 0.005	15	-271.355	572.71	12.92	0.000
33	1856	0.994	-0.057	0.619	0.033	-0.101	0.015	-0.041	NA	NA	0.424	NA	NA	-0.005	0.060	NA	15	-271.413	572.83	13.04	0.000
34	5984	0.982	-0.021	0.667	0.036	-0.094	0.012	-0.023	0.073	NA	0.476	-0.236	NA	0.059	NA	NA	16	-270.539	573.08	13.29	0.000
35	5760	0.987	-0.044	0.661	0.034	-0.102	0.008	-0.029	0.061	NA	0.443	-0.176	NA	NA	0.053	NA	16	-270.542	573.08	13.29	0.000
36	3680	0.991	-0.027	0.633	0.034	-0.089	0.019	-0.032	0.027	NA	0.443	NA	NA	NA 0.002	NA	0.018	15	-271.606	573.21	13.42	0.000
38	3872	0.990	-0.028	0.619	0.033	-0.087	0.019	-0.031	0.027 NA	NA	0.441	NA	NA	-0.005	NA	0.018	15	-271.640	573.37	13.58	0.000
39	7776	0.985	-0.021	0.665	0.033	-0.092	0.008	-0.021	0.065	NA	0.443	-0.185	NA	NA	NA	0.027	16	-270.707	573.41	13.62	0.000
40	1920	0.994	-0.052	0.632	0.034	-0.101	0.017	-0.040	0.025	NA	0.438	NA	NA	-0.007	0.058	NA	16	-271.350	574.70	14.91	0.000
41	3712	0.994	-0.051	0.631	0.034	-0.102	0.017	-0.041	0.024	NA	0.442	NA 0.225	NA	NA 0.052	0.056	0.006	16	-271.351	574.70	14.91	0.000
42	3904	0.986	-0.041	0.665	0.038	-0.105	0.010	-0.031	0.069 NA	NA	0.471	-0.225 NA	NA NA	-0.006	0.047	0.006	16	-270.351	574.70	14.91	0.000
44	8032	0.984	-0.019	0.669	0.037	-0.096	0.011	-0.024	0.075	NA	0.474	-0.238	NA	0.056	NA	0.022	17	-270.489	574.98	15.19	0.000
45	7808	0.988	-0.041	0.663	0.034	-0.103	0.008	-0.029	0.062	NA	0.443	-0.180	NA	NA	0.048	0.016	17	-270.514	575.03	15.24	0.000
46	3936	0.991	-0.027	0.634	0.033	-0.089	0.018	-0.031	0.028	NA	0.439	NA	NA	-0.007	NA	0.019	16	-271.602	575.20	15.42	0.000
47	3968	0.986	-0.039	0.666	0.037	-0.105	0.010	-0.031	0.070	NA NA	0.471	-0.227 NA	NA NA	-0.051	0.044	0.013	18	-270.334	576.67	16.88	0.000
49	1886	0.986	-0.051	0.499	0.025	-0.089	0.007	-0.037	-0.110	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.119	NA	NA	14	-282.094	592.19	32.40	0.000
50	1630	0.990	-0.071	0.470	0.026	-0.092	-0.002	-0.040	-0.150	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	-283.312	592.62	32.83	0.000
51	1822	0.983	-0.041	0.545	0.026	-0.095	0.018	-0.036	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.159	NA	NA	13	-283.467	592.93	33.14	0.000
52	1918	0.991	-0.088	0.498	0.025	-0.108	0.003	-0.049	-0.114	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.118	0.077	NA	15	-281.622	593.24	33.45	0.000
54	3934	0.989	-0.055	0.409	0.025	-0.094	0.007	-0.033	-0.134	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.127	0.082 NA	0.041	14	-282.782	593.85	34.07	0.000
55	1854	0.988	-0.069	0.545	0.027	-0.112	0.015	-0.047	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.161	0.069	NA	14	-283.082	594.16	34.37	0.000
56	3870	0.986	-0.040	0.548	0.027	-0.100	0.015	-0.037	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.167	NA	0.048	14	-283.232	594.46	34.67	0.000
57	3678	0.991	-0.071	0.471	0.026	-0.094	-0.003	-0.040	-0.150	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.021	14	-283.269	594.54	34.75	0.000
59	3966	0,993	-0.103	0.500	0.026	-0.109	-0.002	-0.048	-0.112	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	-0.123 NA	0.070	0.026	15	-282.780	595.11 595.56	35.32 35.77	0.000
60	3902	0.990	-0.064	0.548	0.027	-0.113	0.013	-0.046	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.166	0.060	0.036	15	-282.955	595.91	36.12	0.000
61	1566	0.986	-0.057	0.524	0.030	-0.102	0.017	-0.047	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	12	-286.175	596.35	36.56	0.000
62	1598	0.991	-0.085	0.524	0.031	-0.119	0.013	-0.057	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.070	NA	13	-285.799	597.60	37.81	0.000
64	3614 3646	0.987 0.991	-0.057	0.525	0.030	-0.103 -0.119	0.016	-0.047 -0.057	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA 0,068	0.019	13	-285.795	598.28 599.59	38.49 39.80	0.000

 Table S10: Model selection and comparison of model permutations for Ca in May.

Model Rank	Model IC	Intercept	Breeding activity : Yes	Day of seasor	Sex : N	Status : Subordinate	Time blec	Time wait	T _{ma}	T _{maxi}	Rain ₇ : Yes	T _{max} x Rain ₇ :Yes	T_{max7} x Rain ₇ : Yes	T_{va}	Group size	Territory quality	ď	logLi	AIC	ΔΑΙ	weight
1	1630	1.234	-0.001	0.617	-0.017	0.087	-0.051	0.012	× 0.175	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	-88.328	202.66	0.00	0.066
2	1566	1.206	0.094	0.593	-0.015	0.080	-0.020	0.005	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	12	-89.560	203.12	0.47	0.052
3	3678	1.257	-0.036	0.616	-0.015	0.075	-0.020	-0.001	0.191	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.177	14	-87.627	203.25	0.60	0.049
4	1662	1.245	-0.028	0.663	-0.015	0.061	-0.037	0.002	0.192	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.136	NA	14	-87.656	203.31	0.66	0.047
5	1568	1.222	0.057	0.626	-0.011	0.077	-0.003	-0.028	NA	NA	-0.189	NA	NA	NA 0.120	NA	NA	13	-88.817	203.63	0.98	0.040
6	1822	1.226	0.059	0.612	-0.025	0.082	-0.058	0.016	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.120	NA	NA	13	-88.909	203.82	1.16	0.037
8	1624	1.248	-0.001	0.631	-0.022	0.077	-0.045	-0.020	0 143	NA NA	-0.220	NA NA		0.141 NA	NA NA	NA NA	14	-87.915	203.83	1.10	0.030
9	3614	1.223	0.070	0.592	-0.014	0.070	0.007	-0.005	NA	NA	0.107 NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.140	13	-89.128	204.25	1.60	0.029
10	1598	1.212	0.080	0.628	-0.013	0.059	-0.006	-0.004	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.108	NA	13	-89.139	204.28	1.62	0.029
11	1886	1.240	-0.004	0.623	-0.022	0.087	-0.065	0.016	0.148	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.059	NA	NA	14	-88.196	204.39	1.74	0.027
12	3710	1.260	-0.049	0.649	-0.014	0.058	-0.016	-0.005	0.201	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.102	0.135	15	-87.281	204.56	1.91	0.025
13	1600	1.229	0.042	0.662	-0.009	0.054	0.012	-0.036	NA	NA	-0.191	NA	NA	NA	0.110	NA	14	-88.371	204.74	2.09	0.023
14	3616	1.210	0.075	0.588	-0.021	0.082	-0.023	-0.025	NA NA	0.069 NA	NA -0 179	NA NA		NA NA	NA NA	NA 0 1 2 8	13	-89.385	204.77	2.12	0.023
16	1664	1.230	-0.031	0.675	-0.010	0.058	-0.021	-0.035	0.162	NA	-0.098	NA	NA	NA	0.133	0.128 NA	14	-87.483	204.89	2.25	0.021
17	3870	1.241	0.038	0.609	-0.024	0.072	-0.032	0.006	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.116	NA	0.135	14	-88.505	205.01	2.35	0.020
18	3680	1.259	-0.037	0.627	-0.013	0.073	-0.010	-0.015	0.166	NA	-0.081	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.167	15	-87.510	205.02	2.36	0.020
19	3934	1.261	-0.037	0.620	-0.019	0.075	-0.032	0.003	0.170	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.045	NA	0.171	15	-87.550	205.10	2.45	0.019
20	1856	1.253	0.000	0.684	-0.020	0.058	-0.030	-0.028	NA	NA	-0.220	NA	NA	0.132	0.097	NA	15	-87.571	205.14	2.49	0.019
21	3872	1.261	-0.006	0.650	-0.021	0.069	-0.021	-0.028	NA	NA	-0.210	NA	NA	0.137	NA	0.122	15	-87.575	205.15	2.50	0.019
22	1854	1.230	0.049	0.642	-0.023	0.062	-0.044	0.008	NA 0.174	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.111	0.096	NA	14	-88.579	205.16	2.50	0.019
23	1918	1.246	-0.028	0.604	-0.018	0.062	-0.046	-0.005	0.174 NA	0.062	INA -0 184	NA NA		0.037 NA	0.129 NA	NA NA	15	-87.000	205.21	2.50	0.018
25	1888	1.250	-0.010	0.650	-0.021	0.081	-0.051	-0.011	0.076	NA	-0.168	NA	NA	0.104	NA	NA	15	-87.778	205.55	2.90	0.015
26	1950	1.226	0.056	0.610	-0.026	0.082	-0.057	0.014	NA	0.018	NA	NA	NA	0.113	NA	NA	14	-88.899	205.80	3.14	0.014
27	1952	1.249	0.011	0.655	-0.022	0.077	-0.045	-0.019	NA	-0.004	-0.220	NA	NA	0.142	NA	NA	15	-87.915	205.83	3.17	0.013
28	3646	1.223	0.065	0.618	-0.013	0.056	0.011	-0.008	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.080	0.105	14	-88.917	205.83	3.18	0.013
29	3742	1.228	0.050	0.586	-0.019	0.071	0.004	-0.009	NA	0.073	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.144	14	-88.929	205.86	3.20	0.013
30	1726	1.216	0.063	0.623	-0.018	0.061	-0.010	-0.006	NA	0.064	NA	NA 0.202	NA	NA	0.105	NA	14	-88.989	205.98	3.32	0.012
32	3712	1.209	-0.050	0.651	-0.012	0.084	-0.047	-0.019	0.090	NA	-0.228	0.303 NA	NA	NA	0 101	0 1 2 5	15	-87 164	205.58	3.52	0.012
33	3648	1.237	0.030	0.651	-0.009	0.052	0.026	-0.040	NA	NA	-0.183	NA	NA	NA	0.086	0.091	15	-88.201	206.40	3.75	0.010
34	3966	1.262	-0.048	0.651	-0.017	0.059	-0.025	-0.002	0.185	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.031	0.097	0.133	16	-87.243	206.49	3.83	0.010
35	1728	1.232	0.028	0.656	-0.014	0.056	0.009	-0.038	NA	0.056	-0.186	NA	NA	NA	0.107	NA	15	-88.254	206.51	3.85	0.010
36	3744	1.240	0.020	0.617	-0.015	0.068	0.019	-0.038	NA	0.065	-0.174	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.132	15	-88.285	206.57	3.91	0.009
37	3936	1.266	-0.039	0.642	-0.019	0.072	-0.025	-0.018	0.111	NA	-0.132	NA	NA	0.083	NA	0.150	16	-87.292	206.58	3.93	0.009
30	3902	1.250	-0.032	0.631	-0.018	0.059	-0.030	-0.017	0.110	NA NA	-0.145 NA	NA NA		0.078	0.118	0 106	10	-87.294	206.59	3.93	0.009
40	5760	1.275	-0.020	0.673	-0.011	0.060	-0.033	-0.002	0.117	NA	-0.202	0.260	NA	NA	0.129	0.100 NA	16	-87.381	206.76	4.11	0.008
41	7776	1.288	-0.025	0.627	-0.011	0.074	-0.021	-0.008	0.116	NA	-0.195	0.287	NA	NA	NA	0.165	16	-87.382	206.76	4.11	0.008
42	3904	1.261	-0.011	0.673	-0.020	0.056	-0.016	-0.032	NA	NA	-0.213	NA	NA	0.132	0.073	0.091	16	-87.400	206.80	4.14	0.008
43	3998	1.242	0.034	0.606	-0.025	0.072	-0.030	0.004	NA	0.024	NA	NA	NA	0.107	NA	0.137	15	-88.486	206.97	4.32	0.008
44	5984	1.300	0.005	0.653	-0.020	0.081	-0.073	0.000	-0.018	NA	-0.362	0.450	NA	0.128	NA	NA	16	-87.496	206.99	4.34	0.007
45	1984	1.253	0.001	0.685	-0.019	0.058	-0.030	-0.028	NA	-0.006	-0.221	NA NA	NA NA	0.135	0.097	NA NA	16	-87.570	207.14	4.48	0.007
40	4000	1.250	-0.007	0.650	-0.024	0.069	-0.042	-0.028	NA	0.001	-0.210	NA	NA	0.105	0.050 NA	0.122	16	-87.575	207.14	4.50	0.007
48	9888	1.230	0.044	0.621	-0.015	0.079	-0.010	-0.025	NA	0.049	-0.200	NA	0.077	NA	NA	NA	15	-88.660	207.32	4.66	0.006
49	3774	1.228	0.046	0.611	-0.018	0.058	0.008	-0.012	NA	0.069	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.076	0.111	15	-88.741	207.48	4.83	0.006
50	10144	1.258	0.016	0.657	-0.020	0.079	-0.054	-0.011	NA	-0.029	-0.249	NA	0.139	0.147	NA	NA	16	-87.861	207.72	5.07	0.005
51	3968	1.267	-0.050	0.669	-0.017	0.057	-0.019	-0.021	0.130	NA	-0.122	NA	NA	0.067	0.091	0.116	17	-87.023	208.05	5.39	0.004
52	8032	1.311	-0.024	0.646	-0.018	0.073	-0.046	-0.007	0.024	NA	-0.310	0.410	NA	0.106	NA	0.144	17	-87.052	208.10	5.45	0.004
53	7808	1.288	-0.039	0.659	-0.010	0.057	-0.017	-0.012	0.130	NA 0.060	-0.183	0.257 NA		NA NA	0.098	0.125	1/	-87.062	208.12	5.47	0.004
55	6016	1.241	-0.015	0.684	-0.014	0.054	-0.055	-0.042	0.028	0.000 NA	-0.311	0.381	NA	0.100	0.108	0.097 NA	17	-87.091	208.13	5.53	0.004
56	9920	1.241	0.033	0.659	-0.011	0.057	0.002	-0.030	NA	0.033	-0.214	NA	0.140	NA	0.113	NA	16	-88.200	208.40	5.75	0.004
57	11936	1.253	0.026	0.618	-0.013	0.070	0.012	-0.028	NA	0.037	-0.207	NA	0.171	NA	NA	0.145	16	-88.206	208.41	5.76	0.004
58	4030	1.241	0.031	0.627	-0.024	0.060	-0.025	0.000	NA	0.023	NA	NA	NA	0.102	0.068	0.108	16	-88.337	208.67	6.02	0.003
59	4032	1.261	-0.010	0.673	-0.019	0.056	-0.016	-0.032	NA	-0.001	-0.213	NA	NA	0.132	0.073	0.091	17	-87.400	208.80	6.14	0.003
60 61	12192	1.277	0.000	0.651	-0.018	0.071	-0.032	-0.015	NA	-0.037	-0.254	NA	0.219	0.142	NA	0.137	17	-87.444	208.89	6.23	0.003
62	8064	1.307	-0.035	0.670	-0.017	0.059	-0.041	-0.010	0.050	-0.040 NA	-0.201	0.366	0.191 NA	0.140	0.104	0.113	18	-86,833	208.94	7 01	0.003
63	11968	1.255	0.020	0.647	-0.011	0.055	0.015	-0.031	NA	0.029	-0.216	NA	0.194	NA	0.086	0.109	17	-87.963	209.93	7.27	0.002
64	12224	1.279	-0.004	0.676	-0.016	0.057	-0.027	-0.018	NA	-0.043	-0.261	NA	0.239	0.138	0.077	0.105	18	-87.244	210.49	7.83	0.001

Table S11: Model selection and comparison of model permutations for Ca in November.

Model Ra	Model	Interce	Breeding activity : Y	Day of sease	Sex:	Status : Subordina	Time bl	Time wa	T_{n}	$ au_{ m ms}$	Rain ₇ : Ye	T _{max} x Rain ₇ : Y	$T_{\rm max7} \times Rain_7 : Ye$	τ	Group si	Territory quali		logl	>	ΔΑ	weig
, P	Ū	ਸ 0.422	es o o o o o o o	9	2 0.025	6	e d	ait	nax	× ×	S S	S	0 1 8 4	٩ ٩	ze	ity	df		5	5	H
2	9888	0.422	0.032	-0.017	0.025	-0.057	0.089	-0.055	NA	-0.008	0.083	NA	0.184	NA	-0.022	NA	15	142.494	-254.99	1.13	0.167
3	5728	0.424	0.031	-0.014	0.023	-0.058	0.091	-0.049	-0.004	NA	0.085	0.127	NA	NA	NA	NA	15	141.863	-253.73	1.26	0.089
4	7776	0.425	0.030	-0.012	0.023	-0.052	0.091	-0.049	-0.003	NA	0.087	0.125	NA	NA	NA	-0.028	16	142.750	-253.50	1.49	0.079
5	11936	0.422	0.031	-0.017	0.025	-0.053	0.089	-0.053	NA NA	-0.008	0.081	NA NA	0.175	NA 0.012	NA NA	-0.013 NA	16 16	142.697	-253.39	1.59	0.075
7	5760	0.422	0.039	-0.013	0.020	-0.052	0.000	-0.044	-0.004	NA	0.085	0.126	NA	NA	-0.019	NA	16	142.200	-252.40	2.59	0.046
8	5984	0.424	0.033	-0.016	0.023	-0.058	0.090	-0.047	-0.006	NA	0.078	0.147	NA	-0.017	NA	NA	16	142.106	-252.21	2.78	0.042
9	10176	0.422	0.039	-0.015	0.026	-0.048	0.088	-0.048	NA	-0.004	0.090	NA	0.179	0.013	-0.022	NA	17	143.101	-252.20	2.79	0.042
10	121968	0.422	0.039	-0.018	0.026	-0.048	0.089	-0.048	NA NA	-0.009	0.081	NA NA	0.178	NA 0.016	-0.019 NA	-0.009	17	143.016	-252.03	3.10	0.038
12	7808	0.424	0.034	-0.011	0.023	-0.048	0.091	-0.046	-0.003	NA	0.087	0.124	NA	NA	-0.013	-0.025	17	142.890	-251.78	3.21	0.034
13	8032	0.425	0.030	-0.013	0.022	-0.052	0.091	-0.048	-0.005	NA	0.083	0.136	NA	-0.011	NA	-0.026	17	142.848	-251.70	3.29	0.032
14	6016	0.424	0.040	-0.015	0.023	-0.052	0.089	-0.043	-0.006	NA	0.079	0.143	NA 0 171	-0.014	-0.018	NA	17	142.378	-250.76	4.23	0.020
16	8064	0.423	0.037	-0.014	0.020	-0.047	0.088	-0.049	-0.004	-0.004 NA	0.091	0.134	0.171 NA	-0.010	-0.019	-0.012	18	143.239	-230.32	5.04	0.018
17	3616	0.421	0.023	-0.003	0.024	-0.051	0.091	-0.050	NA	NA	0.080	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.030	14	138.742	-249.48	5.50	0.011
18	1568	0.421	0.024	-0.005	0.026	-0.057	0.089	-0.050	NA	NA	0.078	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	137.700	-249.40	5.59	0.010
19 20	3680	0.420	0.024	0.010	0.024	-0.050	0.092	-0.049	0.025 NA	NA NA	0.096	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA -0.024	-0.031 NA	15	139.323	-248.65	6.34	0.007
20	1632	0.420	0.035	0.004	0.020	-0.043	0.005	-0.044	0.022	NA	0.093	NA	NA	NA	-0.024 NA	NA	14	138.184	-248.37	6.62	0.000
22	3872	0.421	0.023	-0.003	0.024	-0.051	0.090	-0.050	NA	NA	0.087	NA	NA	0.021	NA	-0.032	15	139.132	-248.26	6.72	0.006
23	3648	0.421	0.030	-0.002	0.025	-0.045	0.091	-0.046	NA	NA	0.080	NA	NA	NA	-0.017	-0.027	15	138.993	-247.99	7.00	0.005
24	1824 3744	0.421	0.024	-0.006	0.026	-0.058	0.089	-0.050	NA NA	NA -0.006	0.084	NA NA	NA NA	0.017 NA	NA NA	NA _0.030	14	137.974	-247.95	7.04	0.005
26	1696	0.421	0.023	-0.010	0.024	-0.057	0.090	-0.050	NA	-0.008	0.073	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	14	137.731	-247.46	7.53	0.004
27	1664	0.420	0.034	0.008	0.026	-0.049	0.090	-0.043	0.022	NA	0.093	NA	NA	NA	-0.024	NA	15	138.691	-247.38	7.61	0.004
28	3712	0.420	0.030	0.011	0.025	-0.045	0.092	-0.044	0.024	NA	0.096	NA	NA	NA 0.017	-0.017	-0.028	16	139.567	-247.13	7.85	0.003
29	3936 1856	0.421	0.024	-0.008	0.024	-0.051	0.091	-0.048	0.021 NA	NA NA	0.099	NA NA	NA NA	0.017	NA -0.025	-0.033 NA	16	139.559	-247.12	7.87	0.003
31	3904	0.421	0.030	-0.003	0.025	-0.046	0.090	-0.046	NA	NA	0.087	NA	NA	0.021	-0.017	-0.029	16	139.382	-246.76	8.22	0.003
32	1888	0.420	0.025	0.005	0.025	-0.058	0.090	-0.049	0.020	NA	0.095	NA	NA	0.014	NA	NA	15	138.349	-246.70	8.29	0.003
33	1728	0.420	0.033	-0.010	0.026	-0.049	0.090	-0.044	NA	-0.009	0.073	NA	NA	NA	-0.025	NA 0.022	15	138.250	-246.50	8.49	0.002
34	3776	0.421	0.023	-0.003	0.024	-0.031	0.090	-0.030	NA	-0.007	0.087	NA	NA	0.021 NA	-0.018	-0.032	16	139.132	-246.03	8.95	0.002
36	1952	0.421	0.024	-0.007	0.026	-0.058	0.089	-0.050	NA	-0.003	0.082	NA	NA	0.017	NA	NA	15	137.977	-245.95	9.03	0.002
37	1920	0.420	0.034	0.006	0.026	-0.050	0.089	-0.042	0.020	NA	0.096	NA	NA	0.015	-0.025	NA	16	138.869	-245.74	9.25	0.002
38	3968	0.420	0.030	0.009	0.025	-0.046	0.091	-0.044	0.021	NA -0.004	0.099	NA NA	NA NA	0.017	-0.017	-0.030	17	139.801	-245.60	9.39	0.002
40	4032	0.421	0.033	-0.007	0.020	-0.049	0.089	-0.044	NA	-0.004	0.082	NA	NA	0.018	-0.023	-0.029	17	139.383	-243.02	10.22	0.001
41	1694	0.422	0.021	-0.048	0.025	-0.058	0.095	-0.056	NA	-0.047	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	135.349	-244.70	10.29	0.001
42	3742	0.422	0.021	-0.046	0.024	-0.052	0.096	-0.055	NA	-0.047	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.028	14	136.227	-244.45	10.53	0.001
43 44	1726	0.421	0.031	-0.048	0.026	-0.050	0.095	-0.049	NA NA	-0.048 NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	-0.025 NA	NA NA	14	135.898	-243.80	11.19 11 70	0.001
45	3774	0.422	0.028	-0.046	0.025	-0.047	0.096	-0.050	NA	-0.048	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.019	-0.024	15	136.522	-243.04	11.94	0.000
46	3614	0.421	0.025	-0.020	0.022	-0.056	0.091	-0.051	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.028	13	134.479	-242.96	12.03	0.000
47	1950	0.422	0.021	-0.047	0.025	-0.058	0.095	-0.055	NA	-0.047	NA	NA	NA	-0.003	NA	NA 0.028	14	135.360	-242.72	12.27	0.000
48 49	1598	0.422	0.021	-0.046	0.024	-0.052	0.096	-0.055	NA	-0.047 NA	NA	NA	NA	0.000 NA	-0.023	-0.028 NA	13	136.227	-242.45	12.55	0.000
50	1982	0.421	0.031	-0.047	0.026	-0.050	0.095	-0.049	NA	-0.048	NA	NA	NA	-0.003	-0.025	NA	15	135.905	-241.81	13.18	0.000
51	1630	0.421	0.025	-0.025	0.024	-0.062	0.090	-0.052	-0.008	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	133.730	-241.46	13.53	0.000
52	3646	0.421	0.031	-0.020	0.023	-0.052	0.091	-0.047	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA 0.002	-0.017	-0.024	14	134.697	-241.39	13.59	0.000
54	3678	0.421	0.020	-0.022	0.023	-0.055	0.090	-0.050	-0.008	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.002 NA	NA	-0.027	14	133.050	-241.30	13.87	0.000
55	4030	0.422	0.028	-0.046	0.025	-0.047	0.096	-0.050	NA	-0.048	NA	NA	NA	0.000	-0.019	-0.024	16	136.522	-241.04	13.94	0.000
56	3870	0.421	0.025	-0.020	0.022	-0.056	0.091	-0.051	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.001	NA	-0.028	14	134.480	-240.96	14.03	0.000
57 59	1662 1854	0.421	0.034	-0.025	0.024	-0.054	0.089	-0.046	-0.009	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA -0.001	-0.023	NA NA	14	134.179	-240.36	14.63 14.82	0.000
59	3710	0.421	0.030	-0.023	0.024	-0.051	0.091	-0.047	-0.008	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.017	-0.024	15	134.784	-239.57	15.42	0.000
60	1886	0.421	0.025	-0.025	0.024	-0.062	0.090	-0.052	-0.008	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.000	NA	NA	14	133.730	-239.46	15.53	0.000
61	3902	0.421	0.031	-0.020	0.023	-0.052	0.091	-0.047	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.002	-0.017	-0.025	15	134.699	-239.40	15.59	0.000
62 63	3934 1918	0.422	0.024	-0.024	0.023	-0.056	0.091	-0.052	-0.009	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	0.003	NA -0.023	-0.028 NA	15	134.570	-239.14	15.85	0.000
64	3966	0.421	0.030	-0.024	0.023	-0.051	0.091	-0.048	-0.009	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.004	-0.017	-0.025	16	134.797	-237.59	17.39	0.000

Table S12: Model selection and comparison of model permutations for HL ratio in May.

Model Rank	Model ID	Intercept	Breeding activity : Yes	Day of season	Sex : M	Status : Subordinate	Time bled	Time wait	T _{max}	T _{max7}	Rain ₇ : Yes	T _{max} x <i>Rain</i> ₇ ∶Yes	T _{max7} x Rain ₇ : Yes	$ au_{var}$	Group size	Territory quality	df	logLik	AIC	ΔΑΙΟ	weight
1	1696	0.432	0.046	-0.010	0.032	-0.005	0.130	-0.054	NA	-0.049	0.104	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	14	70.562	-113.12	0.00	0.099
2	1824	0.432	0.042	-0.018	0.033	-0.002	0.140	-0.048	NA	NA	0.126	NA	NA	-0.047	NA	NA	14	70.264	-112.53	0.60	0.073
3	3744	0.432	0.050	-0.013	0.031	-0.008	0.138	-0.060	NA	-0.052	0.115	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.031	15	71.107	-112.21	0.91	0.063
4	9888	0.432	0.049	-0.014	0.033	-0.006	0.130	-0.049		-0.035	0.114	NA NA	AVI -0.069	-0.030 NA	NA NA	NA NA	15	70 787	-112.15	1 55	0.061
6	1568	0.425	0.045	-0.013	0.032	-0.007	0.132	-0.055	NA	-0.038 NA	0.113	NA	-0.005 NA	NA	NA	NA	13	68.733	-111.47	1.66	0.043
7	3872	0.435	0.049	-0.023	0.032	-0.008	0.145	-0.047	NA	NA	0.134	NA	NA	-0.044	NA	0.031	15	70.656	-111.31	1.81	0.040
8	1728	0.432	0.044	-0.008	0.032	-0.008	0.130	-0.055	NA	-0.048	0.104	NA	NA	NA	0.007	NA	15	70.592	-111.18	1.94	0.037
9	4000	0.432	0.053	-0.017	0.032	-0.008	0.144	-0.055	NA	-0.039	0.123	NA	NA	-0.029	NA	0.030	16	71.586	-111.17	1.95	0.037
10	1888	0.433	0.041	-0.020	0.035	-0.001	0.139	-0.045	0.020	NA	0.140	NA	NA	-0.060	NA	NA	15	70.431	-110.86	2.26	0.032
11	1856	0.433	0.038	-0.015	0.033	-0.008	0.141	-0.048	NA	NA	0.125	NA	NA	-0.047	0.014	NA	15	70.385	-110.77	2.35	0.030
13	11936	0.438	0.043	-0.013	0.031	-0.010	0.133	-0.048	NA	-0.042	0.121	NA	-0.068	NA	NA	0.037	14	71.325	-110.70	2.42	0.029
14	10144	0.429	0.047	-0.015	0.033	-0.007	0.138	-0.054	NA	-0.026	0.127	NA	-0.066	-0.029	NA	NA	16	71.281	-110.56	2.56	0.027
15	1984	0.432	0.046	-0.012	0.033	-0.010	0.137	-0.050	NA	-0.034	0.113	NA	NA	-0.030	0.009	NA	16	71.126	-110.25	2.87	0.023
16	3776	0.432	0.050	-0.013	0.031	-0.008	0.138	-0.060	NA	-0.052	0.115	NA	NA	NA	0.000	0.031	16	71.107	-110.21	2.91	0.023
17	3936	0.436	0.051	-0.027	0.034	-0.008	0.145	-0.042	0.030	NA	0.156	NA	NA	-0.062	NA	0.039	16	71.015	-110.03	3.10	0.021
18	1632	0.434	0.037	-0.012	0.031	-0.003	0.131	-0.053	-0.017	NA 0.038	0.104	NA	NA 0.0C7	NA	NA	NA	14	68.911	-109.82	3.30	0.019
20	12192	0.428	0.043	-0.009	0.033	-0.009	0.132	-0.059		-0.038	0.118	NA NA	-0.067	-0 028	0.005 NA	0.030	10	70.804	-109.61	3.52	0.017
21	1600	0.434	0.031	-0.010	0.032	-0.005	0.140	-0.053	NA	NA	0.112	NA	NA	NA	0.009	NA	14	68.770	-109.54	3.58	0.016
22	3904	0.434	0.047	-0.022	0.032	-0.009	0.145	-0.048	NA	NA	0.134	NA	NA	-0.045	0.003	0.029	16	70.658	-109.32	3.81	0.015
23	1920	0.433	0.036	-0.016	0.035	-0.007	0.141	-0.046	0.023	NA	0.141	NA	NA	-0.062	0.017	NA	16	70.613	-109.23	3.90	0.014
24	5984	0.425	0.038	-0.021	0.033	-0.001	0.142	-0.048	0.033	NA	0.171	-0.082	NA	-0.060	NA	NA	16	70.598	-109.20	3.93	0.014
25	4032	0.432	0.052	-0.016	0.032	-0.009	0.144	-0.055	NA	-0.039	0.123	NA	NA	-0.029	0.003	0.030	17	71.590	-109.18	3.94	0.014
26	1694	0.432	0.033	0.017	0.034	-0.004	0.137	-0.087	NA NA	-0.058	NA 0 1 2 3	NA NA	NA	NA NA	NA -0.013	NA	13	67.499	-109.00	4.13	0.013
28	3680	0.435	0.043	-0.024	0.030	-0.010	0.134	-0.050	-0.009	NA	0.123	NA	NA	NA	-0.013 NA	0.035	15	69.401	-108.80	4.32	0.012
29	11968	0.428	0.050	-0.014	0.031	-0.008	0.140	-0.064	NA	-0.042	0.129	NA	-0.068	NA	-0.001	0.031	17	71.327	-108.65	4.47	0.011
30	10176	0.429	0.045	-0.013	0.033	-0.010	0.139	-0.054	NA	-0.025	0.126	NA	-0.063	-0.030	0.007	NA	17	71.315	-108.63	4.49	0.010
31	8032	0.429	0.046	-0.027	0.033	-0.007	0.147	-0.045	0.041	NA	0.183	-0.072	NA	-0.063	NA	0.038	17	71.137	-108.27	4.85	0.009
32	5728	0.426	0.032	-0.012	0.029	-0.002	0.134	-0.058	-0.007	NA	0.131	-0.070	NA	NA	NA	NA	15	69.020	-108.04	5.09	0.008
33	3968	0.436	0.051	-0.027	0.034	-0.008	0.145	-0.042	0.030	NA NA	0.156	NA NA	NA NA	-0.062 NA	0.000	0.039 NA	17	71.015	-108.03	5.10	0.008
35	6016	0.432	0.032	-0.003	0.031	-0.009	0.133	-0.038	0.040	NA	0.103	-0.097	NA	-0.063	0.011	NA	17	70.840	-107.68	5.44	0.007
36	12224	0.429	0.051	-0.017	0.032	-0.010	0.146	-0.059	NA	-0.030	0.137	NA	-0.065	-0.028	0.001	0.030	18	71.788	-107.58	5.55	0.006
37	1950	0.432	0.033	0.016	0.035	-0.004	0.140	-0.086	NA	-0.053	NA	NA	NA	-0.012	NA	NA	14	67.578	-107.16	5.97	0.005
38	3742	0.432	0.034	0.017	0.034	-0.004	0.140	-0.090	NA	-0.059	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.011	14	67.565	-107.13	6.00	0.005
39	1726	0.432	0.030	0.019	0.034	-0.007	0.138	-0.088	NA 0.001	-0.057	NA 0.127	NA	NA	NA	0.009	NA	14	67.551	-107.10	6.02	0.005
40	3712	0.432	0.041	-0.018	0.029	-0.009	0.138	-0.052	-0.001	NA NA	0.137	-0.055	NA NA		NA -0.012	0.034	16	69.472	-106.94	6.18	0.004
42	1566	0.439	0.020	0.013	0.035	-0.004	0.135	-0.077	0.000 NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	12	65.364	-106.73	6.40	0.004
43	8064	0.424	0.035	-0.020	0.032	-0.008	0.150	-0.052	0.044	NA	0.192	-0.100	NA	-0.066	0.016	0.026	18	71.191	-106.38	6.74	0.003
44	1630	0.427	0.021	0.011	0.032	-0.006	0.141	-0.075	-0.034	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	13	66.164	-106.33	6.80	0.003
45	5760	0.425	0.028	-0.009	0.029	-0.006	0.136	-0.061	-0.004	NA	0.136	-0.082	NA	NA	0.013	NA	16	69.122	-106.24	6.88	0.003
46	1822	0.436	0.023	0.013	0.035	-0.003	0.143	-0.080	NA	NA 0.052	NA	NA	NA	-0.030	NA	NA	13	65.932	-105.86	7.26	0.003
47	3998	0.432	0.030	0.018	0.035	-0.008	0.141	-0.087		-0.052	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	-0.013	0.011 NA	0.010	15	67.633	-105.29	7.84	0.002
49	3774	0.432	0.031	0.018	0.034	-0.007	0.143	-0.090	NA	-0.058	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.007	0.009	15	67.595	-105.19	7.93	0.002
50	7808	0.434	0.045	-0.022	0.029	-0.008	0.137	-0.049	-0.002	NA	0.134	-0.043	NA	NA	-0.009	0.039	17	69.498	-105.00	8.13	0.002
51	3614	0.440	0.022	0.011	0.034	-0.007	0.139	-0.077	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.015	13	65.473	-104.95	8.18	0.002
52	1598	0.424	0.010	0.015	0.035	-0.006	0.135	-0.072	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.006	NA	13	65.431	-104.86	8.26	0.002
53	1886	0.428	0.022	0.012	0.033	-0.005	0.144	-0.077	-0.026	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.017	NA	NA	14	66.303	-104.61	8.52	0.001
54	3678	0.437	0.028	0.010	0.031	-0.008	0.143	-0.079	-0.034	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA 0.007	0.009 NA	14 14	66.210 66.185	-104.42	8.70	0.001
56	1854	0.434	0.018	0.014	0.035	-0.007	0.142	-0.086	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.032	0.015	NA	14	66.019	-104.04	9.09	0.001
57	3870	0.424	0.016	0.012	0.035	-0.007	0.145	-0.072	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.027	NA	0.011	14	66.019	-104.04	9.09	0.001
58	4030	0.432	0.031	0.018	0.034	-0.008	0.143	-0.089	NA	-0.053	NA	NA	NA	-0.012	0.009	0.008	16	67.676	-103.35	9.77	0.001
59	3646	0.440	0.022	0.011	0.034	-0.007	0.139	-0.077	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.001	0.016	14	65.473	-102.95	10.18	0.001
60	1918	0.433	0.022	0.016	0.033	-0.007	0.147	-0.088	-0.027	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.020	0.013	NA 0.007	15	66.368	-102.74	10.39	0.001
62	3934 3710	0.436	0.028	0.010	0.032	-0.007	0.146	-0.080	-0.026	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	NA NA	-0.010	0 002	0.007	15	66 212	-102.06	10.47	0.001
63	3902	0.427	0.015	0.011	0.035	-0.008	0.145	-0.077	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.030	0.002	0.006	15	66.043	-102.09	11.04	0.000
64	3966	0.432	0.021	0.017	0.033	-0.007	0.147	-0.088	-0.027	NA	NA	NA	NA	-0.020	0.015	-0.004	16	66.375	-100.75	12.37	0.000

Table S13: Model selection and comparison of model permutations for HL ratio in November.

Table S14: Model-averaged model estimates for the four indices in May and November. Global models include all parameters fitted during model selection; T_{max} and T_{max7} were not included together in any single model during model selection. Null model indicates parameters forced into all models during model selection and therefore have a forced relative variable importance (RVI) of 1. Models with Δ AIC < 2 from the best fitting model during model selection were model-averaged and model estimates are presented here; parameters with blanks were not in any of the Δ AIC < 2 models. Reference category is a non-breeding, dominant, female, caught with no rainfall in the week of capture. SE is the unconditional standard error, which incorporates model selection uncertainty (Grueber et al., 2011). Estimates (β) are standardised by predictors, therefore mean-centred and scaled to a SD of 0.5. Highlighted in bold are all parameters whose confidence intervals did not contain 0 (excluding intercepts) which are interpreted as significant. Lysis estimates are natural log-transformed and heterophillymphocyte ratio estimates are square-root-transformed. From left to right, samples sizes in May were n = 453, n = 376, n = 385, n = 375, and in November n = 194, n = 137, n = 132, n = 162.

		Parameter	β	SE	95% CI	RVI	β	SE	95% CI	RVI	β	SE	95% CI	RVI	β	SE	95% CI	RVI
		Intercept	0.659	0.055	(0.551, 0.767)	,	14.681	0.433	(13.829, 15.532)		0.984	0.050	(0.887, 1.082)		0.423	0.025	(0.373, 0.472)	
	Breeding a	activity : Yes	-0.037	0.024	(-0.084, 0.009)	1	0.085	0.148	(-0.207, 0.376)	-	-0.073	0.060	(-0.191, 0.045)	-	0.033	0.019	(-0.005, 0.07)	1
Ż	Da	ay of season	0.039	0.027	(-0.014, 0.092)	-	0.344	0.196	(-0.043, 0.73)	-	0.474	0.081	(0.315, 0.633)	1	-0.016	0.026	(-0.067, 0.036)	1
	1.t	Sex : M	-0.019	0.019	(-0.057, 0.018)	1	0.038	0.118	(-0.195, 0.271)	-	0.025	0.049	(-0.07, 0.121)	-	0.025	0.019	(-0.012, 0.061)	1
om	Status : 5	Subordinate	0.035	0.021	(-0.006, 0.075)	1	0.168	0.127	(-0.082, 0.418)	1	-0.092	0.053	(-0.196, 0.012)	_	-0.054	0.019	(-0.092, -0.017)	1
		Time bled	0.002	0.020	(-0.038, 0.043)	1	0.287	0.131	(0.029, 0.545)	1	0.037	0.056	(-0.073, 0.147)	-	0.089	0.019	(0.052, 0.126)	1
		Time wait	-0.011	0.022	(-0.054, 0.032)	-	0.171	0.142	(-0.108, 0.449)	1	-0.029	0.057	(-0.141, 0.083)	-	-0.051	0.020	(-0.09, -0.013)	1
	-	F	200.0	100 0	0015 0 000	č									100.0	0.010	0.05 0.010	
del		I max	ccu.u	0.024	(020.0,010.0-)	0.4	'			,	,				-0.004	61U.U	(240.0,00.0-)	67.0
		T_{max7}	0.011	0.007	(-0.045, 0.067)	0.06	0.006	0.206	(-0.399, 0.412)	-	-0.232	0.084	(-0.398, -0.067)	1	-0.006	0.023	(-0.06, 0.047)	0.71
		Rain 7 : Yes	0.042	0.029	(-0.027, 0.111)	0.35	0.208	0.234	(-0.252, 0.668)	1	0.271	0.095	(0.084, 0.458)	1	0.084	0.031	(0.023, 0.145)	1
	$T_{max} x$	$Rain_7: Yes$,	,		,	,	,			0.126	0.062	(0.04, 0.213)	0.29
	$T_{max7} x$	Rain 7 : Yes	,			,	1.454	0.414	(0.64, 2.268)	1	-0.363	0.161	(-0.68, -0.047)	1	0.181	0.094	(0.073, 0.289)	0.71
		T	0.013	0.007	(-0.042.0.067)	0.06	-0.016	0.080	(-0.397.0.366)	0.17	-0.066	0.045	(-0.21, 0.079)	0.23	0.012	0.009	(-0.03, 0.055)	0.12
		Grown size	0.036	0.00	(-0.088_0.015)	707	0.027	0.087	(-0.358 0.422)	0.10	0.047	0.027	(-0.1.0.104)	0.10	0.00	0.010	(2000 2000)	91.0
	1	or oup size	000-0-	470.0	(010.0,000.0-)	t	700.0	700.0	(-0.2.70, 0.422)	0.17	1+0.0	1 00.0	(+0.1, 0.174)	0.17	770.0-	710.0	(+70.0, /00.0-)	0.10
	Terr	itory quality.	-0.018	0.008	(-0.062, 0.026)	0.07	-0.039	0.062	(-0.319, 0.24)	0.18	-0.007	0.026	(-0.138, 0.124)	0.16	-0.020	0.014	(-0.062, 0.021)	0.27
		Intercept	0.643	0.072	(0.502, 0.784)	ı	15.198	0.603	(14.005, 16.391)	ı	1.234	0.237	(0.765, 1.703)	ı	0.432	0.014	(0.405, 0.46)	
	Breeding a	activity . Yes	-0.099	0.061	(-0.219, 0.021)	-	-0.199	0.229	(-0.652, 0.254)	1	0.020	0.162	(-0.299, 0.34)	1	0.046	0.031	(-0.016, 0.108)	-
		av of season	-0.119	0.047	(-0.212, -0.026)	1	-0.491	0.203	(-0.893, -0.089)	1	0.624	0.111	(0.405, 0.844)	1	-0.014	0.027	(-0.068, 0.04)	1
ź		Sex:M	0.013	0.033	(-0.052, 0.078)	1	-0.100	0.138	(-0.373, 0.173)	1	-0.017	0.074	(-0.163, 0.13)	1	0.032	0.027	(-0.021, 0.085)	-
oui	Status : 2	Subordinate	-0.070	0.036	(-0.14, 0.001)	1	-0.145	0.149	(-0.44, 0.15)	1	0.076	0.083	(-0.089, 0.24)	1	-0.006	0.026	(-0.058, 0.046)	1
		Time bled	-0.007	0.036	(-0.078, 0.063)	1	0.005	0.169	(-0.33, 0.34)	1	-0.030	0.114	(-0.256, 0.195)	1	0.135	0.027	(0.081, 0.189)	-
		Time wait	0.024	0.041	(-0.057, 0.104)	1	-0.035	0.177	(-0.384, 0.315)	1	-0.001	0.112	(-0.222, 0.221)	1	-0.053	0.029	(-0.111, 0.005)	1
er 1-1		T_{max}					-0.201	0.097	(-0.57, 0.167)	0.14	0.177	0.121	(-0.047, 0.402)	0.52				,
Tab		T_{max7}	0.086	0.053	(-0.004, 0.177)	0.81	0.292	0.199	(-0.111, 0.695)	0.45	,				-0.045	0.030	(-0.098, 0.009)	0.69
		Rain $_7$: Yes	0.048	0.040	(-0.065, 0.16)	0.34	0.281	0.185	(-0.178, 0.741)	0.32	-0.177	0.108	(-0.501, 0.148)	0.23	0.116	0.042	(0.033, 0.198)	1
	$T_{max} x$	$Rain_7$: Yes							ı								ı	
	$T_{max7} x$	$Rain_7$: Yes	-0.192	0.094	(-0.411, 0.026)	0.21	-0.365	0.139	(-1.421, 0.69)	0.05	,		ı		-0.069	0.037	(-0.272, 0.133)	0.09
		T_{var}	0.013	0.010	(-0.062, 0.088)	0.06	0.207	0.144	(-0.164, 0.578)	0.32	0.111	0.069	(-0.109, 0.33)	0.22	-0.038	0.027	(-0.095, 0.019)	0.42
		Group size	-0.057	0.038	(-0.133, 0.02)	0.42	0.092	0.061	(-0.271, 0.455)	0.09	0.119	0.074	(-0.115, 0.354)	0.22	0.007	0.008	(-0.049, 0.062)	0.08
	Terri	itory quality	-0.036	0.016	(-0.116, 0.044)	0.08	-0.089	0.068	(-0.508, 0.329)	0.09	0.156	0.094	(-0.132, 0.444)	0.22	0.031	0.021	(-0.028, 0.09)	0.28

Chapter 3: Does constitutive immune function exhibit senescence in the wild? A longitudinal study

Michael J. Roast¹, Nataly Hidalgo Aranzamendi¹, Niki Teunissen¹, Marie Fan¹, Simon Verhulst², Anne Peters¹

¹School of Biological Sciences, Monash University, Victoria 3800, Australia ²Groningen Institute for Evolutionary Life Sciences, University of Groningen, Nijenborgh 7, 9747 AG Groningen, Netherlands.

<u>Abstract</u>

- 1. Advancing age underlies physiological performance declines, and consequently fitness. Age-related decline in immune defence is likely an important component of age-related decline in survival. In older age classes the adaptive (memory-based) responses appear impaired, with a lesser decline in innate (non-specific) immune responses, and increased inflammation. However, longitudinal studies of within-individual changes in immune functions are rare in wild animals, yet are needed to understand how immune components senesce under evolutionarily relevant conditions.
- 2. Using longitudinal data from a long-studied population of a tropical passerine (*Malurus coronatus*), we investigate if and how population trends emerge from between-individual heterogeneity (*e.g.* selective disappearance) and within-individual changes in immune status. We quantified four commonly assessed constitutive immune indices (haptoglobin, natural antibodies, complement activity, and heterophil-lymphocyte ratio also an index of chronic stress; n = 505-631), from 849 measures of 372 individuals, 0-12 years old, sampled 1-7 times over 5 years.
- 3. Population-level cross-sectional analyses provided evidence for age-related decline in natural antibodies important for pathogen recognition and front-line defences. Additionally, heterophil-lymphocyte ratio increased with age, consistent with relatively greater senescence of adaptive (lymphocytes) vs. innate (heterophils) cellular immunity. Contrary to expectation, we found no age-related change in baseline haptoglobin (an inflammatory marker) or lytic complement activity.
- 4. However, within-individual longitudinal analyses suggest that cross-sectional trends are driven by differences between individuals, possibly due to heterogeneity in mortality risk, with limited evidence for age-related decline within individuals (immunosenescence).

5. We highlight that extrapolating from demographic patterns to within-individual processes (senescence) is not straightforward for physiological parameters plausibly associated with selective disappearance from the population.

Keywords: ageing, aging, ecoimmunology, gerontology, HLHA assay, immunosenescence, inflammaging

Introduction

Like humans, animals exhibit senescence - a decline in physiological performance and fitness with advancing age across a diverse range of life-history strategies (Baudisch, 2011; Jones et al., 2014, 2008). Senescence in the wild was once considered rare as a result of intense selection from extrinsic sources of mortality against senescent individuals before any decline could be observed (Lemaître and Gaillard, 2017; Nussey et al., 2013). Intrinsic sources of mortality are still evident in wild populations, although they may interact with environmental sources of mortality, and therefore some underlying decline in physiological processes must increase the probability of death with advancing age (Ricklefs, 2008, 2000). Consequently, a decline in survival probability with age - actuarial senescence - is a focal point for aging studies in wild organisms particularly (Brunet-Rossinni and Austad, 2005; Gaillard et al., 2017; Nussey et al., 2013), as aging and individual physiological decline ultimately contribute to overall survival (Ricklefs, 2008). In addition, there is good evidence for a decline in reproductive performance with age - reproductive senescence - in wild animals (Lemaître and Gaillard, 2017; Nussey et al., 2013). However, age-related changes in physiological traits and the processes underlying decreased survival and fecundity with advancing age, are relatively under-studied in the wild.

Senescent decline in immune function – *immunosenescence* (Pawelec, 2018) – is likely to be particularly consequential for survival and reproduction in wild organisms (Cheynel et al., 2017; Froy et al., 2019; Sadd and Schmid-Hempel, 2008), where infection may exacerbate the threat of predation (Møller and Erritzøe, 2000), or reduce competitiveness for critical resources (Verhulst et al., 2014). In humans, the aging immune system renders the elderly more susceptible to contracting and succumbing to infectious disease, especially novel infections (Pawelec et al., 2010; Pera et al., 2015). A few consistent patterns are emerging from wild animal studies suggesting there may be congruent age-related changes in immunity in humans and wild animals (Froy et al., 2019; Peters et al., 2019). In vertebrates, evolutionarily ancient innate immune components rapidly deal with novel infections, while

adaptive immune responses deal with repeated infections through specific (acquired, memorybased) immune responses (Litman et al., 2010; Riera Romo et al., 2016). Although some senescence of innate immunity has been observed in vertebrates and invertebrates alike (Müller et al., 2013), there is much stronger and consistent evidence for senescence of adaptive immunity in vertebrates, primarily through thymic involution and depletion of naïve Tcells (Müller et al., 2013; Shanley et al., 2009) – the cells responsible for generating new memory-based immune repertoire (Dowling and Hodgkin, 2009). The balance between innate and adaptive immunity could therefore change with advancing age (McDade et al., 2016), and result in a 'remodelling' of the immune system (Fulop et al., 2018; Müller et al., 2013). Despite detailed knowledge of human aging, humans are exceptionally long-lived post-reproduction (Ellis et al., 2018), and a better understanding of senescence of immune components in different species is needed to refine our evolutionary perspectives on how physiological aging processes underpin diverse life-histories, and actuarial and reproductive senescence.

Senescence, in any trait, is a progressive decline within individuals resulting in reduced function in older age classes. However, the overall differences observed between age classes in a population can also (partly) result from individual heterogeneity in trait values associated with disappearance from the population (e.g. mortality risk, Froy et al., 2019). Therefore, studies that can distinguish these within-individual and between-individual processes are necessary to demonstrate senescence (Nussey et al., 2008). Only in longitudinal studies can age-related changes be partitioned statistically to identify independent trends both within and between individuals that comprise cross-sectional population demographic patterns (van de Pol and Wright, 2009). Inter-individual-level phenomena such as heterogeneity in mortality risk (Vaupel et al., 1979), *i.e.* selective disappearance of individuals with particular trait values, may cancel out, strengthen or mimic individual-level effects, hampering interpretation of crosssectional studies, in particular for traits linked to survival. However, the difficulties of repeated capture and measurement of wild individuals has meant that a paucity of longitudinal studies of immunity in the wild has limited our understanding of immunosenescence (reviewed in Peters et al., 2019; also see Froy et al., 2019). Consequently, more long-term longitudinal studies of animals are required to decipher the evolutionary role of senescence of immune components in a natural ecological context (Abolins et al., 2018; Kowald and Kirkwood, 2015; Maizels and Nussey, 2013; Nussey et al., 2008), and affirm findings of previous crosssectional studies (Peters et al., 2019).

To examine longitudinal patterns of immune function, we repeatedly captured individuals from a long-term individual-based study of a wild tropical passerine, the purplecrowned fairy-wren (*Malurus coronatus*). We addressed two main questions, **1**) what is the evidence for age-related decline in immunity and 2) do age-related trends emerge from longitudinal within-individual change and/or between-individual processes (individual heterogeneity such as selective disappearance)? To do this, we quantified commonly used indices of constitutive immune function from > 500 captures of > 280 individuals over 5 years, including: natural antibodies, lytic complement activity (both innate), haptoglobin-like protein (an inflammatory marker), and heterophil-lymphocyte ratio (ratio of the primary cell types of innate (heterophil) and adaptive (lymphocyte) cell-mediated immunity; also a marker of chronic stress). Comparing both cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses to distinguish within individual senescence from population trends, we tested whether the innate immune indices exhibited a decline with age, as predicted if they showed immunosenescence. Although innate immunity initially appeared less prone to age-related decline, age-dependent dysregulation of innate immunity is now considered quite central to immune aging (Shaw et al., 2013), especially inflammaging, the chronic low-grade inflammatory activity that characterises elderly humans (Bruunsgaard et al., 2001; Franceschi et al., 2006), and possibly older animals (Peters et al., 2019). As a marker of inflammation, haptoglobin can thus be predicted to increase with age if there is 'inflammaging' (Peters et al., 2019). Lastly, because senescence in adaptive immunity is expected to be more pronounced than for innate immune functions (Peters et al., 2019; Shanley et al., 2009), we predicted that HL ratio would increase with age.

Methods

Study population

Purple-crowned fairy-wrens are riparian habitat specialists in the tropical wet-dry savannah of northern Australia. This cooperatively breeding species defends year-round stable territories (Kingma et al., 2011), with social groups comprised of a dominant breeding pair, usually with subordinate adults, and any offspring (Hall and Peters, 2008; Kingma et al., 2010). Our study population resides along 15km of Annie Creek and Adcock River at the Australian Wildlife Conservancy's (AWC) Mornington Wildlife Sanctuary (126.1°E, -17.5°N). Since 2005, all individuals have been uniquely colour-banded to monitor social group composition, territory boundaries, individual movements, dispersal within the population was 98% (28 birds were initially presumed dead but subsequently rediscovered). The reliability of survival estimates is strengthened further as this species is known to only disperse along waterways, and ~95km of waterways with suitable habitat in the wider catchment (up to 60km away) are surveyed annually using a 90% successful detection survey technique, discovering emigrants that dispersed from the core banded population (Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al., 2016).

Aging, capture and sampling

All individuals were aged at first capture, either as nestlings, or based on behavioural, morphological and plumage traits of known age of acquisition. Ages of captured adults included in this study range 91d-11y 218d (mean = 1y 321d, median = 364d, see supplementary materials, figs. S1 and S2 for age structure of final samples). The oldest bird recorded in the population was 13y 249d \pm 195d (estimated from immature plumage at first capture). Birds reach independence at ~90d, so birds younger than 91d at capture were excluded from analyses because early age-related changes in immune indices were expected to be related to maturation (Killpack et al., 2013), rather than senescence. We excluded birds banded as adults at the start of the study because they were few in number (10-12 samples), and had high (> 5 years) uncertainty in age estimate. Ages of immigrants were also not precisely known, but were based on the age at which emigrants were last seen in the core population before dispersal into the wider catchment (median = 252d). The majority (74%) of dispersal occurs in the first year of life and always < 4 years of age (table S1).

From April 2012 to June 2017, in total 849 samples of 372 individuals contributed to the final dataset, although not all immune indices could be analysed from all samples (final sample sizes for each index can be found in the statistical methods). Captures were made during two annual sampling periods from mid-April to mid-June and from mid-October to late November each year, before and after the main breeding peak (Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al., 2019). Birds were captured in mist-nets and kept in holding bags until blood sampling as quickly as possible (median = 23min, s.d. = 19.6min) to minimise handling stress known to influence some immunological indices (Davis, 2005; Zylberberg, 2015). Following brachial venepuncture, blood was collected in heparinised capillary tubes that were sealed, stored on ice, and centrifuged at 16,060g for 5min later that day. Plasma was frozen at -20°C and transferred to -80°C within 8 weeks. At capture, a blood smear was created using the wedge-pull method (Campbell, 2015a), air-dried and fixed in methanol for at least 15min.

Immune indices

We quantified innate immune indices that form integral components of immune surveillance and initial defence against infection: (1) Natural antibodies (NAbs) are key factors in nonspecifically identifying foreign antigenic components and opsonising them for phagocytosis (Matson et al., 2005; Ochsenbein et al., 1999), as well as linking the innate and adaptive immune systems (Panda and Ding, 2015). In addition, NAbs can initiate (2) Complement activity (Ca) via the classic pathway (Panda and Ding, 2015), which lyses and breaks down foreign bodies towards elimination of infection through the protein cascade of the complement
system (Trouw and Daha, 2011). (3) Haptoglobin-like haem-binding (Hp) scavengers mitigate damage incurred from reactive oxidative haem groups released by cells that are damaged by infection or inflammation (Andersen et al., 2017; Quaye, 2008). These scavengers are major positive acute phase proteins that are tightly linked to inflammatory responses, with baseline levels to some extent predictive of immune responsiveness (Matson et al., 2012). Lastly, (4) the heterophil-lymphocyte (HL) ratio, is comprised of heterophils that exhibit bactericidal and phagocytotic ability important for cellular innate immunity (Genovese et al., 2013), and lymphocytes that secrete antibodies crucial to the adaptive immune response (Sharma, 1991). Additionally, the HL ratio is an indicator of chronic stress (Davis and Maney, 2018), but can also be predictive of immune responsiveness (Krams et al., 2012). The specific assay methods for these constitutive immune indices are outlined here and described fully in Chapter 2 (Roast et al., 2019). Within-individual repeatability is low across all indices in purple-crowned fairy-wrens, with HL ratio the most repeatable index (table S5 in Chapter 2).

(1) NAbs and (2) Ca were both quantified using the haemolysis-haemagglutination assay (Matson et al., 2005) with minor modifications as in Chapter 2. Inter-plate standards were for both agglutination (mean = 10.1, n = 247 standards) and lysis (mean = 3.55, n = 265 standards) titres respectively, resulting in CV = 0.13 and CV = 0.11.

(3) Baseline Hp was assayed using a commercial kit (PhaseTM Range, TP801; Tridelta Development Ltd.) and micro-plate reader, with a modified protocol from Matson et al. (2012); details in Chapter 2. All samples were run in duplicate; standards run in triplicate were used to assess inter-plate variation (CV = 0.24, n = 25 plates). Of all samples initially assayed, the majority (89%) formed a normal distribution (mean = 0.62mg/ml, s.d. = 0.27) falling below the 1.25mg/ml optical saturation threshold of the assay. For 82 individuals, Hp levels fell above this threshold, assumed to represent an extreme distribution tail of individuals undergoing an acute phase response, which were excluded from further Hp analyses.

(4) Stained blood smears were examined at 1000x magnification and heterophils, lymphocytes, basophils, eosinophils and monocytes were counted for the first 100 leukocytes observed. The majority of all cells identified (87%) were heterophils or lymphocytes, with other cell types observed infrequently among individuals or in low number. As proportions, heterophils and lymphocytes were highly negatively correlated (r = -0.78, p < 0.001) and therefore analysed as a single composite metric, the heterophil-lymphocyte ratio. Scoring was undertaken by 4 individual scorers following (Campbell, 2015b). Scorer ID was included in all statistical models to account for variation between individuals; all further details in Chapter 2.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using R software v3.4.0 (R Core Team, 2017). Hp and NAbs immune indices were normally distributed, while Ca titre scores were natural-log-transformed and HL ratios square-root-transformed (all values were > 0 and < 1) to normalise distributions. Outlying observations beyond \pm 2.5 standard deviations of the mean were excluded (Hp, n = 2; NAbs and HL ratio, n = 11; Ca, n = 0).

1) To assess population level age-related changes in immune indices, univariate linear mixed-effects models (LMMs) were created with immune indices as response variables and age-at-sampling as an explanatory variable (Equation 1; van de Pol and Wright, 2009). Each cross-sectional model contained a combination of fixed effects and random intercepts that controlled for sources of methodological quantification error, biological variation not of primary interest, and non-independent sampling structure, providing a 'null model'. These fixed effects and random intercepts were applied to relevant models (see table S2 for specific model structures) and included: sex; time bled - the time of day relative to sunrise; time wait - the delay between capture and sampling; plate standard or plate ID - to control for assay inter-plate variation; scorer ID; individual ID; field season - a multilevel factor of each field sampling period. Being an immigrant did not affect any immune index, so immigrant samples were retained (see table S3 for models including immigrants). Final sample size was for Hp, n = 631; NAbs, n = 506; Ca, n = 505; and HL ratio, n = 521, including both single and multiple repeated measures of individuals (repeated measures formed 75% and 70% of the final sample with up to 7 and 5 measures per individual for Hp and all other indices, respectively; see fig. S3 for repeated measure structure of sample). In exploratory analyses, cohort was initially included in models as a random factor, but explained very little (< 0.2%) variance and was therefore removed from analyses. Social status (dominant vs subordinate) was significant in Ca models as a main effect only, but including it did not change the estimates of senescence in any model – i.e. there was no interaction with age – and given the correlation with age (as subordinates only progress to become older dominants), status was excluded from further models (see table S4 for models with 'status').

We additionally investigated the potential for non-linear changes in immune parameters with advancing age. First, we used an information theoretic approach to compare several common age functions (linear age; quadratic age + linear age; log age; and factor age – binned yearly) which were added to the null models and to assess support for alternative shapes of age-related change in each response variable. Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) was calculated for each model fitted by maximum likelihood, along with the Δ AIC from the best-fitting model in the set, Akaike weights or model probabilities (ω), and evidence ratios

(ER) (Burnham et al., 2011; Garamszegi et al., 2009). For similarly well-supported models with Δ AIC < 2, standardised β -estimate effect sizes with 95% confidence intervals were calculated by standardising all model variables by two standard deviations using the '*standardize*' function of the *arm* R package (Gelman and Su, 2016) to allow further comparison of effect sizes of different age function variables (see table S5 for complete model comparisons). Second, general additive mixed models (GAMMs) were run for all response variables to assess broader non-linear functions, using the *gamm4* package, with similar model structures to LMMs (table S2), and with linear age included as a smooth function. These GAMMs indicated no support for non-linearity (table S6), and so only LMMs were used further for direct comparison with the longitudinal analysis method which required linear models.

2) To disentangle within-individual change and between-individual selection, we used a longitudinal within-subject centring method (Equation 2; van de Pol and Wright, 2009). Between-individual (β_B) and within-individual (β_W) effects were estimated by replacing age at capture in each model with mean (μ) age of each individual across all captures and delta (Δ) age at capture (age at capture – mean age); a β_B effect shows how immune function changes between individuals in the population as a function of individual mean age, while the β_W effect shows the overall age-related change that occurs within individuals captured repeatedly at different ages (senescence). Single measures (making up 25-30% of the sample, fig. S3) were included with Δ = 0, and μ = the age at capture. The linear and non-linear age variables (see above) were split into their corresponding within- and between-individual components (i.e. Δ linear age + μ linear age; Δ quadratic age + μ quadratic age + Δ linear age* μ linear age; Δ log age + μ log age) and run in separate models. The relative fit of these models was compared using ΔAIC , ω , and ER. In all best-fitting models where 95% confidence intervals for any standardised age effect did not include zero, the difference between β_B and β_W parameter slopes was formally tested (Equation 3; van de Pol and Wright, 2009; table S7). Lastly, many individuals survived but were not recaptured after their final repeated measurement which may resemble selective disappearance in the dataset despite their longer-term survival. To assess the impact of this, whether or not an individual survived at least 3 months after the previous sample (post-capture survival > 3 months) was included as a binary variable to best-fitting longitudinal models (see table S8 for models including this survival parameter).

<u>Results</u>

Cross-sectional age-related change

Of the immune indices, NAbs was lower, and HL ratio was higher, in older individuals, while Ca and Hp showed no evidence for age-related changes (fig. 1). Age-related changes in NAbs and HL ratio were best explained by linear age models which were many times more probable than the null models for NAbs and HL ratio (ER = 503.81 and ER = 17.56 respectively; table 1), with clear age effects bound by 95% confidence intervals not containing zero (table 1; *sensu* Dushoff et al., 2019). While best-explained by log age, there was only a weak age effect for Ca (β (Std) = 0.075, CI = -0.017, 0.166; table 1), whereby the log age model was almost equally as probable as the null model (ER = 1.32; table 1). For haptoglobin, the null model was the best-fitting model, followed by log age (Δ AIC = 1.57; table S5), with a negligible effect size (β (Std) = 0.022, CI = -0.044, 0.089; table 1). GAMMS analyses indicated no support for complex non-linear age-related change (table S6).

Table 1: An overview of best-fitting cross-sectional and longitudinal age models. Bold typeface indicates standardised β -estimates with 95% confidence intervals not containing zero which are interpreted as showing a clear effect. Evidence ratios (ER) expressed as the model probability of the best-fitting age model relative to the null model. For each response, the same age function was best supported in both simple and within-subject-centred analyses separating within- (Δ age) and between- (μ age) individual effects.

				2000		-			
		Cross-sectional			Longitudinal				
Response variable	Age Function	FR	ß (Std)	CI (Std)	FR	u/A B	(Std)	CI	(Std)
		En	p (0ta)	01 (014)		m/ - p	(000)		(0(0)
Нр	Log	0.46	0.022	(-0.044, 0.089)	0.52	μ-0	0.003	(-0.066, 0).061)
						Δ	0.061	(-0.012, 0). 134)
NAbs	Linear	503.81	-0.141	(-0.213, -0.069)	261.89	μ-0	0.134	(-0.203, -0).065)
						Δ-0	0.040	(-0.122, 0).042)
Ca	Log	1.32	0.075	(-0.017, 0.166)	1.01	μ	0.040	(-0.049, 0).129)
						Δ	0.087	(-0.006, 0). 181)
HL ratio	Linear	17.56	0.128	(0.038, 0.217)	6.46	μ	0.110	(0.023. ().197)
						Δ	0.065	(-0.027, 0). 155)

Best-fitting Age Models



Figure 1: Schematic overview of standardised effects of age from best-fitting models. Predicted values of Hp, NAbs, Ca, and HL ratio showing the overall effect of age (β_{Age}) from cross-sectional models (left), and the separate between-individual (β_B) and within-individual (β_W) age effects from within-subject-centred models (right). Fitted values were calculated from β -estimates of respective best-fitting models standardised by two standard deviations (table 1), while all other fixed effects were set to mean values. Ribbons show 95% confidence intervals around age effect β -estimates only. Initial y-axis values were set to 0. Effects labelled with '*' show confidence intervals not containing zero.

Longitudinal within-subject centring analyses

Best-supported age functions in all longitudinal analyses were the same as those in crosssectional analyses (tables 1, S5). NAbs decreased linearly with age between individuals, suggesting individuals with high NAbs disappear from the sample population with age (β_B (Std) = -0.134, CI = -0.203, -0.065; table 1, figs. 1, 2a), while a weaker decline was observed within individuals (β_W (Std) = -0.040, CI = -0.122, 0.042; table 1, figs. 1, 2a). HL ratio increased linearly with age between individuals, suggesting individuals with low HL ratios disappear from the population with age (β_B (Std) = 0.110, CI = 0.023, 0.197; table 1, figs. 1, 2b), but within individuals a weaker age-related change was observed (β_W (Std) = 0.065, CI = -0.027, 0.155; table 1, figs. 1, 2b). The between-individual effects in both NAbs and HL ratio indicate selective disappearance of individuals with high and low values of these indices respectively, and could indicate heterogeneity in mortality risk. Controlling for post-capture survival (*i.e.* failure to recapture) did not affect the outcomes of any best-fitting longitudinal model (table S8), providing no evidence that a sampling artefact might generate these between-individual effects.

Additionally, we formally tested whether the slopes of within- and between-individual effects in each best-supported longitudinal model for NAbs and HL ratio differed significantly from one another. Despite the evidence for there being stronger between-individual effect sizes than for within-individual effects, the two slopes were not significantly different for either index (table S7). Thus, we cannot conclude definitively that the observed age-related changes in NAbs (decline) and HL ratio (increase) are exclusively due to selective disappearance of individuals, but could partly be attributable to weak age-related changes within individuals.

Finally, for Hp and Ca, longitudinal age models were neither more probable than the respective null models (ER = 0.52 and ER = 1.01, respectively; tables 1, S5), nor showed partitioned β_W and β_B effect sizes that were distinct from zero (table 1). This excluded the possibility that opposing within- and between-individual effects were masked in crosssectional models. However, the slightly positive within-individual age effects in both indices had highly asymmetric 95% confidence intervals almost entirely in positive space, suggesting a possible maintenance or even slight enhancement with age, but not immunosenescence. Coefficients from all models compared are reported in table S9.



Figure 2: Stronger evidence for between-individual effects (β_B , indicative of selective disappearance) than age-related changes within individuals (β_W , senescence). Fitted lines showing within-individual (β_W , red) and between-individual (β_B , black) age-related changes from **a**. NAbs and **b**. HL ratio non-standardised longitudinal models (table S5), with other variables fixed at mean values. Ribbons indicate 95% confidence intervals, with "*" indicating those not containing a slope of zero. Plot **b**. is back-transformed to original units on the y-axis. Raw data are plotted, with fitted grey lines showing reaction norms for individuals with multiple repeated measures, obtained from a simplified linear regression of immune index ~ linear age, while individuals with single measures have no line.

Discussion

The present study aimed to assess age-related changes in several immune indices in a wild tropical passerine, the purple-crowned fairy-wren, and to distinguish within- and between-individual processes. We found overall very limited evidence for true (within-individual) immunosenescence, with no age-related trends for haptoglobin (Hp) and complement activity (Ca). For natural antibodies (NAbs) and heterophil-lymphocyte ratio (HL ratio), within-subject centring showed that observed differences between age classes could not be clearly attributed to within-individual senescence, and instead, appeared to be driven primarily by differences between individuals in the population.

No decline in immune function: complement and haptoglobin

Although we predicted senescence in Ca, this function was clearly maintained into older age, with a small positive effect size both within and between individuals (though not statistically distinct from zero; table 1, fig. 1). With advancing age, there is the theoretical expectation that self-maintenance increasingly declines as the age-adjusted risk of mortality increases (Kirkwood and Rose, 1991). Consequently, at a cellular level, organisms can accumulate senescent or apoptotic cells (Vicencio et al., 2008). One less well-known – but important – function of the complement system is to remove apoptotic cells from the body (Ricklin et al., 2010). In humans, the age-related increase in apoptotic cells stimulates a chronically attenuated Ca response (fig. 1c in Ricklin et al., 2010). This can explain levels of Ca being maintained (as appears overall common, Peters et al., 2019) or possibly increasing with age, rather than declining, as maintaining these humoral components might mitigate or delay the consequences of not adequately clearing dead cells (Nagata, 2010).

The cumulative effects of damage and cellular debris acquired with age are also thought to result in a chronic systemic increase in the inflammatory system (i.e. inflammaging), a process closely linked to immunosenescence and age-related illness (Bruunsgaard et al., 2001; Franceschi et al., 2017, 2006; Pawelec, 2018). We thus predicted that haptoglobin (Hp) would undergo age-related increase as a part of inflammaging. Although Hp can increase multiple-fold from baseline levels during an inflammatory response at any age, its baseline levels are primarily controlled by the interleukin-6 (IL-6) inflammatory cytokine (Quaye, 2008) which strongly increase with age, at least in humans (Franceschi et al., 2006). Considering Hp production is stimulated by inflammatory cytokines to dampen the effects of inflammation (Quaye, 2008), the absence of age-related increase in Hp that we observed, suggests that either IL-6 does not increase, or does not stimulate Hp, or possibly, there is no inflammaging overall, in aging purple-crowned fairy-wrens. This apparent lack of inflammaging contrasts

with the general inflammaging seen in other wild animals (Peters et al., 2019), though there is some evidence that reduced inflammaging may be beneficial for longevity (Shanley et al., 2009), and potentially adaptive for a long-lived fairy-wren.

Immunosenescence or selective disappearance? Natural antibodies and HL ratio

NAbs showed a clear decline with age overall, in line with our predictions and some published avian studies (Møller and Haussy, 2007; Vermeulen et al., 2017; although a general decline is not found across species, Peters et al., 2019). From the within-subject centred model, there was also an indication of selective disappearance from the sample of older individuals with higher NAbs levels, but limited evidence for within-individual senescence. The minimal withinindividual effect here could simply reflect that NAb levels do not change with age, as reported in cross-sectional avian studies elsewhere (Lecomte et al., 2010; Palacios et al., 2007). Nevertheless, a lack of detectable difference between the between- and within-individual effect sizes (table S7), demonstrates that the within-individual effect is placed indistinctly between zero and the between-individual effect, and equally we cannot exclude the possibility of immunosenescence. As NAbs primarily function for frontline immune defence and surveillance, high NAb levels are probably more beneficial for survival (Baumgarth et al., 2005; Ochsenbein et al., 1999); however, the observed between-individual effect suggests that individuals with high NAbs are disappearing from the population. Possibly, higher constitutive levels of NAbs are a consequence of a higher background infection risk (Horrocks et al., 2015), and therefore indirectly related to the increased mortality associated with higher disease risk. Alternatively, disappearance of individuals may covary with high NAbs as a consequence of the role of self-reactive classes of natural (auto)antibodies, which can increase with age as part of a debris clearance system (Grönwall et al., 2012; Nagele et al., 2013; Panda and Ding, 2015). In the context of aging, autoantibodies are produced in response to increasingly dysregulated cellular and molecular components, if there is selective disappearance of the most dysregulated individuals, these individuals would also have the highest NAbs titres, which could explain our observations.

We predicted that HL ratio might increase with age due to faster senescence of cellular adaptive immunity relative to cellular innate immunity, particularly through reduced lymphopoiesis in older individuals (Shanley et al., 2009). In agreement with our prediction, the cross-sectional model showed a clear increase in HL ratio with age. However, the longitudinal analysis showed that this was possibly due to disappearance of individuals with lower HL ratios in old age, with no clear evidence for within-individual age-related change. However, as for NAbs, a lack of significant difference between the between- and within-individual slopes

81

(table S7) demonstrates that the within-individual effect is not substantially weaker than the between-individual effect, and there may be some age-related change within individuals. As HL ratio is also a well-established indicator of chronic stress (Davis and Maney, 2018), individuals with high HL ratio may exhibit suppressed immune responses and lower survival rates (Krams et al., 2012; Minias et al., 2018). This makes the selective disappearance of individuals with low HL ratio seem somewhat contrary to survival costs of chronic stress.

Longitudinal studies: limitations

Within-subject centred models can be open to alternative interpretations regarding the presence and role of immunosenescence if results are not clear-cut, limiting the conclusions that can be drawn. For example, it seems that when within- and between-individual trends show alignment in the same direction, it becomes challenging to definitively tease them apart. In such a case, between-individual effects can also be a consequence of within-individual effects (van de Pol and Wright, 2009). Stronger between-individual than within-individual effects however, similar to those that we observed, can only be confidently interpreted when effect slopes are significantly different from one another (Vaupel et al., 1979; Verhulst et al., 2014). Furthermore, interpreting these slopes as resulting from heterogeneity in mortality typically assumes that disappearance from the sample signifies death, yet birds in our sample were often not recaptured and lived beyond their final measurement. Despite this imperfect sampling, common among wild studies, a strength of our study is exceptional survival estimate accuracy, which allowed us to assess death vs. failed recapture post-measurement. Although we found no evidence of bias from failed recapture (table S8), it remains possible that selective recapture biases the results. For example, individual personality (boldness, tendency to explore) has been linked to immunity (Guenther et al., 2018), including in a closely related fairy-wren (Jacques-Hamilton et al., 2017) such that more exploratory, bolder individuals might be captured more easily using passive methods (Michelangeli et al., 2016) and systematically bias the sampled immune traits.

Despite our large sample size, multiple repeated measures (fig. S3), and representative sampling across all older age classes (fig. S2), it is possible that we had slightly less power to detect within-individual change than between-individual processes. The average sampling period within individuals was ~2y (range 0.5-4.5y) and relatively narrow 'windows' of repeated measures of individuals may not fully capture within-individual change across the entire lifetimes of individuals. To our knowledge this has not explicitly been considered previously, and it may be an important consideration in the design of future longitudinal studies.

82

Conclusion

Our study highlights the importance of partitioning contributions of between- and withinindividuals changes in studies of immunosenescence. Had we analysed our dataset without within-subject centring, we would have concluded that there is clear evidence for senescence or age-related changes in circulating levels of NAbs and the HL ratio. Instead we showed a more nuanced breakdown of the results that did not conclusively support within-individual changes, but instead hinted at selective disappearance. The absence of senescence observed here in haptoglobin, lytic complement activity (and arguably natural antibodies) is itself notable, and could be selected for if innate immunity remains critically important throughout life. The overall persistence of innate immunity into old age might compensate for a reduced ability of the adaptive immune system to develop specific antibodies to novel antigens with fewer circulating naïve T-cells. However, innate immune components also have different self-maintenance roles (e.g. clearance of cellular debris and apoptotic cells), which become more important later in life as other physiological systems become dysregulated. This alternative functionality has been well documented in humans (Holodick et al., 2017; Quaye, 2008; Ricklin et al., 2010), but are rarely considered in ecological studies. Such dual-function could show a functional shift with age, with a defensive role becoming less relevant in older age. It is therefore essential that alternative functions are explicitly considered and integrated when interpreting age-related patterns of immune parameters, even for such widely measured parameters, which will be a challenge for wild ecoimmunology. Applying the increasingly detailed knowledge of human physiological aging more broadly to other organisms may yield unexpected insight into the evolution of the mechanisms of senescence.

Acknowledgments

Funding was provided by BirdLife Australia and the Holsworth Wildlife Research Endowment (to MR), the Australian Research Council (FT10100505 & DP150103595 to AP) and Max Planck Society (to AP). Project approvals were obtained from the Australian Bird and Bat Banding Scheme (licence 2230), Western Australia Department of Parks and Wildlife, Australian Wildlife Conservancy, and the Monash University School of Biological Sciences Animal Ethics Committee. Special thanks to Mornington Wildlife Sanctuary staff, and all volunteers and research assistants that made data collection possible.

References

- Abolins, S., Lazarou, L., Weldon, L., Hughes, L., King, E.C., Drescher, P., Pocock, M.J.O., Hafalla, J.C.R., Riley, E.M., Viney, M., 2018. The ecology of immune state in a wild mammal, Mus musculus domesticus. PLOS Biol. 16, e2003538. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2003538
- Andersen, C.B.F., Stødkilde, K., Sæderup, K.L., Kuhlee, A., Raunser, S., Graversen, J.H., Moestrup, S.K., 2017. Haptoglobin. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 26, 814–831. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2016.6793
- Baudisch, A., 2011. The pace and shape of ageing. Methods Ecol. Evol. 2, 375–382. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2010.00087.x
- Baumgarth, N., Tung, J.W., Herzenberg, L.A., 2005. Inherent specificities in natural antibodies: a key to immune defense against pathogen invasion. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 26, 347–362. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00281-004-0182-2
- Brunet-Rossinni, A.K., Austad, S.N., 2005. Senescence in Wild Populations of Mammals and Birds, in: Handbook of the Biology of Aging. Academic Press, pp. 243–266.
- Bruunsgaard, H., Pedersen, M., Pedersen, B.K., 2001. Aging and proinflammatory cytokines. Curr. Opin. Hematol. 8, 131–136.
- Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R., Huyvaert, K.P., 2011. AIC model selection and multimodel inference in behavioral ecology: some background, observations, and comparisons. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 65, 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-010-1029-6
- Campbell, T.W., 2015a. Blood Sample Collection and Preparation in Birds, in: Exotic Animal Hematology and Cytology. Wiley Blackwell, pp. 165–172.
- Campbell, T.W., 2015b. Peripheral Blood of Birds, in: Exotic Animal Hematology and Cytology. Wiley Blackwell, pp. 37–66.
- Cheynel, L., Lemaître, J.-F., Gaillard, J.-M., Rey, B., Bourgoin, G., Ferté, H., Jégo, M., Débias, F., Pellerin, M., Jacob, L., Gilot-Fromont, E., 2017. Immunosenescence patterns differ between populations but not between sexes in a long-lived mammal. Sci. Rep. 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-13686-5
- Davis, A.K., 2005. Effect of handling time and repeated sampling on avian white blood cell counts. J. Field Ornithol. 76, 334–338. https://doi.org/10.1648/0273-8570-76.4.334
- Davis, A.K., Maney, D.L., 2018. The use of glucocorticoid hormones or leucocyte profiles to measure stress in vertebrates: What's the difference? Methods Ecol. Evol. 9, 1556–1568. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13020
- Dowling, M.R., Hodgkin, P.D., 2009. Why does the thymus involute? A selection-based hypothesis. Trends Immunol. 30, 295–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2009.04.006
- Dushoff, J., Kain, M.P., Bolker, B.M., 2019. I can see clearly now: reinterpreting statistical significance. Methods Ecol. Evol. 10, 756–759. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13159
- Ellis, S., Franks, D.W., Nattrass, S., Cant, M.A., Bradley, D.L., Giles, D., Balcomb, K.C., Croft, D.P., 2018. Postreproductive lifespans are rare in mammals. Ecol. Evol. 8, 2482–2494. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3856
- Franceschi, C., Bonafè, M., Valensin, S., Olivieri, F., De Luca, M., Ottaviani, E., De Benedictis, G., 2006. Inflamm-aging: An Evolutionary Perspective on Immunosenescence. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 908, 244–254. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06651.x
- Franceschi, C., Garagnani, P., Vitale, G., Capri, M., Salvioli, S., 2017. Inflammaging and 'Garb-aging.' Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 28, 199–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2016.09.005
- Froy, H., Sparks, A.M., Watt, K., Sinclair, R., Bach, F., Pilkington, J.G., Pemberton, J.M., McNeilly, T.N., Nussey, D.H., 2019. Senescence in immunity against helminth parasites predicts adult mortality in a wild mammal. Science 365, 1296–1298. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaw5822

- Fulop, T., Larbi, A., Dupuis, G., Le Page, A., Frost, E.H., Cohen, A.A., Witkowski, J.M., Franceschi,
 C., 2018. Immunosenescence and Inflamm-Aging As Two Sides of the Same Coin: Friends or
 Foes? Front. Immunol. 8, 1960. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.01960
- Gaillard, J.-M., Garratt, M.G., Lemaître, J.-F., 2017. Senescence in Mammalian Life History Traits, in: The Evolution of Senescence in the Tree of Life. Cambridge University Press, pp. 126–155.
- Garamszegi, L.Z., Calhim, S., Dochtermann, N., Hegyi, G., Hurd, P.L., Jørgensen, C., Kutsukake, N., Lajeunesse, M.J., Pollard, K.A., Schielzeth, H., Symonds, M.R.E., Nakagawa, S., 2009.
 Changing philosophies and tools for statistical inferences in behavioral ecology. Behav. Ecol. 20, 1363–1375. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arp137
- Gelman, A., Su, Y.-S., 2016. arm: Data Analysis Using Regression and Multilevel/Hierarchical Models.
- Genovese, K.J., He, H., Swaggerty, C.L., Kogut, M.H., 2013. The avian heterophil. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 41, 334–340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2013.03.021
- Grönwall, C., Vas, J., Silverman, G.J., 2012. Protective Roles of Natural IgM Antibodies. Front. Immunol. 3, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012.00066
- Guenther, A., Trillmich, F., Czirják, G.Á., 2018. Seasonal effects on behavior and immunity in a precocial rodent. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 72, 115. https://doi.org/Bru
- Hall, M.L., Peters, A., 2008. Coordination between the sexes for territorial defence in a duetting fairywren. Anim. Behav. 76, 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2008.01.010
- Hidalgo Aranzamendi, N., Hall, M. L., Kingma, S. A., van de Pol, M., Peters, A., 2019. Rapid plastic breeding response to rain matches peak prey abundance in a tropical bird. J. Anim. Ecol. 88, 1799–1811. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13068
- Hidalgo Aranzamendi, N., Hall, M.L., Kingma, S.A., Sunnucks, P., Peters, A., 2016. Incest avoidance, extrapair paternity, and territory quality drive divorce in a year-round territorial bird. Behav. Ecol. 27, 1808–18019. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arw101
- Holodick, N.E., Rodríguez-Zhurbenko, N., Hernández, A.M., 2017. Defining Natural Antibodies. Front. Immunol. 8, 872. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00872
- Horrocks, N.P.C., Hegemann, A., Ostrowski, S., Ndithia, H., Shobrak, M., Williams, J.B., Matson, K.D., Tieleman, B.I., 2015. Environmental proxies of antigen exposure explain variation in immune investment better than indices of pace of life. Oecologia 177, 281–290. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-014-3136-y
- Jacques-Hamilton, R., Hall, M.L., Buttemer, W.A., Matson, K.D., Gonçalves da Silva, A., Mulder, R.A., Peters, A., 2017. Personality and innate immune defenses in a wild bird: Evidence for the pace-of-life hypothesis. Horm. Behav. 88, 31–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.09.005
- Jones, O.R., Gaillard, J.-M., Tuljapurkar, S., Alho, J.S., Armitage, K.B., Becker, P.H., Bize, P., Brommer, J., Charmantier, A., Charpentier, M., Clutton-Brock, T., Dobson, F.S., Festa-Bianchet, M., Gustafsson, L., Jensen, H., Jones, C.G., Lillandt, B.-G., McCleery, R., Merilä, J., Neuhaus, P., Nicoll, M.A.C., Norris, K., Oli, M.K., Pemberton, J., Pietiäinen, H., Ringsby, T.H., Roulin, A., Saether, B.-E., Setchell, J.M., Sheldon, B.C., Thompson, P.M., Weimerskirch, H., Jean Wickings, E., Coulson, T., 2008. Senescence rates are determined by ranking on the fast-slow life-history continuum. Ecol. Lett. 11, 664–673. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01187.x
- Jones, O.R., Scheuerlein, A., Salguero-Gómez, R., Camarda, C.G., Schaible, R., Casper, B.B., Dahlgren, J.P., Ehrlén, J., García, M.B., Menges, E.S., Quintana-Ascencio, P.F., Caswell, H., Baudisch, A., Vaupel, J.W., 2014. Diversity of ageing across the tree of life. Nature 505, 169– 173. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12789
- Killpack, T.L., Oguchi, Y., Karasov, W.H., 2013. Ontogenetic patterns of constitutive immune parameters in altricial house sparrows. J. Avian Biol. 44, 513–520. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-048X.2013.00239.x

- Kingma, S.A., Hall, M.L., Arriero, E., Peters, A., 2010. Multiple benefits of cooperative breeding in purple-crowned fairy-wrens: a consequence of fidelity? J. Anim. Ecol. 79, 757–768. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2010.01697.x
- Kingma, S.A., Hall, M.L., Peters, A., 2011. No evidence for offspring sex-ratio adjustment to social or environmental conditions in cooperatively breeding purple-crowned fairy-wrens. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 65, 1203–1213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-010-1133-7
- Kirkwood, T.B.L., Rose, M.R., 1991. Evolution of senescence: late survival sacrificed for reproduction. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 332, 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1991.0028
- Kowald, A., Kirkwood, T.B.L., 2015. Evolutionary significance of ageing in the wild. Exp. Gerontol. 71, 89–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2015.08.006
- Krams, I., Vrublevska, J., Cirule, D., Kivleniece, I., Krama, T., Rantala, M.J., Sild, E., Hõrak, P., 2012. Heterophil/lymphocyte ratios predict the magnitude of humoral immune response to a novel antigen in great tits (Parus major). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 161, 422– 428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2011.12.018
- Lecomte, V.J., Sorci, G., Cornet, S., Jaeger, A., Faivre, B., Arnoux, E., Gaillard, M., Trouve, C., Besson, D., Chastel, O., Weimerskirch, H., 2010. Patterns of aging in the long-lived wandering albatross. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 107, 6370–6375. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0911181107
- Lemaître, J.-F., Gaillard, J.-M., 2017. Reproductive senescence: new perspectives in the wild: Reproductive senescence in the wild. Biol. Rev. 92, 2182–2199. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12328
- Litman, G.W., Rast, J.P., Fugmann, S.D., 2010. The origins of vertebrate adaptive immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 10, 543–553. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2807
- Maizels, R.M., Nussey, D.H., 2013. Into the wild: digging at immunology's evolutionary roots. Nat. Immunol. 14, 879–883. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2643
- Matson, K.D., Horrocks, N.P.C., Versteegh, M.A., Tieleman, B.I., 2012. Baseline haptoglobin concentrations are repeatable and predictive of certain aspects of a subsequent experimentally-induced inflammatory response. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 162, 7–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2012.01.010
- Matson, K.D., Ricklefs, R.E., Klasing, K.C., 2005. A hemolysis–hemagglutination assay for characterizing constitutive innate humoral immunity in wild and domestic birds. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 29, 275–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2004.07.006
- McDade, T.W., Georgiev, A.V., Kuzawa, C.W., 2016. Trade-offs between acquired and innate immune defenses in humans. Evol. Med. Public Health 2016, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1093/emph/eov033
- Michelangeli, M., Wong, B.B.M., Chapple, D.G., 2016. It's a trap: sampling bias due to animal personality is not always inevitable. Behav. Ecol. 27, 62–67. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arv123
- Minias, P., Włodarczyk, R., Meissner, W., 2018. Leukocyte profiles are associated with longevity and survival, but not migratory effort: A comparative analysis of shorebirds. Funct. Ecol. 32, 369– 378. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12991
- Møller, A.P., Erritzøe, J., 2000. Predation against birds with low immunocompetence. Oecologia 122, 500–504. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420050972
- Møller, A.P., Haussy, C., 2007. Fitness consequences of variation in natural antibodies and complement in the Barn Swallow Hirundo rustica. Funct. Ecol. 21, 363–371. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2006.01215.x
- Müller, L., Fülöp, T., Pawelec, G., 2013. Immunosenescence in vertebrates and invertebrates. Immun. Ageing 10, 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4933-10-12
- Nagata, S., 2010. Apoptosis and autoimmune diseases. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1209, 10–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05749.x

- Nagele, E.P., Han, M., Acharya, N.K., DeMarshall, C., Kosciuk, M.C., Nagele, R.G., 2013. Natural IgG Autoantibodies Are Abundant and Ubiquitous in Human Sera, and Their Number Is Influenced By Age, Gender, and Disease. PLoS ONE 8, e60726. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0060726
- Nussey, D.H., Coulson, T., Festa-Bianchet, M., Gaillard, J.-M., 2008. Measuring senescence in wild animal populations: towards a longitudinal approach. Funct. Ecol. 22, 393–406. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01408.x
- Nussey, D.H., Froy, H., Lemaitre, J.-F., Gaillard, J.-M., Austad, S.N., 2013. Senescence in natural populations of animals: Widespread evidence and its implications for bio-gerontology. Ageing Res. Rev. 12, 214–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2012.07.004
- Ochsenbein, A.F., Fehr, T., Lutz, C., Suter, M., Brombacher, F., Hengartner, H., Zinkernagel, R.M., 1999. Control of Early Viral and Bacterial Distribution and Disease by Natural Antibodies. Science 286, 2156–2159. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.286.5447.2156
- Palacios, M.G., Cunnick, J.E., Winkler, D.W., Vleck, C.M., 2007. Immunosenescence in some but not all immune components in a free-living vertebrate, the tree swallow. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 274, 951–957. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.0192
- Panda, S., Ding, J.L., 2015. Natural Antibodies Bridge Innate and Adaptive Immunity. J. Immunol. 194, 13–20. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1400844
- Pawelec, G., 2018. Age and immunity: What is "immunosenescence"? Exp. Gerontol. 105, 4–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2017.10.024
- Pawelec, G., Larbi, A., Derhovanessian, E., 2010. Senescence of the Human Immune System. J. Comp. Pathol. 142, S39–S44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcpa.2009.09.005
- Pera, A., Campos, C., López, N., Hassouneh, F., Alonso, C., Tarazona, R., Solana, R., 2015. Immunosenescence: Implications for response to infection and vaccination in older people. Maturitas 82, 50–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2015.05.004
- Peters, A., Delhey, K., Nakagawa, S., Aulsebrook, A., Verhulst, S., 2019. Immunosenescence in wild animals: meta-analysis and outlook. Ecol. Lett. ele.13343. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13343
- Quaye, I.K., 2008. Haptoglobin, inflammation and disease. Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg. 102, 735–742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trstmh.2008.04.010
- R Core Team, 2017. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Ricklefs, R.E., 2008. The evolution of senescence from a comparative perspective. Funct. Ecol. 22, 379–392. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01420.x
- Ricklefs, R.E., 2000. Intrinsic aging-related mortality in birds. J. Avian Biol. 31, 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-048X.2000.210201.x
- Ricklin, D., Hajishengallis, G., Yang, K., Lambris, J.D., 2010. Complement: a key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis. Nat. Immunol. 11, 785–797. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1923
- Riera Romo, M., Pérez-Martínez, D., Castillo Ferrer, C., 2016. Innate immunity in vertebrates: an overview. Immunology 148, 125–139. https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.12597
- Roast, M.J., Aulsebrook, A.E., Fan, M., Hidalgo Aranzamendi, N., Teunissen, N., Peters, A., 2019. Short-Term Climate Variation Drives Baseline Innate Immune Function and Stress in a Tropical Bird: A Reactive Scope Perspective. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 92, 140–151. https://doi.org/10.1086/702310
- Sadd, B.M., Schmid-Hempel, P., 2008. PERSPECTIVE: Principles of ecological immunology. Evol. Appl. 2, 113–121. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-4571.2008.00057.x
- Shanley, D.P., Aw, D., Manley, N.R., Palmer, D.B., 2009. An evolutionary perspective on the mechanisms of immunosenescence. Trends Immunol. 30, 374–381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2009.05.001
- Sharma, J.M., 1991. Overview of the avian immune system. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 30, 13–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-2427(91)90004-V

- Shaw, A.C., Goldstein, D.R., Montgomery, R.R., 2013. Age-dependent dysregulation of innate immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 13, 875–887. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3547
- Trouw, L.A., Daha, M.R., 2011. Role of complement in innate immunity and host defense. Immunol. Lett. 138, 35–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2011.02.014
- van de Pol, M., Wright, J., 2009. A simple method for distinguishing within- versus between-subject effects using mixed models. Anim. Behav. 77, 753–758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2008.11.006
- Vaupel, J.W., Manton, K.G., Stallard, E., 1979. The Impact of Heterogeneity in Individual Frailty on the Dynamics of Mortality. Demography 16, 439. https://doi.org/10.2307/2061224
- Verhulst, S., Geerdink, M., Salomons, H.M., Boonekamp, J.J., 2014. Social life histories: jackdaw dominance increases with age, terminally declines and shortens lifespan. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 281, 20141045. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.1045
- Vermeulen, A., Eens, M., Van Dongen, S., Müller, W., 2017. Does baseline innate immunity change with age? A multi-year study in great tits. Exp. Gerontol. 92, 67–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2017.03.011
- Vicencio, J.M., Galluzzi, L., Tajeddine, N., Ortiz, C., Criollo, A., Tasdemir, E., Morselli, E., Ben Younes, A., Maiuri, M.C., Lavandero, S., Kroemer, G., 2008. Senescence, Apoptosis or Autophagy? Gerontology 54, 92–99. https://doi.org/10.1159/000129697
- Zylberberg, M., 2015. Common measures of immune function vary with time of day and sampling protocol in five passerine species. J. Exp. Biol. 218, 757–766. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.111716

Supplementary Materials



Figure S1: Histograms showing distributions of ages sampled, binned at one-year intervals of minimum age. Hatch year birds, 'HY', are adults sampled at > 90 days old but less than one year old. Grey bars **a-e.** show the cumulative entire study population theoretically available to sample between April 2012 and June 2017. Red bars show individuals sampled with **a.** total captures made (not all indices could be measured for every capture), **b.** haptoglobin, **c.** natural antibodies, **d.** complement activity, and **e.** heterophil-lymphocyte ratio.



Figure S2: Bar charts showing proportions of ages sampled, binned at one-year intervals of minimum age. Hatch year birds, 'HY', are adults sampled at > 90 days old but less than one year old. Proportionally more HY birds were caught as a consequence of targeted mist-netting to capture unbanded birds that were offspring since the previous sampling season. Grey bars **a-e**. show the cumulative entire study population theoretically available to sample between April 2012 and June 2017 (100%). Red bars show individuals sampled with **a**. total captures made (not all indices could be measured for every capture), **b**. haptoglobin, **c**. natural antibodies, **d**. complement activity, and **e**. heterophil-lymphocyte ratio.



Figure S3: Plots showing the individuals with single and repeated measures and their contribution to the final sample for each index. Red bars show the number individuals that had different series lengths of measures collected for **a**. total captures made (not all indices could be measured for every capture), **b**. haptoglobin, **c**. natural antibodies, **d**. complement activity, and **e**. heterophil-lymphocyte ratio. For each index **b-e**. the number of individuals sampled were n = 329, 294, 293 and 289, respectively. Lines show the cumulative percentage of the total sample size that is derived from individuals with different measures series lengths, for each plot **a-e**., respectively. The majority of the total sample size derives from individuals with multiple repeated measures (**a**. 83%; **b**. 75%; **c-e**. 70%), even though individuals most frequently have single measures.

Table S1: Binned ages of emigrant dispersers at dates last seen in the core population before dispersal,between 2007-2018 (median = 252d, standard deviation = 342d).

Age (years)	n	%	Cumulative %
0-1	39	73.6	73.6
1-2	7	13.2	86.8
2-3	2	3.8	90.6
3-4	5	9.4	100
4+	0	0	100

 Table S2: Model structures of 'null models' for each modelled response variable.

Structure	Нр	NAbs	Са	HL ratio
Fixed effects	Sex	Sex	Sex	Sex
	Time bled	Time bled	Time bled	Time bled
	Time wait	Time wait	Time wait	Time wait
		Plate standard	Plate standard	
Random effects	Plate ID	Field season	Field season	Scorer ID
	Field season	Individual ID	Individual ID	Field season
	Individual ID			Individual ID

Table S3: Testing the influence of founders and immigrant birds. In **a-d**), fixed effect outputs only from LMMs used to inform inclusion of observations of founders and immigrants in the final sample. β -estimates are from non-standardised models. Reference categories of variables 'Sex' and 'Origin' are 'Female' and 'Known-Age' respectively, with other factor levels indented. Bold typeface indicates fixed effects with p-values < 0.05. Observations from founders were excluded and observations from immigrant birds were retained in all subsequent models.

a)								
Response: Haptoglobin (n = 643)								
Fixed effects	в	SE	df	t	p			
Intercept	6.28E-01	7.68E-02	200.6	8.171	<0.001			
Age Log	6.09E-03	9.69E-03	626.6	0.629	0.530			
Sex								
Male	-1.10E-02	1.81E-02	617.1	-0.611	0.541			
Time Bled	9.21E-06	7.49E-05	618.8	0.123	0.902			
Time Wait	-2.44E-04	4.68E-04	626.8	-0.521	0.603			
Origin								
Founder	-1.54E-03	6.34E-02	613.4	-0.024	0.981			
Immigrant	1.29E-03	2.44E-02	622.2	0.053	0.958			

b)

Response: Natural Antibodies (n = 516)								
Fixed effects	в	SE	df	t	p			
Intercept	9.93E+00	7.85E-01	77.5	12.662	<0.001			
Age Linear	-3.14E-04	8.19E-05	511.7	-3.833	<0.001			
Sex								
Male	8.68E-03	1.39E-01	509.4	0.062	0.950			
Time Bled	4.58E-04	5.31E-04	513.8	0.863	0.388			
Time Wait	6.62E-03	3.62E-03	515.9	1.830	0.068			
Plate Standard	5.08E-01	6.63E-02	514.2	7.670	<0.001			
Origin								
Founder	1.46E+00	5.06E-01	509.8	2.886	0.004			
Immigrant	-9.03E-02	1.87E-01	509.1	-0.483	0.630			

c)								
Response: Complement Activity (n = 515)								
Fixed effects	в	SE	df	t	p			
Intercept	6.58E-01	3.32E-01	284.8	1.979	0.049			
Age Log	5.06E-02	3.12E-02	400.4	1.622	0.106			
Sex								
Male	-2.02E-02	5.98E-02	283.6	-0.338	0.736			
Time Bled	-1.22E-04	2.16E-04	514.5	-0.566	0.572			
Time Wait	-1.07E-03	1.45E-03	488.9	-0.740	0.459			
Plate Standard	4.87E-02	6.53E-02	479.0	0.745	0.456			
Origin								
Founder	-3.89E-01	2.09E-01	255.7	-1.867	0.063			
Immigrant	-2.39E-02	8.04E-02	309.8	-0.298	0.766			

d)

Response: Heterophil-lymphocyte Ratio (n = 531)							
Fixed effects	в	SE	df	t	р		
Intercept	3.48E-01	2.86E-02	23.5	12.173	<0.001		
Age Linear	2.72E-05	1.05E-05	312.9	2.604	0.010		
Sex							
Male	2.89E-02	1.76E-02	276.1	1.647	0.101		
Time Bled	4.19E-04	6.16E-05	496.1	6.807	<0.001		
Time Wait	-1.44E-03	4.04E-04	359.7	-3.564	<0.001		
Origin							
Founder	-4.41E-02	6.41E-02	284.9	-0.687	0.492		
Immigrant	4.23E-02	2.34E-02	287.4	1.807	0.072		

Table S4: Testing possible interactive effects of social status and age on each immune index **a-d**). Interaction terms were fitted with best-fitting age models from cross-sectional analyses. Significant model parameters are highlighted in bold typeface. Reference category for 'Status' is 'Dominant', and for 'Sex' is 'Female'.

a)								
Response: Haptoglobin (n = 631)								
Fixed effects	в	SE	df	t	р			
Intercept	6.46E-01	1.31E-01	537.2	4.946	<0.001			
Age Log	3.25E-03	1.77E-02	612.4	0.183	0.855			
Status								
Subordinate	-6.66E-02	1.53E-01	606.8	-0.436	0.663			
Sex								
Male	-1.38E-02	1.78E-02	604.3	-0.778	0.437			
Time Bled	1.91E-05	7.55E-05	606.0	0.253	0.800			
Time Wait	-2.44E-04	4.79E-04	613.9	-0.510	0.610			
Age Log x Status								
Subordinate	1.15E-02	2.31E-02	606.2	0.498	0.619			

b)

Response: Natural Antibodies (n = 506)							
Fixed effects	в	SE	df	t	р		
Intercept	1.01E+01	7.96E-01	81.9	12.674	<0.001		
Age Linear	-3.48E-04	1.06E-04	500.0	-3.284	0.001		
Status							
Subordinate	-8.50E-03	2.29E-01	499.7	-0.037	0.970		
Sex							
Male	1.25E-01	1.35E-01	499.4	0.928	0.354		
Time Bled	4.10E-04	5.31E-04	503.8	0.772	0.441		
Time Wait	6.61E-03	3.68E-03	505.9	1.794	0.073		
Plate Standard	4.99E-01	6.65E-02	504.3	7.508	<0.001		
Age Linear x Status							
Subordinate	-4.14E-04	2.59E-04	499.6	-1.596	0.111		
Subordinate Sex Male Time Bled Time Wait Plate Standard Age Linear x Status Subordinate	-8.50E-03 1.25E-01 4.10E-04 6.61E-03 4.99E-01 -4.14E-04	2.29E-01 1.35E-01 5.31E-04 3.68E-03 6.65E-02 2.59E-04	499.7 499.4 503.8 505.9 504.3 499.6	-0.037 0.928 0.772 1.794 7.508 -1.596	0.970 0.354 0.44 0.07 <0.00		

95

	٠
~	۱
L	1
-	

	Response: Complement Activity (n = 505)							
Fixed effects	в	SE	df	t	p			
Intercept	9.14E-01	4.59E-01	408.7	1.990	0.047			
Age Log	1.02E-02	5.47E-02	392.8	0.186	0.853			
Status								
Subordinate	-3.97E-02	4.78E-01	482.8	-0.083	0.934			
Sex								
Male	1.09E-02	5.88E-02	272.0	0.186	0.853			
Time Bled	-1.81E-04	2.16E-04	503.2	-0.838	0.403			
Time Wait	-6.36E-04	1.47E-03	476.0	-0.431	0.667			
Plate Standard	6.15E-02	6.67E-02	462.3	0.923	0.356			
Age Log x Status								
Subordinate	-1.56E-02	7.29E-02	485.6	-0.214	0.831			

d)

Response: Heterophil-lymphocyte Ratio (n = 521)						
Fixed effects	в	SE	df	t	р	
Intercept	3.85E-01	3.09E-02	36.4	12.447	<0.001	
Age Linear	1.55E-05	1.35E-05	377.7	1.146	0.253	
Status						
Subordinate	-3.96E-02	2.66E-02	511.2	-1.491	0.137	
Sex						
Male	2.06E-02	1.66E-02	269.2	1.242	0.215	
Time Bled	4.24E-04	6.16E-05	483.5	6.888	<0.001	
Time Wait	-1.32E-03	4.10E-04	332.8	-3.208	0.001	
Age Linear x Status						
Subordinate	1.47E-05	3.01E-05	500.3	0.489	0.625	

Table S5: Comparing the relative fit of models with different linear and non-linear age effects, in both cross-sectional and longitudinal model sets for each immune index. AIC = Akaike Information Criterion, Δ AIC = difference from best-fitting model in set, ω = model probability within model set, ER = evidence ratio relative to best-fitting model of set, μ/Δ = either mean (between-individual) or delta (within-individual) effects in partitioned longitudinal models, β = standardised effect size, CI = 95% confidence intervals of β standardised effect size, NA = values not applicable and '-' = values not computed as Δ AIC > 2 in the model set. β -estimates and associated CIs are of models with explanatory and response variables standardised with data values divided by two standard deviations (Gelman and Su, 2016; arm::standardize). For quadratic models, quadratic parameter estimates only are reported, linear components are not reported. Bold typeface shows the best-fitting model in each set, and italicised typeface shows models where Δ AIC < 2 and are similarly well-supported.

)in

Set	Model	AIC	ΔΑΙϹ	ω	ER	μ/Δ	β (Std)	CI (Std)
Cross-	Null model	-106.56	0.00	0.47	1.00	NA	NA	NA
Sectional	Age (linear)	-104.64	1.92	0.18	2.61	NA	0.010	(-0.056, 0.075)
	Age (quadratic) + Age (linear)	-103.89	2.67	0.12	3.79	NA	-	-
	Age (log)	-104.99	1.57	0.22	2.19	NA	0.022	(-0.044, 0.089)
	Age (factor)	-98.17	8.39	0.01	66.42	NA	-	-
Longitudinal	Null model	-106.56	0.00	0.57	1.00	NA	NA	NA
	μ age (linear) + Δ age (linear)	-103.31	3.25	0.11	5.07	μ	-	-
						Δ	-	-
	μ age (quadratic) + Δ age (quadratic) + μ age (linear)*Δ age (linear)	-100.65	5.91	0.03	19.20	μ	-	-
						Δ	-	-
	μ age (log) + Δ age (log)	-105.23	1.33	0.29	1.94	μ	-0.003	(-0.066, 0.061)
						Δ	0.061	(-0.012, 0.134)

b) Natural antibodies

Set	Model	AIC	ΔΑΙC	ω	ER	μ/Δ	β (Std)	CI (Std)
Cross- sectional	Null model Age (linear) Age (quadratic) + Age (linear) Age (log)	1865.28 1852.84 1854.83 1854.74	12.44 0.00 1.99 1.90	0.00 0.55 <i>0.20</i> <i>0.21</i>	503.81 1.00 2.71 2.59	NA NA NA NA	NA - 0.141 0.004 -0.133	NA (-0.213, -0.069) (-0.097, 0.104) (-0.206, -0.060)
	Age (factor)	1858.63	5.79	0.03	18.10	NA	-	-
Longitudinal	Null model μ age (linear) + Δ age (linear) μ age (quadratic) + Δ age (quadratic)	1865.28 1854.14	11.14 0.00	0.00 0.67	261.89 1.00	NA μ Δ	NA - 0.134 - 0.040	NA (-0.203, -0.065) (-0.122, 0.042)
	+ μ age (linear)* Δ age (linear)	1857.77	3.63	0.11	6.14	μ Δ	-	-

Δ	μ age (log) + Δ age (log) 1856.44 2.30 0.21 3.16 μ
---	---

c) Complement activity

Set	Model	AIC	ΔΑΙC	ω	ER	μ/Δ	β (Std)	CI (Std)
Cross- sectional	Null model Age (linear) Age (quadratic) + Age (linear) Age (log) Age (factor)	935.99 936.32 937.04 935.43 950.14	0.55 0.89 1.60 0.00 14.71	0.27 0.22 0.16 0.35 0.00	1.32 1.56 2.23 1.00 1561.50	NA NA NA NA	NA 0.061 -0.072 0.075	NA (-0.032, 0.153) (-0.195, 0.052) (-0.017, 0.166)
Longitudinal	Null model μ age (linear) + Δ age (linear) μ age (quadratic) + Δ age (quadratic) + μ age (linear)* Δ age (linear) μ age (log) + Δ age (log)	935.99 937.65 937.94 935.96	0.02 1.68 1.97 0.00	0.35 0.15 0.13 0.36	1.01 2.32 2.68 1.00	ΝΑ μ Δ μ Δ μ	NA 0.034 0.067 -0.043 -0.385 0.040 0.087	NA (-0.056, 0.124) (-0.031, 0.164) (-0.179, 0.092) (-0.717, -0.053) (-0.049, 0.129) (-0.006, 0.181)

d) Heterophil-lymphocyte ratio

Set	Model	AIC	ΔΑΙΟ	ω	ER	μ/Δ	β (Std)	CI (Std)
Cross- sectional	Null model Age (linear) Age (quadratic) + Age (linear) Age (log)	-351.22 -356.95 -355.01 -356.14	5.73 0.00 1.94 0.81	0.03 0.47 <i>0.18</i> <i>0.32</i>	17.56 1.00 2.64 1.50	NA NA NA NA	NA 0.128 -0.015 0.117	NA (0.038, 0.217) (-0.133, 0.104) (0.030, 0.204)
	Age (factor)	-346.89	10.06	0.00	153.05	NA	-	-
Longitudinal	Null model μ age (linear) + Δ age (linear) μ age (quadratic) + Δ age (quadratic) + μ age (linear)*Δ age (linear)	-351.22 - 354.95 - <i>354.36</i>	3.73 0.00 <i>0.60</i>	0.06 0.37 0.27	6.46 1.00 <i>1.35</i>	ΝΑ μ Δ μ	NA 0.110 0.065 -0.112 0.178	NA (0.023. 0.197) (-0.027, 0.155) (-0.247, 0.023) (-0.090, 0.446)
	μ age (log) + Δ age (log)	-354.55	0.40	0.30	1.22	μ Δ	0.114 0.035	(0.029, 0.199) (-0.051, 0.120)

Table S6: General Additive Mixed Models (GAMMs) testing for more complex non-linear age-related change in immune indices. Fitted with *gamm4* package in R, age at capture (Age Linear) was included in each GAMM as a smooth term in respective cross-sectional models for **a**) haptoglobin, **b**) natural antibodies, **c**) complement activity and **d**) heterophil-lymphocyte ratio. For smooth terms, β -estimates and associated standard error are reported as coefficients for *f*(x1), with approximate significance of smooth terms; estimated degrees of freedom (edf) indicate increasing linearity as values approach 1. No model supports complex non-linear age-related change in immune indices, however, natural antibodies and heterophil-lymphocyte ratio indicate significant linear age-related change, as found in LMMs. Significant model parameters are highlighted in bold typeface. Reference category of 'Sex' variable is 'Female'.

	Response: Hap	otoglobin (n =	631)		
Fixed effects	в	SE	t	р	
Intercept	6.67E-01	4.71E-02	14.144	<0.001	-
Sex					
Male	-1.14E-02	1.71E-02	-0.670	0.503	-
Time Bled	1.21E-05	7.55E-05	0.160	0.873	-
Time Wait	-2.22E-04	4.78E-04	-0.465	0.642	-
Smooth torms	β (f(v1))	SE (f(v1))	F	n	edf
	0 ((X1))			<u> </u>	
s(Age Linear)	2.49E-03	9.17E-03	0.074	0.781	1.019
s(Age Linear) Random effects	2.49E-03	9.17E-03	0.074	0.781	1.019 σ ²
s(Age Linear) Random effects Individual ID	2.49E-03	9.17E-03	0.074	-	1.019 σ ² 0.000
s(Age Linear) Random effects Individual ID Plate ID	2.49E-03	9.17E-03	0.074 - -	0.781	σ² 0.000 0.023
s(Age Linear) Random effects Individual ID Plate ID Season	- -	9.17E-03	0.074	- -	1.019 σ^2 0.000 0.023 0.008
s(Age Linear) Random effects Individual ID Plate ID Season Residual	2.49E-03	9.17E-03	0.074 - - -	- - -	σ ² 0.000 0.023 0.008 0.043

a)

b)

	Response: Natura	l Antibodies (n = 506)		
Fixed effects	в	SE	t	р	
Intercept	9.66E+00	8.08E-01	11.962	<0.001	-
Sex					
Male	5.92E-02	1.33E-01	0.446	0.656	-
Time Bled	4.66E-04	5.36E-04	0.869	0.385	-
Time Wait	5.76E-03	3.70E-03	1.557	0.120	-
Plate Standard	5.03E-01	6.72E-02	7.488	<0.001	-
Smooth terms	6 (f(x1))	SE (<i>f</i> (x1))	F	р	edf
s(Age Linear)	-2.62E-01	6.89E-02	14.440	<0.001	1
Random effects					σ²

Individual ID	-	-	-	-	0.000
Season	-	-	-	-	1.329
Residual	-	-	-	-	2.116

c)

	Response: Comple	ement Activity	/ (n = 505)		
Fixed effects	в	SE	t	р	
Intercept	9.60E-01	2.81E-01	3.414	<0.001	-
Sex					
Male	-1.13E-02	5.72E-02	-0.197	0.844	-
Time Bled	-1.66E-04	2.18E-04	-0.762	0.446	-
Time Wait	-9.41E-04	1.48E-03	-0.636	0.525	-
Plate Standard	5.48E-02	6.76E-02	0.811	0.418	-
Smooth terms	в (f(x1))	SE (<i>f</i> (x1))	F	р	edf
s(Age Linear)	3.85E-02	2.94E-02	1.718	0.191	1
Random effects					σ^2
Individual ID	-	-	-	-	0.039
Season	-	-	-	-	0.078
Residual	-	-	-	-	0.315

d)

Respo	nse: Heterophil-	lymphocyte Ra	atio (n = 52	1)	
Fixed effects	в	SE	t	р	
Intercept	3.86E-01	2.69E-02	14.36	<0.001	-
Sex					
Male	1.59E-02	1.65E-02	0.965	0.335	-
Time Bled	4.27E-04	6.20E-05	6.892	<0.001	-
Time Wait	-1.40E-03	4.11E-04	-3.401	<0.001	-
Smooth terms	в (f(x1))	SE (f(x1))	F	р	edf
Smooth terms s(Age Linear)	<u>β (f(x1))</u> 2.38E-02	SE (f(x1)) 8.55E-03	F 7.730	<u>р</u> 0.006	edf 1
Smooth terms s(Age Linear) Random effects	β (f(x1)) 2.38E-02	SE (f(x1)) 8.55E-03	F 7.730	<u>р</u> 0.006	edf 1 σ ²
Smooth terms s(Age Linear) Random effects Individual ID	<u>θ (f(x1))</u> 2.38E-02	<u>SE (f(x1))</u> 8.55E-03	F 7.730	<i>p</i> 0.006	edf 1 σ² 0.005
Smooth terms s(Age Linear) Random effects Individual ID Season	<u>β (f(x1))</u> 2.38E-02	<u>SE (f(x1))</u> 8.55E-03	F 7.730	<i>p</i> 0.006	edf 1 σ ² 0.005 0.001
Smooth terms s(Age Linear) Random effects Individual ID Season Scorer ID	<u>θ (f(x1))</u> 2.38E-02	<u>SE (f(x1))</u> 8.55E-03 - - -	F 7.730	<i>p</i> 0.006	edf 1 σ² 0.005 0.001 0.001

Table S7: Testing the difference between within- and between-individual effect slopes in longitudinal models. The difference between slopes of within- and between individual effects is estimated by rearrangement of the longitudinal model regression equation, from:

$$y_{ij} = \beta_0 + \beta_W (x_{ij} - \bar{x}_j) + \beta_B \bar{x}_j + u_{0j} + e_{0ij}$$

to:

$$y_{ij} = \beta_0 + \beta_W x_{ij} + (\beta_B - \beta_W) \bar{x}_j + u_{0j} + e_{0ij}$$

where within-subject centred ' Δ ' and ' μ ' variables are $(x_{ij} - \bar{x}_j)$ and \bar{x}_j model parameters respectively. Here, the original age variable (not within-subject centred, x_{ij}) included in the model will produce an estimate identical to the within-individual estimate in the longitudinal model, and the ' μ ' variable estimate will be equivalent to the difference between the slopes (Equation 3; van de Pol and Wright, 2009). A significant effect of this fixed effect in the new model indicates that the slopes of Δ and μ components in the longitudinal model are significantly different from one another. Tables **a-b**) correspond to the differences between slopes plotted in fig. 2 a-b.

a)

Response: Natural Antibodies (n = 506)							
Fixed effects	в	SE	df	t	р		
Intercept	1.00E+01	7.89E-01	79.4	12.721	<0.001		
Age Linear (β _w)	-1.78E-04	1.85E-04	505.1	-0.959	0.338		
μ Age Linear ($β_B$ - $β_W$)	-1.71E-04	2.05E-04	504.4	-0.832	0.406		
Sex							
Male	6.88E-02	1.33E-01	499.7	0.519	0.604		
Time Bled	4.89E-04	5.34E-04	503.8	0.917	0.360		
Time Wait	5.88E-03	3.68E-03	505.9	1.597	0.111		
Plate Standard	4.98E-01	6.69E-02	504.4	7.451	<0.001		

b)

Response: Heterophil-lymphocyte Ratio (n = 521)								
Fixed effects	в	SE	df	t	р			
Intercept	3.61E-01	2.68E-02	23.2	13.466	<0.001			
Age Linear (β _w)	3.01E-05	2.12E-05	176.0	1.421	0.157			
μ Age Linear (β _B - β _W)	-8.54E-07	2.37E-05	301.0	-0.036	0.971			
Sex								
Male	1.61E-02	1.64E-02	252.5	0.981	0.327			
Time Bled	4.26E-04	6.17E-05	483.3	6.910	<0.001			
Time Wait	-1.41E-03	4.07E-04	324.5	-3.467	<0.001			

Table S8: Testing whether final repeated measures in the sequence for each individual (either a terminal sample or failure to recapture) had an effect on the model conclusions. Survival greater than 90 days post-capture (i.e. to the next sampling period) was included as a binary variable, 'Survival90' to best-fitting longitudinal models. In **a-d**), fixed effect outputs only from LMMs. β -estimates are from non-standardised models. Reference category of 'Sex' variable is 'Female'. Bold typeface indicates fixed effects with p-values < 0.05. Model outcomes were not changed, nor was 'Survival90' significant in any model.

-	١
а	1
~	,

Response: Haptoglobin (n = 632)								
Fixed effects	в	SE	df	t	р			
Intercept	6.83E-01	8.32E-02	254.2	8.209	<0.001			
Δ Age Log	2.95E-02	2.04E-02	618.6	1.441	0.150			
μ Age Log	3.99E-04	1.10E-02	609.9	0.036	0.971			
Survival90	-2.18E-02	3.15E-02	612.1	-0.691	0.490			
Sex								
Male	-1.05E-02	1.71E-02	604.5	-0.616	0.538			
Time Bled	1.42E-05	7.50E-05	607.2	0.189	0.850			
Time Wait	-1.99E-04	4.75E-04	616.4	-0.419	0.676			

b)

Response: Natural Antibodies (n = 506)								
Fixed effects	df	t	р					
Intercept	1.05E+01	8.20E-01	92.4	12.778	<0.001			
Δ Age Linear	-2.20E-04	1.86E-04	505.2	-1.182	0.238			
μ Age Linear	-3.21E-04	9.21E-05	500.0	-3.490	<0.001			
Survival90	-4.61E-01	2.46E-01	499.6	-1.871	0.062			
Sex								
Male	6.54E-02	1.32E-01	499.7	0.495	0.621			
Time Bled	4.38E-04	5.32E-04	503.8	0.822	0.411			
Time Wait	5.78E-03	3.67E-03	505.8	1.577	0.115			
Plate Standard	4.95E-01	6.67E-02	504.3	7.421	<0.001			

c)								
Response: Complement Activity (n = 505)								
Fixed effects	в	SE	df	t	р			
Intercept	7.22E-01	3.54E-01	298.7	2.039	0.042			
Δ Age Log	1.27E-01	6.53E-02	361.3	1.940	0.053			
μ Age Log	2.50E-02	3.59E-02	303.1	0.696	0.487			
Survival90	7.74E-02	1.00E-01	497.1	0.773	0.440			
Sex								
Male	-7.44E-03	5.75E-02	255.2	-0.129	0.897			
Time Bled	-1.36E-04	2.16E-04	503.9	-0.630	0.529			
Time Wait	-9.20E-04	1.47E-03	477.0	-0.627	0.531			
Plate Standard	5.34E-02	6.69E-02	463.0	0.799	0.425			

d)

Response: Heterophil-lymphocyte Ratio (n = 521)								
Fixed effects	в	SE	df	t	р			
Intercept	3.64E-01	3.72E-02	69.8	9.792	<0.001			
Δ Age Linear	2.96E-05	2.15E-05	172.4	1.378	0.170			
μ Age Linear	2.94E-05	1.18E-05	233.6	2.489	0.014			
Survival90	-3.64E-03	2.87E-02	516.4	-0.127	0.899			
Sex								
Male	1.61E-02	1.64E-02	251.7	0.979	0.329			
Time Bled	4.26E-04	6.17E-05	483.2	6.901	<0.001			
Time Wait	-1.41E-03	4.07E-04	324.3	-3.468	<0.001			

Table S9: Complete model outputs for each final model assessed cross-sectionally and longitudinally with each immune index. Tables for cross-sectional and longitudinal model sets respectively are **a-b**) for haptoglobin, **c-d**) for natural antibodies, **e-f**) for complement activity, **g-h**) for heterophil-lymphocyte ratio. Models in each set are labelled **i-v**) in cross-sectional sets and **i-iv**) in longitudinal sets as age as a factor was not assessed longitudinally. F/R denote inclusion in model as a fixed or random effect, β -estimates are not standardised. Reference category for 'Sex' is 'Female' and for 'Age Factor' is 'Hatch Year'.

	Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Haptoglobin (n = 632), Null							
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ^2	
	Intercept	6.66E-01	4.60E-02	31.3	14.483	<0.001	-	
F	Sex							
	Male	-1.09E-02	1.70E-02	605.1	-0.644	0.520	-	
F	Time Bled	1.19E-05	7.51E-05	607.9	0.158	0.874	-	
F	Time Wait	-2.25E-04	4.76E-04	616.1	-0.472	0.637	-	
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000	
R	Plate ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.023	
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.007	
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.043	

a) i)

a) ii)

=

	Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Haptoglobin (n = 632), Age Linear							
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ²	
	Intercept	6.64E-01	4.69E-02	34.1	14.144	<0.001	-	
F	Age Linear	2.86E-06	1.05E-05	611.4	0.272	0.786	-	
F	Sex							
	Male	-1.12E-02	1.70E-02	604.8	-0.660	0.510	-	
F	Time Bled	1.25E-05	7.51E-05	607.9	0.166	0.868	-	
F	Time Wait	-2.24E-04	4.76E-04	616.2	-0.470	0.638	-	
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000	
R	Plate ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.023	
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.007	
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.043	

a) iii)

	Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Haptoglobin (n = 632), Age Quadratic							
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ²	
	Intercept	6.60E-01	4.69E-02	34.5	14.067	0.000	-	
F	Age Quadratic	-1.07E-08	9.74E-09	605.5	-1.100	0.272	-	
F	Age Linear	1.55E-05	1.56E-05	612.5	0.996	0.319	-	
F	Sex							
	Male	-1.19E-02	1.70E-02	604.8	-0.702	0.483	-	

F	Time Bled	1.44E-05	7.51E-05	607.8	0.191	0.848	-
F	Time Wait	-2.45E-04	4.75E-04	616.0	-0.516	0.606	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000
R	Plate ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.023
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.007
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.043

a) iv)

	Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Haptoglobin (n = 632), Age Log							
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ²	
	Intercept	6.28E-01	7.65E-02	199.7	8.212	<0.001	-	
F	Age Linear	5.98E-03	9.60E-03	614.4	0.623	0.533	-	
F	Sex							
	Male	-1.19E-02	1.71E-02	604.7	-0.699	0.485	-	
F	Time Bled	1.43E-05	7.52E-05	607.7	0.190	0.849	-	
F	Time Wait	-2.28E-04	4.75E-04	616.0	-0.479	0.632	-	
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000	
R	Plate ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.023	
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.007	
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.043	

a) v)

	Model Set: Cross-s	sectional; Respon	se: Haptoglob	oin (n = 632	2), Age Fac	tor	
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ²
	Intercept	6.55E-01	4.72E-02	36.2	13.868	<0.001	-
F	Age Factor						
	1+	6.44E-04	2.42E-02	616.5	0.027	0.979	-
	2+	4.31E-02	2.88E-02	612.2	1.496	0.135	-
	3+	1.70E-02	3.29E-02	615.2	0.517	0.605	-
	4+	6.36E-02	3.88E-02	612.8	1.642	0.101	-
	5+	-2.85E-02	3.68E-02	609.6	-0.773	0.440	-
	6+	1.66E-02	4.33E-02	606.8	0.383	0.702	-
	7+	9.64E-02	6.30E-02	604.8	1.530	0.126	-
	8+	-3.51E-02	7.41E-02	608.1	-0.474	0.636	-
	9+	-2.15E-02	5.58E-02	608.1	-0.386	0.700	-
F	Sex						
	Male	-1.09E-02	1.71E-02	604.3	-0.637	0.524	-
F	Time Bled	5.06E-06	7.50E-05	608.2	0.067	0.946	-
F	Time Wait	-1.95E-04	4.74E-04	615.6	-0.412	0.680	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000
R	Plate ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.023
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.007
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.042

~, .,										
	Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Haptoglobin (n = 632), Null									
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ^2			
	Intercept	6.66E-01	4.60E-02	31.3	14.483	<0.001	-			
F	Sex									
	Male	-1.09E-02	1.70E-02	605.1	-0.644	0.520	-			
F	Time Bled	1.19E-05	7.51E-05	607.9	0.158	0.874	-			
F	Time Wait	-2.25E-04	4.76E-04	616.1	-0.472	0.637	-			
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000			
R	Plate ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.023			
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.007			
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.043			

b) ii)

	Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Haptoglobin (n = 632), Age Linear										
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ²				
	Intercept	6.66E-01	4.68E-02	34.7	14.231	<0.001	-				
F	Δ Age Linear	2.21E-05	2.58E-05	619.6	0.857	0.392	-				
F	μ Age Linear	-8.24E-07	1.14E-05	607.1	-0.072	0.943	-				
F	Sex										
	Male	-1.03E-02	1.71E-02	604.9	-0.602	0.547	-				
F	Time Bled	1.28E-05	7.51E-05	607.4	0.170	0.865	-				
F	Time Wait	-2.00E-04	4.76E-04	616.9	-0.420	0.674	-				
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000				
R	Plate ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.023				
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.007				
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.042				

b) iii)

	Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Haptoglobin (n = 632), Age Quadratic										
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ²				
	Intercept	6.61E-01	4.64E-02	35.8	14.265	<0.001	-				
F	Δ Age Quadratic	-9.33E-08	5.46E-08	612.1	-1.708	0.088	-				
F	μ Age Quadratic	-6.88E-09	1.20E-08	608.7	-0.575	0.566	-				
F	Δ Age Linear	-1.24E-04	1.10E-04	614.5	-1.132	0.258	-				
F	μ Age Linear	8.02E-06	1.89E-05	612.5	0.424	0.672	-				
F	Δ Age Linear x μ Age Linear	1.58E-07	1.05E-07	612.1	1.501	0.134	-				
F	Sex										
	Male	-1.07E-02	1.70E-02	605.2	-0.628	0.530	-				
F	Time Bled	1.97E-05	7.50E-05	606.1	0.263	0.793	-				
F	Time Wait	-2.45E-04	4.76E-04	616.4	-0.515	0.606	-				
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000				
R	Plate ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.023				

b) i)

R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.006
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.042

b) iv)

	Model Set: Longitu	idinal; Respons	se: Haptoglob	oin (n = 632	.), Age Log		
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ²
	Intercept	6.73E-01	8.19E-02	248.7	8.216	<0.001	-
F	Δ Age Log	3.25E-02	2.00E-02	617.9	1.624	0.105	-
F	μ Age Log	-1.30E-03	1.07E-02	611.4	-0.121	0.904	-
F	Sex						
	Male	-9.81E-03	1.71E-02	604.5	-0.575	0.566	-
F	Time Bled	1.51E-05	7.50E-05	607.1	0.201	0.840	-
F	Time Wait	-1.90E-04	4.75E-04	616.4	-0.399	0.690	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000
R	Plate ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.023
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.007
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.042

c) i)

	Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Natural Antibodies (n = 506), Null									
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ ²			
	Intercept	9.85E+00	8.09E-01	74.1	12.178	<0.001	-			
F	Sex									
	Male	2.01E-02	1.35E-01	500.5	0.149	0.882	-			
F	Time Bled	3.70E-04	5.44E-04	504.5	0.679	0.497	-			
F	Time Wait	5.28E-03	3.76E-03	506.9	1.403	0.161	-			
F	Plate Standard	4.91E-01	6.83E-02	505.2	7.182	<0.001	-			
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000			
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	1.245			
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	2.193			

c) ii)

	Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Natural Antibodies (n = 506), Age Linear										
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ²				
	Intercept	9.98E+00	7.95E-01	78.4	12.559	<0.001	-				
F	Age Linear	-2.95E-04	8.32E-05	502.5	-3.549	<0.001	-				
F	Sex										
	Male	4.43E-02	1.34E-01	500.5	0.332	0.740	-				
F	Time Bled	5.08E-04	5.39E-04	504.8	0.943	0.346	-				
F	Time Wait	5.45E-03	3.72E-03	506.9	1.465	0.144	-				
F	Plate Standard	5.00E-01	6.75E-02	505.1	7.401	<0.001	-				
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000				
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	1.157				

Residual	-	-	-	-	-	2.141

	•	٠	٠	۰.
_	۱.			۰.
<u> </u>				
- 1				

	Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Natural Antibodies (n = 506), Age Quadratic										
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ ²				
	Intercept	9.98E+00	7.95E-01	78.4	12.560	<0.001	-				
F	Age Quadratic	-1.12E-08	7.68E-08	500.2	-0.146	0.884	-				
F	Age Linear	-2.83E-04	1.21E-04	501.7	-2.341	0.020	-				
F	Sex										
	Male	4.34E-02	1.34E-01	500.5	0.325	0.746	-				
F	Time Bled	5.08E-04	5.39E-04	504.8	0.943	0.346	-				
F	Time Wait	5.43E-03	3.72E-03	506.9	1.459	0.145	-				
F	Plate Standard	4.99E-01	6.76E-02	505.1	7.391	<0.001	-				
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000				
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	1.157				
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	2.141				

c) iv)

	Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Natural Antibodies (n = 506), Age Log									
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ ²			
	Intercept	1.12E+01	9.11E-01	117.7	12.317	<0.001	-			
F	Age Log	-2.31E-01	7.46E-02	502.5	-3.099	0.002	-			
F	Sex									
	Male	6.15E-02	1.34E-01	500.5	0.458	0.647	-			
F	Time Bled	4.27E-04	5.39E-04	504.7	0.792	0.429	-			
F	Time Wait	5.61E-03	3.73E-03	506.9	1.505	0.133	-			
F	Plate Standard	4.97E-01	6.77E-02	505.1	7.346	<0.001	-			
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000			
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	1.177			
	Residual	_	-	-	-	-	2.153			

c) v)

Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Natural Antibodies (n = 506), Age Factor

F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ²
	Intercept	9.85E+00	7.95E-01	77.9	12.385	<0.001	-
F	Age Factor						
	1+	-8.95E-02	1.85E-01	502.0	-0.484	0.629	-
	2+	-1.99E-01	2.28E-01	501.6	-0.872	0.384	-
	3+	-3.02E-01	2.69E-01	502.1	-1.123	0.262	-
	4+	-3.92E-01	2.84E-01	501.4	-1.382	0.168	-
	5+	-9.72E-01	2.81E-01	500.6	-3.459	<0.001	-
	6+	-4.37E-01	3.30E-01	501.0	-1.323	0.186	-
	7+	-2.87E-01	4.60E-01	500.6	-0.624	0.533	-
	8+	8.99E-02	5.77E-01	501.1	0.156	0.876	-
---	----------------	-----------	----------	-------	--------	--------	-------
	9+	-1.64E+00	4.88E-01	501.1	-3.361	<0.001	-
F	Sex						
	Male	7.39E-02	1.35E-01	500.2	0.546	0.585	-
F	Time Bled	4.31E-04	5.38E-04	505.1	0.801	0.424	-
F	Time Wait	5.20E-03	3.71E-03	506.8	1.402	0.162	-
F	Plate Standard	5.08E-01	6.74E-02	504.9	7.536	<0.001	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	1.164
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	2.099

d) i)

	Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Natural Antibodies (n = 506), Null									
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ²			
	Intercept	9.85E+00	8.09E-01	74.1	12.178	<0.001	-			
F	Sex									
	Male	2.01E-02	1.35E-01	500.5	0.149	0.882	-			
F	Time Bled	3.70E-04	5.44E-04	504.5	0.679	0.497	-			
F	Time Wait	5.28E-03	3.76E-03	506.9	1.403	0.161	-			
F	Plate Standard	4.91E-01	6.83E-02	505.2	7.182	<0.001	-			
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000			
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	1.245			
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	2.193			

d) ii)

	Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Natural Antibodies (n = 506), Age Linear									
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ²			
	Intercept	1.00E+01	7.98E-01	78.7	12.576	<0.001	-			
F	∆ Age Linear	-1.51E-04	1.87E-04	506.0	-0.808	0.420	-			
F	μ Age Linear	-3.29E-04	9.20E-05	501.1	-3.576	<0.001	-			
F	Sex									
	Male	5.46E-02	1.34E-01	500.7	0.407	0.684	-			
F	Time Bled	5.31E-04	5.39E-04	504.8	0.984	0.325	-			
F	Time Wait	5.58E-03	3.72E-03	506.9	1.500	0.134	-			
F	Plate Standard	4.96E-01	6.76E-02	505.5	7.337	<0.001	-			
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000			
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	1.169			
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	2.138			

d) iii)

Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Natural Antibodies (n = 506), Age Quadratic									
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ^2		
	Intercept	9.97E+00	8.00E-01	76.4	12.464	<0.001	-		

F	Δ Age Quadratic	5.18E-07	4.13E-07	501.5	1.254	0.210	-
F	μ Age Quadratic	-9.04E-08	9.50E-08	500.3	-0.952	0.342	-
F	Δ Age Linear	4.53E-04	7.96E-04	502.0	0.569	0.570	-
F	μ Age Linear	-2.24E-04	1.42E-04	501.0	-1.573	0.116	-
F	Δ Age Linear x μ Age Linear	-7.61E-07	7.83E-07	501.4	-0.973	0.331	-
F	Sex						
	Male	4.35E-02	1.34E-01	500.7	0.325	0.746	-
F	Time Bled	6.20E-04	5.40E-04	504.4	1.148	0.252	-
F	Time Wait	5.66E-03	3.72E-03	506.9	1.520	0.129	-
F	Plate Standard	4.98E-01	6.76E-02	505.7	7.379	<0.001	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	1.196
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	2.125

d) iv)

	Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Natural Antibodies (n = 506), Age Log									
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ²			
	Intercept	1.13E+01	9.45E-01	132.6	12.006	<0.001	-			
F	∆ Age Log	-1.61E-01	1.67E-01	505.3	-0.967	0.334	-			
F	μ Age Log	-2.47E-01	8.22E-02	501.4	-3.010	0.003	-			
F	Sex									
	Male	6.91E-02	1.35E-01	500.8	0.511	0.610	-			
F	Time Bled	4.36E-04	5.40E-04	504.7	0.808	0.419	-			
F	Time Wait	5.69E-03	3.73E-03	506.9	1.525	0.128	-			
F	Plate Standard	4.95E-01	6.78E-02	505.2	7.298	<0.001	-			
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000			
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	1.180			
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	2.152			

e) i)

	Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Complement Activity (n = 505), Null									
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ²			
	Intercept	9.29E-01	2.74E-01	167.8	3.387	<0.001	-			
F	Sex									
	Male	-9.74E-03	5.69E-02	255.6	-0.171	0.864	-			
F	Time Bled	-1.39E-04	2.16E-04	504.8	-0.641	0.522	-			
F	Time Wait	-1.07E-03	1.47E-03	470.9	-0.731	0.465	-			
F	Plate Standard	5.99E-02	6.71E-02	455.2	0.894	0.372	-			
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.039			
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.058			
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.314			

e)	ii)

Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Complement Activity (n = 505), Age Linear

F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ²
	Intercept	9.04E-01	2.76E-01	164.8	3.279	0.001	-
F	Age Linear	4.87E-05	3.50E-05	321.4	1.392	0.165	-
F	Sex						
	Male	-1.39E-02	5.69E-02	256.3	-0.245	0.807	-
F	Time Bled	-1.56E-04	2.16E-04	504.8	-0.721	0.471	-
F	Time Wait	-1.07E-03	1.47E-03	475.7	-0.730	0.466	-
F	Plate Standard	5.68E-02	6.70E-02	459.4	0.847	0.397	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.038
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.063
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.313

e) iii)

	Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Complement Activity (n = 505), Age Quadratic									
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ^2			
	Intercept	8.90E-01	2.76E-01	164.1	3.225	0.002	-			
F	Age Quadratic	-3.80E-08	3.13E-08	488.9	-1.215	0.225	-			
F	Age Linear	9.07E-05	4.91E-05	467.2	1.847	0.065	-			
F	Sex									
	Male	-1.76E-02	5.70E-02	258.2	-0.309	0.758	-			
F	Time Bled	-1.56E-04	2.16E-04	504.6	-0.723	0.470	-			
F	Time Wait	-1.10E-03	1.47E-03	475.9	-0.747	0.456	-			
F	Plate Standard	5.79E-02	6.69E-02	460.4	0.865	0.388	-			
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.040			
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.064			
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.311			

e) iv)

	Model Set: Cross-see	ctional; Response:	Complement	t Activity (r	n = 505), Ag	e Log	
F/R	Effect	6	SE	df	t	p	σ^2
	Intercept	6.24E-01	3.36E-01	293.9	1.859	0.064	-
F	Age Log	5.01E-02	3.12E-02	392.1	1.605	0.109	-
F	Sex						
	Male	-1.70E-02	5.71E-02	257.2	-0.297	0.767	-
F	Time Bled	-1.51E-04	2.16E-04	504.1	-0.698	0.485	-
F	Time Wait	-1.06E-03	1.47E-03	475.2	-0.720	0.472	-
F	Plate Standard	5.79E-02	6.69E-02	461.3	0.866	0.387	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.039
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.063
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.311

(γ)							
	Model Set: Cross-sect	onal; Response: C	omplement A	Activity (n =	505), Age	Factor	
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ²
	Intercept	9.11E-01	2.78E-01	166.9	3.277	0.001	-
F	Age Factor						
	1+	2.77E-02	7.58E-02	502.6	0.365	0.715	-
	2+	3.35E-02	9.20E-02	497.0	0.365	0.716	-
	3+	1.59E-01	1.08E-01	487.6	1.480	0.140	-
	4+	8.10E-02	1.19E-01	501.7	0.682	0.496	-
	5+	3.31E-02	1.14E-01	501.3	0.290	0.772	-
	6+	1.19E-01	1.35E-01	497.6	0.879	0.380	-
	7+	1.75E-01	1.89E-01	497.3	0.929	0.353	-
	8+	2.85E-01	2.21E-01	502.0	1.290	0.198	-
	9+	4.86E-02	2.07E-01	370.0	0.235	0.814	-
F	Sex						
	Male	-1.13E-02	5.81E-02	262.0	-0.194	0.847	-
F	Time Bled	-1.73E-04	2.18E-04	504.5	-0.797	0.426	-
F	Time Wait	-1.19E-03	1.48E-03	473.4	-0.804	0.422	-
F	Plate Standard	5.58E-02	6.73E-02	461.8	0.830	0.407	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.038
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.063
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.312

e) v)

f) i)							
	Model Set: Long	itudinal; Response:	Complemen	t Activity (ı	n = 505), N	ull	
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ²
	Intercept	9.29E-01	2.74E-01	167.8	3.387	<0.001	-
F	Sex						
	Male	-9.74E-03	5.69E-02	255.6	-0.171	0.864	-
F	Time Bled	-1.39E-04	2.16E-04	504.8	-0.641	0.522	-
F	Time Wait	-1.07E-03	1.47E-03	470.9	-0.731	0.465	-
F	Plate Standard	5.99E-02	6.71E-02	455.2	0.894	0.372	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.039
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.058
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.314

f) ii)

	Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Complement Activity (n = 505), Age Linear										
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ ²				
	Intercept	9.15E-01	2.76E-01	160.7	3.310	0.001	-				
F	Δ Age Linear	1.01E-04	7.22E-05	397.0	1.403	0.161	-				
F	μ Age Linear	3.31E-05	3.97E-05	228.6	0.834	0.405	-				
F	Sex										

	Male	-9.87E-03	5.70E-02	255.9	-0.173	0.863	-
F	Time Bled	-1.49E-04	2.16E-04	505.0	-0.686	0.493	-
F	Time Wait	-1.01E-03	1.47E-03	476.0	-0.691	0.490	-
F	Plate Standard	5.68E-02	6.70E-02	462.4	0.847	0.397	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.039
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.065
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.312

f) iii)

	Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Complement Activity (n = 505), Age Quadratic									
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ²			
	Intercept	9.30E-01	2.77E-01	163.2	3.362	<0.001	-			
F	Δ Age Quadratic	-3.56E-07	1.57E-07	263.0	-2.264	0.024	-			
F	μ Age Quadratic	-2.98E-08	4.05E-08	278.7	-0.736	0.463	-			
F	Δ Age Linear	-4.50E-04	3.08E-04	269.6	-1.460	0.145	-			
F	μ Age Linear	6.48E-05	5.97E-05	322.8	1.086	0.278	-			
F	Δ Age Linear x μ Age Linear	6.15E-07	2.99E-07	261.9	2.054	0.041	-			
F	Sex									
	Male	-1.14E-02	5.72E-02	256.5	-0.199	0.843	-			
F	Time Bled	-1.66E-04	2.16E-04	504.6	-0.769	0.442	-			
F	Time Wait	-1.23E-03	1.46E-03	474.6	-0.838	0.402	-			
F	Plate Standard	5.22E-02	6.68E-02	462.6	0.781	0.435	-			
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.042			
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.064			
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.305			

f) iv)

	Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Complement Activity (n = 505), Age Log								
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ²		
	Intercept	7.18E-01	3.51E-01	293.9	2.046	0.042	-		
F	Δ Age Log	1.22E-01	6.46E-02	358.4	1.889	0.060	-		
F	μ Age Log	3.63E-02	3.47E-02	300.7	1.046	0.296	-		
F	Sex								
	Male	-1.23E-02	5.74E-02	256.5	-0.215	0.830	-		
F	Time Bled	-1.36E-04	2.16E-04	505.1	-0.630	0.529	-		
F	Time Wait	-1.01E-03	1.47E-03	477.3	-0.686	0.493	-		
F	Plate Standard	5.48E-02	6.69E-02	462.8	0.819	0.413	-		
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.040		
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.066		
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.310		

g) i)							
	Model Set: Cross-sectio	nal; Response: He	eterophil-lym	phocyte Ra	atio (n = 52	21), Null	
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ²
	Intercept	3.86E-01	2.56E-02	17.7	15.061	<0.001	-
F	Sex						
	Male	1.79E-02	1.66E-02	255.0	1.082	0.280	-
F	Time Bled	4.35E-04	6.22E-05	494.3	6.989	<0.001	-
F	Time Wait	-1.38E-03	4.12E-04	339.4	-3.342	<0.001	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.005
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.001
R	Scorer ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.024

g) ii)

	Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Heterophil-lymphocyte Ratio (n = 521), Age Linear								
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ ²		
	Intercept	3.61E-01	2.66E-02	20.9	13.580	<0.001	-		
F	Age Linear	2.94E-05	1.05E-05	302.2	2.811	0.005	-		
F	Sex								
	Male	1.61E-02	1.64E-02	253.0	0.981	0.328	-		
F	Time Bled	4.26E-04	6.17E-05	483.8	6.913	<0.001	-		
F	Time Wait	-1.41E-03	4.07E-04	325.1	-3.466	<0.001	-		
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.005		
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.001		
R	Scorer ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000		
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.024		

g) iii)

I	Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Heterophil-lymphocyte Ratio (n = 521), Age Quadratic									
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ²			
	Intercept	3.60E-01	2.67E-02	21.3	13.474	<0.001	-			
F	Age Quadratic	-2.26E-09	9.15E-09	493.6	-0.247	0.805	-			
F	Age Linear	3.18E-05	1.43E-05	460.9	2.225	0.027	-			
F	Sex									
	Male	1.59E-02	1.64E-02	249.9	0.972	0.332	-			
F	Time Bled	4.27E-04	6.17E-05	483.2	6.919	<0.001	-			
F	Time Wait	-1.41E-03	4.07E-04	325.0	-3.460	<0.001	-			
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.005			
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.001			
R	Scorer ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000			
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.024			

g) iv)							
	Model Set: Cross-sectional; F	Response: Het	erophil-lymph	nocyte Rati	o (n = 521), Age Log	
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ ²
	Intercept	2.37E-01	6.11E-02	159.1	3.876	<0.001	-
F	Age Log	2.33E-02	8.76E-03	394.8	2.661	0.008	-
F	Sex						
	Male	1.45E-02	1.64E-02	250.8	0.888	0.375	-
F	Time Bled	4.36E-04	6.17E-05	490.0	7.066	<0.001	-
F	Time Wait	-1.38E-03	4.09E-04	334.7	-3.389	<0.001	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.004
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.001
R	Scorer ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.024

g) v)

	Model Set: Cross-sectional; Response: Heterophil-lymphocyte Ratio (n = 521), Age Factor							
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ^2	
	Intercept	3.64E-01	2.74E-02	22.1	13.284	<0.001	-	
F	Age Factor							
	1+	1.20E-02	2.06E-02	509.0	0.584	0.560	-	
	2+	3.74E-02	2.41E-02	506.8	1.553	0.121	-	
	3+	4.78E-02	2.82E-02	508.3	1.696	0.091	-	
	4+	-3.20E-03	3.34E-02	512.2	-0.096	0.924	-	
	5+	7.70E-02	3.18E-02	511.8	2.422	0.016	-	
	6+	3.57E-02	3.98E-02	501.7	0.897	0.370	-	
	7+	5.60E-02	5.09E-02	518.7	1.101	0.271	-	
	8+	5.00E-02	7.02E-02	509.8	0.712	0.477	-	
	9+	1.63E-01	6.29E-02	376.2	2.591	0.010	-	
F	Sex							
	Male	1.42E-02	1.66E-02	251.9	0.857	0.392	-	
F	Time Bled	4.33E-04	6.16E-05	473.7	7.027	<0.001	-	
F	Time Wait	-1.44E-03	4.06E-04	307.7	-3.538	<0.001	-	
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.005	
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.001	
R	Scorer ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000	
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.023	

h) i)

	Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Heterophil-lymphocyte Ratio (n = 521), Null										
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ^2				
F	Intercept Sex	3.86E-01	2.56E-02	17.7	15.061	<0.001	-				
	Male	1.79E-02	1.66E-02	255.0	1.082	0.280	-				

115

F F	Time Bled Time Wait	4.35E-04 -1.38E-03	6.22E-05 4.12E-04	494.3 339.4	6.989 -3.342	<0.001 <0.001	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.005
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.001
R	Scorer ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.024

h) ii)

_	Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Heterophil-lymphocyte Ratio (n = 521), Age Linear							
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ²	
	Intercept	3.61E-01	2.68E-02	23.2	13.466	<0.001	_	
F	Δ Age Linear	3.01E-05	2.12E-05	176.0	1.421	0.157	-	
F	μ Age Linear	2.92E-05	1.17E-05	231.9	2.493	0.013	-	
F	Sex							
	Male	1.61E-02	1.64E-02	252.5	0.981	0.327	-	
F	Time Bled	4.26E-04	6.17E-05	483.3	6.910	<0.001	-	
F	Time Wait	-1.41E-03	4.07E-04	324.5	-3.467	<0.001	-	
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.005	
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.001	
R	Scorer ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000	
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.024	

h) iii)

	Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Heterophil-lymphocyte Ratio (n = 521), Age Quadratic								
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	p	σ²		
	Intercept	3.55E-01	2.63E-02	25.3	13.465	<0.001	-		
F	Δ Age Quadratic	5.38E-08	4.12E-08	272.9	1.306	0.193	-		
F	μ Age Quadratic	-2.00E-08	1.22E-08	236.3	-1.637	0.103	-		
F	Δ Age Linear	7.67E-05	8.05E-05	272.4	0.953	0.341	-		
F	μ Age Linear	5.14E-05	1.78E-05	317.1	2.893	0.004	-		
F	Δ Age Linear x μ Age Linear	-6.94E-08	8.09E-08	273.4	-0.858	0.392	-		
F	Sex								
	Male	1.47E-02	1.63E-02	250.1	0.902	0.368	-		
F	Time Bled	4.41E-04	6.19E-05	482.8	7.132	<0.001	-		
F	Time Wait	-1.44E-03	4.04E-04	304.1	-3.559	<0.001	-		
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.004		
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.001		
R	Scorer ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000		
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.024		

h) iv)								
Model Set: Longitudinal; Response: Heterophil-lymphocyte Ratio (n = 521), Age Log								
F/R	Effect	в	SE	df	t	р	σ²	
	Intercept	2.19E-01	6.74E-02	243.7	3.249	0.001	-	
F	Δ Age Log	1.38E-02	1.71E-02	256.9	0.811	0.418	-	
F	μ Age Log	2.63E-02	9.93E-03	304.3	2.650	0.008	-	
F	Sex							
	Male	1.38E-02	1.64E-02	249.3	0.842	0.401	-	
F	Time Bled	4.37E-04	6.17E-05	493.1	7.084	<0.001	-	
F	Time Wait	-1.39E-03	4.09E-04	335.6	-3.399	<0.001	-	
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.004	
R	Season	-	-	-	-	-	0.001	
R	Scorer ID	-	-	-	-	-	0.000	
	Residual	-	-	-	-	-	0.024	

Chapter 4: Fitness outcomes in relation to individual variation in constitutive innate immune function

Michael J. Roast¹, Nataly Hidalgo Aranzamendi¹, Marie Fan¹, Niki Teunissen¹, Matthew D. Hall¹, Anne Peters¹

¹School of Biological Sciences, Monash University, Victoria 3800, Australia

Abstract

Maintenance of immune functions is crucial for the survival of organisms in the face of parasite and pathogen pressure. However, costs of immune function may result in trade-offs with competing physiological processes that translate into costs for (other) fitness components. Optimising, not maximising, immune function is therefore assumed to be the best solution for hosts to maximise overall fitness. The maintenance costs of immune function are considered relatively low compared to immune activation and have seldom been investigated in relation to fitness in the wild. Here, we assess how measures of constitutive immune function (haptoglobin, natural antibodies, complement activity) are related to subsequent fitness outcomes (survival, reproductive success, dominance acquisition) in a wild passerine, the purple-crowned fairy-wren (Malurus coronatus). We also investigate whether chronic stress (heterophil-lymphocyte ratio) and body condition (size-adjusted body mass as a proxy for energetic reserves) relate to fitness outcomes to assess whether environmental stressors or resource availability might mediate any trade-off. We found that increased survival is not related to high (maximal) or intermediate (optimal) levels of immune indices. Rather, both low and high values of complement activity (quadratic) were associated with increased survival, suggesting immune investment is context-dependent and the optimal strategy might relate to the immediate disease environment. Positive relationships between immune indices significantly natural antibodies - and reproductive success suggest that variation in individual quality prevails over potential resource reallocation trade-offs within individuals. Body condition did not relate to any fitness-related outcome. Lastly, dominance acquisition was positively related only to chronic stress (HL ratio), which we interpret as linked to intra-specific competition. Overall, our results do not provide evidence that maintaining baseline levels of these constitutive immune components comes at a net cost or benefit for fitness, suggesting that they might be quite tightly regulated according to individual quality.

Keywords: maintenance cost, fitness, trade-off, resource reallocation, constitutive, induced

Introduction

Immune defences are crucial for the health and survival of host organisms among a diversity of parasites, pathogens and diseases. Considering this importance, any individual variation in host immune function is likely to be consequential for defence against disease-causing agents and host survival and longevity (Schmid-Hempel, 2003). Additionally, many parasites and pathogens have sub-lethal effects (Alizon et al., 2009) that either directly or indirectly influence host fitness (lifetime reproductive success). Infections and diseases can disrupt the host's reproductive pathways (Graham et al., 2011; Hall et al., 2007), the ability to acquire resources (Binning et al., 2017; Gegear et al., 2006), ornamentation and the signalling of attractiveness to a mate (Brawner et al., 2000; Shawkey et al., 2009), or even social dominance or prestige (Buck et al., 2018; Poirotte et al., 2017; Rau, 1984, 1983). Parasites can therefore affect many 'fitness-related traits' that will ultimately have consequences for overall fitness of the host. For hosts, the level of investment into diverse and multi-faceted immune systems is expected to reflect parasite pressure (Schulenburg et al., 2009), and should therefore relate to overall fitness.

Operating an immune system is physiologically and energetically costly, incurring development, maintenance, and deployment costs, in addition to any collateral damage sustained through immune-associated inflammation (Ashley et al., 2012; Klasing, 2004). Consequently, when resources are a limiting factor, trade-offs are expected to occur between immune function and other key physiologically demanding processes (Lochmiller and Deerenberg, 2000; Norris and Evans, 2000). Optimising, rather than maximising, immune function, might therefore be the best solution for hosts to maximise overall fitness (Sheldon and Verhulst, 1996; Viney et al., 2005), and as a result tolerance to parasites can emerge (Medzhitov et al., 2012; Råberg et al., 2007). Although there is some uncertainty over when and how the costs of immune function are paid physiologically (Hasselquist and Nilsson, 2012; Lee, 2006; Lochmiller and Deerenberg, 2000), there is good evidence that trade-offs do exist e.g. between immune function and reproduction (Ardia, 2005a; Kulaszewicz et al., 2017; Stahlschmidt et al., 2013), growth (van der Most et al., 2011), and moulting (Moreno-Rueda, 2010; Sanz et al., 2004). Experimentally manipulated resource availability has also demonstrated that different physiological processes compete for resources on some level (Sanz et al., 2004; Stahlschmidt et al., 2013) and it remains possible that energy is not the

only 'currency' of these trade-offs (Hasselquist and Nilsson, 2012). Despite attempts to quantify the absolute and relative physiological costs of immune function (Klasing, 2004; Lee, 2006; Lochmiller and Deerenberg, 2000), relatively little is known about how variation in individual immune investment relates to important fitness-related traits, and ultimately, fitness.

Linking the proximate physiological costs to the ultimate fitness costs of immune function has been a core pursuit of ecoimmunological studies (Schoenle et al., 2018), where it is particularly important to examine fitness in the wild, under natural environmental constraints and associated trade-offs (Maizels and Nussey, 2013; Pedersen and Babayan, 2011). Moreover, because immune systems have evolved in an ecological context with diverse parasite pressures that controlled conditions often remove, immune function can be very different under wild *vs.* captive conditions (Abolins et al., 2011). Furthermore, exposure to environmental stressors is known to elicit stress responses which can result in immunosuppression (Martin, 2009), which can mediate trade-offs and outcomes for fitness.

The costs associated with mounting immune responses have been investigated both in the laboratory and in the wild, as immune activation can be relatively easily studied using immune challenge experiments (Brock et al., 2014; Demas et al., 2011). As a result, there is a substantial body of evidence that immune activation is physiologically costly, resulting in trade-offs with fitness-related traits, particularly reproductive effort and success (reviewed for avian species by Hasselquist and Nilsson, 2012). However, because meaningful experimental manipulation of standing (constitutive) immunity is considerably more difficult if not impossible (Lochmiller and Deerenberg, 2000), the costs of standing immune function have received much less attention (but see McKean et al., 2008; Valtonen et al., 2010). Although the costs of immune maintenance are presumably lower than induced immune costs (Klasing, 2004; Lee, 2006), any costs do accumulate continuously, and potentially require more long-term testing. Specifically, how standing immune variation relates to fitness consequences in the wild has not been rigorously tested (but see Derting and Compton, 2003; Kulaszewicz et al., 2017; Møller and Haussy, 2007; Nussey et al., 2014; Schneeberger et al., 2014).

In this study, we assess how individual variation in constitutive immune function is related to subsequent fitness outcomes (survival, reproductive success, dominance acquisition) in a wild, cooperatively breeding, tropical passerine, the purple-crowned fairy-wren (*Malurus coronatus*). We measure three immune indices known to be important for frontline defences (haptoglobin, natural antibodies, complement activity; Baumgarth et al., 2005; Quaye, 2008; Trouw and Daha, 2011). Additionally, we assess how an index of chronic stress and body condition relate to fitness outcomes, to evaluate whether environmental

stressors or resource availability might mediate any covariation between immune indices and fitness outcomes. Using this observational approach, we implicitly interpret fitness outcomes as a subsequent cost of individual variation in maintenance of immune function. Given the importance of immune defences, we predict that individuals with higher immune function, lower chronic stress, and better body condition, will have higher survival probability. Congruent with evidence of resource reallocation trade-offs between reproduction and particularly immune activation (Harshman and Zera, 2007; Hasselquist and Nilsson, 2012), we predict that a higher maintenance of immune function will be associated with reduced subsequent reproductive success. By extension, we expect that higher chronic stress and poorer body condition will also be related to lower reproductive success. Lastly, we hypothesise that acquisition of a dominant breeding position is a function of individual quality and an ability to sequester and efficiently utilise resources. Therefore, we expect that higher immune function, lower chronic stress, and better body condition will predict acquisition of a dominant breeding position is predict acquisition of a dominant breeding position will predict acquisition of a dominant breeding position.

<u>Methods</u>

Study species

Purple-crowned fairy-wrens are cooperatively breeding sedentary residents of small rivers in north-western Australia. As riparian specialists, the western subspecies Malurus coronatus coronatus is highly dependent on Pandanus aquaticus vegetation for nest sites, foraging and predator evasion, defending stable year-round territories (Kingma et al., 2011a). Social groups of up to eleven individuals occupy each territory, consisting of a dominant male and female, often with one or more subordinate adults (settled dispersers or previous offspring). The dominant pair are the only birds in each group to breed, while subordinates usually contribute to offspring provisioning (Hall and Peters, 2008; Kingma et al., 2010). The dominant pair are socially and genetically monogamous, with extra-pair paternity of ~4% and used primarily as a means of incest avoidance (Kingma et al., 2013). Breeding occurs in response to recent heavy rainfall, peaking annually during the wet season (December-March; Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al., 2019). The core study population is located at Australian Wildlife Conservancy's (AWC) Mornington Wildlife Sanctuary (126.1°E, -17.5°N), where every individual along a contiguous 15km stretch of Annie Creek and Adcock River has been uniquely colour-banded since 2005. Territory boundaries, social group composition, individual movements, dispersal within the population and survival are monitored through regular censuses. Capture and sampling were done on a biannual basis, during two fieldwork periods

from mid-April to mid-June, and from mid-October to late November, at the start and end of each dry season, respectively.

Capture and sampling

For this study, captures of adult (> 90d old) purple-crowned fairy-wrens were made between April 2012 and June 2017. Passive mist-netting in combination with active audio playback was used to catch fairy-wrens. Once extracted from nets, birds were kept in holding bags before blood sampling (median = 23min, s.d. = 19.6min). Up to 100µl of blood was collected by brachial venepuncture into heparinised capillary tubes, which were sealed and stored on ice in the field, before centrifuging at 13,000rpm for 5min later that day. Red blood cell fractions were stored in ethanol at 4°C for DNA analyses and parental assignment, while plasma fractions were frozen at -20°C for immunological assays. At the end of each field work period, plasma samples were moved to -80 °C. At capture, using a drop of whole blood, a blood smear was created using the wedge-pull method (Campbell, 2015a). Air-dried blood smears were fixed in absolute methanol for no less than 15min.

Immune and stress indices

We assayed natural antibodies (NAbs), complement activity (Ca), and haptoglobin (Hp), which comprise part of the front-line immune defences by identifying, eliminating and mitigating the threats posed by parasites and pathogens (Baumgarth et al., 2005; Quaye, 2008; Trouw and Daha, 2011). NAbs are present in animals prior to any antigenic exposure and non-specifically identify a broad range of bacterial, viral and fungal antigens, providing broad spectrum surveillance (Holodick et al., 2017). NAbs bind to foreign antigenic components, opsonising them for phagocytosis, and initiate the complement system via the classic pathway (Nesargikar et al., 2012). Ca then helps to eliminate the infection through a suite of activated proteins that lyse and break down the pathogen (Ricklin et al., 2010; Trouw and Daha, 2011). Where erythrocyte cell damage is sustained as a consequence of infection, haptoglobin-like haem-binding scavengers (Hp or PIT54, an avian analogue) bind to reactive oxidative haem groups released to mitigate further damaged done by infection (Andersen et al., 2017; Quaye, 2008). These scavengers are tightly linked to the acute phase response and increase multiplefold during infection and inflammation, however constitutive levels can predict the strength of an immune response (Matson et al., 2012). Lastly, chronic stress causes circulating heterophils to increase while lymphocytes decline in number (Davis and Maney, 2018). The heterophil-lymphocyte ratio (HL ratio) is therefore commonly used by ecologists as an index for chronic stress (Davis et al., 2008), which is known to have immunosuppressive consequences and be predictive of immune responsiveness (Krams et al., 2012), and could moderate baseline immune function. Detailed methods of each immunological assay used in this study are described in Chapter 2 (Roast et al., 2019) and are only summarised here.

NAbs and Ca were quantified using the same modified haemolysis-haemagglutination assay (Matson et al., 2005; Chapter 2) with minor modifications. Plasma was added along a continuous row of two adjacent two clear 96-well plates, 15μ l of 100% plasma in the first column, and 15μ l serially diluted by 50% with Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (PBS) thereafter (100%, 50%, 25%, 12.5%, and so on). Exogenous rabbit red blood cells (Equicell) were introduced to plasma samples and plates were incubated for 90min at 37.5°C, then at room temperature for 20min tilted 45°, then 70min flat. Scanned images of the plates were taken at 110min and 180min for titre scores of agglutination (NAbs), and lysis (Ca) respectively. Inter-plate chicken plasma standards were scored for both agglutination (mean = 10.1, n = 247) and lysis (mean = 3.55, n = 265) titres respectively, resulting in CV = 0.13 and CV = 0.11.

Hp was assayed using a commercial kit (Phase[™] Range, TP801; Tri-Delta Development Ltd.) with a modified protocol (Chapter 2), and a VersamaxPLUS ROM v1.21 microplate reader. All samples were run in duplicate and where plasma volume was limiting, a 50% dilution was prepared with kit 'Diluent' and values obtained were doubled prior to analysis (n = 168). Rabbit plasma (Monash University Animal Research Platform) in triplicate was used to assess inter-plate variation (CV = 0.24, n = 25 plates). Of 732 samples, 82 fell above the 1.25mg/ml optical saturation threshold of the assay and were excluded from further analyses.

Blood smears were immersed for 15 min in 50% diluted May-Grünwald followed by 10% diluted Giemsa stains, then 5 min in distilled water before air-drying. At 1000x magnification, heterophils, lymphocytes, basophils, eosinophils and monocytes were counted for the first 100 leukocytes observed, and HL ratio was derived from the resulting leukocyte profiles. Scoring was undertaken by 4 individual scorers following (Campbell, 2015b). Scorer ID was included in all statistical models to account for variation between individuals.

Survival

Survival was estimated as a binary variable for survival (1) or mortality (0) if a sampled individual survived until the next biannual census and sampling period or not (> 90d post-capture). This estimate of survival is considered robust and reliable, close to the 'true' survival outcomes of individuals, for several reasons. In the core area, individuals that disappeared were conservatively declared dead only after all other group members had been observed 3 times during censuses. Birds initially declared dead but then rediscovered within the core

study population were relatively uncommon and overall this resulted in a 98% detection rate in the core population. Furthermore, this species has limited dispersal abilities, known only to disperse along waterways in the region (Rowley and Russell, 1993; Skroblin and Legge, 2010). To find dispersers outside of the core area, 71% of all suitable habitat in a 40km radius of the core population (Skroblin and Legge, 2013; fig. S1) was surveyed annually using an audio playback method (90% detection rate; Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al., 2016). These approaches allow us to distinguish dispersal from death with high accuracy.

Reproductive Success

Reproductive success was determined from observations of free-flying juveniles that were confirmed as a match to their putative parents using genetic data. DNA was extracted as per Eastwood et al. (2018), followed by microsatellite genotyping at 9 loci (Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al., 2016). With Cervus 3.0.3 software, parents of each individual were assigned (Kalinowski et al., 2007). All juveniles that survived > 90d post-hatching, the approximate age of independence from parents (Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al., 2019), were deemed recruits, and the genetic parents of these individual were considered to have successfully reproduced. Hatch dates were estimated for all individuals from direct nest observations or based on begging behaviour, morphological and plumage traits of known age of acquisition. To assess the cost of immunity on subsequent reproductive success, for each individual measured in a given sampling season, all recruited offspring whose hatch dates fell during or after that sampling season were counted towards the individual's reproductive success (range 0-4 recruits). As only socially dominant individuals breed (Kingma et al., 2010), all adults that were dominant at the time of sampling that did not raise offspring to 90d were assigned a 0 score for reproductive success, while subordinates were excluded from reproductive success analyses. There were 7 exceptions, where birds sampled as subordinates quickly acquired dominant positions and successfully bred before the next sampling period ~5 months later. Due to low overall nesting success rate (12.7%; fig. S2), reproductive success data were highly zero-inflated and transformed to a binary variable of success (1) or failure (0). While this estimate does not represent overall lifetime reproductive success, it provides a short-term estimate of reproductive success which is most likely to be affected by the immediate physiological and immune status that we measure.

Dominance Acquisition

The social structure in purple-crowned fairy-wrens and the low frequency of extra-pair paternity mean that acquisition of a dominant breeding position is crucial to reproductive success, and competition is high with many subordinate individuals dying before acquiring dominance (46%). Subordinates can form stable queues within groups to inherit a dominant position (Kingma et al., 2011b), and in males at least, ornaments are associated with the probability to acquire a breeding position elsewhere (Fan et al., 2018), which could indicate a role for individual quality and immune function. Dominance acquisition was recorded as a binary variable of success (1) or failure (0) in acquiring a dominant breeding position prior to the subsequent sampling period. Birds already holding a dominant position were excluded from these analyses.

Statistical Analysis

All analyses were carried out in the R statistical environment (v3.6.0; R Core Team, 2019). To address the key questions of this study, immune indices were treated as explanatory variables to all fitness-related response variables - survival, reproductive success, and dominance acquisition. This model arrangement, in addition to the temporal lag in quantification of response variables (outcome after immune measurements were taken) imply a consequential cost of immune function, though causality cannot explicitly be drawn from this observational study. In order to use immune and stress indices as explanatory variables in models however, raw values were corrected for sources of measurement error with linear mixed-models (LMMs) using *Ime4* (Bates et al., 2015). With each immune or stress index as a response variable in separate LMMs (Hp and NAbs were normally distributed, Ca and HL were natural log and square-root transformed, respectively, to comply with assumptions with normality), the following potential sources of measurement error were included as fixed or random effects in each model: time bled – the time of day relative to sunrise (Zylberberg, 2015); time wait – the delay between capture and sampling representing handling stress (Davis, 2005; Zylberberg, 2015); fieldwork season - to account for storage differences between batches of samples; plate ID – to control for assay inter-plate variation; and scorer ID (see table S1 for exact model configurations). Residual values from these models were considered 'corrected' immune and stress index values, and these values were used as explanatory variables in all further analyses. In addition, to avoid conflation of the reproductive success and dominance acquisition responses with survival, only birds that survived to the next fieldwork period were retained in analyses involving reproductive success and dominance acquisition.

Generalised linear mixed effects models (GLMMs) were used to assess the relationship between immune and stress indices and the fitness-related variables using the *Ime4* package (Bates et al., 2015). All response variables were binary, so logistic regression mixed models with binomial error structures were applied, with individual ID as a random effect to account for non-independence of repeated measures. Because not all individuals had the

complete panel of indices available, for each fitness-related response, separate GLMM models were constructed using all available samples for each immune or stress index. Age at capture and sex were also included in all models as covariates as these may influence short term fitness outcomes. Additionally, the time of year birds were sampled (May or November) was included in models with reproductive success as response, since this was consistently higher after November sampling as birds entered the wet season breeding peak. To each of these models, a quadratic term of each corrected immune or stress index was also included to test for a non-linear effect that may result from an optimal immune level, but removed if not significant (p > 0.05) using *ImerTest* (Kuznetsova et al., 2017). To assess the possibility of condition-dependence of fitness-related responses, a fifth GLMM was constructed for each response variable in which 'body condition' was an explanatory variable similar to the previous four models. Condition was calculated as the residuals of a linear regression model of body mass at capture, corrected for individual tarsus length and time of day.

Finally, for each fitness-related response, one additional model containing all immune and stress indices and body condition as explanatory variables combined was constructed to validate the results obtained in independent models; these models had substantially reduced sample sizes compared to any of the individual models (see table 1 for details). Quadratic terms were also included in combined models, then removed if not significant in the same manner as independent models. A principal component (PC) analysis was conducted across all immune and stress indexes to explore the possibility of using PCs in combined models; however, PCs did not substantially better explain the data or reduce dimensionality among explanatory variables, so were not used further (table S2, fig. S3). In all survival GLMMs, and the reproductive success combined GLMM, models experienced convergence and fitting issues, which were resolved by removing the individual ID random effect was fitted to obtain estimates reported here, but as GLMs do not fully control for non-independence of data points results of these models need to be interpreted with a degree of caution.

Using the combined model approach largely validates and does not contradict independent models. Independently fitted models and combined models showed generally similar magnitude and direction of effects (table S3; fig. S4). In most cases, the effect direction (+/-) was identical between independent and combined models with two exceptions: the effect of Ca on reproductive success, and HL ratio on survival. In both cases (where signs were opposed), the effect size in independent models was essentially zero with large 95% confidence intervals, and only a |1|% change in response probability (tables 2, S3), suggesting

these models were not directly contradictory, but rather different in effect size, with some stochasticity around zero. Across all models, three significant effects were observed in independent models, while only one of these was observed as significant in combined models. It was expected that independent models are more likely to contain significant explanatory effects because of a larger sample size, and therefore greater statistical power. Additionally, 95% confidence intervals are wider in combined models, as smaller sample size results in a typically larger error associated with estimates and predicted values (fig. 1), and are also therefore more likely to contain zeroes. Consequently, only independent models are reported and interpreted further, while complete combined model outputs and comparisons are reported in the supplementary material.

Table 1: Matrix of sample sizes (*n*) for model configurations. All analyses include only adult birds (> 90d), reproductive success analyses include only dominant individuals, and dominance acquisition analyses include only subordinate individuals. The combined model includes only samples for which all five explanatory variables were available.

			Explanatory					
		Нр	NAbs	Са	HL ratio	Condition	Combined	
	Survival	648	520	519	536	836	337	
Response	Reproductive Success	305	248	250	253	406	156	
	Dominance Acquisition	290	235	231	247	373	158	

<u>Results</u>

Survival

Ca was the only index to significantly predict survival (table 2; fig. 1c). Interestingly, it showed a quadratic effect, with intermediate values of Ca having the lowest predicted probability of survival, while individuals that had either higher or lower values were more likely to survive to the next field season (table 2; $\beta = 0.525$, 95%CI = 0.098, 1.027). This effect did not appear to be condition-dependent, though there was a general trend that individuals in poorer body condition experienced a slightly lower probability of survival, as was expected (table 2; fig. 1e). Furthermore, individuals with higher NAbs were less likely to survive, and although the effect was fairly large, with -24% change of survival with an increase of 1 s.d. in NAbs, this result was not quite significant (table 2; $\beta = -0.276$, 95%CI = -0.621, 0.063).

Reproductive Success

For reproductive success, NAbs appear to be the most important explanatory variable (table 2; $\beta = 0.563$, 95%CI = 0.219, 0.962), with a 76% increase in the probability to successfully produce at least one recruit, per standard deviation increase in NAbs (table 2; fig. 1g). There was also a substantial, but not significant, increase in the probability of reproductive success with increased Hp (table 2; $\beta = 0.254$, 95%CI = -0.040, 0.574), while all other indices had only negligible effects.

Dominance Acquisition

The probability of successfully acquiring a dominant breeding position was positively related to HL ratio, i.e. level of chronic stress (table 2; $\beta = 0.364$, 95%CI = 0.006, 0.722). In addition, body condition to a lesser extent appeared to be important, as individuals with better body condition were also more likely to acquire dominant breeding positions, with a similar effect size to HL ratio (although not significant; table 2; $\beta = 0.301$, 95%CI = -0.014, 0.676). Finally, individuals with higher baseline Hp concentrations were 31% more likely to acquire a breeding position in the following months (although not significant; table 2; $\beta = 0.267$, 95%CI = -0.046, 0.580).

Table 2: The effects of immune, stress and body condition indices on fitness-related traits. The β estimates and 95% confidence intervals (CI) are derived from independently modelled variables, and are presented on the logit link function scale. Odds ratios (OR), and the percentage change in the probability of the respective response (Δ % p(Response)) are per standard deviation in the corrected immune, stress and condition indices. Bold typeface shows variables that were significant in independent models, determined by 95%CI that do not contain zero and p < 0.05 for z-tests (table S4).

						Δ%	
Response	Explanatory	C/I	β	(95% CI)	OR	p(Response)	Model
	Haptoglobin	I	-0.150	(-0.412, 0.120)	0.86	-14%	GLM
	Natural Antibodies	I.	-0.276	(-0.621, 0.063)	0.76	-24%	GLM
Survival	Complement Activity	I	0.252	(-0.136, 0.673)	1.29	29%	GLM
Survivui	(Complement Activity) ²	I.	0.525	(0.098, 1.027)	1.69	69%	GLM
	HL Ratio	I	-0.011	(-0.325, 0.327)	0.99	-1%	GLM
	Body Condition	I	0.118	(-0.140, 0.375)	1.12	12%	GLM
	Haptoglobin	I	0.254	(-0.040, 0.574)	1.29	29%	GLMM
	Natural Antibodies	I.	0.563	(0.219, 0.962)	1.76	76%	GLMM
Reproductive	Complement Activity	I.	-0.013	(-0.316, 0.298)	0.99	-1%	GLMM
Juccess	HL Ratio	I.	0.088	(-0.239, 0.418)	1.09	9%	GLMM
	Body Condition	I	-0.026	(-0.266, 0.222)	0.97	-3%	GLMM
	Haptoglobin	I	0.267	(-0.046, 0.580)	1.31	31%	GLMM
	Natural Antibodies	I.	-0.014	(-0.382 <i>,</i> 0.354)	0.99	-1%	GLMM
Dominance	Complement Activity	I.	-0.203	(-0.589, 0.182)	0.82	-18%	GLMM
πεφαισιείοπ	HL Ratio	I.	0.364	(0.006, 0.722)	1.44	44%	GLMM
	Body Condition	L	0.301	(-0.014, 0.676)	1.39	39%	GLMM



Figure 1: The effect of individual variation in immune function, chronic stress and body condition indices on subsequent fitness-related outcomes in purple-crowned fairy-wrens. Fitted lines show the predicted probability of survival (left, **a-e.**), successful reproduction of at least one recruited offspring (centre, **f-j.**) and acquisition of a dominant breeding position (right, **k-o.**), as responses to (from top to bottom) haptoglobin (Hp), natural antibodies (NAbs), complement activity (Ca), heterophil-lymphocyte ratio (HL ratio), and body condition. Ribbons show confidence intervals based upon error of fixed effects only, while all continuous variables are held at median values. Lines are shown for males in May only, as reference categories for 'Sex' (all responses) and 'Time of year' (reproductive success response only). Lines and ribbons are derived from models fitted independently with a single index and maximum sample. Data ticks above and below each plot show raw data values at binary 1 and 0 outcomes. Plots labelled with "*" denote significant effects of indices in final models.

Discussion

High baseline immune function does not predict survival

We predicted that as a consequence of parasite pressure, higher immune function would be directly related to a higher probability of survival. In relation to our three constitutive immune indices, this was not the case, despite their important roles for frontline defences. Haptoglobin and natural antibodies were unrelated to survival probability, while we found a significant quadratic effect of complement activity. We tested for quadratic effects in these models expecting a possible optimal level of immune function; however, instead of a peak for optimal immunity, we unexpectedly observed a trough, showing that intermediate values had the lowest probability of survival. This could suggest a bimodal (high and low) level of optimal Ca, potentially determined by fluctuating environmental variation (Lazzaro and Little, 2009; Nwaogu et al., 2019; Tieleman et al., 2019). Disease risk in the immediate environment may vary periodically or seasonally through fluctuating vector or microbial abundance (Bolling et al., 2005; Horrocks et al., 2015, 2012b, 2012a; Sehgal, 2015), or even spatially through localised disease outbreak or transmission between neighbouring territories (White et al., 2018), shaping which strategy for Ca is optimal in a given time or space. As Ca is a particularly aggressive component of immune function, it can generate greater immunopathological costs (Ricklin et al., 2010), and in the absence of strong selective pressure from parasites and pathogens at certain times or locations, lower Ca could be more advantageous. Survival of individuals with high and low immune function could emerge from plastic levels of immune function within-individuals, or maintained immune variation between individuals in the population. Given that there is very low within-individual repeatability of immune

measurements in this species (Chapter 2), this result is highly suggestive that immune function is plastic and strongly environmentally determined, which is consistent with the quadratic pattern associated with survival.

No evidence of a trade-off between immune function and reproduction

We hypothesised that investment in immune function could result in a trade-off with reproduction as a competing physiological process. Therefore, we expected immune function to be inversely related to subsequent reproductive success, yet this was unsupported for all of our immune indices. Higher levels of NAbs were strongly related to greater likelihood of reproductive success, and the same was true for Hp, albeit to a slightly lesser extent. These results indicate that both reproduction and immunity could be an expression of a third unmeasured variable, an individual or environmental variable ('quality') that overrides a resource reallocation trade-off. Better quality individuals might simultaneously be able to invest in immunity and reproduction (Ardia, 2005b). High quality individuals could be more efficient foragers of resources (Lescroël et al., 2010), or inhabit superior territories providing better access to resources (Arcese, 1989), which could relax energetic trade-off constraints or directly improve offspring provisioning and survival. A genetic basis for differences in individual quality might exist in this species, given that purple-crowned fairy-wrens are particularly vulnerable to inbreeding. In this species, incestuous dominant pairings are highly costly to reproductive success (Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al., 2016; Kingma et al., 2013), while severe habitat fragmentation and limited dispersal ability has reduced genetic diversity in isolated subpopulations (Skroblin et al., 2014). Consequently, as inbreeding has been shown to cause immunosuppression (Reid et al., 2007, 2003), this could result in positive correlations between individual genetic diversity, reproductive success, and immune function.

Our hypothesis that dominance acquisition would be a function of individual quality, and therefore related to individuals with higher immune function was not supported. No immune index significantly related to the probability of dominance acquisition (table 2). Purplecrowned fairy-wrens exhibit sexually dichromatic seasonal plumage ornamentation, which is either structural (males) or melanin-based (males and females) in colour (Fan et al. 2019). This type of colouration can signal individual quality (Jawor and Breitwisch, 2003; Keyser and Hill, 2000; Siefferman and Hill, 2003), and possibly immunocompetence to potential mates (Folstad and Karter, 1992; Hamilton and Zuk, 1982). Male ornamentation is important for male-male competition with 'brighter' ornaments enhancing the probability of acquiring a dominant breeding position (Fan et al. 2018); however, we do not fully understand how this relates to individual quality in female purple-crowned fairy-wrens. Based on what is known about males, these results from males and females suggest that the mechanisms which convey individual quality through plumage ornamentation to acquire dominance may not be the same as those which convey quality in immune function.

Limited evidence for condition-dependent fitness

We predicted that higher body condition, a rudimentary proxy for energetic resources, would have a positive effect on each of our fitness responses, which to a limited extent was the case. Though not significant, when body condition was higher there were small to moderate increases in the probability of survival (congruent with other bird studies; Morrison et al., 2007; Newton, 1993) and dominance acquisition (as in e.g. Gosler and Carruthers, 1999). As a tropical resident species without a critical migratory or overwintering annual phase where condition is important, any condition-dependence of survival particularly might not be so pronounced (Milenkaya et al., 2015). Additionally, we found no positive relationship between body condition and reproductive success, i.e. no condition-dependence. Together with no evidence of a trade-off between immune function and reproductive success, this suggests there is unlikely to be an energetic constraint that prohibits both maintenance of baseline immune function and reproductive activity. Immune-reproductive trade-offs are consistently tested and found, often in the presence of energetic constraints (Hasselquist and Nilsson, 2012), and so our results are somewhat contrary to those in the literature. However, these results stemmed from immune challenges invoking an acute immune response rather than baseline constitutive immune function and therefore trade-offs may only occur with specific costly immune components (Hasselquist and Nilsson, 2012; Palacios and Bronikowski, 2017). The costs of constitutively maintaining immune components are considered to be lower than those involved in an acute phase response (Hasselquist and Nilsson, 2012; Lee, 2006), and less likely to invoke a (strong) trade-off. Alternatively, when experiencing a pathogenic immune challenge, sickness behaviours can also restrict resource acquisition, perhaps creating energetic bottlenecks at the moment when resources are most needed (Adelman and Martin, 2009; Bashir-Tanoli and Tinsley, 2014; Kyriazakis et al., 1998), increasing the likelihood of trade-offs occurring with induced rather than constitutive immune components. As purplecrowned fairy-wrens reproduce only when conditions are most favourable and there is an abundance of invertebrate prey (Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al. 2019), energetic constraints might be relaxed when physiological demands are high, and baseline immune function can be maintained throughout the annual cycle (Chapter 2), irrespective of body condition or reproductive state.

Elevated stress and dominance acquisition

We hypothesised that, because chronic stress generally depresses constitutive and other immune functions, chronic stress should also relate negatively to fitness-related traits, assuming immune indices relate positively to fitness-related traits. From our results, no clear pattern emerged to support this hypothesis. For reproduction and survival, heterophillymphocyte ratio was uninformative, and there was a clear, and significant, positive effect on dominance acquisition. Acute stress responses and elevated corticosterone are hypothesised to be adaptively beneficial to organisms (Cort-Activity/Adaptation Hypotheses; Bonier et al., 2009; Rivers et al., 2012), stimulating activity, energy expenditure, food intake and behavioural responses that help cope with immediate environmental stressors and increase survival (Cote et al., 2006; Rivers et al., 2012). While the HL ratio becomes elevated in response to corticosterone, elevated HL ratio represents more chronic stress (Davis and Maney, 2018; Goessling et al., 2015), that can remain stable within individuals (Minias, 2019) and that is presumed not to be beneficial, and even inflammatory (Cohen et al., 2012). Superficially, our results suggest an apparent benefit of higher levels of chronic stress on acquisition of a dominance position. Alternatively, this could be anticipatory stress - birds poised to take over a dominance position are stressed possibly in response to learned cues of social instability or anticipated dispersal (Boonstra, 2013), which may be further modified by specific group social dynamics and history (Creel et al., 2013). Such an explanation is consistent with high HL ratios that have been related to social stressors (Frigerio et al., 2017), and elevated Hp – an inflammatory marker – in these individuals. High stress reactivity is also commonly observed in more aggressive or bolder individuals (Pusch et al., 2018; van der Meer and van Oers, 2015). Such personality traits can be advantageous in outcompeting conspecifics for a dominant breeding position (Pellegrini, 2008), possibly explaining the positive relationship between HL ratio and the probability of dominance acquisition. In this case, chronic stress may not be directly related to overall fitness, but rather closely linked to personality types that prevail in intra-specific competition.

Conclusion

Unrelenting parasitic and pathogenic selective pressures ensure that immune function remains vital for survival, and constitutive immune defences form an integral part of the immune system. However, we found that survival was not related to high levels of constitutive immune indices. In addition, positive relationships between reproductive success and immune indices – significantly NAbs – suggest that some unmeasured aspect of individual quality is more important than resource allocation trade-offs within individuals. Without evidence of an immune-reproductive trade-off, our results suggest the fitness costs of maintenance of these

constitutive humoral immune components may not be as substantial as the costs of induced or cellular immune responses that invoke trade-offs in other systems. Immune componentspecific costs are not a new concept (Lee 2006), yet quantifying the physiological costs of constitutive immune components, that are not amenable to experimental manipulation, has been a difficult task for ecoimmunologists and remains a somewhat unresolved challenge. By developing a more detailed understanding of precise energetic, nutritional, metabolic and oxidative patterns of covariation of specific immune components, we will be able to hypothesise more precisely about how individual variation in immune function relates to fitness outcomes and evolutionary host-parasite dynamics.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank BirdLife Australia and the Holsworth Wildlife Research Endowment (to MR), the Australian Research Council (FT10100505 & DP150103595 to AP) and Max Planck Society (to AP) for funding contributions. Many thanks to Anja Skroblin for permission to use mapping data of purple-crowned fairy-wren habitat surveys that were conducted from 2007-2009. All relevant permissions for this research were acquired from the Australian Bird and Bat Banding Scheme (licence 2230), Western Australia Department of Parks and Wildlife, and the Monash University School of Biological Sciences Animal Ethics Committee. Special thanks to Mornington Wildlife Sanctuary staff, and all volunteers and research assistants that made data collection possible.

References

- Abolins, S.R., Pocock, M.J.O., Hafalla, J.C.R., Riley, E.M., Viney, M.E., 2011. Measures of immune function of wild mice, Mus musculus. Mol. Ecol. 20, 881–892. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2010.04910.x
- Adelman, J.S., Martin, L.B., 2009. Vertebrate sickness behaviors: Adaptive and integrated neuroendocrine immune responses. Integr. Comp. Biol. 49, 202–214. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icp028
- Alizon, S., Hurford, A., Mideo, N., Van Baalen, M., 2009. Virulence evolution and the trade-off hypothesis: history, current state of affairs and the future: Virulence evolution and trade-off hypothesis. J. Evol. Biol. 22, 245–259. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1420-9101.2008.01658.x
- Andersen, C.B.F., Stødkilde, K., Sæderup, K.L., Kuhlee, A., Raunser, S., Graversen, J.H., Moestrup, S.K., 2017. Haptoglobin. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 26, 814–831. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2016.6793
- Arcese, P., 1989. Territory acquisition and loss in male song sparrows. Anim. Behav. 37, 45–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-3472(89)90005-5
- Ardia, D.R., 2005a. Tree swallows trade off immune function and reproductive effort differently across their range. Ecology 86, 2040–2046. https://doi.org/10.1890/04-1619
- Ardia, D.R., 2005b. Individual quality mediates trade-offs between reproductive effort and immune function in tree swallows. J. Anim. Ecol. 74, 517–524. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2005.00950.x
- Ashley, N.T., Weil, Z.M., Nelson, R.J., 2012. Inflammation: Mechanisms, Costs, and Natural Variation. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 43, 385–406. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-040212-092530
- Bashir-Tanoli, S., Tinsley, M.C., 2014. Immune response costs are associated with changes in resource acquisition and not resource reallocation. Funct. Ecol. 28, 1011–1019. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12236
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S., 2015. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. J. Stat. Softw. 67. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Baumgarth, N., Tung, J.W., Herzenberg, L.A., 2005. Inherent specificities in natural antibodies: a key to immune defense against pathogen invasion. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 26, 347–362. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00281-004-0182-2
- Binning, S.A., Shaw, A.K., Roche, D.G., 2017. Parasites and Host Performance: Incorporating Infection into Our Understanding of Animal Movement. Integr. Comp. Biol. 57, 267–280. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icx024
- Bolling, B.G., Kennedy, J.H., Zimmerman, E.G., 2005. Seasonal dynamics of four potential West Nile vector species in north-central Texas. J. Vector Ecol. 30, 186–194.
- Bonier, F., Martin, P.R., Moore, I.T., Wingfield, J.C., 2009. Do baseline glucocorticoids predict fitness? Trends Ecol. Evol. 24, 634–642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.04.013
- Boonstra, R., 2013. Reality as the leading cause of stress: rethinking the impact of chronic stress in nature. Funct. Ecol. 27, 11–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12008
- Brawner, W.R., Hill, G.E., Sundermann, C.A., 2000. Effects of Coccidial and Mycoplasmal Infections on Carotenoid-Based Plumage Pigmentation in Male House Finches. The Auk 117, 952. https://doi.org/10.1642/0004-8038(2000)117[0952:EOCAMI]2.0.CO;2
- Brock, P.M., Murdock, C.C., Martin, L.B., 2014. The History of Ecoimmunology and Its Integration with Disease Ecology. Integr. Comp. Biol. 54, 353–362. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icu046
- Buck, J.C., Weinstein, S.B., Young, H.S., 2018. Ecological and Evolutionary Consequences of Parasite Avoidance. Trends Ecol. Evol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2018.05.001
- Campbell, T.W., 2015a. Blood Sample Collection and Preparation in Birds, in: Exotic Animal Hematology and Cytology. Wiley Blackwell, pp. 165–172.

- Campbell, T.W., 2015b. Peripheral Blood of Birds, in: Exotic Animal Hematology and Cytology. Wiley Blackwell, pp. 37–66.
- Cohen, S., Janicki-Deverts, D., Doyle, W.J., Miller, G.E., Frank, E., Rabin, B.S., Turner, R.B., 2012. Chronic stress, glucocorticoid receptor resistance, inflammation, and disease risk. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109, 5995–5999. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1118355109
- Cote, J., Clobert, J., Meylan, S., Fitze, P.S., 2006. Experimental enhancement of corticosterone levels positively affects subsequent male survival. Horm. Behav. 49, 320–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2005.08.004
- Creel, S., Dantzer, B., Goymann, W., Rubenstein, D.R., 2013. The ecology of stress: effects of the social environment. Funct. Ecol. 27, 66–80. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2012.02029.x
- Davis, A.K., 2005. Effect of handling time and repeated sampling on avian white blood cell counts. J. Field Ornithol. 76, 334–338. https://doi.org/10.1648/0273-8570-76.4.334
- Davis, A.K., Maney, D.L., 2018. The use of glucocorticoid hormones or leucocyte profiles to measure stress in vertebrates: What's the difference? Methods Ecol. Evol. 9, 1556–1568. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13020
- Davis, A.K., Maney, D.L., Maerz, J.C., 2008. The use of leukocyte profiles to measure stress in vertebrates: a review for ecologists. Funct. Ecol. 22, 760–772. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01467.x
- Demas, G.E., Zysling, D.A., Beechler, B.R., Muehlenbein, M.P., French, S.S., 2011. Beyond phytohaemagglutinin: assessing vertebrate immune function across ecological contexts: Assessing vertebrate immune function across ecological contexts. J. Anim. Ecol. 80, 710– 730. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01813.x
- Derting, T.L., Compton, S., 2003. Immune Response, Not Immune Maintenance, Is Energetically Costly in Wild White-Footed Mice (*Peromyscus leucopus*). Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 76, 744– 752. https://doi.org/10.1086/375662
- Eastwood, J.R., Hall, M.L., Teunissen, N., Kingma, S.A., Hidalgo Aranzamendi, N., Fan, M., Roast, M., Verhulst, S., Peters, A., 2018. Early-life telomere length predicts lifespan and lifetime reproductive success in a wild bird. Mol. Ecol. 28, 1127–1137. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15002
- Fan, M., Teunissen, N., Hall, M.L., Hidalgo Aranzamendi, N., Kingma, S.A., Roast, M., Delhey, K., Peters, A., 2018. From ornament to armament or loss of function? Breeding plumage acquisition in a genetically monogamous bird. J. Anim. Ecol. 87, 1274–1285. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12855
- Folstad, I., Karter, A.J., 1992. Parasites, Bright Males, and the Immunocompetence Handicap. Am. Nat. 139, 603–622. https://doi.org/10.1086/285346
- Frigerio, D., Ludwig, S.C., Hemetsberger, J., Kotrschal, K., Wascher, C.A.F., 2017. Social and environmental factors modulate leucocyte profiles in free-living Greylag geese (*Anser anser*). PeerJ 5, e2792. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2792
- Gegear, R.J., Otterstatter, M.C., Thomson, J.D., 2006. Bumble-bee foragers infected by a gut parasite have an impaired ability to utilize floral information. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 273, 1073–1078. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2005.3423
- Goessling, J.M., Kennedy, H., Mendonça, M.T., Wilson, A.E., 2015. A meta-analysis of plasma corticosterone and heterophil:lymphocyte ratios is there conservation of physiological stress responses over time? Funct. Ecol. 29, 1189–1196. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12442
- Gosler, A., Carruthers, T., 1999. Body Reserves and Social Dominance in the Great Tit Parus major in Relation to Winter Weather in Southwest Ireland. J. Avian Biol. 30, 447. https://doi.org/10.2307/3677017
- Graham, A.L., Shuker, D.M., Pollitt, L.C., Auld, S.K.J.R., Wilson, A.J., Little, T.J., 2011. Fitness consequences of immune responses: strengthening the empirical framework for ecoimmunology: Empirical framework for ecoimmunology. Funct. Ecol. 25, 5–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2010.01777.x

Hall, M.L., Peters, A., 2008. Coordination between the sexes for territorial defence in a duetting fairywren. Anim. Behav. 76, 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2008.01.010

Hall, S.R., Becker, C., Caceres, C.E., 2007. Parasitic castration: a perspective from a model of dynamic energy budgets. Integr. Comp. Biol. 47, 295–309. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icm057

- Hamilton, W., Zuk, M., 1982. Heritable true fitness and bright birds: a role for parasites? Science 218, 384–387. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7123238
- Harshman, L.G., Zera, A.J., 2007. The cost of reproduction: the devil in the details. Trends Ecol. Evol. 22, 80–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.10.008

Hasselquist, D., Nilsson, J.-Å., 2012. Physiological mechanisms mediating costs of immune responses: what can we learn from studies of birds? Anim. Behav. 83, 1303–1312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.03.025

Hidalgo Aranzamendi, N., Hall, M. L., Kingma, S. A., van de Pol, M., Peters, A., 2019. Rapid plastic breeding response to rain matches peak prey abundance in a tropical bird. J. Anim. Ecol. 88, 1799–1811. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13068

- Hidalgo Aranzamendi, N., Hall, M.L., Kingma, S.A., Sunnucks, P., Peters, A., 2016. Incest avoidance, extrapair paternity, and territory quality drive divorce in a year-round territorial bird. Behav. Ecol. 27, 1808–18019. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arw101
- Holodick, N.E., Rodríguez-Zhurbenko, N., Hernández, A.M., 2017. Defining Natural Antibodies. Front. Immunol. 8, 872. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00872
- Horrocks, N.P.C., Hegemann, A., Matson, K.D., Hine, K., Jaquier, S., Shobrak, M., Williams, J.B., Tinbergen, J.M., Tieleman, B.I., 2012a. Immune Indexes of Larks from Desert and Temperate Regions Show Weak Associations with Life History but Stronger Links to Environmental Variation in Microbial Abundance. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 85, 504–515. https://doi.org/10.1086/666988
- Horrocks, N.P.C., Hegemann, A., Ostrowski, S., Ndithia, H., Shobrak, M., Williams, J.B., Matson, K.D., Tieleman, B.I., 2015. Environmental proxies of antigen exposure explain variation in immune investment better than indices of pace of life. Oecologia 177, 281–290. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-014-3136-y
- Horrocks, N.P.C., Matson, K.D., Shobrak, M., Tinbergen, J.M., Tieleman, B.I., 2012b. Seasonal patterns in immune indices reflect microbial loads on birds but not microbes in the wider environment. Ecosphere 3, art19. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES11-00287.1

Jawor, J., M., Breitwisch, R., 2003. Melanin Ornaments, Honesty, and Sexual Selection. The Auk 120, 249–265. https://doi.org/10.2307/4090178

Kalinowski, S.T., Taper, M.L., Marshall, T.C., 2007. Revising how the computer program cervus accommodates genotyping error increases success in paternity assignment: CERVUS LIKELIHOOD MODEL. Mol. Ecol. 16, 1099–1106. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2007.03089.x

Keyser, A.J., Hill, G.E., 2000. Structurally based plumage coloration is an honest signal of quality in male blue grosbeaks. Behav. Ecol. 11, 202–209. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/11.2.202

Kingma, S.A., Hall, M.L., Arriero, E., Peters, A., 2010. Multiple benefits of cooperative breeding in purple-crowned fairy-wrens: a consequence of fidelity? J. Anim. Ecol. 79, 757–768. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2010.01697.x

Kingma, S.A., Hall, M.L., Peters, A., 2013. Breeding synchronization facilitates extrapair mating for inbreeding avoidance. Behav. Ecol. 24, 1390–1397. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/art078

Kingma, S.A., Hall, M.L., Peters, A., 2011a. No evidence for offspring sex-ratio adjustment to social or environmental conditions in cooperatively breeding purple-crowned fairy-wrens. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 65, 1203–1213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-010-1133-7

Kingma, S.A., Hall, M.L., Peters, A., 2011b. Multiple Benefits Drive Helping Behavior in a Cooperatively Breeding Bird: An Integrated Analysis. Am. Nat. 177, 486–495. https://doi.org/10.1086/658989

Klasing, K.C., 2004. The cost of immunity. Acta Zool. Sin. 50, 961–969.

- Krams, I., Vrublevska, J., Cirule, D., Kivleniece, I., Krama, T., Rantala, M.J., Sild, E., Hõrak, P., 2012. Heterophil/lymphocyte ratios predict the magnitude of humoral immune response to a novel antigen in great tits (Parus major). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 161, 422– 428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2011.12.018
- Kulaszewicz, I., Wojczulanis-Jakubas, K., Jakubas, D., 2017. Trade-offs between reproduction and self-maintenance (immune function and body mass) in a small seabird, the little auk. J. Avian Biol. 48, 371–379. https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.01000
- Kuznetsova, A., Brockhoff, P.B., Christensen, R.H.B., 2017. ImerTest Package: Tests in Linear Mixed Effects Models. J. Stat. Softw. 82. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v082.i13
- Kyriazakis, I., Tolkamp, B.J., Hutchings, M.R., 1998. Towards a functional explanation for the occurrence of anorexia during parasitic infections. Anim. Behav. 56, 265–274. https://doi.org/10.1006/anbe.1998.0761
- Lazzaro, B.P., Little, T.J., 2009. Immunity in a variable world. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 364, 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0141
- Lee, K.A., 2006. Linking immune defenses and life history at the levels of the individual and the species. Integr. Comp. Biol. 46, 1000–1015. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icl049
- Lescroël, A., Ballard, G., Toniolo, V., Barton, K.J., Wilson, P.R., Lyver, P.O., Ainley, D.G., 2010. Working less to gain more: when breeding quality relates to foraging efficiency. Ecology 91, 2044–2055. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-0766.1
- Lochmiller, R.L., Deerenberg, C., 2000. Trade-offs in evolutionary immunology: just what is the cost of immunity? Oikos 88, 87–98. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2000.880110.x
- Maizels, R.M., Nussey, D.H., 2013. Into the wild: digging at immunology's evolutionary roots. Nat. Immunol. 14, 879–883. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2643
- Martin, L.B., 2009. Stress and immunity in wild vertebrates: Timing is everything. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 163, 70–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.03.008
- Matson, K.D., Horrocks, N.P.C., Versteegh, M.A., Tieleman, B.I., 2012. Baseline haptoglobin concentrations are repeatable and predictive of certain aspects of a subsequent experimentally-induced inflammatory response. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 162, 7–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2012.01.010
- Matson, K.D., Ricklefs, R.E., Klasing, K.C., 2005. A hemolysis–hemagglutination assay for characterizing constitutive innate humoral immunity in wild and domestic birds. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 29, 275–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2004.07.006
- McKean, K.A., Yourth, C.P., Lazzaro, B.P., Clark, A.G., 2008. The evolutionary costs of immunological maintenance and deployment. BMC Evol. Biol. 8, 76. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-8-76
- Medzhitov, R., Schneider, D.S., Soares, M.P., 2012. Disease Tolerance as a Defense Strategy. Science 335, 936–941. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1214935
- Milenkaya, O., Catlin, D.H., Legge, S., Walters, J.R., 2015. Body Condition Indices Predict Reproductive Success but Not Survival in a Sedentary, Tropical Bird. PLOS ONE 10, e0136582. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0136582
- Minias, P., 2019. Evolution of heterophil/lymphocyte ratios in response to ecological and life-history traits: a comparative analysis across the avian tree of life. J. Anim. Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12941
- Møller, A.P., Haussy, C., 2007. Fitness consequences of variation in natural antibodies and complement in the Barn Swallow Hirundo rustica. Funct. Ecol. 21, 363–371. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2006.01215.x
- Moreno-Rueda, G., 2010. Experimental test of a trade-off between moult and immune response in house sparrows Passer domesticus: Trade-off between moult and immune response. J. Evol. Biol. 23, 2229–2237. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1420-9101.2010.02090.x

- Morrison, R.I.G., Davidson, N.C., Wilson, J.R., 2007. Survival of the fattest: body stores on migration and survival in red knots Calidris canutus islandica. J. Avian Biol. 38, 479–487. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0908-8857.2007.03934.x
- Nesargikar, P., Spiller, B., Chavez, R., 2012. The complement system: History, pathways, cascade and inhibitors. Eur. J. Microbiol. Immunol. 2, 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1556/EuJMI.2.2012.2.2
- Newton, S.F., 1993. Body condition of a small passerine bird: ultrasonic assessment and significance in overwinter survival. J. Zool. 229, 561–580. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.1993.tb02657.x
- Norris, K., Evans, M.R., 2000. Ecological immunology: life history trade-offs and immune defense in birds. Behav. Ecol. 11, 19–26. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/11.1.19
- Nussey, D.H., Watt, K.A., Clark, A., Pilkington, J.G., Pemberton, J.M., Graham, A.L., McNeilly, T.N., 2014. Multivariate immune defences and fitness in the wild: complex but ecologically important associations among plasma antibodies, health and survival. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 281, 20132931–20132931. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.2931
- Nwaogu, C.J., Cresswell, W., Versteegh, M.A., Tieleman, B.I., 2019. Seasonal differences in baseline innate immune function are better explained by environment than annual cycle stage in a year-round breeding tropical songbird. J. Anim. Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12948
- Palacios, M.G., Bronikowski, A.M., 2017. Immune variation during pregnancy suggests immune component-specific costs of reproduction in a viviparous snake with disparate life-history strategies. J. Exp. Zool. Part Ecol. Integr. Physiol. 327, 513–522. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.2137
- Pedersen, A.B., Babayan, S.A., 2011. Wild immunology. Mol. Ecol. 20, 872–880. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2010.04938.x
- Pellegrini, A., 2008. The roles of aggressive and affiliative behaviors in resource control: A behavioral ecological perspective☆. Dev. Rev. 28, 461–487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2008.03.001
- Poirotte, C., Massol, F., Herbert, A., Willaume, E., Bomo, P.M., Kappeler, P.M., Charpentier, M.J.E., 2017. Mandrills use olfaction to socially avoid parasitized conspecifics. Sci. Adv. 3, e1601721. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1601721
- Pusch, E.A., Bentz, A.B., Becker, D.J., Navara, K.J., 2018. Behavioral phenotype predicts physiological responses to chronic stress in proactive and reactive birds. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 255, 71–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2017.10.008
- Quaye, I.K., 2008. Haptoglobin, inflammation and disease. Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg. 102, 735– 742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trstmh.2008.04.010
- R Core Team, 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Råberg, L., Sim, D., Read, A.F., 2007. Disentangling Genetic Variation for Resistance and Tolerance to Infectious Diseases in Animals. Science 318, 812–814. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1148526
- Rau, M.E., 1984. Loss of behavioural dominance in male mice infected with *Trichinella spiralis*. Parasitology 88, 371–373. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182000054615
- Rau, M.E., 1983. Establishment and maintenance of behavioural dominance in male mice infected with *Trichinella spiralis*. Parasitology 86, 319–322. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182000050484
- Reid, J.M., Arcese, P., Keller, L.F., 2003. Inbreeding depresses immune response in song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*): direct and inter–generational effects. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 270, 2151–2157. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2003.2480
- Reid, J.M., Arcese, P., Keller, L.F., Elliott, K.H., Sampson, L., Hasselquist, D., 2007. Inbreeding effects on immune response in free-living song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*). Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 274, 697–706. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.0092

- Ricklin, D., Hajishengallis, G., Yang, K., Lambris, J.D., 2010. Complement: a key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis. Nat. Immunol. 11, 785–797. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1923
- Rivers, J.W., Liebl, A.L., Owen, J.C., Martin, L.B., Betts, M.G., 2012. Baseline corticosterone is positively related to juvenile survival in a migrant passerine bird. Funct. Ecol. 26, 1127–1134. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2012.02025.x
- Roast, M.J., Aulsebrook, A.E., Fan, M., Hidalgo Aranzamendi, N., Teunissen, N., Peters, A., 2019. Short-Term Climate Variation Drives Baseline Innate Immune Function and Stress in a Tropical Bird: A Reactive Scope Perspective. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 92, 140–151. https://doi.org/10.1086/702310
- Rowley, I., Russell, E., 1993. The Purple-crowned Fairy-wren *Malurus coronatus*. II. Breeding Biology, Social organization, Demography and Management. Emu 93, 235. https://doi.org/10.1071/MU9930235
- Sanz, J.J., Moreno, J., Merino, S., Tomas, G., 2004. A trade-off between two resource-demanding functions: post-nuptial moult and immunity during reproduction in male pied flycatchers. J. Anim. Ecol. 73, 441–447. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-8790.2004.00815.x
- Schmid-Hempel, P., 2003. Variation in immune defence as a question of evolutionary ecology. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 270, 357–366. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2002.2265
- Schneeberger, K., Courtiol, A., Czirják, G.Á., Voigt, C.C., 2014. Immune Profile Predicts Survival and Reflects Senescence in a Small, Long-Lived Mammal, the Greater Sac-Winged Bat (Saccopteryx bilineata). PLoS ONE 9, e108268. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0108268
- Schoenle, L.A., Downs, C.J., Martin, L.B., 2018. An Introduction to Ecoimmunology, in: Cooper, E.L. (Ed.), Advances in Comparative Immunology. Springer International Publishing, pp. 901–932.
- Schulenburg, H., Kurtz, J., Moret, Y., Siva-Jothy, M.T., 2009. Introduction. Ecological immunology. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 364, 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0249
- Sehgal, R.N.M., 2015. Manifold habitat effects on the prevalence and diversity of avian blood parasites. Int. J. Parasitol. Parasites Wildl. 4, 421–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijppaw.2015.09.001
- Shawkey, M.D., Pillai, S.R., Hill, G.E., 2009. Do feather-degrading bacteria affect sexually selected plumage color? Naturwissenschaften 96, 123–128. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00114-008-0462-0
- Sheldon, B.C., Verhulst, S., 1996. Ecological immunology: costly parasite defences and trade-offs in evolutionary ecology. Trends Ecol. Evol. 11, 317–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(96)10039-2
- Siefferman, L., Hill, G.E., 2003. Structural and melanin coloration indicate parental effort and reproductive success in male eastern bluebirds. Behav. Ecol. 14, 855–861. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arg063
- Skroblin, A., Cockburn, A., Legge, S., 2014. The population genetics of the western purple-crowned fairy-wren (Malurus coronatus coronatus), a declining riparian passerine. Aust. J. Zool. 62, 251. https://doi.org/10.1071/ZO13087
- Skroblin, A., Legge, S., 2013. Conservation of the Patchily Distributed and Declining Purple-Crowned Fairy-Wren (Malurus coronatus coronatus) across a Vast Landscape: The Need for a Collaborative Landscape-Scale Approach. PLoS ONE 8, e64942. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0064942
- Skroblin, A., Legge, S., 2010. The distribution and status of the western subspecies of the Purplecrowned Fairy-wren (*Malurus coronatus coronatus*). Emu 110, 339. https://doi.org/10.1071/MU10029
- Stahlschmidt, Z.R., Rollinson, N., Acker, M., Adamo, S.A., 2013. Are all eggs created equal? Food availability and the fitness trade-off between reproduction and immunity. Funct. Ecol. 27, 800–806. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12071
- Tieleman, B.I., Versteegh, M.A., Klasing, K.C., Williams, J.B., 2019. Constitutive innate immunity of tropical House Wrens varies with season and reproductive activity. Auk Ornithol. Adv. x, xxx.

- Trouw, L.A., Daha, M.R., 2011. Role of complement in innate immunity and host defense. Immunol. Lett. 138, 35–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2011.02.014
- Valtonen, T.M., Kleino, A., Rämet, M., Rantala, M.J., 2010. Starvation Reveals Maintenance Cost of Humoral Immunity. Evol. Biol. 37, 49–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11692-009-9078-3
- van der Meer, E., van Oers, K., 2015. Gender and Personality Differences in Response to Social Stressors in Great Tits (Parus major). PLOS ONE 10, e0127984. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0127984
- van der Most, P.J., de Jong, B., Parmentier, H.K., Verhulst, S., 2011. Trade-off between growth and immune function: a meta-analysis of selection experiments. Funct. Ecol. 25, 74–80. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2010.01800.x
- Viney, M.E., Riley, E.M., Buchanan, K.L., 2005. Optimal immune responses: immunocompetence revisited. Trends Ecol. Evol. 20, 665–669. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2005.10.003
- White, L.A., Forester, J.D., Craft, M.E., 2018. Dynamic, spatial models of parasite transmission in wildlife: Their structure, applications and remaining challenges. J. Anim. Ecol. 87, 559–580. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12761
- Zylberberg, M., 2015. Common measures of immune function vary with time of day and sampling protocol in five passerine species. J. Exp. Biol. 218, 757–766. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.111716

Supplementary Materials



Figure S1: Main rivers and small creeks surveyed for purple-crowned fairy-wrens in the Fitzroy River catchment. Regular census (approximately weekly visits to each territory) of the entire core population was biannual during dry season periods of April-June and October-November, through all years of the present study 2012-2017. Additional census of the core population was carried out on Annie Creek in 2016-2017 during the wet season during January-April. Annually, 'long distance' surveys in a wider area of the Fitzroy catchment were conducted as part of the present study to determine any dispersal outside of the core population into neighbouring rivers with suitable habitat. From 2007-2009, Skroblin and Legge (2013) aerially surveyed many rivers in the catchment for suitable purple-crowned fairy-wren habitat; 44km of river with habitat suitability index > 0.54 were identified. All core and long-distance areas of the present study were previously surveyed by Skroblin and Legge (2013), and locations of suitable habitat have remained relatively unchanged in these areas, though quality can vary with time through floods, fires, regrowth, and grazing management.



Figure S2: Purple-crowned fairy-wren nest attempt outcomes, Annie Creek 2016-2018. For initiated nest attempts (n = 343), the final outcome was most often failure, failing at all stages of reproductive attempts. Approximately 21% of nests fledged, but only approximately 12.8% resulted in recruits, most commonly only a single recruit. All percentages refer to the initial attempted nests; bars are proportional in size.


Figure S3: Principal Component Analysis (PCA) of explanatory variables used in combined models. Among 5 axes of variation, the principal components explained between 27.6-14.0% of the variance explained by the dataset. This did not substantially reduce the dimensionality in the dataset and all standardised original variables (haptoglobin, Hp; natural antibodies, NAbs; complement activity, Ca; heterophil-lymphocyte ratio, HL ratio; condition) were retained in combined models. With these exact data points plotted 3-dimensionally with a PC3 axis (18.4%), HL ratio and Condition are also separated in depth, despite the apparent similarity in 2-dimensions, as are NAbs and Hp.



Figure S4: The effects of immune, stress and condition indices on fitness-related traits in combined (C) *versus* independent (I) models. Fitted lines show the predicted probability of survival (left, **a-e.**), successful reproduction of at least one recruited offspring (centre, **f-j.**) and acquisition of a dominant breeding position (right, **k-o.**), as responses to (from top to bottom) haptoglobin (Hp), natural antibodies (Nabs), complement activity (Ca), heterophil-lymphocyte ratio (HL ratio), and body condition. Black depicts models containing all explanatory variables (restricted sample), while blue depicts models with explanatory variables fitted independently (maximal sample). Ribbons show confidence intervals based upon error of fixed effects only, while all continuous variables are held at median values. Lines are shown for males in May only, as reference categories for 'Sex' (all responses) and 'Time of year' (reproductive success response only). Data ticks above and below each plot show raw data values at binary 1 and 0 outcomes. Plots labelled with "*" denote significant effects of indices in final models.

Table S1: Configurations of Linear Mixed Models (LMMs) used to correct for measurement error in immune and stress indices. Immune and stress indices were fitted as response variables in separate models with the appropriate fixed and random effects applied to calculate residual values. Residual values were then standardised (scaled, centred) and included in the main analyses as explanatory variables.

Structure	Нр	NAbs	Са	HL ratio
Fixed effects	Time bled	Time bled	Time bled	Time bled
	Time wait	Time wait	Time wait	Time wait
	Field Season	Field Season	Field Season	Field Season
Random effects	Plate ID	Plate ID	Plate ID	Scorer ID

Table S2: Principal Component Analysis (PCA) over 5 axes of variation. Data were included in the PCA from the 5 variables included in combined models (haptoglobin, natural antibodies, complement activity, heterophil-lymphocyte ratio, condition). Variance explained by each principal component was not substantially different from 20%, expected from 5 independent and uncorrelated variables. Inclusion of < 5 principal components would leave at least \approx 14% of variance unexplained, and to include all 5 would not reduce dimensionality or improve interpretation. Consequently, principal components were not used further in the main analyses.

Principal Component	Eigenvalue	% of Variance Explained	Cumulative % of Variance Explained
PC1	1.38	27.61	27.61
PC2	1.17	23.53	51.13
PC3	0.91	18.35	69.48
PC4	0.82	16.53	86.02
PC5	0.70	13.98	100.00

Table S3: The effects of immune, stress and condition indices on fitness-related traits in combined (C) *versus* independent (I) models. The β -estimates and 95% confidence intervals (CI) are presented on the logit link function scale. Odds ratios (OR), and the percentage change in the probability of the respective response (Δ % p(Response)) are standardised to the change per one standard deviation in the corrected residuals of explanatory variables. Models with convergence issues were fitted as GLMs, and other models with GLMMs. Bold typeface shows variables that were significant in each model, determined by with 95%CI that do not contain zero and p < 0.05 for and z-tests (table S4).

						Δ%	
Response	Explanatory	C/I	β	(95% CI)	OR	p(Response)	Model
		С	-0.214	(-0.629, 0.203)	0.81	-19%	GLM
	Haptoglobin	I	-0.150	(-0.412, 0.120)	0.86	-14%	GLM
		С	-0.128	(-0.628, 0.344)	0.88	-12%	GLM
	Natural Antibodies	I	-0.276	(-0.621, 0.063)	0.76	-24%	GLM
	Comulanout Astivity	с	0.667	(0.073, 1.38)	1.95	95%	GLM
Survival	complement Activity	I	0.252	(-0.136, 0.673)	1.29	29%	GLM
	(C_{a})	С	0.810	(0.197, 1.578)	2.25	125%	GLM
	(Complement Activity)	I	0.525	(0.098, 1.027)	1.69	69%	GLM
	HI Patio	С	0.187	(-0.247, 0.684)	1.21	21%	GLM
		I	-0.011	(-0.325, 0.327)	0.99	-1%	GLM
	Rody Condition	С	0.077	(-0.345, 0.489)	1.08	8%	GLM
	Body Condition	I	0.118	(-0.140, 0.375)	1.12	12%	GLM
		С	0.389	(-0.034. 0.835)	1.48	48%	GLM
	Haptoglobin	I	0.254	(-0.040, 0.574)	1.29	29%	GLMM
		С	0.227	(-0.202, 0.694)	1.25	25%	GLM
	Natural Antibodies	I.	0.563	(0.219, 0.962)	1.76	76%	GLMM
Reproductive		С	0.044	(-0.352, 0.452)	1.31	31%	GLM
Success	complement Activity	I	-0.013	(-0.316, 0.298)	0.99	-1%	GLMM
	HI Patio	С	0.270	(-0.121, 0.666)	1.05	5%	GLM
		I	0.088	(-0.239, 0.418)	1.09	9%	GLMM
	Rody Condition	С	-0.045	(-0.446, 0.390)	0.96	-4%	GLM
	body condition	I	-0.026	(-0.266, 0.222)	0.97	-3%	GLMM
		С	0.372	(-0.107, 0.841)	1.44	44%	GLMM
	Haptoglobin	I	0.267	(-0.046, 0.580)	1.31	31%	GLMM
		С	-0.130	(-0.604, 0.342)	0.88	-12%	GLMM
	Natural Antibodies	I	-0.014	(-0.382, 0.354)	0.99	-1%	GLMM
Dominance		С	-0.038	(-0.479, 0.414)	0.97	-3%	GLMM
Acquisition	Complement Activity	I	-0.203	(-0.589, 0.182)	0.82	-18%	GLMM
		С	0.178	(-0.248, 0.632)	1.21	21%	GLMM
		I	0.364	(0.006, 0.722)	1.44	44%	GLMM
	Body Condition	С	0.280	(-0.216, 0.695)	1.27	27%	GLMM
	Body Condition	Ι	0.301	(-0.014, 0.676)	1.39	39%	GLMM

Table S4: Complete model outputs for all main analyses reported in the main manuscript. Tables **i-v**) correspond to models fitted with independent indices (haptoglobin, natural antibodies, complement activity, heterophil-lymphocyte ratio, and body condition), and **vi**) fitted with all indices in a combined model. Table sets **a-c**) correspond to each response variable modelled, for survival, reproductive success and dominance acquisition, respectively. Whether fitted as a GLM or GLMM, and sample size of each model is included in each table subheading.

)	Survival, Independent, GLM, Haptoglobin (n = 648)						
	Effect	в	SE	Z	р		
Intercept		2.10E+00	2.27E-01	9.253	<0.001		
Sex							
Female		9.43E-02	2.87E-01	0.329	0.742		
Age		1.10E-01	6.65E-02	1.655	0.098		
Haptoglobin		-1.50E-01	1.35E-01	-1.109	0.267		

a)ii)

Survival, Independent, GLM, Natural antibodies (n = 520)								
Effect	в	SE	Z	р				
Intercept	2.31E+00	2.73E-01	8.449	<0.001				
Sex								
Female	-1.73E-02	3.36E-01	-0.051	0.959				
Age	1.06E-01	7.96E-02	1.331	0.183				
Natural antibodies	-2.76E-01	1.75E-01	-1.578	0.115				

a)iii)	Survival, Independen	t, GLM, Complemen	t activity (n :	= 519)	
	Effect	в	SE	z	р
	Intercept	1.81E+00	3.08E-01	5.865	<0.001
	Sex				
	Female	-5.00E-02	3.27E-01	-0.153	0.879
	Age	1.06E-01	7.84E-02	1.353	0.176
	Complement activity	2.52E-01	2.04E-01	1.237	0.216
	I(Complement activity) ²	5.25E-01	2.35E-01	2.230	0.026

a)iv)

)	Survival, Independent, GLM, H	leterophil-lymp	phocyte ratio	o (n = 536)	
	Effect	в	SE	Z	р
	Intercept	2.39E+00	2.66E-01	9.001	<0.001
	Sex				
	Female	1.47E-02	3.34E-01	0.044	0.965
	Age	5.74E-02	7.44E-02	0.771	0.441
	Heterophil-lymphocyte ratio	-1.11E-02	1.66E-01	-0.067	0.947

a)v)

Survival, Independent, GLM, Body condition (n = 836)								
Effect	в	SE	Z	р				
Intercept	2.38E+00	2.15E-01	11.052	<0.001				
Sex								
Female	1.02E-01	2.67E-01	0.382	0.702				
Age	2.80E-02	5.66E-02	0.495	0.621				
Body condition	1.18E-01	1.32E-01	0.900	0.368				

a)vi)

Survival, Combined, GLM, All indices (n = 337)									
Effect	в	SE	Z	p					
Intercept	1.81E+00	3.90E-01	4.648	<0.001					
Sex									
Female	4.00E-01	4.50E-01	0.889	0.374					
Age	2.54E-02	8.74E-02	0.290	0.772					
Haptoglobin	-2.14E-01	2.11E-01	-1.013	0.311					
Natural antibodies	-1.28E-01	2.49E-01	-0.512	0.608					
Complement activity	6.67E-01	3.29E-01	2.024	0.043					
I(Complement activity) ²	8.10E-01	3.49E-01	2.319	0.020					
Heterophil-lymphocyte ratio	1.87E-01	2.36E-01	0.794	0.427					
Body condition	7.69E-02	2.13E-01	0.361	0.718					

Reproductive Success, Independent, GLMM, Haptoglobin (n = 305)

F/R	Effect	в	SE	Z	p	σ²
	Intercept	-1.60E+00	3.96E-01	-4.045	<0.001	-
F	Sex					
	Female	4.75E-01	3.34E-01	1.421	0.155	-
F	Age	2.04E-02	6.20E-02	0.329	0.742	-
F	Time of year					
	November	4.19E-01	3.34E-01	1.256	0.209	-
F	Haptoglobin	2.54E-01	1.54E-01	1.650	0.099	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	0.805

b)ii)

Reproductive Success, Independent, GLMM, Natural antibodies (n = 248)

					- 1	
F/R	Effect	в	SE	Z	р	σ^2
	Intercept	-1.76E+00	4.01E-01	-4.401	<0.001	_
F	Sex					
	Female	8.09E-01	3.35E-01	2.414	0.016	-
F	Age	2.91E-02	6.28E-02	0.463	0.644	-
F	Time of year					
	November	7.59E-01	3.73E-01	2.035	0.042	-
F	Natural antibodies	5.63E-01	1.87E-01	3.015	0.003	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	0.356

b)i)

o)iii)		Reproductive Success, Inc	dependent, GLMM, Co	mplement a	ctivity (n =	= 250)	
	F/R	Effect	в	SE	Z	р	σ^2
		Intercept	-1.62E+00	3.84E-01	-4.215	<0.001	-
	F	Sex					
		Female	8.11E-01	3.24E-01	2.503	0.012	-
	F	Age	2.84E-02	5.97E-02	0.475	0.635	-
	F	Time of year					
		November	6.77E-01	3.67E-01	1.845	0.065	-
	F	Complement activity	-1.33E-02	1.54E-01	-0.087	0.931	-
	R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	0.366

b)iv)	Reproductive Success, Independent, GLMM, Heterophil-lymphocyte ratio (n = 253)							
	F/R	Effect	в	SE	Z	р	σ²	
-		Intercept	-1.93E+00	4.46E-01	-4.332	<0.001	-	
	F	Sex						
		Female	5.28E-01	3.55E-01	1.487	0.137	-	
	F	Age	3.31E-02	6.73E-02	0.491	0.623	-	
	F	Time of year						
		November	1.40E+00	3.96E-01	3.525	<0.001	-	
	F	Heterophil-lymphocyte ratio	8.76E-02	1.65E-01	0.532	0.595	-	
	R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	0.678	

b)v)		Reproductive Success,	Independent, GLMM,	Body condit	ion (n = 4	06)	
	F/R	Effect	в	SE	Z	р	σ²
		Intercept	-1.48E+00	3.24E-01	-4.574	<0.001	_
	F	Sex					
		Female	2.43E-01	2.68E-01	0.907	0.364	-
	F	Age	1.84E-02	5.25E-02	0.350	0.726	-
	F	Time of year					
		November	7.29E-01	2.84E-01	2.565	0.010	-
	F	Body condition	-2.63E-02	1.23E-01	-0.213	0.831	-
	R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	0.392

b)vi)	i) Reproductive Success, Combined, GLM, All indices (n = 156)									
	Effect <i>B</i> SE z									
	Intercept	-2	.12E+00	5.06E-01	-4.181	<0.001				
	Sex									
	Female	9	.48E-01	4.28E-01	2.217	0.027				
	Age	3	.26E-02	7.55E-02	0.431	0.666				
	Time of year									

November	1.04E+00	4.25E-01	2.448	0.014
Haptoglobin	3.89E-01	2.20E-01	1.764	0.078
Natural antibodies	2.27E-01	2.26E-01	1.003	0.316
Complement activity	4.44E-02	2.04E-01	0.218	0.828
Heterophil-lymphocyte ratio	2.70E-01	1.99E-01	1.360	0.174
Body condition	-4.48E-02	2.11E-01	-0.213	0.832

c)i)

	Dominance Acquisition, Independent, GLMM, Haptoglobin (n = 290)								
F/R		Effect	в	SE	Z	р	σ²		
	Intercept		-2.13E+00	4.52E-01	-4.711	<0.001	-		
F	Sex								
	Female		1.11E+00	3.71E-01	3.003	0.003	-		
F	Age		3.29E-01	1.97E-01	1.668	0.095	-		
F	Haptoglobin		2.67E-01	1.60E-01	1.674	0.094	-		
R	Individual ID		-	-	-	-	0.631		

c)ii)		Dominance Acquisition, Independent, GLMM, Natural antibodies (n = 235)									
	F/R	Effect	в	SE	Z	р	σ^2				
		Intercept	-2.25E+00	5.76E-01	-3.897	<0.001	-				
	F	Sex									
		Female	1.27E+00	4.64E-01	2.731	0.006	-				
	F	Age	3.69E-01	2.59E-01	1.426	0.154	-				
	F	Natural antibodies	-1.41E-02	1.88E-01	-0.075	0.940	-				
	R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	1.076				

c)iii)	Dominance Acquisition, Independent, GLMM, Complement activity (n = 231)							
	F/R	Effect	в	SE	Z	р	σ^2	
		Intercept	-2.35E+00	6.08E-01	-3.870	<0.001	-	
	F	Sex						
		Female	1.44E+00	4.90E-01	2.949	0.003	-	
	F	Age	3.82E-01	2.57E-01	1.486	0.137	-	
	F	Complement activity	-2.03E-01	1.97E-01	-1.033	0.302	-	
-	R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	1.085	

c)iv)

Dominance Acquisition, Independent, GLMM, Heterophil-lymphocyte ratio (n = 247)

•							
	F/R	Effect	в	SE	Z	р	σ^2
		Intercept	-2.41E+00	6.35E-01	-3.799	<0.001	-
	F	Sex					
		Female	1.20E+00	4.33E-01	2.768	0.006	-
	F	Age	4.00E-01	2.74E-01	1.458	0.145	-
	F	Heterophil-lymphocyte ratio	3.64E-01	1.83E-01	1.993	0.046	-

- -

c)v)	Dominance Acquisition, Independent, GLMM, Body condition (n = 373)								
	F/R	Effect	в	SE	Z	р	σ²		
		Intercept	-2.47E+00	5.08E-01	-4.860	<0.001	_		
	F	Sex							
		Female	1.27E+00	3.72E-01	3.405	<0.001	-		
	F	Age	4.62E-01	2.40E-01	1.923	0.054	-		
	F	Body condition	3.01E-01	1.57E-01	1.917	0.055	-		
	R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	1.014		

-

•	• •
C	W11
U	vij

Dominance Acquisition, Combined, GLMM, All indices (n = 158)

F/R	Effect	в	SE	Z	р	σ^2
	Intercept	-1.91E+00	6.27E-01	-3.048	0.002	-
F	Sex					
	Female	8.85E-01	5.15E-01	1.720	0.085	-
F	Age	9.17E-02	2.46E-01	0.374	0.709	-
F	Haptoglobin	3.72E-01	2.42E-01	1.540	0.124	-
F	Natural antibodies	-1.30E-01	2.38E-01	-0.547	0.584	-
F	Complement activity	-3.84E-02	2.24E-01	-0.171	0.864	-
F	Heterophil-lymphocyte ratio	1.78E-01	2.13E-01	0.835	0.404	-
F	Body condition	2.80E-01	2.40E-01	1.168	0.243	-
R	Individual ID	-	-	-	-	0.548

Chapter 5: General Discussion

Overview

The immune system forms an integral physiological aspect of the whole organism that has evolved to optimally function and reproduce in a wild ecosystem. Individuals vary greatly in their immune function and understanding why this variation exists is essential to know how whole organisms are subject to trade-offs that influence life-histories and evolutionary processes. It is therefore particularly important to address these questions in the wild ecosystems that the organism and its immune system evolved in. My thesis investigates the possible causes and consequences of individual variation in constitutive innate immunity in a wild passerine model system. Through a series of observational studies, I aimed to show how environmental variation relates to variation in constitutive innate immunity (chapter 2); how immune function varies with age at both the individual and population levels (chapter 3); and how individual variation in constitutive innate immunity is linked to fitness-related outcomes (chapter 4). Here I discuss the key findings of these chapters (fig. 1) and their significance from ecoimmunological perspectives, providing suggestions for future research.



Figure 1: An overview of thesis chapter conclusions.

Further Discussion

Extensive individual variation in immune function

Individual immune variation could be due to genetic or environmental variation, or a combination of both (e.g. genetically controlled mechanisms that respond to environmental cues such as photoperiod; see winter immune-enhancement hypothesis, Nelson et al., 1995; Walton et al., 2011). In chapter 2, I focused on testing the strength of relationships between measures of constitutive innate immune function and several environmental (climatic, social and ecological) variables hypothesised to influence immunity. I showed that short-term climatic variation was relatively more important for predicting immune variation than group size and territory quality, which are temporally more stable. Despite the relationships to short-term climatic variables, immune indices remained at relatively stable levels throughout the year, with only limited seasonal differences in natural antibodies. From a reactive scope perspective (Romero et al., 2009), these data suggest that predictive homeostasis may maintain stability in immune function in anticipation of longer-term environmental variation, but unpredictable short-term environmental variation may induce compensatory variation in immune function. These results are consistent with observations that in the tropics, environmental fluctuation is more important than the annual cycle for immune variation (Nwaogu et al., 2019). Furthermore, seasonality for tropical species is less important for immune variation than in temperate species which experience more pronounced environmental variation as part of the annual cycle (Martin et al., 2008). While the ability to make predictive adjustments to immune function could have a genetic component (Versteegh et al., 2014), the immune variation I observed appeared to be highly flexible and had very low within-individual repeatability (Chapter 2, table S5), suggesting that individual differences in immune variation are unlikely to be heritable, similar to humans where non-heritable influences are most important to immune variation (Brodin et al., 2015).

Low within-individual repeatability in immune indices could result from changes in immune function within individuals over time. In chapter 3, I adopted a within-subject centring approach to assess how immune function varied with age at both the individual and population levels (van de Pol and Wright, 2009). Although I found indications that circulating levels of natural antibodies decline within individuals (senescence), and that adaptive cellular immunity senesces at a faster rate than innate cellular immunity, these effects were not significant. These results are consistent with general trends that constitutive innate immune function is maintained into old age (Peters et al., 2019), perhaps because it becomes more important for additional self-maintenance roles beyond immune defence, e.g. to mitigate the increase in inflammation with age (Chapter 3; Franceschi et al., 2017; Holodick et al., 2017; Quaye, 2008;

Ricklin et al., 2010). Nevertheless, there was substantial variability between individuals in repeated measures of immune function as was evident from the diverse individual reaction norms (Chapter 3, figs. 2a, 2b, grey lines). Combined together, the findings from Chapter 2 and 3 indicate that overall levels of constitutive innate immune function may remain stable during the year and with advancing age in purple-crowned fairy-wrens. However, there is still a high degree of immune variation within individuals, explained by 'immunoplasticity' that is related to short-term environmental variation.

Parasite pressure to maintain immune defences?

In chapter 4, I aimed to address the ultimate fitness consequences of variation in immune function, where I explored the links between variation in immune function and several fitness-related traits. Although immune-reproductive trade-offs have been extensively tested and found with induced immune responses (Hasselquist and Nilsson, 2012), I found no such trade-offs with constitutive immune indices. Moreover, I found no indication of condition-dependence, suggesting that the maintenance of these immune components requires relatively few resources (or individuals were not subjected to restricted resource availability). In combination with the evidence of overall maintenance of immune function (between seasons and within individual lifetimes; chapters 2 and 3), this could suggest constitutive immune defences are important and relatively uncostly to maintain. If these defences are relatively uncostly and maintained because they are important for baseline defence, then they may not be related to survival differences if all individuals can equally afford these particular defences. Following this logic, parasite pressure in the environment is then likely to be one reason why immune defences are overall maintained.

An unfortunate limitation to my thesis is that I was unable to relate any measure of parasitism to immune status or fitness, so an important aspect of the environmental context is missing (despite an extensive search for ectoparasites, and gut and blood endoparasites; see Appendix). As chapters 2, 3 and 4 are observational studies, any additional relationships uncovered between parasites, immunity and fitness and could have strengthened any inferences made (Graham et al., 2011). Without parasite information, it is also difficult to assess the possibility of parasite tolerance in the balance of any trade-offs. The lack of parasite information was partly due to unusually low levels of evident parasites and disease. Firstly, I found little evidence of ectoparasites (mites, lice, ticks) that can be common on birds (Clayton et al., 2010; Appendix). Additionally, there is a persistently and surprisingly low prevalence (5%) of avian malaria (*Plasmodium, Haemoproteus, Leucocytozoon*) in purple-crowned fairy-wrens despite high prevalence (25-75%) of partially compatible malaria genotypes in closely

sympatric riparian community species, and a closely related fairy-wren of adjacent savannah grasslands (Eastwood et al., 2019). At the same time, purple-crowned fairy-wrens circulate very high levels of natural antibodies at a mean titre score of ~15, compared to other species with mean titres of < 9 (Matson et al., 2005; Chapter 1; *cf.* Matson, 2006, table 1 for comparison to other species). Speculatively, these high levels of natural antibodies may confer high resistance to malaria and explain the low prevalence similar to observations in the Hawaiian Amakihi (Atkinson and Paxton, 2013). Whether these specific immune components are responsible for keeping malaria low may depend on specific parasite detection and host evasion interactions (Gowda and Wu, 2018; Silver et al., 2010), but is not possible to ascertain from my thesis results. Still, it seems reasonable to assume that the general maintenance of immune function in purple-crowned fairy-wrens may be driven by parasite pressure (Cooper and Herrin, 2010; Schulenburg et al., 2009) and will improve longevity and survival.

Immunoplasticity: optimal immune function in variable contexts

Optimal immune function varies because demands on the immune system vary (French et al., 2009; Pedersen and Babayan, 2011; Tieleman, 2018; Viney et al., 2005). Environmental and physiological contexts (i.e. the intrinsic physiological state or condition of an organism) are dynamic and therefore different levels of immune function are likely to be optimal at different times. Between-individual immune variation is perhaps evolutionarily advantageous (French et al., 2009) and this could be the case when polymorphisms of immune genes or phenotypes are selectively maintained (Kubinak et al., 2012; Maizels, 2009). Further still, the ability of an individual to vary immune function plastically could be a trait that confers fitness benefits when the contexts that shape optimal immune investment are dynamic. In chapter 4, the only significant correlation between higher survival probability and any immune index was either a high or low level of (guadratic) complement activity, showing different immune phenotypes can be advantageous, probably in different individual-specific contexts. This could be a consequence of individuals with high or low complement levels being selected for at different times, resulting in selective maintenance of complement activity variation in the population. Alternatively, individuals that can vary between high and/or low complement activity – with higher immunoplasticity – may have higher fitness than less plastic individuals that are limited to intermediate levels of complement activity. More broadly, given that there is low repeatability among individual repeated measures (Chapter 2), which are unstructured with respect to age (Chapter 3), immunoplasticity is a credible explanation for immune variation in purple-crowned fairy-wrens.

Physiological trade-offs between costly immune functionality and reproduction are presumed to function to maximise fitness (Sheldon and Verhulst, 1996). These trade-offs are also shaped by the costs and benefits of current vs. future reproduction. In iteroparous species, the optimal trade-off could change with each subsequent reproductive attempt, under the influence of inter-annual variation in ecological, climatic, individual or social conditions. Immunoplasticity in either the magnitude or type of immune response could result in dynamic trade-offs that are selectively advantageous. By fully considering variation in plasticity of immune function as a labile trait, it is possible to gain insights into the adaptive nature of immune variation, and such comparable insights have been gained from the study of plasticity in animal behaviour and life-history traits (Dingemanse et al., 2012; Dingemanse and Wolf, 2013; Nussey et al., 2007). This important aspect of variation has received very little attention to date in relation to immune function; a literature search yielded only one study that expressly examined between-individual differences in within-individual variation/repeatability in immune function, *i.e.* variation in immunoplasticity (Love et al., 2008; Web of Science; 182 results found and assessed; search terms "immun*" and "plastic*" and "fitness"). Incorporating analyses of variation in immunoplasticity across different contexts might better explain how immune variation relates to lifetime reproductive success and could substantially enhance evolutionary perspectives on immune variation.

Beyond optimal immune function in a single context or point in time, I would hypothesise that immunoplasticity is more important for lifetime reproductive success across multiple different contexts and life-stages experienced during an individual's lifetime. From this hypothesis, it can be predicted that individuals that are better able to plastically change their investment in immune function should have a greater fitness, translating to a greater survival probability especially in long-lived species. This could be tested experimentally by fluctuating a component of environmental context, e.g. parasite pressure, over successive breeding attempts within the same individuals, while quantifying how variation in plasticity relates to individual reproductive success. Observational approaches might augment experimental work through repeated measurements of immune function from free-living individuals scheduled at different critical phases in the annual cycle. For example, taking measurements when the expectation of immune function is both low such as during a moult phase or during reproductive attempts (Moreno, 2004; Sanz et al., 2004), and high during an overwintering phase when all resources are likely to be allocated to survival and self-maintenance (Martin et al., 2008) would allow individual plasticity to be quantified and related to individual cumulative reproductive success.

Immunity and the pace-of-life

Purple-crowned fairy-wrens are relatively long-lived small passerines, adopting a slow paceof-life (Montiglio et al., 2018). Needing to wait for ideal breeding conditions in unpredictable environmental conditions (Hidalgo Aranzamendi et al., 2019) may have led to the evolution of a 'sit-and-wait' life-history strategy where immune function is crucial for longevity and survival. Different immune function and life-history strategies among species could contribute to fastor slow-living syndromes on a single pace-of-life axis (Pap et al., 2015; Tieleman et al., 2005). Immune variation at lower organisational levels, between populations or individuals (Ardia, 2005; Martin et al., 2006) can provide the variation on which selection can drive evolutionary change. Although predictions can be made that lower constitutive innate immune function and greater adaptive immunological memory should relate to a slower pace-of-life (Lee, 2006), a relatively unexplored way to test these predictions may be to focus on telomeres. The length of telomeres – the DNA segments that protectively cap chromosomes – declines with age (Monaghan and Haussmann, 2006), as is the case in purple-crowned fairy-wrens (fig. 2). The rate of telomere shortening is slower in slow-living species and is linked to the maximum lifespans of birds, showing clear links to a pace-of-life (Dantzer and Fletcher, 2015; Tricola et al., 2018). For species where immune function is important for longevity, it might be expected that individual immune variation is related to the rate of telomere shortening. Importantly, relationships between immune function and telomere shortening may be distinct from chronological aging as telomere length also contains information about individual quality (Angelier et al., 2019; Le Vaillant et al., 2015; including purple-crowned fairy-wrens, Eastwood et al., 2019) and accumulated past physiological stress (Monaghan, 2014; Nussey et al., 2014). Although purple-crowned fairy-wrens did not show clear immunosenescence (Chapter 3), there is evidence to suggest telomere shortening as a biomarker of aging is more closely linked to immune function (Kaszubowska, 2008; Katepalli et al., 2008) and may have a proximate mechanistic role in immunosenescence and cellular senescence (Young, 2018). Exploring the relationships between telomere shortening and immune function could provide valuable insight into our understanding of the evolution of pace-of-life syndromes, and the purple-crowned fairy-wren would make an excellent study system in which to test withinspecies predictions.



Figure 2: Relative telomere length (rTL) shortens with age in purple-crowned fairy-wrens. Fitted lines (almost perfectly overlaid) show predicted rTL across within-individual (β_w) and between-individual (β_B) changes chronological age. Ribbons indicate 95% confidence intervals, with "*" indicating those that do not contain slopes of zero. Raw data points are plotted, with fitted lines of individual reaction norms of repeated measures, from a simplified linear regression model of rTL ~ age per individual.

Conclusions

My PhD thesis contributes to the current understanding of the causes and consequences of individual variation in immune function by using an exceptionally well-studied model species in a wild and free-living context. I found that immune function in purple-crowned fairy-wrens is most sensitive to short-term changes in temperature and rainfall compared to longer-term environmental variation (chapter 2). Otherwise, immune function is relatively stable during the annual cycle (chapter 2) and is maintained with advancing age, with only limited evidence of immunosenescence (chapter 3). As a species that is already vulnerable to climate change (Reside et al., 2016), interactions with emergent diseases will likely be increasingly common in the future (Brooks and Boeger, 2019; Staley and Bonneaud, 2015), and could pose threats that are exacerbated by immune sensitivity to climatic variation, as will be the case for many other species. Although there was no evidence of resource allocation trade-offs between

constitutive immune function and reproduction (chapter 4), this contrasts with previous work on induced immune components and could indicate immune component-specific trade-offs, or relatively little costs of maintaining immune function. High levels of immune function did not relate to survival, though there was partial evidence in relation to complement activity (chapter 4) and a generally low individual repeatability of immune measures (chapter 2 and 3). This suggests immunoplasticity exists in purple-crowned fairy-wrens, and could be important for survival. Immunoplasticity could have an important role for resilience to predicted increases in extreme and unpredictable weather events in the near future (Stott, 2016). As an aspect of immune variation that has received little attention, this will be an important direction for further research.

Appendix: Notes on the parasitism in purple-crowned fairy-wrens

In attempting to understand the significance of individual variation in immune function, parasitism in the focal species has a crucial role to play. Parasitism is the key evolutionary pressure that has led to the development of complex immune systems in spite of the costs of immunity (Cooper and Herrin, 2010). Changes in parasite pressure can directly lead to changes in individual immune function and can shape the investment trade-offs between immune function and other physiological processes (Tschirren and Richner, 2006). Consequently, it has been recommended that ecoimmunologists aim to quantify levels of parasitism within hosts in conjunction with host immune function and estimates of host fitness to have the best chance of interpreting individual variation in immunity (Graham et al., 2011). During my PhD, I made several attempts to quantify levels of parasitism within individual purple-crowned fairy-wrens and link parasitism to the individual's immune status at capture. I focused on three common general classes of parasites – ectoparasites, gut endoparasites and blood endoparasites – that through different mechanisms could each stimulate changes in immune status.

Different ectoparasites can incur different costs to birds. For example, damage to feathers caused by feather parasites can affect thermal insulation and locomotory efficiency (Barbosa et al., 2002), while ticks and biting insects are likely to be more important for immune function as they can introduce other pathogenic infections through bite wounds (Brinkerhoff et al., 2019). From 2014 to 2017 we screened for ectoparasites during each capture by blowing up the feathers all over the entire head, body and wings of the bird to visually inspect to the base of the feathers and the skin (fig. A1a). During this period, < 6% of captured individuals had any detectable ectoparasites (638 captures of free-flying birds, 37 with parasites, range = 0-7 parasites). Interestingly, no single individual was found that harboured any ticks, and almost all parasites were the same louse species (except a single Hippoboscidae sp. fly). Louse parasite specimens were collected and identified in the laboratory as a feather louse, Myrsidea sp. (Clay, 1965; fig. A1b), likely an undescribed host-specific species. This genus of feather-chewing lice feeds on lacrimal secretions and feathers of their hosts, which degrades the quality of feathers (Barbosa et al., 2002; Mey, 2013). Given the very low detection rate and unlikely direct influence these lice would have on immune function as they do not bite, it was not useful to investigate this association further. This visual screening method for ectoparasites is likely to have had an imperfect detection rate but should still predict the total parasitism (Koop and Clayton, 2013), however it is surprising that no ticks were found over such a large sample as purple-crowned fairy-wrens occupy an understorey habitat niche where ticks are commonly encountered (Parker et al., 2017). Many bird species have

anatomical adaptations for grooming and adopt self-maintenance behaviours that combat the threat of parasitism (Clayton et al., 2010); close social bonds and frequent allopreening behaviours common among purple-crowned fairy-wrens may provide an effective form of defence against such costly ectoparasites.



Figure A1: Assessing parasitism in purple-crowned fairy-wrens. **A.** Visual inspection method for counting ectoparasites at capture. **B.** A *Myrsidea sp.* ectoparasite found on a purple-crowned fairy-wren. **C.** Faecal sample collection from bird-holding bags. **D.** Oocysts of coccidian gut endoparasites, putatively *Isospora sp.*. **E.** Intra-cellular malaria parasites at different developmental stages detected in (nucleated) red blood cells from blood smears; *Haemoproteus sp.* and *Plasmodium sp.* lineages were confirmed from through PCR (Eastwood et al., 2019).

Gut endoparasites are another ubiquitous group of parasites that I assessed in purple-crowned fairy-wrens. Continuous exposure to a diverse microbial community in the digestive tract is purported to drive the maintenance of constitutive immunity in order to defend against pathogens or opportunistic commensals that cross the intestinal epithelium (Rakoff-Nahoum and Medzhitov, 2006). Parasites of the subclass *Coccidia*, phylum *Apicomplexa*, are commonly found in passerines (Page and Haddad, 1995) and made a good candidate for study as part of my thesis. Infections are often chronic, and constitutive innate immunity is important in their control; *Coccidia* specifically are directly related to complement activity and

natural antibodies (Pap et al., 2011; Saks et al., 2006). For this reason, from 2015 to 2017 faecal samples were incidentally collected from individuals at capture (fig. A1c), and from these samples Coccidia oocysts were extracted by a modified flotation method in a saturated saline solution that consumed the sample; oocysts were then microscopically counted (Dolnik, 2006). As bird capture was most efficient at dawn, a period of high fairy-wren activity and low mist-net visibility, sampling times were substantially biased towards sunrise. Unfortunately, this had unintended consequences as there is a diurnal cycle in the peak times of oocyst shedding (López et al., 2007). This was expected to be statistically controllable, but the phenomenon was so pronounced in purple-crowned fairy-wrens that after n = 154 samples were analysed, not a single sample collected in the first ~4.5 hours of daylight was found to have detectable Coccidia present (fig. A2). This contrasted with 45% of samples collected after the first ~4.5 hours of sunlight testing positive (fig. A1d; fig. A2), suggesting that many of the samples collected in the morning were false negatives and the data from the faecal samples could not be meaningfully interpreted. With greater resources, a more sensitive PCRbased approach would be able to detect presence of Coccidia from DNA in the sample despite a negative microscopic result (Nakamura et al., 2009), however it was unfeasible in this study.



Figure A2: Time of day strongly affects *Coccidia* oocyst shedding in purple-crowned fairy-wrens. **a.** Individual oocyst counts plotted against the time of day faecal samples were collected. Blue line shows Poisson-regression (blue line) of individual oocysts counts and the time of day faecal samples were collected with confidence interval ribbon. Y-axis is base 10 log-transformed. The earliest positive faecal sample collected at 268 minutes (red line); 75% of faecal samples were collected before this time. **b.** Logistic-regression (blue line) of positive oocysts samples and the time of day faecal samples were collected with confidence interval ribbon. Probability of detection is 0.06 at 268 minutes past sunrise (red line).

Lastly, blood endoparasites were assessed using blood samples taken at capture as another an alternative source of parasite information to link to immune status. Specifically, avian malaria causing parasites of Plasmodium sp., Haemoproteus sp. and Leucocytozoon sp. in purple-crowned fairy-wrens were screened for using nested-PCR approaches as part of another project in the research group (Eastwood et al., 2019), while malarial and other parasites were incidentally observed during white blood cell counts of blood smears (1 sample with Trypanosoma sp.; 6 with microfilarial nematodes; 11 with intracellular malarial stages, fig. A1e). All individuals found positive for malaria in blood smears were also positive with the PCR method, but despite the more sensitive PCR screening, only ~5% of purple-crowned fairywrens were infected with avian malarial parasites. This low prevalence in purple-crowned fairywrens was persistent across years, despite their susceptibility to different malarial lineages, high population density in riparian habitat, and a high malarial prevalence among other bird species in the community (25-75%; buff-sided robin - Poecilodryas cerviniventris, white-gaped honeyeater - Lichenostomus unicolor, red-backed fairy-wren - Malurus melanocephalus; Eastwood et al., 2019). Consequently, there were too few individuals with malaria and associated immune data to assess how immune function is related to malarial infection.

References

- Angelier, F., Weimerskirch, H., Barbraud, C., Chastel, O., 2019. Is telomere length a molecular marker of individual quality? Insights from a long-lived bird. Funct. Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13307
- Ardia, D.R., 2005. Tree swallows trade off immune function and reproductive effort differently across their range. Ecology 86, 2040–2046. https://doi.org/10.1890/04-1619
- Atkinson, C.T., Paxton, E.H., 2013. Immunological markers for tolerance to avian malaria in Hawaii Amakihi: New tools for restoring native Hawaiian forest birds? (No. Technical Report HCSU-042). Hawaii Cooperative Studies Unit (HCSU).
- Barbosa, A., Merino, S., Lope, F., Møller, A.P., 2002. Effects of Feather Lice on Flight Behavior of Male Barn Swallows (Hirundo Rustica). The Auk 119, 213–216. https://doi.org/10.1093/auk/119.1.213
- Brinkerhoff, R.J., Dang, L., Streby, H.M., Gimpel, M., 2019. Life history characteristics of birds influence patterns of tick parasitism. Infect. Ecol. Epidemiol. 9, 1547096. https://doi.org/10.1080/20008686.2018.1547096
- Brodin, P., Jojic, V., Gao, T., Bhattacharya, S., Angel, C.J.L., Furman, D., Shen-Orr, S., Dekker, C.L., Swan, G.E., Butte, A.J., Maecker, H.T., Davis, M.M., 2015. Variation in the Human Immune System Is Largely Driven by Non-Heritable Influences. Cell 160, 37–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.12.020
- Brooks, D.R., Boeger, W.A., 2019. Climate change and emerging infectious diseases: Evolutionary complexity in action. Curr. Opin. Syst. Biol. 13, 75–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coisb.2018.11.001
- Clay, T., 1965. Contributions towards a revision of Myrsidea Waterston (Mallophaga: Menoponidae). II. Proc. R. Entomol. Soc. Lond. Ser. B 34, 117–122.
- Clayton, D.H., Koop, J.A.H., Harbison, C.W., Moyer, B.R., Bush, S.E., 2010. How Birds Combat Ectoparasites. Open Ornithol. J. 3, 41–71. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874453201003010041
- Cooper, M.D., Herrin, B.R., 2010. How did our complex immune system evolve? Nat. Rev. Immunol. 10, 2–3. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2686
- Dantzer, B., Fletcher, Q.E., 2015. Telomeres shorten more slowly in slow-aging wild animals than in fast-aging ones. Exp. Gerontol. 71, 38–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2015.08.012
- Dingemanse, N.J., Bouwman, K.M., van de Pol, M., van Overveld, T., Patrick, S.C., Matthysen, E., Quinn, J.L., 2012. Variation in personality and behavioural plasticity across four populations of the great tit Parus major: Population variation in personality and behavioural plasticity. J. Anim. Ecol. 81, 116–126. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01877.x
- Dingemanse, N.J., Wolf, M., 2013. Between-individual differences in behavioural plasticity within populations: causes and consequences. Anim. Behav. 85, 1031–1039. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.12.032
- Dolnik, O., 2006. The relative stability of chronic Isospora sylvianthina (Protozoa: Apicomplexa) infection in blackcaps (Sylvia atricapilla): evaluation of a simplified method of estimating isosporan infection intensity in passerine birds. Parasitol. Res. 100, 155–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-006-0253-5
- Eastwood, J.R., Peacock, L., Hall, M.L., Roast, M., Murphy, S.A., Gonçalves da Silva, A., Peters, A., 2019. Persistent low avian malaria in a tropical species despite high community prevalence. Int. J. Parasitol. Parasites Wildl. 8, 88–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijppaw.2019.01.001
- Franceschi, C., Garagnani, P., Vitale, G., Capri, M., Salvioli, S., 2017. Inflammaging and 'Garb-aging.' Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 28, 199–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2016.09.005
- French, S.S., Moore, M.C., Demas, G.E., 2009. Ecological immunology: The organism in context. Integr. Comp. Biol. 49, 246–253. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icp032
- Gowda, D.C., Wu, X., 2018. Parasite Recognition and Signaling Mechanisms in Innate Immune Responses to Malaria. Front. Immunol. 9, 3006. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.03006

- Graham, A.L., Shuker, D.M., Pollitt, L.C., Auld, S.K.J.R., Wilson, A.J., Little, T.J., 2011. Fitness consequences of immune responses: strengthening the empirical framework for ecoimmunology: Empirical framework for ecoimmunology. Funct. Ecol. 25, 5–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2010.01777.x
- Hasselquist, D., Nilsson, J.-Å., 2012. Physiological mechanisms mediating costs of immune responses: what can we learn from studies of birds? Anim. Behav. 83, 1303–1312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.03.025
- Hidalgo Aranzamendi, N., Hall, M. L., Kingma, S. A., van de Pol, M., Peters, A., 2019. Rapid plastic breeding response to rain matches peak prey abundance in a tropical bird. J. Anim. Ecol. 00, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13068
- Holodick, N.E., Rodríguez-Zhurbenko, N., Hernández, A.M., 2017. Defining Natural Antibodies. Front. Immunol. 8, 872. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00872
- Kaszubowska, L., 2008. Telomere shortening and ageing of the immune system. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 59, 169–186.
- Katepalli, M.P., Adams, A.A., Lear, T.L., Horohov, D.W., 2008. The effect of age and telomere length on immune function in the horse. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 32, 1409–1415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2008.06.007
- Koop, J.A.H., Clayton, D.H., 2013. Evaluation of two methods for quantifying passeriform lice: Quantifying Ectoparasites on Passerines. J. Field Ornithol. 84, 210–215. https://doi.org/10.1111/jofo.12020
- Kubinak, J.L., Nelson, A.C., Ruff, J.S., Potts, W.K., 2012. Trade-offs Limiting MHC Heterozygosity, in: Ecoimmunology. pp. 225–258.
- Le Vaillant, M., Viblanc, V.A., Saraux, C., Le Bohec, C., Le Maho, Y., Kato, A., Criscuolo, F., Ropert-Coudert, Y., 2015. Telomere length reflects individual quality in free-living adult king penguins. Polar Biol. 38, 2059–2067. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-015-1766-0
- Lee, K.A., 2006. Linking immune defenses and life history at the levels of the individual and the species. Integr. Comp. Biol. 46, 1000–1015. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icl049
- López, G., Figuerola, J., Soriguer, R., 2007. Time of day, age and feeding habits influence coccidian oocyst shedding in wild passerines. Int. J. Parasitol. 37, 559–564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2006.12.014
- Love, O.P., Salvante, K.G., Dale, J., Williams, T.D., 2008. Sex-Specific Variability in the Immune System across Life-History Stages. Am. Nat. 172, E99–E112. https://doi.org/10.1086/589521
- Maizels, R.M., 2009. Parasite immunomodulation and polymorphisms of the immune system. J. Biol. 8, 62. https://doi.org/10.1186/jbiol166
- Martin, L.B., Hasselquist, D., Wikelski, M., 2006. Investment in immune defense is linked to pace of life in house sparrows. Oecologia 147, 565–575. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-005-0314-y
- Martin, L.B., Weil, Z.M., Nelson, R.J., 2008. Seasonal changes in vertebrate immune activity: mediation by physiological trade-offs. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 363, 321–339. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2142
- Matson, K.D., 2006. Are there differences in immune function between continental and insular birds? Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 273, 2267–2274. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.3590
- Matson, K.D., Ricklefs, R.E., Klasing, K.C., 2005. A hemolysis–hemagglutination assay for characterizing constitutive innate humoral immunity in wild and domestic birds. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 29, 275–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2004.07.006
- Mey, E., 2013. Ein Phänomen besonders bei Vögeln: Trinken von Tränenflüssigkeit (Lachrymophagie) durch Tierläuse (Insecta, Phthiraptera)*. Vogelwarte 51, 15–23.
- Monaghan, P., 2014. Organismal stress, telomeres and life histories. J. Exp. Biol. 217, 57–66. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.090043
- Monaghan, P., Haussmann, M.F., 2006. Do telomere dynamics link lifestyle and lifespan? Trends Ecol. Evol. 21, 47–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2005.11.007

- Montiglio, P.-O., Dammhahn, M., Dubuc Messier, G., Réale, D., 2018. The pace-of-life syndrome revisited: the role of ecological conditions and natural history on the slow-fast continuum. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 72, 116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-018-2526-2
- Moreno, J., 2004. Moult-breeding overlap and fecundity limitation in tropical birds: a link with immunity? Ardeola 51, 471–476.
- Nakamura, A.A., Simões, D.C., Antunes, R.G., da Silva, D.C., Meireles, M.V., 2009. Molecular characterization of Cryptosporidium spp. from fecal samples of birds kept in captivity in Brazil. Vet. Parasitol. 166, 47–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2009.07.033
- Nelson, R.J., Demas, G.E., Klein, S.L., Kriegsfeld, L.J., 1995. Minireview The influence of season, photoperiod, and pineal melatonin on immune function. J. Pineal Res. 19, 149–165. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-079X.1995.tb00184.x
- Nussey, D.H., Baird, D., Barrett, E., Boner, W., Fairlie, J., Gemmell, N., Hartmann, N., Horn, T., Haussmann, M., Olsson, M., Turbill, C., Verhulst, S., Zahn, S., Monaghan, P., 2014.
 Measuring telomere length and telomere dynamics in evolutionary biology and ecology. Methods Ecol. Evol. 5, 299–310. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12161
- Nussey, D.H., Wilson, A.J., Brommer, J.E., 2007. The evolutionary ecology of individual phenotypic plasticity in wild populations. J. Evol. Biol. 20, 831–844. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1420-9101.2007.01300.x
- Nwaogu, C.J., Cresswell, W., Versteegh, M.A., Tieleman, B.I., 2019. Seasonal differences in baseline innate immune function are better explained by environment than annual cycle stage in a year-round breeding tropical songbird. J. Anim. Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12948
- Page, C.D., Haddad, K., 1995. Coccidial infections in birds. Semin. Avian Exot. Pet Med. 4, 138–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1055-937X(05)80038-6
- Pap, P.L., Vágási, C.I., Czirják, G.Á., Titilincu, A., Pintea, A., Osváth, G., Fülöp, A., Barta, Z., 2011.
 The Effect of Coccidians on The Condition and Immune profile of Molting House Sparrows (*Passer Domesticus*). The Auk 128, 330–339. https://doi.org/10.1525/auk.2011.10142
- Pap, P.L., Vágási, C.I., Vincze, O., Osváth, G., Veres-Szászka, J., Czirják, G.Á., 2015. Physiological pace of life: the link between constitutive immunity, developmental period, and metabolic rate in European birds. Oecologia 177, 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-014-3108-2

Parker, C.M., Miller, J.R., Allan, B.F., 2017. Avian and Habitat Characteristics Influence Tick Infestation Among Birds in Illinois. J. Med. Entomol. 54, 550–558. https://doi.org/10.1093/jme/tjw235

- Pedersen, A.B., Babayan, S.A., 2011. Wild immunology. Mol. Ecol. 20, 872–880. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2010.04938.x
- Peters, A., Delhey, K., Nakagawa, S., Aulsebrook, A., Verhulst, S., 2019. Immunosenescence in wild animals: meta-analysis and outlook. Ecol. Lett. ele.13343. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13343
- Quaye, I.K., 2008. Haptoglobin, inflammation and disease. Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg. 102, 735–742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trstmh.2008.04.010
- Rakoff-Nahoum, S., Medzhitov, R., 2006. Role of the Innate Immune System and Host-Commensal Mutualism, in: Honjo, T., Melchers, F. (Eds.), Gut-Associated Lymphoid Tissues, Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 1–18.
- Reside, A.E., VanDerWal, J., Garnett, S.T., Kutt, A.S., 2016. Vulnerability of Australian tropical savanna birds to climate change. Austral Ecol. 41, 106–116. https://doi.org/10.1111/aec.12304
- Ricklin, D., Hajishengallis, G., Yang, K., Lambris, J.D., 2010. Complement: a key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis. Nat. Immunol. 11, 785–797. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1923
- Romero, L.M., Dickens, M.J., Cyr, N.E., 2009. The reactive scope model A new model integrating homeostasis, allostasis, and stress. Horm. Behav. 55, 375–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2008.12.009

- Saks, L., Karu, U., Ots, I., Hõrak, P., 2006. Do standard measures of immunocompetence reflect parasite resistance? The case of Greenfinch coccidiosis. Funct. Ecol. 20, 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2006.01068.x
- Sanz, J.J., Moreno, J., Merino, S., Tomas, G., 2004. A trade-off between two resource-demanding functions: post-nuptial moult and immunity during reproduction in male pied flycatchers. J. Anim. Ecol. 73, 441–447. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-8790.2004.00815.x
- Schulenburg, H., Kurtz, J., Moret, Y., Siva-Jothy, M.T., 2009. Introduction. Ecological immunology. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 364, 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0249
- Sheldon, B.C., Verhulst, S., 1996. Ecological immunology: costly parasite defences and trade-offs in evolutionary ecology. Trends Ecol. Evol. 11, 317–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(96)10039-2
- Silver, K.L., Higgins, S.J., McDonald, C.R., Kain, K.C., 2010. Complement driven innate immune response to malaria: fuelling severe malarial diseases: Complement in malaria. Cell. Microbiol. 12, 1036–1045. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-5822.2010.01492.x
- Staley, M., Bonneaud, C., 2015. Immune responses of wild birds to emerging infectious diseases. Parasite Immunol. 37, 242–254. https://doi.org/10.1111/pim.12191
- Stott, P., 2016. How climate change affects extreme weather events. Science 352, 1517–1518. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf7271
- Tieleman, B.I., 2018. Understanding immune function as a pace of life trait requires environmental context. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-018-2464-z
- Tieleman, B.I., Williams, J.B., Ricklefs, R.E., Klasing, K.C., 2005. Constitutive innate immunity is a component of the pace-of-life syndrome in tropical birds. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 272, 1715– 1720. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2005.3155
- Tricola, G.M., Simons, M.J.P., Atema, E., Boughton, R.K., Brown, J.L., Dearborn, D.C., Divoky, G., Eimes, J.A., Huntington, C.E., Kitaysky, A.S., Juola, F.A., Lank, D.B., Litwa, H.P., Mulder, E.G.A., Nisbet, I.C.T., Okanoya, K., Safran, R.J., Schoech, S.J., Schreiber, E.A., Thompson, P.M., Verhulst, S., Wheelwright, N.T., Winkler, D.W., Young, R., Vleck, C.M., Haussmann, M.F., 2018. The rate of telomere loss is related to maximum lifespan in birds. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 373, 20160445. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0445
- Tschirren, B., Richner, H., 2006. Parasites shape the optimal investment in immunity. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 273, 1773–1777. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.3524
- van de Pol, M., Wright, J., 2009. A simple method for distinguishing within- versus between-subject effects using mixed models. Anim. Behav. 77, 753–758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2008.11.006
- Versteegh, M.A., Helm, B., Kleynhans, E.J., Gwinner, E., Tieleman, B.I., 2014. Genetic and phenotypically flexible components of seasonal variation in immune function. J. Exp. Biol. 217, 1510–1518. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.097105
- Viney, M.E., Riley, E.M., Buchanan, K.L., 2005. Optimal immune responses: immunocompetence revisited. Trends Ecol. Evol. 20, 665–669. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2005.10.003
- Walton, J.C., Weil, Z.M., Nelson, R.J., 2011. Influence of photoperiod on hormones, behavior, and immune function. Front. Neuroendocrinol. 32, 303–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2010.12.003
- Young, A.J., 2018. The role of telomeres in the mechanisms and evolution of life-history trade-offs and ageing. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 373, 20160452. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0452